
MEETING: HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

DATE: 4th December 2019

TIME: 2.00 pm

VENUE: Town Hall, Bootle

Member

Councillor
Cllr. Ian Moncur (Chair)
Cllr. Paul Cummins
Cllr. John Joseph Kelly
Matthew Ashton
Vicky Buchanan
Deborah Butcher
Dr. Rob Caudwell
Dr Craig Gillespie
Fiona Taylor
Richard Freeman
Maureen Kelly
Steve Warburton
Lorraine Webb
Andrew Booth
Angela White

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Olaf Hansen Democratic Services Officer
Telephone: 0151 934 2067
Fax: 0151 934 2034
E-mail: olaf.hansen@sefton.gov.uk

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

3.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting room, including from 
the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item 
of business in which he/she has an interest, except where 
he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a 
dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting room, including 
from the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an interest or whether 
the Member can remain in the meeting or remain in the 
meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

4.  Health and Wellbeing Board Governance (Pages 11 - 
20)

Report of the Chief Executive

5.  Sub Group Updates (Pages 21 - 
40)

Report of the Director of Public Health

6.  Alzheimer's Society Presentation
Presentation from John Kemp, Alzheimer’s Society, Regional 
Public Affairs and Campaigns Officer – North West

7.  Sefton Local Safeguarding - Children Board Annual 
Report

(Pages 41 - 
86)

Report of the Paula St.Aubyn, Sefton LSCB Independent 
Chair



8.  Sefton's Older Persons Strategy (Pages 87 - 
104)

Report of the Chair of Sefton Partnership for Older Citizens

9.  Early Help Strategy 2020 - 2025 (Pages 105 - 
130)

Report of the Head of Communities

10.  Health and Wellbeing Strategy (Pages 131 - 
160)

Report of the Director of Public Health

11.  Children and Young People's Plan 2020 - 2025 (Pages 161 - 
200)

Report of the Interim Director of Children’s Social Care and 
Education

12.  Continuing Care Protocol (Pages 201 - 
262)

Report of the Interim Director of Children’s Social Care and 
Education

13.  Minimum Alcohol Unit Price (Pages 263 - 
280)

Report of the Director of Public Health

14.  SEND Continuous Improvement Update (Pages 281 - 
300)

Report of the Interim Director of Children’s Social Care and 
Education



This page is intentionally left blank



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

11

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON WEDNESDAY 11TH SEPTEMBER, 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Moncur (in the Chair)
Councillors Cummins, John Joseph Kelly, 
Buchanan, Butcher, Freeman, Maureen Kelly, 
Lorraine Webb, Andrew Booth and Angela White

11. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Matthew Ashton, Dr.Rob 
Caudwell, Dwayne Johnson, and Fiona Taylor.

12. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 12 June, 2019 be confirmed as a 
correct record.

13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Member Minute No. Nature of Interest
Richard 
Freeman

22 - Better Care 
Fund 2019/20 
Plans

Personal - is involved with the 
Better Care Fund at a regional level

14. EARLY HELP STRATEGY PROGRESS UPDATE 

Further to Minute No.34 of the meeting held on 13 March, 2019, the Board 
considered the report of the Head of Communities, that provided an 
update on the progress made towards the establishment of a Sefton Early 
Help Strategy. The report also requested the board to note the final 
version of the strategy prior to sign off from the Early Help Strategic 
Partnership Group. 

The Strategy aimed to ensure Sefton was a good place for Children and 
Young People to live and grow up, receive immunisations, have access to 
a wide range of physical activity opportunities and enjoy overall improving 
health. 

The report further explained the purpose of the Early Help Partnership 
Group was to ensure that people of all ages receive timely, well-co-
ordinated and good quality early help services.  It would provide oversight 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 11TH SEPTEMBER, 
2019

12

and secure evidence that people receiving early help were safeguarded 
and that early help was delivering positive outcomes.

The Strategy would work alongside the Children and Young Peoples’ Plan 
and Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The Strategy would be effective 
immediately. The strategy had been through an extensive process of 
development and co-production. The Partnership Group were confident of 
the quality of the document and the positive impact it would help to bring 
about for our Children, Young People and Families. 

RESOLVED: 

That the report be noted and the fact that final draft strategy that will be 
presented to the Early Help Strategic Partnership Group for sign off on 24 
September 2019.

15. REDUCING PARENTAL CONFLICT IN SEFTON 

The Board considered the report of the Head of Communities which 
provided  information on the national initiative to address and reduce 
parental conflict, led by Department of Work and Pensions and to update 
them on Sefton’s progress.

The report explained that Parental conflict could harm children’s 
outcomes, regardless of whether parents were together or separated, or 
were biologically related to the child, such as in blended or foster families. 
Exposure to destructive parental conflict was associated with a range of 
problems for children and young people. This could include poorer 
academic outcomes, negative peer relationships, substance misuse, poor 
future relationship chances, low employability and heightened 
interpersonal violence. It was also associated with mental health difficulties 
such as anxiety and depression, conduct disorder, poor attachment, risk-
taking behaviours and even suicidality.

The Reducing Parental Conflict Programme had been designed, 
developed and delivered as a multiagency approach locally. A range of 
partners were involved to ensure parental conflict was consistently 
understood and responded to across Sefton.  A timetable of events had 
been planned and delivered which included consultation and engagement 
with local agencies and action plan development. Multi agency awareness 
raising workshops and training for frontline professionals would take place  
during Autumn 2019.

RESOLVED:

The report be noted.

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 11TH SEPTEMBER, 
2019

13

16. HEALTH WATCH ANNUAL REPORT PRESENTATION 

The Board received a presentation from Maureen Kelly, Chair of Health 
Watch Sefton on the Health Watch Annual Report 2018/19.

Mrs.Kelly explained that Health Watch was the independent champion for 
people using local health and social care services; that it listened to what 
people liked about services and what could be improved; that it shared its 
their views with those with the power to make change happen; and that 
people could also speak to Health Watch to find information about health 
and social care services available locally.

The report provided some of the year’s highlights:

 1311 people shared their health and social care story  by leaving 
feedback on the Health Watch Feedback Centre

 33 local people gave up their time to volunteer  and support Health 
Watch’s work

 Through the signposting service, Health Watch had helped 496 people 
find the support and information they needed

 Health Watch completed 17 reports which included Enter and View 
visits, hospital listening events and feedback reports on GP access

 4 newsletters were published which reached 278 stakeholders, 453 
members with email plus those via engagement and social media

 Health Watch gained 109 new followers on Twitter and shared 122 
posts with 231 people who liked its Facebook page

The report concluded by stating that the next 12 months would be both 
exciting and challenging as Health Watch ensured local people were kept up-
to-date and engaged in both the local and national plans which would shape 
the NHS over the next 10 years. Health Watch had started work engaging 
local people on what worked well and what needed to be developed and 
would ensure the voices of Sefton residents were listened to by decision 
makers working on the Sefton five-year PLACE plan, ‘Reshaping Sefton’.

RESOLVED: That

(1) Maureen Kelly, Chair of Health Watch Sefton, be thanked for her 
presentation; and

(2) the Director of Public Health and the Director of Adult Social Care be 
requested to draft a response on behalf of the Board, which will be 
circulated prior to dissemination.

17. NHS SEFTON 5 YEAR PLACE PLAN 

The Board received a briefing note from Cameron Ward, Programme 
Director, Sefton Health and Social Care Transformation Programme. The 
note explained that as part of the NHS Long Term Plan (LTP), published in 
January 2019, all systems were asked to produce a five- year plan.  This 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 11TH SEPTEMBER, 
2019

14

was being developed for Sefton as part of the Cheshire and Merseyside 
Health and Care Partnership.

The overarching position for Sefton working in a collaborative based 
system was set within the need to develop a sustainable health and care 
system; improving wellbeing and health; and there was a reduction in 
health inequalities.  The Plan was expected to deliver the requirements of 
the NHS LTP.

The plan was draft and was subject to ongoing engagement for feedback 
and comment prior to concluding the document in November 2019.

The paper included the approach and content of the plan and sought 
feedback.  A final version of the plan would be prepared for the November 
2019 Governing Body meeting.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the information and the progress on the development of the Five-
Year Place Plan and the fact that the final version of the plan would 
be received at the December meeting be noted; and

(2) a formal written response would be sent from the Health and 
Wellbeing Board

 
 

18. REFRESH OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 
PROGRESS UPDATE 

The Board considered the report of the Director of Public Health which 
advised of the development of a new Sefton Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (HWS) for 2020-2025, and aimed to:

 Describe the relevant policy context and implications for strategy 
development

 Provide a progress update on engagement to date on the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) priorities, and plans for the 
second phase of engagement 

 Present an outline and rationale for the proposed structure and 
content of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and implementation 
plan; highlighting underlying assumptions and principles

 Support discussion amongst Health and Wellbeing Board Members 
to begin formulating the central ambitions for better and more equal 
health and wellbeing in Sefton

 Set out governance and oversight arrangements leading to 
publication of the completed strategy

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 11TH SEPTEMBER, 
2019

15

The development of a new HWS for Sefton would continue to take account 
of its purpose and function as set out in statute. A recent review of Health 
and Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) by the Local Government Association 
clearly affirmed the continuing relevance and status of HWBs, JSNAs and 
HWS as essential and powerful drivers of population health improvement. 
 
RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

19. SEND CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT 

The Board considered the report of the Chief Executive which provided an 
update on actions taken and progress made with regard to the 
improvements required following the Ofsted and Care Quality Commission 
joint local area special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND) 
revisit.  The report detailed the key actions and responses since the revisit 
outcome was made public.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s and Safeguarding) 
be requested to monitor progress against the Improvement Plan on a 
quarterly basis commencing in January 2020; and

(2) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s and Safeguarding) 
be requested to give particular consideration to the improvements 
needed and progress made in the area of Co-production, 
Communication and Engagement.

20. CCG (CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP) PERFORMANCE 
EXCEPTION REPORT 

The Board considered the briefing note of the NHS South Sefton CCG and 
NHS Southport and Formby CCG. The note presented the most recent 
performance data. The CCG had chosen to present only the statistics that 
were displaying an exception as opposed to the full suite of performance 
statistics.

RESOLVED:

That the information on the most recent performance data be noted.

21. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED:

That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD- WEDNESDAY 11TH SEPTEMBER, 
2019

16

on the grounds that it would involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 
The Public Interest Test has been applied and favours exclusion of the 
information from the press and public.

22. BETTER CARE FUND 2019/20 PLANS. 

The Board Considered the report of the Chief Executive that outlined the 
draft Better Care Fund plans for the current financial year. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board was asked to review the most current draft of these 
plans, and give delegated approval to the Chair to approve the final 
version of this prior to its submission to NHS England.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the report be noted; and

(2) the Chair be given delegated authority to approve the final version 
prior to submission to NHS England by the 27 September 2019. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 4 
December 2019

Subject: Health and Wellbeing Board Governance

Report of: Chief Executive Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Health and Wellbeing 

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

N

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

The following report is to provide the Board with an overview of a recent review of the 
Governance of the Health and Wellbeing Board and the need to update some aspects of 
its governance. 

Recommendation(s):

(1) The Board is asked to note the contents 

(2) The Board is asked to agree the governance updates 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To strengthen the Boards ability to carry out and build strong and effective partnerships, 
which improve the commissioning and delivery of services across NHS and local 
government, leading in turn to improved health and wellbeing for local people

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

To continue as is. This option is not considered viable considering the changing 
landscape of Health and Social Care and recent regulatory feedback. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

There are no direct financial implications attached to this report. 

(B) Capital Costs

There are no direct financial implications attached to this report.

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no direct implications.

Legal Implications:

To ensure ability to carry out statutory obligations. 

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: The Board is responsible for improving the commissioning 
and delivery of services across NHS and local government, leading in turn to improved 
health and wellbeing for local people

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: The Board is responsible for improving 
the commissioning and delivery of services across NHS and local government, leading 
in turn to improved health and wellbeing for local people

Commission, broker and provide core services:
The Board is responsible for improving the commissioning and delivery of services 
across NHS and local government, leading in turn to improved health and wellbeing for 
local people
Place – leadership and influencer: The Board is responsible for improving the 
commissioning and delivery of services across NHS and local government, leading in 
turn to improved health and wellbeing for local people

Drivers of change and reform: The Board is responsible for improving the 
commissioning and delivery of services across NHS and local government, leading in 
turn to improved health and wellbeing for local people

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable 

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5861/19) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD4095/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report.

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



(B) External Consultations 

The recommendations are in part in response to recent external regulatory feedback 

Immediately following the Board meeting.

Contact Officer: Eleanor Moulton
Telephone Number: 07779162882
Email Address: eleanor.moulton@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Existing Terms of reference for the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Background

1.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board has been in place in Sefton since 2013. Health 
and wellbeing boards (HWBs) are statutory bodies introduced in England under 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012, their meetings are open to the public and its 
papers are published on Sefton Councils website. Established and hosted by local 
authorities, health and wellbeing boards bring together the NHS, public health, 
adult social care and children's services, including elected representatives and 
Local Health watch, to plan how best to meet the needs of their local population 
and tackle local inequalities in health. 

1.2 The aim of the health and wellbeing boards is to improve integration between 
practitioners in local health care, social care, public health and related public 
services so that patients and other service-users experience more "joined up" 
care, particularly in transitions between health care and social care. The Health 
and Wellbeing Board in Sefton also performs the duties of the Sefton Children’s 
Trust. The terms of reference are attached in appendix one. 

2 Introduction

2.1 Department of Health guidance on Health and Wellbeing Boards published in 
March 2013 stated: 

“The ambition behind the introduction of health and wellbeing boards is to build 
strong and effective partnerships, which improve the commissioning and delivery 
of services across NHS and local government, leading in turn to improved health 
and wellbeing for local people” 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



2.2 In July 2019 the Local Government Association published “What a difference 
Place Makes: The Growing Impact of Health and Wellbeing Boards” which stated; 

“The original objectives for health and wellbeing boards are just as relevant to the 
new NHS landscape as they were when HWBs were established in 2013 – if not 
more so. The view from the contributors is that the national conditions have now 
caught up with the job HWBs were set up to do – in terms of highlighting the 
primacy of place and of a partnership of equals” (July 2019)

2.3 The Health and wellbeing board is a statutory subcommittee of the council, with 
defined membership, of one or more councillors, Director of Public Health, 
Director of Adult Social Care, Director of Children’s services, Health Watch, NHS 
South Sefton and NHS Southport and Formby Chief Executive and GP Clinical 
Chairs, and by invitation NHS England and Sefton CVS. A review in October 2015 
identified the need to expand this membership to include representatives of Acute 
Health Care and the “Every Child Matters” Forum 

3 Proposed Developments: 

3.1 Following recent reviews and inspections, the opportunity has been taken to 
review the Governance of the Health and Wellbeing Board and enhance some 
aspects of its Governance to ensure its continued capability to perform this role. 
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Sefton is currently being updated, this 
strategy will be effective from 2020 to 2025, once a final version of this is agreed 
there may be the requirement for further considerations for membership that will 
be presented to the board for consideration following discussion at the Informal 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 

3.2 The following enhancements to ensure correct governance have been identified: 

Performance Dashboard required; the second Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
for Sefton will be published in January 2020, with effect from April 2020 to March 
2025. This refreshed strategy roll out will include the establishment of 
performance dashboard that will be received and reviewed by the Board at each 
meeting from its June 2020 meeting onwards. 

Website update; a recent regulatory inspection highlighted the need to update 
the website for the Health and Wellbeing board to be clear on membership, 
purpose, achievements and plans. Updates were agreed by the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy group in August 2019 and are now in the process of being put 
in place.  It is envisaged further and routine edits to this will be required following 
the establishment of the 2020 – 2025 Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

The representation of Police and NHS to be included on the Board; the Chief 
Executive has written to the Chief Constable Merseyside Police Force for Sefton 
to extend this invitation. A response is awaited and future membership is 
expected. It is also recommended to strengthen the Board with additional NHS 
Trust membership, with the Chief Executives from Alder Hey and North West 
Boroughs NHS Trust both proposed as new members of the Board. This will 
provide additional expertise in children and young people services and the wider 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



public health and protection agenda, as well as mental health services.  Members 
may wish to consider further membership. 

Subgroups to feedback routinely; the Board has 5 established sub groups 
(please see the diagram below) which it is proposed will routinely submit written 
updates to the board to be collated in a report to be tabled as standard item at the 
start of each Agenda. 

Health & Wellbeing Board

Adult Forum

Carers Strategy  Steering 
Group

Dementia Startegy 
Steering Group

Mental Health and 
Emmployment Group 

Transfroming Care 
Partnership

Children & Young People 
Partnersip Board

Early Help

Emotional Health & 
Wellbeing Board

Executive Group

Integrated 
Commissioning 

Childrens Commissioning 

Section 75/BCF 

IPA (Continuing 
Healthcare/Continuing 

Care

Falls 

Health Protection Forum 
CYPIB SEND

Please note a further paper on the development of a proposed Integrated 
Commissioning Work programme will come to the board at a later date that details the 
development of additional workstreams to achieve the ambitions for future aligned Health 
and Care delivery. It is proposed that a new Partnership Board for Children and Young 
People is established and the terms of reference are attached at appendix two. 

4 Conclusion 

Both regulatory feedback and the delivery of significant strategic documents including the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the NHS 5 years plan and the Children’s and Young 
Peoples Plan means there is a need to ensure the Health and Wellbeing Board is 
correctly constituted to ensure its able to continue to be effective. The content of this 
report seeks to set out the enhancements to the board that are required and approval of 
the board to accept these proposals is sought.

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

Terms of Reference for the Health and Wellbeing Board as per Chapter 7 of the 
Council Constitution: 

Committee Membership Functions 

12 Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

As recommended by the 
Board and appointed by 
Council. Quorum of 3. 
3 Members of the 
Council, 3 statutory 
directors (Heads of 
Service) of the Council 
and 5 representatives 
from various agreed 
health organisations. 

• To encourage integrated 
working between 
commissioners of health 
services, to public health 
and social care services. 
• To encourage those 
who provide services 
related to wider affects of 
health, so such as 
housing, to work closely 
with the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 
• To lead on the Joint 
Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) and 
Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) including 
involving users and the 
public in their 
development. 
• To be involved 
throughout the process 
as Clinical 
Commissioning Groups 
• To develop their 
commissioning plans and 
ensure that they take 
proper account of the 
Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy when 
developing these plans. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young Peoples Partnership Board -  Terms of Reference – 26th November 2019

Children and Young Peoples Partnership Board

Terms of Reference 

1. Key Purpose

a. To ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to enable vulnerable children 
and young people to be heard, happy and healthy so that they can achieve the best 
possible outcomes.

b. Provide assurance to the Board that system wide services, and processes are 
contributing effectively to keeping children safe and supported across the continuum of 
need.

c. To work across all parts of the Children and Young People system and partners to 
ensure the whole system works seamlessly and keeping children at the centre of what 
we do.

d. To ensure that all children and young people experience children’s services positively

e. To accept challenge and support from the LSCB in order to increase understanding of 
the effectiveness of partnership working to safeguard children.

f. To oversee the development / refresh, implementation, delivery and performance of 
the Children’s Plan.

2. Responsibilities

It is important that the Board does not duplicate the work of the LSCB and its subgroups.  
The Board will develop and enact processes and procedures that will ensure the key 
purpose above is delivered.  In particular it should hold individuals, the Council and its 
partners to account for the safety and protection of children and young people.

The Board’s key responsibilities will be

a. To identify and agree key performance measures and targets – which will demonstrate 
impact and provide assurance against all organisational provider performance.

b. Hold all agencies to account for the delivery of multi-agency services with agreed 
standards. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



Children and Young Peoples Partnership Board -  Terms of Reference – 26th November 2019

c. Have a planned approach to scrutinising and challenging the effectiveness of services 
and front-line practice. This will include the commissioning of independent 
effectiveness audits and reviews as a mechanism to ‘get below’ the numbers in the 
dashboard and other data sets.

d. To enable a culture of improvement which is embedded across all organisations and 
that there is an understanding and recognition of good practice and ensuring staff 
across all organisations have the necessary skills, knowledge and understanding to 
deliver according to agreed practice models.

e. To ensure the necessary actions and resources are directed at areas of need.
f. To challenge the pace and quality of improvement progress.  
g. To report to the Health and Wellbeing Board as appropriate.
h. Identify, promote and share outstanding performance across agencies and listen to 

the voice of front line staff to ensure their ideas and views are acknowledged.
i. Promote meaningful engagement with Children and Young People to ensure that their 

voice is heard, listened to and considered. Utilise existing groups such as the Youth 
Parliament and Making a Difference Group to ensure. 

3. Membership

Chief Executive (Chair)
Cabinet Member – Children, Schools and Safeguarding
Executive Director
Director of Children’s Services
Chair of Sefton LSCB/ MASA
Head of Service, Children’s Social Care
Head of Service, Education
Head of Service, Communities
Director of PH or representative
Chief Constable of Police
SAPH / SASH Chairs
NHS Commissioners
Chief Exec Alder Hey/North West Boroughs 
Independent Member 
Carers and young people as appropriate
Voluntary Sector representation

4. Frequency

The Board will meet monthly until June, thereafter meetings will be bi-monthly and provide 
6 monthly updates to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 4 
December 2019

Subject: Sub Group Updates

Report of: Director of Public 
Health

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Health and Wellbeing 
Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

This report is to present to the Health and Wellbeing Board a summary of activity from 
the five identified sub groups as outlined in the Governance paper received by the board 
as part of Decembers meeting Agenda. 

Recommendation(s):

(1) The updates are received and noted by the Board.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Board is asked to routinely receive and note updates to ensure compliance with 
required governance standards. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not applicable 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Not applicable 

(B) Capital Costs

Not applicable.
Implications of the Proposals:

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Ensure the Health Wellbeing Board has oversight of 
Subgroup activity and its impact. 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Ensure the Health Wellbeing Board has 
oversight of Subgroup activity and its impact. 
Commission, broker and provide core services: Ensure the Health Wellbeing Board has 
oversight of Subgroup activity and its impact. 
Place – leadership and influencer: Ensure the Health Wellbeing Board has oversight of 
Subgroup activity and its impact. 
Drivers of change and reform: Ensure the Health Wellbeing Board has oversight of 
Subgroup activity and its impact. 
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
Not applicable
Greater income for social investment: 
Not applicable
Cleaner Greener
Not applicable 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5870/19......) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD.4054/19....) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not applicable. 

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Board meeting.

Contact Officer: Eleanor Moulton
Telephone Number: 07779162882
Email Address: eleanor.moulton@sefton.gov.uk

Page 22

Agenda Item 5



Appendices:

The Terms of Reference for each of the sub groups. 

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Board has received a paper on Governance updates at this meeting. The 
paper outlined as part of required updates, it is proposed the board receives a 
standard agenda item as part of each meeting that summarises the activity of its 
formal sub groups. 

1.2 The subgroups are identified as: Adults Forum, The Health Protection Forum, the 
Health and Wellbeing Board Executive, the SEND Continuous Improvement 
Board and the Children & Young People Partnership Board.  Terms of Reference 
(TOR) for each of these sub groups can be found in the appendices to this report. 

2 Updates 

2.1 The Health Protection Forum 

The Health Protection Forum seeks assurance from partners around the quality 
and coverage for the NHS Screening programmes and immunisation programmes 
in Sefton.  The group also seeks assurance on health protection incidents, 
clusters and outbreaks in Sefton, and activity undertaken to prevent or prepare for 
health protection risks. TOR are available in Appendices for this report. 

The following groups also report into the Health Protection Forum:
 The Sefton Flu Planning Group
 The Sefton Screening Group (newly formed -  first meeting in Jan 2020)

The TOR and an action plan from the Flu Group are also available in the 
appendices of this report.

Recent topics the group has reviewed are:
 The impact of FIT testing in the Bowel Screening Service.
 Changes to the cervical screening programme.
 Roll-out of the bowel-scope screening across Sefton.
 Group A Streptococcus infections and invasive infection in people who 

inject drugs.
 Need for sub groups for Screening and Immunisation to be set-up. 

(Screening first meeting planned for 2020 -  Immunisation group to be 
set-up 2020)

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



2.2 Adults Forum 

The forum has not meet since the last verbal update received by the Board in 
June 2019. The next meeting is scheduled for this month. 

2.3 Health and Wellbeing Executive 

The groups are established as part of the Section 75 agreement which is the legal 
document behind the Better Care Fund. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board Executive Group is based on a joint working 
group structure.  Each member of the Health and Wellbeing Board Executive 
Group is an officer of one of the Partners and will have individual delegated 
responsibility from the Partner employing them to make decisions which enable 
the Health and Wellbeing Board Executive Group to carry out its objects, roles, 
duties and functions. The Council and The CCG`s have agreed to establish and 
constitute a Collaboration within these terms of reference to be known as the 
(Health and Wellbeing) Executive Group.

The group is designed to build resilient relationships between senior meads with 
the CCGS and Local Authority for Sefton, providing the strategy oversight for 
schemes delivered through the Better Care fund and to give approval and strategy 
guidance to the Integrated Commissioning Group work programme. 

The terms of reference are available in the appendices of this report for review. 
The group last met on the 24th October 2019. The group received the latest 
performance dashboard on the Better Care Fund schemes. It discussed the next 
steps for developing the work programme for the Integrated Commissioning 
Group, received an update of SEND Improvement, and on the CCG further 
delivery model, a pre discussion on governance updates and feedback around 
Continuing Health Care Legal training. 

2.4 SEND Continuous Improvement Board

The SEND Continuous Improvement Board (SENDCIB) was set up to ensure a 
robust special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) improvement plan is in 
place and delivered to respond to the joint OFSTED/CQC revisit.  The main 
purpose is to improve outcomes and demonstrate impact for children and young 
people and support parents and carers.  The Terms of Reference are available 
and the progress being made against the Improvement Plan is elsewhere on the 
agenda.

The SENDCI Board has five sub groups and a copy of the structure is available.  
Two of the sub groups System Leadership and Governance and SEND Schools 
Forum will report to the Board as and when they meet.  The Board agreed that 
each meeting should have a single update from one sub group to allow for more 
detail and discussion about the topic, as there are three main areas there would 
be quarterly reporting.  Each sub group will continue to meet monthly but if there 
were any issues they can be escalated to the Board at the next available 
meeting.    The main topic in September 2019 was Performance Management 
followed by Joint Commissioning in October 2019 and finally Co-Production in 

Page 24

Agenda Item 5



November 2019.  The cycle will start again in December 2019 on Performance 
Management.  

2.5 Children & Young People Partnership Board

The Children and Young People Partnership Board, formerly Children and Young 
People’s Continuous Improvement Board (CYPCIB), currently meets bi-monthly 
and is a Sefton Council focussed Board.  It has recently been reviewing the Terms 
of Reference to ensure other agencies are represented and a key responsibility 
will be to hold all agencies to account for the delivery of multi agency service 
agreed standards as well as any improvement plans as appropriate.  These 
refreshed terms of reference are due to be presented to the December 2019 
Board for adoption.

3. Conclusion

The Board is asked to receive and note the  contents of the report and to await further 
updates as part of the standard agenda going forward. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Sefton Health Protection Forum
Terms of Reference 2019

1. The purpose of the health protection forum is to:

 Provide strategic oversight of the health protection system in Sefton.
 Improve integration and collaborative working on health protection between 

Sefton Council, the NHS, Public Health England and other local health and care 
service providers.

 Provide assurance to the Director of Public Health and the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, on behalf of the population of Sefton, that the threats to the 
public’s health are understood and that there are safe, effective and locally 
sensitive arrangements in place for the protection of the public’s health.

 

2. Functions

In order to deliver of the strategic purpose of the health protection forum, the 
meeting has a range of different functions, these include:

1. Developing a health protection action plan for Sefton to be approved by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, and oversee its implementation by partners.

2. To review the reports of significant incidents and outbreaks, consider 
recommendations for change as a result, and promote quality improvement of 
the health protection system through encouraging implementation of 
recommendations

3. To ensure that learning from incidents and outbreaks etc. has been established 
in future working practices of commissioners and providers.

4. To identify, communicate and provide recommendations for the management 
of health protection risks, on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

5. To challenge, share and escalate concerns and risks to commissioners and 
appropriate bodies when health protection plans and arrangements are 
considered inadequate to provide sufficient protection of patients or public 
safety.

6. To share and escalate concerns to commissioners and regulators where 
relevant, when a provider’s management of healthcare associated infections is, 
or may be inadequate to provide sufficient protection of patients or public safety.

7. To receive the reports of significant incidents and outbreaks, consider 
recommendations for change and promote quality improvement of the health 
protection system through encouraging implementation of recommendations.

8. To identify, communicate and make recommendations to address health 
inequalities arising from a variation in exposure to and outcomes from 
environmental hazards or infectious diseases, or from a variation in uptake of 
vaccination, coverage of screening or access to other health protection 
interventions.

9. To identify key health protection needs for collaborative work and to feed into 
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the Joint Integrated Commissioning 
Group.

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



3. Scope
The forum will provide advice, challenge and advocacy to protect the population of 
Sefton.
Issues that are within the scope of the board are, but are not restricted to:

 Prevention and control of infectious disease in the community
 Environmental hazards including extreme weather events
 Immunisation programmes
 National screening programmes
 Sexually transmitted infections including HIV / sexual health
 Blood borne viruses 
 Tuberculosis
 Planning, surveillance and response to incidents, outbreaks and emergencies 


Issues that are specifically out of scope of the forum include: 
 Environmental permits
 Business continuity
 Predictable ‘business as usual’ events such as NHS/social care winter planning
 Hospital acquired infection
 Methods of working

4. Governance 
The Sefton Health Protection Forum is accountable to the Health and Wellbeing Board 
through the Director of Public Health.  

The Sefton Health Protection Forum will provide verbal and/or written reports to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on an annual basis (or more frequently as required) through the Director of Public 
Health.

Where there is a need to escalate concerns or risks this will be done via the Director 
of Public Health through the Health and Wellbeing Board, Local Health Resilience 
Partnership, Senior Management Team of Sefton Council, Clinical Commissioning 
Groups or NHS England (or other organisation) as appropriate. 

The following sub- groups will report into the Health Protection Forum:
 Sefton Flu Planning Group
 Sefton Screening Group
 Sefton Immunisation Group
 Other task and finish groups set-up as subgroups of the Health Protection 

Forum as required

Links with other Cheshire and Merseyside Groups.
The Sefton Health Protection Forum will share information and collaborate as 
appropriate with other fora and organisations engaged in the protection and promotion 
of the public’s health.  These include, but are not limited to:
Quality committees of the Sefton Clinical Commissioning Groups
Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership and Merseyside Resilience Forum
Cheshire and Merseyside Screening and Immunisations Oversight Boards 

Page 28

Agenda Item 5



Cheshire and Merseyside Environmental Health Chief Officers Group
Directors of Public Health, and 
CHAMPs Public Health Collaborative. 

5. Membership and decision-making

The membership of the forum reflects its purpose and functions as identified above. 
Accordingly, the membership has representation as follows:-

 Sefton Council  - Public Health
 Public Health England Screening and Immunisation Team
 Public Health England Health Protection Team
 Local Clinical Commissioning Group representatives
 Sefton Council Environmental Health
 Healthwatch
 Sefton Community Infection Prevention and Control
 Sefton Council Emergency Planning

The programme board will be chaired by the Director for Public Health in Sefton or 
Consultant for Health Protection at Sefton Council
.

6. Frequency

The board meets on a three-monthly basis (i.e. four times a year) but may meet more 
often if required. 

7. Agenda 

There are a number of standing items that should be on the agenda each time the 
programme board meets:

 Welcome, Introductions and Apologies
 Screening and Immunisations
 Communicable Diseases 
 Infection Control
 Emergency Planning / Risk and Resilience
 Substance Misuse
 Sexual Health
 AMR
 Environmental health protection
 Air Quality
 Health Watch
 Seasonal Flu
 Communications

Other agenda items may be included at the discretion of the chair.

8. Format of meetings

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



The forum will have a standard agenda. Feedback on key areas will be via the 
completion of a standard template which will be submitted 2 weeks prior to each 
Forum, key points will be highlighted at the forum and time provided for any questions.

10.Sub-Groups

It may be necessary in some cases to establish sub-groups on a standing basis to 
deal with issues that need ongoing attention (e.g. ‘Flu).

In other circumstances it may be appropriate for a programme board to set up a time 
and task sub-group to address specific identified issues, with delegated 
responsibilities, if necessary, and with a view to reporting back at the next programme 
board meeting.

11.Administration

Administrative support for the Board will be provided by Sefton Council.  The agenda 
will be finalised not later than two weeks before the meeting. Papers for the meeting 
will be circulated at least two weeks in advance of the meeting to allow members to 
familiarise themselves with them before the meeting.

Later items can be included at the discretion of the Chair, but it is expected that this 
would be exceptional.

12.Review

Terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis

Page 30

Agenda Item 5



Special Educational Needs and Disability Continuous Improvement Board
Terms of Reference

1. Key Purpose

a. To ensure that a robust special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), 
Improvement plan is in place and delivered to respond to the joint 
OFSTED/CQC revisit to review the partnership weaknesses, which were 
initially identified in the SEND Inspection in November 2016. The main purpose 
being to improve outcomes and demonstrate impact for children and young 
people and support parents and carers.

b. To provide effective oversight of the whole SEND system and interconnecting 
systems and services relevant to the SEND agenda.

c.  Provide assurance to the Health and Wellbeing Board, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and partner agencies that services, systems and processes are 
contributing effectively to keeping children and parents supported, in line with 
the SEND Code of Practice

d. To work across all parts of the SEND system and partners to ensure the whole 
system works seamlessly and keeping children at the centre of what we do and 
that all education and healthcare (EHCP) plans are co-produced with children 
and young people and parent/carers

e. To ensure that the voices and views of children, young people and families are 
included in all aspects of the improvement plan and subsequent work streams 
so as to ensure that the experiences of all children, young people and families 
are positive.

f. To provide robust challenge across the system around performance and impact 
and work to the best possible outcomes for children and young people within 
available resources.

2. Responsibilities

The Board will develop and enact processes and procedures that will ensure the 
key purpose above is delivered.  In particular it should hold individuals, the Council, 
health services and other partners to account for the SEND service and overall 
Improvement plan.

The Board’s key responsibilities will be to:
a. identify and agree key performance measures and targets – which will 

demonstrate impact and provide assurance.

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



b. hold all agencies to account for the delivery of the Sefton Improvement Plan, 
and any other improvement plans as appropriate 

c. have a planned approach to scrutinising and challenging the effectiveness of 
services and front line practice and reporting against agreed metrics. This will 
include the commissioning of independent audits and reviews as a 
mechanism to ensure performance is improved and sustained.

d. enable a culture of continuous quality improvement which is embedded across 
all organisations and ensure there is an understanding and sharing of good 
practice.

e. ensure the necessary actions and appropriate resources are available and 
directed to areas of concern.

f. challenge the pace and quality of improvement progress and ensure delivery 
against agreed timescales recognising the need to secure accelerated 
improvements turn into outcomes.  

g. report to Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committees, CCG Governing Bodies, 
NHS Provider Forums as appropriate and the Health and Wellbeing Board.  The 
Board will also provide regular updates to the DfE to show progress against the 
areas identified in the revisit.

3. Membership

Cabinet Member – Adult Social Care (Chair of Board)
Chief Executive
CCG Chief Officer
CCG representatives
NHS partners
Vol Sector 
Parent/Carers across the system x 3
Cabinet Member – Children, Schools and Safeguarding
Director of Children’s Services
Head of Service, Children’s Social Care
Head of Service, Education
Head of Service, Communities
Head of Service, Strategic Support
Public Health
A representative from each phase of education i.e. Primary, Secondary and 
Special Schools 

Advisers to the Board
Link Advisor DfE
Link Advisor NHS England 

Mechanisms will also be put in place to engage with children, young people, families 
and frontline staff

4. Frequency

The Board will meet monthly and provide 3 monthly updates to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

Page 32

Agenda Item 5



There is an expectation that members will attend a minimum of 90% of meetings and 
will ensure a suitable deputy will attend in their absence.

Terms of reference will be reviewed on a minimum of an annual basis

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



Governance Structure for SEND Continuous Improvement Board

Health and Wellbeing Board 

SEND Continuous Improvement Board

System Leadership 
and Governance

Lead: Chief Executive 
Sefton Council/ Chief 

Officer CCGs 

Joint 
Commissioning 

Lead: Deputy Chief 
Officer, CCG/ Head 
of Strategic Support 

Sefton Council

Performance 
management and 

Assessment & Provision 
 EHCP
 Education
 Workforce Development

Lead: Deputy Chief 
Officer CCG/ Head of 

Education 

Co-production, 
Communication and 

Engagement
Lead: Head of 

Communities Sefton 
Council/ DCO

Overview and 
Scrutiny CCGs Governing Bodies 

SEND Schools Forum
Lead: Head of 

Education

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 5



Health and Wellbeing Board Executive Group 
Terms of Reference

July 2017 

1. Introduction
1.1 Sefton Council (The Council) and South Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group and Southport 

and Formby Clinical Commissioning Group (The CCG`s) with responsibility for provision and 
commissioning of health and social care have agreed to work together under the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. The dual purpose to be to maximise the opportunities to use combined 
resources efficiently to achieve better outcomes for citizens and secondly to make sure that 
there is focus on realising those outcomes.

2. Establishment
2.1 The Council and The CCG`s have agreed to establish and constitute a Collaboration within 

these terms of reference to be known as the (Health and Wellbeing) Executive Group.

3. Purpose 
3.1 To determine and ensure delivery of a Strategy for Integrated Commissioning, to drive 

forward performance, to own and manage risks relating to Integrated Commissioning, and 
strategically lead the change programme towards full integration by 2020. 

3.2 To hold organisations, to account for the delivery of better outcomes for citizens and efficient 
use of combined/pooled resources. 

3.3 To provide peer to peer leadership support in order to build resilient relationships between 
senior leaders and thus organisations.

3.4 To enable a consistent and collaborative leadership approach and a presence at local, 
regional and national NHS and Local Authority initiatives for betterment of the population of 
Sefton.

3.5 In relation to priorities/schemes/projects

3.5.1 Provide strategic direction on the schemes.

3.5.2 Receive the financial and activity information.

3.5.3 Review the operation of this Agreement. 

3.5.4 Review the performance of the Schemes.

3.5.5 Agree such variations to this Agreement from time to time as it sees fit.

3.5.6 Review and agree risk assessment on a regular basis. (at every monthly meeting)

3.5.7 Review and agree annually revised Schedules as necessary.

3.5.8 Reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board progress.

4. Delegated Authority 
4.1 The Executive Group is authorised within the limited of delegated authority for

its members which is received through their respective organisation’s own financial scheme of 
delegation to:

- to authorise commitments which exceed or are reasonably likely to lead to exceeding the 
contributions of the Partners to the aggregate contributions of the Partners to any Pooled 
Fund;  and

- to authorise a Lead Partner to enter into any contract for services necessary for the 
provision of Services under a Scheme.

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



5. Decision making
5.1 All decision making must comply with existing organisational constitutions and permissions 

and limits of delegation.

5.2 Where a Partner is not present and has not given prior written notification of its intended 
position on a matter to be discussed, then those present may not make or record 
commitments on behalf of that Partner in any way.

5.3 Decisions of the (Health and Wellbeing Board) Executive Group should be made 
unanimously.  Where unanimity is not reached then the item in question will in the first 
instance be referred to the next meeting. If no unanimity is reached on the second occasion it 
is discussed then the matter shall be dealt with in accordance with the dispute resolution 
procedure set out in the Agreement.

5.4 Minutes of all decisions shall be kept and copied to the Authorised Officers within seven days 
of every meeting.

6. Membership
6.1 The (Health and Wellbeing) Executive Group will be jointly chaired by Council   Chief 

Executive and CCG Accountable Officer.

6.2 The Chair of the Group may at discretion permit other persons to attend the meetings but, for 
the avoidance of doubt, any other persons in attendance at any meeting shall not count 
towards the quorum or have the right to partake in any decisions, unless they have been 
given delegated authority to deputise for a Member.

6.3 Any individual may deputise for a Member provided that the relevant Organisation has 
established and agreed delegated authority.

6.4 The membership of the (Health and Wellbeing Board) Executive Group will be as follows:

6.5 CCG`s: Accountable Officer or a deputy to be notified to the other members in advance of any 
meeting;

6.6 Council: Chief Executive or a deputy to be notified in writing to Chair in advance of any 
meeting.

7. Meetings
7.1 The Executive Group shall meet on monthly basis or at such times as the Chair may direct on 

giving reasonable written notice to the members.

7.2 Meetings will be scheduled to ensure they do not conflict with respective Boards or Governing 
Bodies.

7.3 Meetings of the Executive Group shall be in private unless the group considers that it would 
be in the public interest to permit members of the public to attend a meeting or part of a 
meeting.

8. Quorum
8.1 The quorum for a meeting of Executive Group shall be a minimum of one representative from 

the partner organisations. All decisions must be on a consensus basis.

9. Attendance at meetings
9.1 Members of the Executive Group may participate in meetings in person or virtually by using 

video, telephone or web link or other live and uninterrupted conferencing facilities.

10. Administrative

Page 36

Agenda Item 5



10.1 Administrative support for the Executive Group will be provided by the Partner holding the 
Chair.

10.2 Agenda and Papers for each meeting will be sent to the Executive Group members no later 
than one week prior to each meeting. By exception, and only with the agreement of the Chair, 
amendments to papers may be table before the meeting. Every effort will be made to circulate 
papers to member earlier if possible.

10.3 Agreed action notes will be circulated to members within 10 working days of the meeting.

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young Peoples Partnership Board -  Terms of Reference – 26th November 2019

Children and Young Peoples Partnership Board

Terms of Reference 

1. Key Purpose

a. To ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to enable vulnerable children 
and young people to be heard, happy and healthy so that they can achieve the best 
possible outcomes.

b. Provide assurance to the Board that system wide services, and processes are 
contributing effectively to keeping children safe and supported across the continuum of 
need.

c. To work across all parts of the Children and Young People system and partners to 
ensure the whole system works seamlessly and keeping children at the centre of what 
we do.

d. To ensure that all children and young people experience children’s services positively

e. To accept challenge and support from the LSCB in order to increase understanding of 
the effectiveness of partnership working to safeguard children.

f. To oversee the development / refresh, implementation, delivery and performance of 
the Children’s Plan.

2. Responsibilities

It is important that the Board does not duplicate the work of the LSCB and its subgroups.  
The Board will develop and enact processes and procedures that will ensure the key 
purpose above is delivered.  In particular it should hold individuals, the Council and its 
partners to account for the safety and protection of children and young people.

The Board’s key responsibilities will be

a. To identify and agree key performance measures and targets – which will demonstrate 
impact and provide assurance against all organisational provider performance.

b. Hold all agencies to account for the delivery of multi-agency services with agreed 
standards. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



Children and Young Peoples Partnership Board -  Terms of Reference – 26th November 2019

c. Have a planned approach to scrutinising and challenging the effectiveness of services 
and front-line practice. This will include the commissioning of independent 
effectiveness audits and reviews as a mechanism to ‘get below’ the numbers in the 
dashboard and other data sets.

d. To enable a culture of improvement which is embedded across all organisations and 
that there is an understanding and recognition of good practice and ensuring staff 
across all organisations have the necessary skills, knowledge and understanding to 
deliver according to agreed practice models.

e. To ensure the necessary actions and resources are directed at areas of need.
f. To challenge the pace and quality of improvement progress.  
g. To report to the Health and Wellbeing Board as appropriate.
h. Identify, promote and share outstanding performance across agencies and listen to 

the voice of front line staff to ensure their ideas and views are acknowledged.
i. Promote meaningful engagement with Children and Young People to ensure that their 

voice is heard, listened to and considered. Utilise existing groups such as the Youth 
Parliament and Making a Difference Group to ensure. 

3. Membership

Chief Executive (Chair)
Cabinet Member – Children, Schools and Safeguarding
Executive Director
Director of Children’s Services
Chair of Sefton LSCB/ MASA
Head of Service, Children’s Social Care
Head of Service, Education
Head of Service, Communities
Director of PH or representative
Chief Constable of Police
SAPH / SASH Chairs
NHS Commissioners
Chief Exec Alder Hey/North West Boroughs 
Independent Member 
Carers and young people as appropriate
Voluntary Sector representation

4. Frequency

The Board will meet monthly until June, thereafter meetings will be bi-monthly and provide 
6 monthly updates to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5



26/11/2019 

Dear Health and Wellbeing Board Member, 

Re: Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board -  Annual Report 2018‑19. 

Please see enclosed a copy of the LSCB Annual report for 2018-19. The Board are asked to 
receive and note the report. Paula St Aubyn, Chair of the LSCB, will attend the meeting to 
answer any questions you may have. 

Kind Regards, 

Eleanor Moulton. 

Integrated Social Care and Health Manager. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Sefton Local Safeguarding
Children Board 
Annual Report 

2018/19

The 'Easy Read' VersionPage 43

Agenda Item 7



T A B L E  O F
C O N T E N T S

  0 3

About the
LSCB and

the Annual
Report 

  0 4

Key
Statistics

  0 5

A Review of
Partnership

Activity

  1 0

Section
175/157

Safeguarding
Audit

  1 4

Section 11
Audit

1 6

Multi-Agency
Audits

2 0

Serious Case
Reviews

2 1

Connect
with the

LSCB

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



About the LSCB and the
Annual Report

The Sefton Local Safeguarding Children's Board (Sefton
LSCB) is made up of leaders from a range of

organisations, that work together to create and talk
about plans that will protect Sefton's children and

young people and keep them safe. 
 

This report looks at the time between April 2018 and
March 2019. It also looks at how groups such as schools

and charities are improving the lives of children and
young people across Sefton.

 
This report shows work completed, achievements and
areas for improvements as an easy read version. This is

a snapshot of the much more in-depth version which
can be found on the Sefton LSCB website.

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



Key Statistics

of children are looked-after by the
Local Authority

of children have special educational
needs or disabilities

of children are of a black, asian, or
minority ethnic group heritage7%

10%
12%

0.9% of children went missing during
the year

There were 56,758 0-18 year olds in Sefton, of which:

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



Partnership
Activity

The LSCB undertook its annual review of its members,
including that of the independent chair of the board. This
has highlighted the important work that the partnership is
doing, that contributes to keeping Sefton's children and

young people safe. 
 

Childrens' Social Care

They have an active role in the activity of the board and
are represented in the subgroups, executive board and

the main board.

The CCG held a Young Person’s event called ‘Your Youth
Health Day’ which was organised by Sefton Young

Advisors. The aim was to hear from young people about
their ideas and experiences of local health and social care

services. 
 

The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)

Liverpool Women's Hospital
Liverpool Women's Hospital include the voice of the child
within all routine and targeted health assessments. They
also have a process which allows feedback showing the

views of the child/families.
Page 47

Agenda Item 7



Public Health

Over the last year, Public Health have worked with
Sefton's designated nurses for Looked After Children

alongside senior managers from North West Boroughs
Healthcare. 

 
This is to map the journey of the children coming into
care in regards to their personal healthcare.  Together

we were able to identify barriers to timely assessments
and a need to strengthen outcome focused practice

following assessments.

The Local Authority Safeguarding Unit work very closely
with young people through the voluntary sector. They
help them to get their voices heard in child protection

conferences.
 

The Local Authority Safeguarding Unit

North West Boroughs NHS Trust
The North West Boroughs NHS Trust has made sure that

safeguarding training is a priority for their staff. 
 

They look at the impact of safeguarding training, and that
information is used to develop the training further. The

Looked After Children team have also delivered specific
training to their staff.

 
Page 48

Agenda Item 7



Children and Family Court Advisory and
Support Service (CAFCASS)

CAFCASS want to continue the quality of their work, by
helping to focus on  family justice reform and innovation.

They also want to encourage information sharing and best
practice.

 
Mersey Care NHS

Merseycare NHS, have worked really hard with their
training activity to improve the capture of the voice of the 

 child. 
 

They have introduced real life case studies within
children's safeguarding training and they use the voice of
the child to deliver key messages and shape  future plans

that directly impact the child.
 

The impact of parental substance misuse, mental health
issues and domestic abuse in the home on children was

delivered through safeguarding training.
 

Merseyside Police
Merseyside Police are working hard to ensure the

importance of the voice of the child is understood by staff,
and that the views of children are captured. This includes
a coordinated communication plan, a ‘voice of the child’

training plan and process changes to capture the
information.

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Council for Voluntary Services (CVS)

Sefton CVS have consistently promoted the work of the
LSCB throughout the sector particularly the 450

organisations that work with children and young people.
For the last 3 years Sefton Young Advisors have been

asked to youth proof the LSCB’s annual report. The team
created “An Easy Read Version of the LSCB Annual

Report” that is colourful, eye-catching and understandable
for both young people and adults.

 
Young Advisors have worked directly with Sefton’s IRO’s

(independent reviewing officers) to further develop
materials for young people and their families including an
introductory letter and review documents. It is envisioned
that these documents will reshape the way that the voice
of the child and family is heard throughout child in need

and child protection processes.
 

CVS continued to support groups through both e-learning
modules and face-face training. 

276 people accessed E-learning in Child Protection, 64 on
Equality and Diversity. 74 people received face-to-face
training on Safeguarding Children, 66 on Mental Health

and Suicide Awareness. They introduced a new course on
Good Governance on safeguarding which was delivered to

11 Agencies.
 Page 50

Agenda Item 7



One Vision Housing

One Vision Housing have introduced bespoke training for
The training covers types of abuse, signs to be aware of,

and what to do if they have a concern.  
The training also addresses domestic abuse and child

exploitation. 
They have also been involved in shaping the performance
indicators for the LSCB which will be implemented across

the partnership.
 

The Board

The Board, as a collective, have continued to focus on
improving the gathering of, and the response to, the voice

of the child. 
For the coming year arrangements have been made to

hold a large-scale learning opportunity for the partnership
tailored around hearing the voice of the child specific to

our Serious Case Reviews.
 

This highlights the breadth of work that the
partnership is doing to contribute to the
safeguarding agenda. 
 
It illuminates innovative practice in working directly
with children and young people and demonstrates
a collective want to focus on impact and outcomes.

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



Section 175/157
Safeguarding Audit

Every year, schools and colleges in Sefton complete
a Safeguarding audit. This is  a way to examine how

good the safeguarding practices, policies
and procedures are. The key findings were as follows:

Sefton schools and
colleges maintain a very
strong commitment to

safeguarding.

All settings have a
whistleblowing policy, all

have made their child
protection policy available

All schools and colleges
have Designated

Safeguarding lead workers.

Sefton's governors attend
training and look at data to

support schools and
colleges.

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



All schools have child protection
policies, that are specific.  Some

schools hold staff sessions to
make sure policies are fully

understood. 

All schools and colleges
know the legal guidance

well.

All settings are clearly aware of
Sefton LSCB policies and

escalation procedures.

All child protection policies give
advice on how to deal with abuse in

friendships, reporting female
genital mutilation and staying safe

online. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



All schools make sure staff are
trained to support safeguarding,

with first aid, giving medicines and
general health and safety.

All schools know of LSCB
policies and procedures. The 7

minute briefings are shared with
staff and governors. 

Schools and colleges play a role in the
safeguarding system, working with the

police, volunteers and other
local authorities.

Overseeing attendance, and the
actions that should be taken, is

very good in schools and colleges.
The most vulnerable groups are

especially monitored.

Page 54

Agenda Item 7



All schools and colleges check
teachers' records in detail
before employing them. 

Evidence is needed from some
schools that there is a trained

teacher who promotes the
achievement of looked after

children.

All schools should evidence how
they consult with pupils and

parents to confirm that pupils
feel safe in school.

All settings have good links with the local
authority for dealing with children who go

missing from education.  Schools and
colleges can effectively identify children

and young people who may be at risk.

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



Section 11 Audit

The Section 11 Audit is a 
self-assessment completed by partner

agencies to see how well they are performing
their safeguarding responsibilities, which are

shown in the Children Act of 2004. 
 

It gives the LCSB confidence that
safeguarding policies are in place across

Sefton. 
 

It also assures them that, where improvements
are needed, there are plans in place to make

sure they happen. 
 

This happens twice a year.
 
 

Page 56

Agenda Item 7



All Sefton's partner agencies have a clear commitment
to safeguarding and have published an easily accessible

safeguarding policy.

All staff know their safeguarding lead and have had
some form of safeguarding training and are aware of the

referral process.

All Sefton partner agencies have a clear statement of
their commitment to safeguard children and young

people.

All Sefton partner agencies completed or refreshed their
Section 11 self-assessment.

70% had a frontline visit.

Not all staff understood contextual safeguarding and
topics such as county lines.

From this year's audits, the following was
found:

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



Multi-Agency Audits

Safeguarding children with disabilities
Child sexual abuse in the family environment

(CSAFE)

These have became an important part in improving
what the LSCB's partners do. The partners were

involved in two major audits this year:
 

1.
2.

Safeguarding Children with Disabilities

Research that has been done nationally that shows that
disabled children are more likely to be abused. 

 
A national survey into how LSCBs nationwide were
protecting disabled children, showed that disabled

children were yet to be focused on and a more organised
approach was needed to reduce their vulnerability. 

Multi-Agency Audits

Page 58

Agenda Item 7



The quality of
assessments,

decision-making,
plans, and capturing
the voice of the child

varied across the
audit.

There is still some
work to be done
around  improve

things like getting
the child's opinion.

This audit showed that Sefton still needs to improve work
with disabled children. 

However, it also illustrated some of the significant
strengths in terms of the quality of practice and strong

dedication across health, police,
schools, local authority, and the voluntary sector.

Improvement in a
child's life were

best when
agencies involved
the whole family
to tackle issues. 

The key plans for
disabled children
were not aligned.

All eight children
were safe and
there were no

escalations made
during the audit

What Sefton found from
the multi-agency audit:

The risks for the
eight children were

generally well known
and managed across

the Sefton
partnership.

Due to poor sharing
and recording of

information, partner
agencies didn't know

the complexity of
their disabilities.

Education Heath
Care

Planning (EHCP)
processes needed

to be fully
understood by all
Sefton agencies.

Key actions from
previous multi

agency audits need
to be properly

evaluated.

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



Child Sexual Abuse in a Family
Environment

 The Sefton LSCB knew that many national
investigations had looked at this issue, and they kept

this in mind. For example, the Children's Commissioner
investigated this in 2014, and saw the following:

Only 1/8 of
children that suffer
from sexual abuse

are identified by
the authorities.

11% of children suffer
from sexual abuse.

Children that
have been

sexually
abused don't

know until they
are older.

2/3 of sexual
abuse happens in

family, or in the
close circle

around a family,
like a family

friend, for
example.

People that
work with

children need
support to

identify victims
of sexual abuse.

CSAFE is usually
recognised by the

authorities because
of something else,
such as self-harm. 

Page 60

Agenda Item 7



 
      
The voices of child victims of sexual abuse
within the family environment were often not
heard.
 
  
There was a lack of professional curiosity in
many of the cases. 
 
     
It was not clear why, in many of the cases,
that a strategy meeting was not held. 
 
      
Information sharing and coordination between
agencies was not good enough. 
 
     
In some of the cases, the original allegations
of sexual abuse were lost and attention had
turned to other matters.

The Sefton LSCB had the facts listed above in mind, and
decided that a multi-agency audit was best to

investigate CSAFE. The findings were as follows: 

This audit showed that the whole partnership has a lack of
awareness, understanding and identifying and

responding to CSAFE. 
 

Given the significance of the findings, it was recommended
that this area of work was made an LSCB safeguarding

priority.
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



Serious Case Reviews

Recurrent themes from SCRs proved the need for better;
 

professional curiosity
 
 

information sharing 
 
 

assessments
 
 

understanding escalation 

In 2017/18, there were 4 Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) in
Sefton, and 2 were published during this year. 

Serious Case Reviews

A learning event is planned for the summer of 2019, which
will let professionals reflect on key messages from these

SCRs over the past year. Page 62

Agenda Item 7



@SeftonLSCB

SeftonLSCB.org.uk

This is a shortened, easy read version of the
LSCB's full annual report. 
 
To see this, and to find out more information
on training, policy and guidance, and other
useful links go to:

Page 63

Agenda Item 7

https://twitter.com/SeftonLSCB
http://seftonlscb.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Sefton LSCB Annual Report 2018‑19

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

Contents
Chair’s Introduction ............................................................................................................................................. 1

What is Sefton LSCB? ......................................................................................................................................... 2
Sefton LSCB Business Plan 2018‑20 ............................................................................................................... 2
If children in Sefton were represented as a village of 100  ...................................................................... 3
How are we resourced? ..................................................................................................................................... 3
How are we structured? .................................................................................................................................... 4
Illustration of Partnership Activity within the LSCB 2018‑19 ................................................................... 4

LSCB main board meetings ‑  areas of discussion ........................................................................................ 9

Sub‑Group Achievements ................................................................................................................................. 10

Performance and Quality Assurance Subgroup (PQA) ............................................................................. 10
Policies and Procedures Subgroup (P&P) ..................................................................................................... 11

A time for reflection….. ...................................................................................................................................... 12

Selected Testimonials for LSCB effectiveness .............................................................................................. 13

Appendix 1............................................................................................................................................................ 14

Sefton LSCB Multi‑Agency Audit Activity 2018‑19 ................................................................................... 14

Section 11 Audit (statutory partners) ............................................................................................................ 15

Multi‑agency audits  ........................................................................................................................................... 15

Safeguarding children with disabilities  ......................................................................................................... 15

Serious Case Reviews (SCR’s) and Multi-Agency Reflective Reviews ...................................................... 17

Recurrent themes from SCRs  .......................................................................................................................... 17

Appendix 2............................................................................................................................................................ 18

Page 66

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  1

Chair’s Introduction
I am pleased to present the 2018/19 Sefton Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board annual report. The 
report provides an overview of the work undertaken 
and the progress made against the agreed priorities. 

The LSCB has continued to drive effective partnership 
working. This has been particularly evidenced in 
the high‑level commitment and focus to undertake 
several detailed case reviews. This has resulted in 
significant learning, highlighting good practice and 
areas for development. 

A crucial balance has been achieved whereby robust 
safeguarding practice has been maintained and 
improved as a result of strong local partnerships, 
whilst undertaking an incremental move to 
new safeguarding arrangements.  These ‘new 
arrangements’, in accordance with legislation will be 
published and commence on 1 June 2019.

The key statutory partners and relevant agencies 
have direct and tangible experience of what can be 
achieved ‘working together’ and as a result the whole 
partnership have been explicit in their commitment to 
continue to be inclusive and accountable and sustain 
the current safeguarding arrangements. 

In practical terms, this has been evidenced by the 
financial commitment to ensure posts are maintained 
to deliver the priority work. This means, over the 
coming year, there can be robust checks and balances 
to ensure the learning from case reviews have 
resulted in improvements in practice. Operational 
staff will be supported in their continued learning 
and development and there will be audit activity to 
evidence that there is a real focus on the needs of 
children growing up in Sefton and how the partnership 
works effectively to support positive outcomes for 
children. 

The small team supporting the safeguarding 
partnership, Deb Hughes, Business Manager and 
Donna Atkinson business support officer have 
once again maintained and delivered extremely 
high standards of work for and on behalf of the 
partnership.  They have proven ability and credibility 
to build, sustain and support healthy multi agency 
relationships which has been, and will continue 
to be, a key ingredient to the effectiveness of the 
partnership.   

   

There are emerging wider safeguarding concerns 
nationally and locally commonly known as ’contextual 
safeguarding ‘. This means practitioners’ work has 
expanded with a need to have a greater awareness 
of risks from outside the family, such as sexual 
and criminal exploitation, modern slavery, human 
trafficking, terrorism and radicalization.

I wish to thank personally and on behalf of the 
board all operational staff and their mangers for 
working tirelessly with increasing demands and in 
an ever‑changing context. It is your dedication and 
commitment from all services and agencies that 
support children to do their best and grow up safely in 
Sefton. 

Paula St Aubyn
Sefton LSCB Independent Chair

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  2

What is Sefton LSCB?
Sefton LSCB exists to coordinate and ensure the effectiveness of what is done locally to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children and young people. It is a statutory body established under the Children Act 2004. It is 
independently chaired as required by statute and consists of senior representatives of all the main agencies 
who work together to safeguard our children and young people. Underpinning all of the work of the Board, is the 
drive and determination to safeguard our children and young people built around the Boards’ vision and value 
base.

Sefton LSCB Business Plan 2018‑20

Who are the partnership members?
Sefton LSCB membership 2018‑19:

Independent Chair, Sefton LSCB Head of Children’s Social Care (Sefton Council)

Deputy Chief Executive, Sefton CVS
Assistant Director (Safeguarding) Alder Hey NHS 
Trust

Head of Children’s Social Care (Sefton Council) Assistant Director, HM Prison & Probation Service 

Headteacher, Primary School 
Associate Director of Nursing & Midwifery 
(Safeguarding), Liverpool Women’s Hospital

Chief Executive, Sefton Women & Children’s Aid 
(SWACA)

Head of Education (Sefton Council)

Assistant Clinical Director, North West Boroughs 
Health (NHS) 

Headteacher, Sefton Secondary School 

Designated Nurse (Clinical Commissioning Groups)
Deputy Director of Nursing & Quality, Mersey Care 
NHS Trust

Service Manager, (CAFCASS)
Chief Nurse, South Sefton and Formby Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs)

Designated Doctor, South Sefton and Formby Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs)

Community Director, Merseyside Community 
Rehabilitation Company (CRC)

Quality Manager, NHS England Director of Supply Services, One Vision Housing

Service Manager (Safeguarding Children & Quality 
Review), Sefton Council 

Assistant Director (Safeguarding), Southport & 
Ormskirk NHS Trust

Named GP, Clinical Commissioning Groups Service Manager (YOT) (Sefton MBC)

Independent Lay Member (Sefton LSCB) Independent Lay Member (Sefton LSCB)

Sefton LSCB Business Manager
Associate Director of Nursing (Safeguarding) Aintree 
University Hospital NHS Trust

Director of Social Care & Health (Sefton Council) Superintendent ‑ Merseyside Police

Strategic Safeguarding Manager (Merseyside Fire & 
Rescue Service)

Lead Elected Member (Children’s Services), Sefton 
Council 

Public Health Consultant (Sefton Council)

Page 68

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  3

If children in Sefton were represented as a village of 100 

How are we resourced?
Partner agencies in Sefton have an obligation to provide the LSCB with necessary resources, which includes 
financial contribution.  This enables the LSCB to be well organised and effective. It should be noted that 
partners also contribute resources in the form of venues, staff time and support for multi-agency training and 
events.

Sefton LSCB Budget 2018‑19 Summary £
Total Income 2018-19 (Inc. £11,921 carried forward from 2017-18) 275,974.50
Total Expenditure 2018-19 263,261.36
Balance to carry forward 2019‑20 12,713.14

In 2018-19 the majority of costs come from those associated with core day to day running such as staffing 
costs, consultancy costs eg. independent services and author fees for serious case reviews.  

Moving into 2019-20 and in line with Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018), funding arrangements 
will be agreed between the 3 key safeguarding partners: Local Authority, Police & Clinical Commissioning Group.  
This should be equitable and proportionate.

Aged 0‑4

Aged 5‑11

100

Aged 12‑15

27
41

22
11

4 39 26
4

17
7

8.1

5.8
2.9

1.2

1

1.2

5.3

0.9

0.3

Aged 16‑17

Maintained 
Primary Maintained 

Secondary

Secondary pupils 
absent for 10% of 
school year

Children in 
low‑income 
families

Black & Asian 
Minority Ethnic 
Group Heritage

Children in 
Need during 
the year

Assessed by 
Children's 
Social Care

Domestic 
Violence an 
Issue in 
Assessment

Children Looked 
After during the 
year

Children 
with Child 
Protection 
Plan during 
the year

Early Help 
episodes 
completed where 
failed to engage 
family

Early Help 
episodes 
completed ‑ all 
outcomes

Children 
Missing 
During the 
Year

Contact 
triggered by 
CSE concern

Child Protection & Early 
Intervention & Prevention

Demographics & Education

Commissioning Support & Business Intelligence Service
Data, Insight, Business Intelligence, & Performance

Maintained 
Nursery

10 Special 
Educational 
Needs or 
Disabilities

3
Primary pupils 
absent for 10% 
of school year

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

How are we structured?

Illustration of Partnership Activity 
within the LSCB 2018‑19
The Board, as a collective, have continued to focus on 
improving the gathering of, and the response to, the 
voice of the child. This includes the strengthening of 
bespoke additional input in:

 ■ 7 minute briefings

 ■ Newsletters

 ■ Multi‑agency audit templates

 ■ Serious Case Reviews

For the coming year arrangements have been made 
to hold a large‑scale learning opportunity for the 
partnership tailored around hearing the voice of the 
child specific to our Serious Case Reviews.

The LSCB undertook its annual appraisal of members 
including that of the Independent Chair. This valuable 
exercise has highlighted the breadth of work that the 
partnership is doing within their host agencies that 
contribute to the safeguarding agenda. Conversations 
illuminated innovative practice in working directly 
with children and young people and demonstrates 
a collective want to focus on impact and outcomes 
for the betterment of our community. Recognition 
of the value of the Independent Chair was voiced by 
all members and concludes that this will remain an 

essential ingredient moving forward under the new 
Multi‑Agency Safeguarding Arrangements (MASA).

The LSCB has supported the CCG’s in their review of 
the quality assurance schedules and Safeguarding 
KPI’s in place with commissioned health providers. 
Presentations and appraisals through the LSCB 
facilitated discussions within the health economy 
of the need to reduce the number of quantitative 
metrics and progress to more qualitative outcome 
measures to support greater scrutiny from the 
child’s perspective.  This feedback informed the 
CCGs work of reviewing the safeguarding assurance 
processes on a Merseyside wide footprint, ensuring 
a consistent approach for health partners when 
commissioned to provide services across more than 
one area.  Further consultation between the CCGs 
and their commissioned services supported the 
reduction in KPI metrics from 90 to 31, a greater focus 
on commissioning standards and the introduction 
of a quality site visit. The use of LSCB data from 
front line visits, Section 11 audits and partnership 
reports including the Independent Safeguarding and 
Quality Assurance Service report will further support 
triangulation of data to support the revised process.  
The LSCB received a further presentation from the 
CCG as to the agreed changes being implemented 
from April 2019 which included positive feedback from 
health partners involved.

Sefton LSCB – Main Board 

Executive Board

Exception Reporting: 
Child Exploitation & Missing 
Children Operational/
Practitioners Group Private 
Fostering 
Early Help/Neglect 
Joint Health Sub‑Group 

Learning & Development 
Chair: Public Health 

Consultant 
(Public Health) 

Training Pool

Task & Finish Group
Virtual World
On‑line Safety Voice of the Child

AuditPoolSCR Panel

Practice Review 
Panel (PRP) 

Chair: Chief Nurse 
(CCG)  

Performance & Quality 
Assurance (PQA) Chair: 

Service Manager, 
Safeguarding Unit

(Sefton MBC) 

Pan Merseyside Child 
Death Overview Panel 

(CDOP) Chair: 
(Independent) 

Policy & Procedures Chair: 
Designated Nurse (CCG) 

Executive Board Membership: 
All Sub‑Group Chairs  
LSCB Business Manager  
LSCB Learning & Development 
Officer  Sefton CVS Representative  
Merseyside Police  
Head of Children’s Social Care 

Page 70

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  5

 “The new KPI reporting template provides a 
balance of both qualitative and quantitative 
data.  Sefton LSCB have been instrumental in 
influencing changes to the KPI’s to become 
more outcomes focused” (North West 
Boroughs Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust)

Children’s Social Care remain committed to the 
work of the LSCB. They take an active role in the 
activity of the Board and are represented in the sub 
groups, executive group and the main board. Despite 
significant challenges faced by their service in terms 
of capacity they continue to fully support the Board in 
their representation and contribution. In addition, the 
Head of Social Care has undertaken key roles to lead 
Serious Case Review work to successful completion 
and has significantly contributed to the audit activity 
undertaken by the LSCB.

Children’s Social Care itself has a Quality Assurance 
Framework in place that ensures that as well as 
looking at performance measures, the quality and 
impact of their interventions is regularly audited. 
Through their approach of this work they identify 
both themes of good practice and the impact that 
their work has on individual children and families. In 
alignment with the LSCB priorities, Children’s Social 
Care are refreshing their service improvement plan 
to further strengthen their collaboration in working 
across the children services’ partnership. Their service 
priorities are concentrated around frontline practice, 
management oversight and good quality supervision 
and resource alignment to support high quality work 
undertakings. 

Performance Management of Clinical Commissioning 
Group commissioned services continues to be 
reviewed by the CCG Safeguarding Service against 
specific Key Performance Indicators on a quarterly 
basis.

The process has been further developed throughout 
2018‑19 to further support demonstration of impact. 
Presentations have been delivered to the LSCB Main 
Board to support partners to understand 

a. the Assurance and Oversight Processes 
undertaken by the CCG of their commissioned 
services

b. the changes made to the assurance processes 
to support a more qualitative and outcomes 
focussed assurance cycle including a quality/ 
validation visit

The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) held a Young 
Person’s event ‘Your Youth Health Day’ which was 

organised by Sefton Young Advisers on their behalf 
to hear from young people about their ideas and 
experiences of local healthcare to improve inclusivity 
and influence. CCG representatives have supported 
the collation of narrative to support the understanding 
of data collated and contained within the LSCB 
developed data set. In July 2018, the CQC undertook 
their Review of Health Services for Children Looked 
After and Safeguarding across Sefton. As a result 
of recommendations made in the final published 
report, the CCGs have overseen the development 
and progression of a CQC Action Plan and presented 
the Review and recommendations to the LSCB Main 
Board and Sefton Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Children & Safeguarding). The Designated Nurse 
and Named GP have worked with the Local Authority 
Safeguarding Unit as part of the Local Quality Contract 
in order that a data cleanse exercise is undertaken to 
ensure the correct GP is included on Local Authority 
data base thereby supporting invites to case 
conferences and receipt of conference minutes. 

Over the last year Public Health in Sefton have worked 
with the Designated Nurse for Looked After Children 
and senior managers from North West Boroughs 
Healthcare to map the journey of children coming 
into care in relation to provision of health care. 
Together we were able to identify barriers to timely 
assessments and a need to strengthen outcome 
focused practice following assessments.  Timeliness 
has improved through operational changes. Staff have 
reflected on how they set outcomes for children and 
young people and consider joint planning and delivery 
of services to support them.  The safeguarding 
reports to Public Health show an increase in referrals 
to supporting agencies such as substance use or 
sexual health from the school nursing service. As 
commissioners, Public Health considers the voice 
of the child during the commissioning cycle and 
encourages commissioned services to include the 
voice of the child in their service development 
and practice reflection. The director of Public 
Health remains committed to contributing to the 
safeguarding arrangements. Safeguarding is included 
in the Public Health department Workplan for the year 
ahead. Safeguarding and the support of the LSCB is a 
core responsibility of one of the Consultant in Public 
Health’s professional job plan. 

The Local Authority Safeguarding Unit worked very 
closely with young people through the voluntary 
sector to respond to their views about how their voice 
can come through in child protection conferences. As 
a result, alongside those children, the safeguarding 
unit constructed a suite of documents that are 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  6

now being rolled out and will support the voice of 
the child and families contributing to conferences. 
The safeguarding unit has undergone a review 
of roles for independent chairs of conferences in 
order that they can influence and strengthen the 
effectiveness of plans and core groups. This will 
support greater consistency in CP planning. Quality 
Assurance Monitoring Sheets have been developed 
and will be implemented from April 2019 and will be 
undertaken by IROs regarding each CP Conference.  
The monitoring sheets will focus on four key areas 
of scrutiny including the inclusion of the child’s voice 
and regularity and attendance at core groups.  Data 
analysis of the monitoring sheets will be undertaken 
on a monthly basis and a report will be provided to 
Children’s Social Care Performance Meeting.

North West Boroughs NHS Trust have prioritised 
staff training and have achieved full compliance in 
all aspects of safeguarding training for their services. 
They have a robust process of training evaluation 
which incorporates measuring the impact of 
safeguarding training. The data from this is then used 
to develop the training offered. They are committed 
to providing bespoke training in line with new and 
emerging safeguarding themes e.g. lessons learned 
following serious case review findings. 

In addition to this, the Looked after Children team 
have delivered bespoke Review Health Assessments 
and Initial Health Assessment training to their staff 
and partner agencies. This can be evidenced through 
the improved quality and timeliness of assessments 
which ultimately have benefited the child. 

Merseyside Police have adopted a three‑pronged 
approach to ensure the importance of the Voice of 
the Child is understood by staff, and that the views 
of children are captured. Force wide, this includes a 
coordinated communication plan, a ‘Voice of the Child’ 
training plan and process changes to capture the 
information through newly developed templates for 
completion. These are all monitored through regular 
Police performance meetings, existing governance 
arrangements and bespoke audit activity. 

Liverpool Women’s Hospital, in recognition that some 
of their patients may be under 18 years of age and 
to ensure that the child’s voice is heard, have worked 
hard around their impact on service development 
and improvement in this area. They have a process 
for ensuring that all patients are routinely asked 
about dependents such as children, or about any 
caring responsibilities. They have evidence that the 
voice of the child is incorporated within all routine 

and targeted health assessments, with particular 
focus on children who are looked after, children in 
need and those being cared for under child protection 
arrangements. They also have a process which allows 
feedback clearly showing the views of the child/
families – ensuring that there is a culture of listening 
and learning within the organisation.

Mersey Care NHS have worked hard within their 
training activity to improve the capture of the voice of 
the child and have:

 ■ Introduced ‘real life case studies’ within 
safeguarding children’s training available 
across the trust.

 ■ Voice of the child used to deliver key 
messages such as ‘child exploitation’ by 
use of videos of ‘children/YP views and 
experiences of exploitation. (Kayleigh’s 
Love Story).

 ■ Feedback captured from children during 
child contact sessions to inform future 
planning re: child contact.

 ■ Impact of parental substance misuse, 
parental mental health and domestic 
abuse on children delivered throughout 
safeguarding statutory training voice 
of the child is an element throughout 
training.

 ■ Safeguarding SharePoint recently updated 
to include guidance when capturing the 
‘voice of the child’ when not working 
directly with children.

 ■ Group supervision sessions offered to 
Mental Health and drug and alcohol team 
to promote professional curiosity and 
develop further understand and impact of 
parental drug and alcohol use on children 
within the same household.

One Vision Housing have introduced bespoke training 
for both operatives and frontline staff.  For operatives, 
the approach is ‘eyes open’ – the training covers types 
of abuse, signs to be aware of, and what to do if they 
have a concern.    

Training for frontline staff is more in‑depth.  The 
training gives an overview of legislation that 
underpins children’s safeguarding, level of need 
document, types of abuse (including neglect), signs 
to be aware of and what to do if they have a concern. 
The training also addresses domestic abuse and child 

Page 72

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  7

exploitation including local arrangements. They have 
been involved in shaping the performance indicators 
for the LSCB which will be implemented across the 
partnership.

Sefton Community Voluntary Service (CVS) 
have consistently promoted the work of the 
LSCB throughout the sector particularly the 450 
organisations that work with Children and Young 
People. They offer bespoke advice through their 
generic Development Teams and Volunteer Centre 
Staff. From this they develop training and policy advice 
and signpost to LSCB website and in particular the 7 
minute briefings and training.

They have created a new post in the agency that is 
focussed on Policy and Impact and they have been 
researching methods by which small, often volunteer 
led, projects can monitor their systems more 
effectively. The post will assist them in evidencing 
more thoroughly the impact of their work.

For the last 3 years Sefton Young Advisors have been 
asked to youth proof the LSCB’s annual report. The 
team created “An Easy Read Version of the LSCB 
Annual Report” that is colourful, eye-catching and 
understandable for both young people and adults.

Young Advisors have worked directly with Sefton’s 
IRO’s (independent reviewing officers) to further 
develop materials for young people and their 
families including an introductory letter and review 
documents. It is envisioned that these documents will 
reshape the way that the voice of the child and family 
is heard throughout child in need and child protection 
processes.

CVS continued to support groups through both 
e‑learning modules and face‑face training. 276 people 
accessed E-learning in Child Protection, 64 on Equality 
and Diversity. 74 people received face-to-face training 
on Safeguarding Children, 66 on Mental Health and 
Suicide Awareness. They introduced a new course 
on Good Governance on safeguarding which was 
delivered to 11 Agencies.

They have restructured again and are returning to a 
dedicated Children and Young People Development 
Worker who will focus particularly on Emotional 
Health and Well‑Being and Safeguarding. It is hoped 
that these changes will enhance the work they do 
with the sector in improving their knowledge, practice 
and understanding of the issues around children’s 
safeguarding.

Alder Hey NHS Foundation Trust have continued 

to achieve significant assurance since 2017 for our 
quarterly key performance indicators.  They continue 
to deliver on the expected targets for mandatory 
training compliance for safeguarding children and 
young people.  They have also worked to develop 
a fuller programme of training that recognises the 
competencies and skills that Alder Hey staff require 
in recognising the needs of vulnerable adults and 
children in care too.  The Rainbow Centre continues 
to offer a 24/7 service for any Sefton children where 
concerns are held that they may have been subjected 
to physical or sexual harm and neglect.  They work 
closely with Sefton Children’s Services and Merseyside 
Police to support the children and families to access 
necessary support and they meet quarterly to review 
multi agency pathways.  Alder Hey have employed a 
Clinical Psychologist for the Children’s Sexual Assault 
Referral Centre (SARC) who supports the Rainbow 
team in identifying any children or young people who 
may require psychological support due to Child Sexual 
Abuse in the Family Environment (CSAFE)/Child Sexual 
Abuse (CSA)/Children Sexual Exploitation (CSE).

The Looked After Children team within Alder Hey 
continues to adapt to the demands of the service 
to improve quality and timeliness of Initial Health 
Assessments (IHA) and audit activity undertaken 
has indicated that the standard of the IHA and 
health action plan continues to improve.  Following 
CQC’s inspection in July 2018, Alder Hey with health 
partners, have worked to make the identified 
improvements as a partnership. These work streams 
have included improved managerial oversight for 
complex cases, progress in professional curiosity 
and adopting a ‘Think Family’ approach within their 
Emergency Department.  Ultimately, Alder Hey serves 
to support children, young people and adults when 
they are most vulnerable.  Alder Hey feel satisfied with 
service delivery when Friends and Family feedback 
includes comments such as “staff were amazing with 
my little girl”. 

During 2018/19, Sefton Women’s and Children’s Aid, 
(SWACA), has continued to highly value membership 
of the LSCB and associated sub-groups, and to 
continue to support the LSCB through the transition 
period to the new partnership arrangements. SWACA’s 
Chief Executive continues to be a regular member of 
the Performance and Quality Assurance Sub‑Group 
and actively supports the collective design of quality 
assurance processes and the audit schedule the LSCB 
commits itself to.

SWACA’s dedicated children/young people’s workers 
utilise a range of interventions and engagement 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  8

approaches focused on enabling the voice of the 
child/ young person, affected by domestic abuse, 
to be truly heard.  Staff work directly with children 
and young people affected by domestic abuse, to 
build their confidence, resilience and self-esteem, 
in the context of their experiences of domestic 
abuse.  SWACA staff continue to contribute to the 
multi‑agency partnership approaches within child 
protection conferences, core groups, and other 
relevant safeguarding‑related multi‑agency meetings. 
Alongside their drive to promote the capture of the 
voice of the child SWACA also support mum with 
overcoming the trauma of experiences resulting 
from domestic abuse, enabling mum to support the 
impacts of witnessing domestic abuse on her children. 

SWACA’s Service Manager remains active in 
contributing to LSCB multi‑agency learning 
development/training opportunities. This includes 
supporting the design of new training materials for 
the LSCB, supporting LSCB learning events and being 
a training pool member.Moving forward, SWACA have 
additional activities to support present, and future, 
service delivery which include:

 ■ increasing the range of Support Group 
activities provided – introducing new 
approaches, such as facilitating Adult and 
Child / Young Person Groups concurrently, 
to improve access for all Service Users;

 ■ increasing Assessment and Adults 
Team capacity to improve efficiency and 
enhance capacity at key service points;

 ■ investing in a new Business Support Lead 
post to strengthen fundraising capacity 
and support sustainability;

 ■ increasing focus on securing additional 
funding to build capacity.

CAFCASS’ strategic priorities were to: continue to 
improve our performance and the quality of our work; 
contribute to family justice reform and innovation; 
use our influence to promote knowledge and best 
practice; bring the uniqueness of each child (including 
diversity considerations) to the court’s attention; be 

efficient and effective in light of high demand and 
financial constraints. 

Sefton LSCB Lay Members say: “Over the 
last year the LSCB has been engaged in 
addressing normal business, in addition 
to the challenge of preparing for the new 
safeguarding governance arrangements that 
are needed following legislation changes.  
We are glad that the work related to the new 
arrangements is focussing our behaviours 
and bringing sharp attention to the 
responsibilities we have.  Our independent 
chair is ensuring that our day-to-day 
business is given full attention, as well as 
progressing the changes that are needed. 
The priorities of the board are referred to 
and drive the conversation.  For example, 
the challenge of ensuring that the voice of 
the child is sought is a frequently topic of the 
governance process”. 

Page 74

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  9

LSCB main board meetings ‑  areas of discussion
May 2018

 ■ Analysis of Board 
Member appraisals

 ■ Presentation on the 
Sefton Health Care 
Offer

 ■ Young Carers 
presentation

 ■ Headlines of the 
Local Government 
Association Peer 
Review

July 2018

Extraordinary meeting to 
receive the Serious Case 
Review on Martha Mary 
and Ben 

July 2018

 ■ Sefton Children’s Social 
Care Annual Report.

 ■ Presentation from Aintree 
Hospital ‑ Care Quality 
Commission Inspection.

 ■ Presentation from CCG 
Safeguarding Service ‑ 
Assurance

 ■ Safeguarding Unit Annual 
Report.

 ■ Private Fostering Annual 
report.

 ■ Young Offenders 
Institute‑ Wetherby 
Inspection Report.

 ■ Pan Mersey Protocol 
on Preventing 
the Unnecessary 
Criminalisation of Looked 
After Children

October 2018

 ■ Designated Officer for 
the Local Authority 
(Allegations) Annual 
Report received and 
discussed.

 ■ South Sefton & Formby 
CCG Annual Report 
received and discussed.

 ■ Merseyside Child Death 
Overview Panel (CDOP) 
Annual Report received 
and discussed.

 ■ Safe Sleep Audit

 ■ Received and discussed.

 ■ Child Sexual Abuse 
Pathway

 ■ Headlines from 
HMICFRS and CQC 
inspections shared

October 2018

Extraordinary meeting 
to plan for the transition 
over to the new multi‑
agency safeguarding 
arrangements (MASA)

December 2018

 ■ Children in Care (Health 
Assessments)

 ■ Children Social Care 
Safeguarding Unit 
Report received and 
discussed.

 ■ Youth Justice Annual 
Plan received and 
discussed.

 ■ Inspection Feedback: 
Care Quality 
Commission, Ofsted 
Children Social Care 
Focused Visit, 

 ■ Local Government 
Association report and 
Merseyside Community 
Rehabilitation Company

January 2019

 ■ Janet SCR

 ■ MASH – presentation 
re Police Review & 
Information Sharing 
Agreement

 ■ CCG Annual Report – 
Children in Care

March 2019

 ■ Section 175 Audit

 ■ KPIs for health 
providers

 ■ Multi‑agency audit on 
CSAFE

 ■ Multi‑Agency 
Safeguarding 
Arrangements

 ■ HMIP Inspection of 
Probation – feedback

 ■ Sefton Youth Offending 
Team Inspection – 
feedback

 ■ Draft Early Help 
Strategy consultation 
discussion

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  1 0

Sub‑Group Achievements
Performance and Quality 
Assurance Subgroup (PQA)
This subgroup has concentrated its efforts around 
statutory and non‑statutory audit activity and 
performance management of the LSCB’s dataset 
through deep dive activity. This has included:

Children Sexually Abused in the Family Environment 
(CSAFE) Audit has resulted in a real focus on this 
area of work for the partnership and has culminated 
in a Task and finish group and the board identifying 
a 4th priority which should impact on the robust 
management of partnership performance in this area 
of work.

Children with Disabilities audit resulted in a shared 
briefing about how we identify this cohort of children.  

LSCB dataset has been agreed/streamlined. It has 
become more focused on qualitative measures as 
opposed to measures in quantity.

Section 175 audit collation is a success with 100% 
completion. A analysis report was completed and 
reported back to the board and the education 
establishment.

Section 11 audit was commenced on a trial Pan 
Merseyside collaboration for the first time this year. 
From a local perspective, the results have been 
encouraging.

Moving forward, the group will explore opportunities 
to capture performance outcomes from the learning 
undertaken in the Serious Case Reviews completed. It 
will continue to support and develop the multi‑agency 
audit staff pool functioning under the umbrella of the 
board.

Please see Appendix 1 for more detail.

Learning and Development 
Subgroup (L&D)
The Learning and Development group strive to 
develop a more confident, skilled, knowledgeable and 
inquisitive workforce. It does this guided by the LSCB 
Learning and Improvement framework (LIF) and by 
supporting the Learning and Development Officer its 
Training Pool, and others, to develop training packages 
that reflect local and national learning from the 
boards wide range of activities as well as Serious Case 
Reviews and other learning reviews. This has included:

 ■ Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) 
Liverpool John Moores University were 
commissioned by Sefton, Liverpool and 
Knowsley Councils to evaluate the impact 
of the Rockpool ACE recovery toolkit. The 
Learning and Development group has 
provided the LSCB with oversight and 
performance management on behalf of 
the partnership. It reviewed the initial 
findings as well as a video made by 
practitioners and course participants. The 
video provided the group with assurance 
that the first course had been a positive 
experience for those women attending. 
Parents reported positive outcomes: 
feeling empowered, more open to sharing 
feelings and expressing affection towards 
their children, improved communication 
with family, increased confidence and 
resilience. The video Provided a strong 
voice of families. 

 ■ Mersey Care NHS trust with the 
collaboration of Merseyside Police 
organised a multi-agency, multi 
professional event on Coercion and 
Coercive control in May 2018

 ■ Probation services provided the 
perspective of the perpetrator to 
provide insight to preparator thinking 
and behaviour in the development of 
Intrafamilial child sexual abuse training

 ■ The Local Authority Designated Officer 
provided an allegations management 
briefing to the voluntary sector which was 
very well received.  

 ■ Training to help practitioners have early 
conversations about healthy weight were 
provided.

 ■ Sefton CVS produced a Safeguarding 
Good Governance Tool kit and briefing 
programme in response to the Charity 
Commissions expectations of Trustees and 
organisational safeguarding culture.

 ■ Learning from Serious Case Reviews has 
been shared via 7 minute briefings and at 
practice learning events and extraordinary 
LSCB meetings.

 ■ The Board itself has taken part in specific 
Page 76

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  1 1

learning events, e.g. Sefton LSCB Main 
Board Member Appraisals 2018

 ■ The Independent Chair met with board 
members to discuss the strengths and 
challenges of working in the partnership.  
The themes identified and resultant 
commitments made by the board provide 
assurance to the partnership that we are 
acting on learning to improve practice.

Please see Appendix 2 for training delivered across 
the partnership. 

Policies and Procedures Subgroup 
(P&P)
This subgroup has improved a wide range of policies 
and procedures for the board, either through review or 
new introduction:

Throughout this reporting period all policies have 
been reviewed and prioritised for updating in line with 
Working Together (2018) 

The group has supported the development of Child 
Protection (CP) Standards (2018

Young Carers Policy (section 21) was updated and 
reviewed with support of Young Carer’s service and 
service users

Multiple policies have been updated following 
recommendations from recent Serious Case Reviews / 
Learning Reviews.

Policies have been updated following 
recommendations from recent multi agency audit 
activity and includes the Safeguarding Disabled 
Children Policy

The sub group has supported the initiation of a 
Pan Merseyside Pre‑Birth and Concealed Pregnancy 
protocol on behalf of Merseyside Child Death Overview 
Panel (CDOP)

This sub group has received and ratified Pan 
Merseyside Protocols for local implementation.

Supported development of Sefton’s Domestic Abuse 
Protocol has also been a focus of work.

Moving forward, the group will have a work plan to 
ensure that policies and procedures are supportive of 
what we have learnt have through our Serious Case 
reviews and ensure that these are in line with known 
and emerging safeguarding themes.

Practice Review Group (PRG)
The Practice Review Group is responsible for 
identifying and undertaking Serious Case Reviews 
(SCR) and / or any other review required for further 
analysis of cases presented to the panel. It is also this 
groups responsibility to ensure that the findings are 
widely shared across the partnership and any action 
plans that fall from review activity are completed. The 
Practice Review Panel will look at practice in order 
to monitor how the partnership is working together, 
through a process of actively engaging practitioners. 
It will consider good and outstanding practice cases 
as well as cases of concern.

Over the course of the year the PRG has managed 
the completion of 4 Serious Case Reviews as well as a 
number of multi-agency reflective reviews. The result 
of this has been the huge task of managing the suite 
of recommendations for the partnership that needed 
to be addressed. Due to the weight of this work, this 
has dominated the working agenda for the group.

The LSCB partnership will continue to implement the 
recommendations from Serious Case Reviews. Action 
plans are monitored by the Sefton LSCB Practice 
Review Sub‑Group and reviewed by the LSCB Main 
Board. 

We will continue to share the learning from those 
SCRs still to be published and build upon the 
professional development of staff and improvement 
of their understanding of local safeguarding concerns 
and themes.  A sharp focus on SCR work will be 
maintained during the transitional arrangements that 
will occur in 2018/19.   

Page 77

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  1 2

A time for reflection…..
When Ofsted last reviewed Sefton LSCB in 2016 it found 
insufficient understanding and focus in the following 
areas:

 ■ Policies and procedures

 ■ Children who are privately fostered

 ■ Performance management and quality 
assurance

 ■ Action planning

 ■ Partnership communication 

 ■ Multi‑agency training quality and impact

In response, with rigour and concerted effort, the Board 
has done the following:

 ■ All policies and procedures are updated as 
well as the introduction of new policies and 
practice standards/guidance designed in 
response to emerging safeguarding issues to 
support the workforce

 ■ The LSCB is now presented with annual 
reports in relation to children who are 
privately fostered which supports us to keep 
in touch with any issues around this cohort of 
children and take action where it is required. 
It is also included in our dataset and regularly 
monitored

 ■ We have intensified the work we do around 
quality assurance and performance 
management. The subgroup dedicated to this 
area of work has been diligent in its creation 
of a high‑level dataset that is concentrated 
on receiving quality information. The audit 
activity that now takes place on the board 
does so with the full commitment of the 
membership and the dedication of staff from 
various single agencies who have become 
members of our audit pool. This approach has 
resulted in a group of professionals who have 
built a supportive and engaging environment 
for shared learning to flourish in our aim to 
better understand the improvements we 
can make to better understand the lived 
experiences of our children and young 
people.

 ■ The business plan that details the priority 
areas for the board are translated into focus 
areas for each of the subgroups. Each sub 

group has a plan of work directly linked to 
the priorities of the board. The workstreams 
of each subgroup are then reported back 
through to the executive board for oversight 
and further action when required.

 ■ We have a strong communication process 
which includes:

• a website that is accessible to all 
with a wealth of information on (for 
professionals and community members)

• design and distribution of bi‑monthly 
newsletters on the business of the board 
as well as updates and changes in the 
world of safeguarding

• 7 minute briefings are created and 
distributed on different themes

• introduction of ‘good practice’ guidance 
sheets for professionals on different topics

• sharing of information from other 
statutory boards 

 ■ The board delivers an extensive range of 
multi‑agency safeguarding training across 
Sefton and the board will retain this focus 
of workforce development as a priority 
area.  The learning and development 
subgroup evidences a whole host of activities 
completed to support this aim. As well as 
classroom based learning on specific subjects 
we also deliver workforce briefings and 
full‑scale events in relation to safeguarding 
matters such as contextual safeguarding. 
Our activity through serious case and multi‑
agency reflective reviews adds to the richness 
of learning opportunities for the workforce. 
We acknowledge that learning is a two‑
way process and we engineer consultation 
events with frontline practitioners for the 
introduction, or revision, of policies and 
guidance that will support (not hinder) them 
in their practice.

……..And it is with the courage to look back that we 
are able to see how far we have come. We recognise 
that safeguarding children is an unending journey to 
continuous improvement and Sefton LSCB remains 
steadfast in its commitment to improve the lived 
experiences of all of our children and young people.

Page 78

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  1 3

Selected Testimonials for LSCB effectiveness

“As the Designated Officer for the Local Authority, the LSCB, through its work, adds great 
value and support to my role. I liaise regularly with the LSCB with regards to emerging trends 
and themes in relation to allegations and the Board in turn, is keenly interested to receive 
regular reports from me to ensure that my area of work is shared and understood across 
the whole partnership. This positive working relationship is a model of good practice that is 
beneficial to all and I am extremely proud of our connection.”

‘Meeting other professionals through being part of the training pool has been really 
inspirational to me – finding out about the amazing work & challenges of different agencies 
throughout the partnership, that I wasn’t previously aware of.’
(Southport and Ormskirk Hospital)

“I just want to drop you a quick email to register with you and the LSCB team, my sincere 
gratitude for producing and distributing what I can only describe as an enormously 
informative and helpful newsletter.  As an organisation based in the Sefton area, this 
newsletter is exactly what we need to keep up with the ever-developing issues surrounding 
children’s welfare and safeguarding across the Sefton area and beyond”.  
(Merseyside Army Cadet Force)

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  1 4

Appendix 1
Sefton LSCB Multi‑Agency Audit Activity 2018‑19
Section 175 / 157 Safeguarding Audit 

Each year Sefton schools and colleges complete 
a Section 175/157 Safeguarding Audit, which is 
designed to assess the quality of their safeguarding 
practice, policies and procedures.  All settings 
completed their second audit with the aid of an 
electronic audit tool hosted by the Virtual College.  

The Sefton LSCB Business Unit, apart from providing 
the general administration of the audit throughout 
the year, analysed the audit findings and reported 
back to the LSCB Main Board and education settings. 
The key findings were as follows: 

 ■ Sefton schools and colleges maintain a 
very strong commitment to safeguarding.   
This is evident throughout the audit 
analysis and substantiated through 
published Ofsted inspection reports.

 ■ Actions from the previous year’s 
audit have improved over the past 
twelve months:  all settings have a 
whistleblowing policy, all have made 
their child protection policy available 
via websites, child protection policies 
are bespoke, all have ensured that safer 
recruitment and selection procedures are 
in place and staff appropriately trained, 
and all have noted that names and 
photographs of safeguarding leads are 
clearly displayed in school and colleges 
e.g. in reception areas and staffrooms. 

 ■ All settings have Designated Safeguarding 
Leads (DSLs) who provide the required 
support and advice to enable other staff 
to carry out safeguarding duties.   DSL 
duties are explicit in job descriptions. 

 ■ Sefton governors continue to play an 
active and positive role in creating a 
culture of vigilance; governors attend a 
range of safeguarding training on offer 
and monitor key safeguarding data to 
challenge and support settings.   Good 
examples of minutes from safeguarding 
sub‑committees were evident. All schools 
need to ensure that governing bodies 
ratify all relevant safeguarding policies 
– child protection, code of conduct, 

emergency plans. 

 ■ All settings are well versed in the revised 
statutory guidance, Keeping Children Safe 
in Education (KCSIE) 2018 and Working 
Together 2018.  All schools share Part 1 of 
KCSIE with staff and governors. 

 ■ All settings have child protection policies 
in place, which are now bespoke and 
cover local contextual safeguarding.  
Some schools hold staff training sessions 
to ensure that the policies (and key 
amendments) are fully understood. 

 ■ All child protection policies not an 
approach to CSE, ‘peer to peer’ abuse 
including gender issues; mandatory 
reporting of FGM; online safety and 
texting; use of mobile phone; the Prevent 
Duty; children missing and children with 
SEND. 

 ■ All educational settings ensure that staff 
are appropriately trained to support the 
wider safeguarding framework including 
first aid, administering medication and 
health and safety.   

 ■ All settings are clearly aware of Sefton 
LSCB policies and escalation procedures.  
LSCB information is widely used to brief 
staff and governors. LSCB 7 minute 
briefings and learning from reviews and 
audits is shared with staff and governors. 

 ■ All settings continue to play their role in 
the wider safeguarding system – they 
work effectively with the local authority, 
voluntary sector, police and health.  
Schools and colleges are active in strategy 
discussions and multi‑agency work.  
However, there is still a wide variance 
in the understanding of early help and 
uptake of early help training.  

 ■ The monitoring of attendance and actions 
required is extremely robust in schools 
and colleges. There is robust monitoring 
of vulnerable groups – Children Looked 
After (CLA), children on Education Health 

Page 80

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  1 5

Care Plans (EHCP), Child Protection (CP) 
plans, and Child in Need (CIN) plans.   
Some evidence was available to show that 
governors receive and analyse data about 
exclusions, pupils taken off roll, incidents 
of poor behaviour and any use of internal 
isolation. 

 ■ All settings have good links with the 
local authority for dealing with children 
who go missing from education.  Schools 
and colleges identify children and young 
people who may be at risk.

 ■ All settings have robust pre‑employment 
checks in place and they know themselves 
well through their own self‑evaluation 
processes. 

 ■ Some schools need to evidence that they 
have an appropriately trained designated 
teacher to promote the educational 
achievement of children who are looked 
after. 

 ■ All schools should evidence how they 
consult with pupils and parents to confirm 
that pupils feel safe in school.

Section 11 Audit (statutory partners)
The Section 11 Audit is a self‑assessment by partner 
agencies of the extent to which they are fulfilling their 
safeguarding responsibilities as defined in the Children 
Act 2004. The S11 Audit provides the LSCB Main Board 
with assurance that safeguarding arrangements 
are in place across the Sefton partnership or, where 
improvements are required, plans are in place to 
address them.   Sefton conducts a full S11 audit on 
a bi‑annual basis. This year the partner agencies 
completed their assessments using a Virtual College 
audit tool in conjunction with the other Merseyside 
LSCB partnerships.   The self‑assessments were peer 
challenged through frontline visits. The following can 
be stated: 

 ■ All Sefton partner agencies completed or 
refreshed their S11 self‑assessment 

 ■ 7/10 have had a frontline visit 

 ■ All Sefton partner agencies have a clear 
statement of their commitment to 
safeguard children and young people.

 ■ All Sefton partner agencies have published 
and easily accessible safeguarding policy.

 ■ All staff know who their safeguarding 
leads are within their respective agency.

 ■ All staff interviewed have had some form 
of safeguarding / child protection training.

 ■ All staff are aware of the referral 
processes. 

 ■ Not all staff understood contextual 
safeguarding and topics such as county 
lines. 

Multi‑agency audits 
Multi‑agency audits have become an integral part 
of the Sefton LSCB Learning and Improvement 
Framework (LIF), and our partners were involved in 
two major audits over the past twelve months:

1. Safeguarding children with disabilities 

2. Child sexual abuse in the family environment 
(CSAFE)

Significant learning emerged from both audits which 
was shared with senior leaders and the wider Sefton 
children and young people’s workforce.  

Safeguarding children with disabilities 
National research informs us that disabled children 
are more at risk of being abused and neglected 
than non-disabled children.  Furthermore, a national 
survey into how LSCBs in England were delivering 
against inspectorate requirements to protect disabled 

children, highlighted that many LSCBs had yet to 
prioritise disabled children and more systematic 
approaches were required to maintain a focus on 
them given their greater levels of vulnerability.  

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  1 6

What we found from our multi‑agency audit: 

 ■ The risks for the eight children were 
generally well known and managed across 
the Sefton partnership. 

 ■ All eight children were safe.  No 
escalations were made during the audit.

 ■ Due to inadequate information sharing, 
inadequate information recording, and 
electronic systems not being updated 
appropriately, not all partner agencies 
were fully aware of the complexity of the 
children’s disabilities.

 ■ The quality of assessments, decision-
making, plans, and capturing the voice of 
the child were all variable across the audit 
– these issues fed into the determination 
of clear outcomes for children.

 ■ The key plans for disabled children were 
unaligned. 

 ■ Education Heath Care Planning (EHCP) 
processes needed to be fully understood 
by all Sefton agencies.

 ■ Demonstrable improvement in a child’s 
life was best illustrated when agencies 
could achieve a whole family approach to 
tackling issues. 

 ■ Key actions from previous multi‑agency 
audits need to be properly evaluated 
e.g. understanding improved outcomes, 
capturing the voice of the child, 
understanding diversity.

This multi‑agency audit highlighted that there is still 
a considerable amount to achieve in the work we do 
with our disabled children and their families; however, 
it also illustrated some of the significant strengths 
in terms of the quality of practice and strong moral 
dedication among practitioners across health, police, 
schools, local authority, and the voluntary sector. 

Child sexual abuse in the family environment 
(CSAFE)
Sefton LSCB partner agencies were mindful of 
various national inquiries and research into CSAFE. 
For example, in 2014, the Children’s Commissioner 
undertook an inquiry which identified the following: 

 ■ The estimated proportion of children that 
suffer sexual abuse is about 11%. 

 ■ Two thirds of child sexual abuse happen 
within the family environment or the close 
circle around it. 

 ■ Only one in eight children in England who 
are sexually abused come to the attention 
of statutory authorities. 

 ■ Children often do not recognise that they 
have been abused until they are older. 

 ■ Professionals working with children need 
additional support to help them identify 
victims of sexual abuse. 

 ■ Child sexual abuse in the family 
environment often comes to the attention 
of statutory and non‑statutory agencies 
as a result of a secondary presenting 
factor, for example self-harm, which 

becomes the focus of intervention. Child 
sexual abuse, the underlying issue, may 
not be identified

With the above facts in mind, and an analysis of local 
data, it was agreed to take forward a multi-agency 
audit into CSAFE. 

What we found from our multi‑agency audit: 

 ■ The voices of child victims of sexual abuse 
within the family environment were 
largely absent.

 ■ There was a lack of professional curiosity 
in many of the cases. 

 ■ It was not clear why, in many of the cases, 
that a strategy meeting was not held. 

 ■ Information sharing and coordination 
between agencies was inadequate. 

 ■ In some of the cases, the original 
allegations of sexual abuse were lost and 
attention had turned to other matters. 

The evidence from the multi‑agency audit indicated 
that there was a whole scale partnership lack of 

Page 82

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  1 7

awareness, understanding and identifying and 
responding to CSAFE.  

Given the significance of the findings, it was 
recommended that this area of work was escalated 
into a LSCB safeguarding priority and continues as a 
priority under the new MASA arrangements led within 
the Executive Board.  The recommendations were fully 

accepted.

Work is now being progressed and it was requested 
that each LSCB member undertook their own stock 
take in readiness to feedback to the overall work 
plan.  An LSCB 7-miunte briefing on CSAFE has been 
produced and distributed to staff across the Sefton 
partnership. 

Serious Case Reviews (SCR’s) and Multi‑Agency 
Reflective Reviews 
Sefton LSCB have completed four Serious Case 
Reviews in this reporting period.  A large‑scale 
learning event is planned for summer 2019, which 
will provide time for professional reflection of the key 
messages and themes from the published Serious 

Case Reviews.  The LSCB also completed multi‑agency 
reflective reviews (these are reviews which do not 
meet the SCR criteria but are valuable learning 
opportunities for the children’s workforce).   

Recurrent themes from SCRs 
The need for better:

 ■ professional curiosity

 ■ information sharing 

 ■ assessments

 ■ understanding escalation 

Senior leaders from our partner agencies have 
shared the reports and learning from the Serious 
Case Reviews and Reflective Reviews via supervisions, 
team briefings and staff meetings. The Sefton LSCB 
Business Unit has also produced and disseminated 
several 7-minute briefings about the reviews. As is the 
expectation from the LSCB, all agencies present these 
briefings directly to their staff in a variety of ways.

Page 83

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19

P A G E  1 8

Appendix 2
Sefton LSCB Training 2018/19

“This is genuine and heartfelt from me 
personally. I know my DDSL’s appreciate 
the level and content of the training also 
and have used LSCB training sessions to 
professionally develop those who work 
with children in a pastoral sense but not, 
necessarily, directly in the safeguarding 
roles.”

“Working Together to Safeguard Children 
training has given me more confidence to 
challenge decisions and escalate if needed.”

“Lots of interesting and creative examples 
provided on how we can gather the voice of 
the child more in the work that we do and 
focus on children’s lived experiences.”

“The training was great and developed since 
last attended.  The relevance of SCRs was 
very inciteful, together with how agencies 
need to work together”

“The training has given me a greater 
level of confidence to challenge, support 
and engage with my colleagues in other 
agencies.”

“LSCB training is always well run and 
delivered.  Resources and materials are 
fit for purpose and well explained.  There 
is a real diverse spread of up to date 
topics and knowledge.  I have worked 
in safeguarding for 20 years and have 
attended a myriad of training courses 
and events.  In my opinion, Sefton LSCB 
are up there with the top providers.”

Page 84

Agenda Item 7



Page 85

Agenda Item 7



Local Safeguarding
Children Board

Page 86

Agenda Item 7



26/11/2019 

Dear Health and Wellbeing Board Member, 

Re: Sefton’s Older Persons Strategy, 2019 – 2024. 

Please see enclosed a copy of the Sefton’s Older Persons Strategy. This is the final version 
for your information and endorsement. Sefton Partnership for Older Citizens have led on the 
production of this Strategy alongside Councillor Cummins. Councillor Cummins and Andrew 
Booth will be present at the meeting to answer any questions you may have. 

Kind Regards, 

Eleanor Moulton. 

Integrated Social Care and Health Manager. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy  /  1

Sefton
Older People’s

Strategy
2019 - 2024

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



2  /  Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy

Forewords

This strategy is the result of 
consultation with older people 
and stakeholders from across 
Sefton.  As in our previous 
strategy, the main aim has been 
to address the issues of most 
concern to local older people.  It 
is good to report that Sefton is 
now a member of the 
international Age-Friendly 
network run by the World Health 
Organisation.  We have tried to 
show how our work fits into the 
eight Age-Friendly domains 
whilst making sure that older 
people are setting the local 
agenda.

n Brian Clark OBE, Chair, Sefton 
Partnership for Older Citizens

I am very pleased to support this 
Older People’s Strategy. We are 
proud of our Age-Friendly status 
and our track record of 
partnership working with older 
people through Sefton 
Partnership for Older Citizens. 
This strategy will enable us to 
focus on the areas that really 
matter and embed Age-Friendly 
principles into future 
developments.

n Councillor Paul Cummins, 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social 
Care and Older People’s 
Champion, Sefton Council

We want older people to enjoy 
Sefton as a place where they 
have the freedom to do what 
they value most in good health 
for as long as possible, with 
community activities that are 
welcoming and respectful. We 
will continue to actively support 
Age-Friendly initiatives with our 
partners and with Sefton 
Partnership for Older Citizens. 

n Fiona Taylor, Chief Officer, 
NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS 
Southport & Formby CCG

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the members of Sefton Older Persons’ Forums who helped shape the themes of 
this strategy and provided detailed feedback on the draft objectives.

We would like to thank the following people who 
took part in interviews or provided helpful 
comments:

Dr Asan Akpan, Aintree University Hospital
Andrew Booth, Sefton Advocacy
Jan Campbell, Sefton CVS 
Brian Clark OBE, Sefton Partnership for Older 
Citizens
Councillor Paul Cummins, Sefton Council
Dil Daly, Age Concern Liverpool & Sefton
Judith Gent-Jones, Lancashire Care NHS Trust
Vicky Keeley, Sefton Carers Centre

Tony Killen, Merseytravel
Megan Langley, Southport Hospital 
Avril Martin, One Vision Housing
Lesley Davies, Sefton Library Service
Val Metcalf MBE, Alzheimer’s Society Sefton
Lindsay Russell, Sefton Council
Justine Shenton, Sefton Advocacy
Noirin Smith, Merseycare NHS Trust
Elaine Tabener, Riverside Housing
Kevin Thorne, NHS South Sefton CCG & NHS 
Southport and Formby CCG.

Dr Gary Kitchen carried out the research for this piece of work and wrote the strategy on behalf of 
Sefton Partnership for Older Citizens.
We would also like to thank the National Lottery Awards for All for support with funding.

Page 90

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy  /  3

Contents

1. Why we need an Older People’s Strategy  . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

2. Sefton is the Future . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

3. Some Facts and Figures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

4. What is Sefton Partnership for Older Citizens? . . . . . . . . . 7 
Age-Friendly Domain: Respect and 
Social Inclusion

5. Older People Setting the Agenda  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 
Age-Friendly Domain: Civic Participation 
and Employment

6. Tackling Loneliness . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 
Age-Friendly Domain: Social Participation

7. Improving Health and Care . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 
Age-Friendly Domain: Community 
Support and Health Services

8. Transport that meets Older People’s needs . . . . . . . . . . 11 
Age-Friendly Domain: Transportation

9. Improving Housing for Older People . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 
Age-Friendly Domain: Housing

10. Improving Communication and Information . . . . . . . . . . 13 
Age-Friendly Domain: Communication 
and Information

11. Improving Safety and Security . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 
Age-Friendly Domain: Outdoor Spaces 
and Buildings

12. Conclusion  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



4  /  Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy

1. Why we need an Older 
People’s Strategy

We live in an ageing society.

Living longer is for many people a blessing.  More 
people in their seventies and eighties say they are 
highly satisfied with their lives than people in their 
forties and fifties.1

BOROUGH AGE 65+

Sefton 23.1%

Wirral 21.3%

St. Helens 20.4%

Halton 17.9%

Knowsley 17.0%

Liverpool 14.6%

However, there are some real problems. For too 
many older people later life is blighted by low 
fixed incomes, loneliness and poor transport. Too 
often services let older people down when they 
should be boosting them up.2

This strategy builds upon several existing 
initiatives, such as last year’s Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment, which called for community 
perspectives on good health.3

This strategy also links closely to the themes of 
the Sefton 2030 Vision:

 n Together a stronger community

 n A borough for everyone

 n A clean green beautiful borough

 n Living, working and having fun

 n On the move

 n Visit, explore and enjoy

 n Ready for the future

 n Open for business

In line with this vision, we aim to create an 
environment where older people get involved, 
develop their own solutions and help one 
another.4

Page 92

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy  /  5

2.  Sefton is the Future

In Sefton we are already experiencing some of the 
issues of an ageing population which will in due 
course affect the rest of the country and to some 
extent the world.5

We already have more than 63,000 people aged 
65 or over.6 Within a decade this is projected to 
increase by nearly a fifth.7

Overall figures for 65+ age groups are given below 
with figures for neighbouring Liverpool for 
comparison.

POPULATION 65 - 74 75 - 84 85+ ALL AGES

Sefton 32,500 21,600 9,200 274,600

Liverpool 39,300 23,500 9,100 491,500

Sefton has similar numbers of people aged 85+ to 
Liverpool, even though the city has a much higher 
overall population.

Sefton is divided by Sefton Council into three 
Localities for administrative purposes.8 The chart 
below illustrates numbers of older people in each 
Locality.

Relatively few older people live in the South 
Locality (adjacent to Liverpool) with much higher 
numbers in North and Central.9

We want to show how Sefton’s diverse 
communities can respond in a positive way to the 
opportunities and challenges of an ageing society.

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

North

Older People 65+ in Sefton Localities

Central South

Page 93

Agenda Item 8



6  /  Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy

3.  Some Facts and Figures

 n 23.1% of the population are aged 65+ in 
Sefton, but there is huge variation within the 
borough.

 n In Cambridge Ward in Southport people aged 
65+ make up 36% of the population compared 
with just 14% in Linacre Ward in Bootle.

 n There are more than 870 people in Cambridge 
Ward aged 85+ compared to just over 150 in 
Linacre Ward.

 n Life expectancy is variable across the borough. 

 n Blundellsands Ward has male life expectancy 
of 82 years whilst Ainsdale Ward has female 
life expectancy of 88 years.

 n Linacre Ward has life expectancy of 70 years 
for men and 76 years for women.

 n 16% of households in Sefton are occupied by 
someone aged 65+ living alone.

 n Nearly half of people aged 75+ live alone 
nationally.10  This equates to more than 15,000 
people in our borough.

 n Almost 16% of the total older population are 
carers.11 This suggests there may be 10,000 
carers aged 65+ in Sefton.

 n 39% of carers registered with the local Carers 
Centre are aged 65+.12

 n The DWP estimates 40% of families who are 
entitled to Pension Credit do not claim it.13

Page 94

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy  /  7

4. What is Sefton Partnership for 
Older Citizens? 

The idea behind Sefton Partnership for Older 
Citizens (or SPOC for short) is simple. We want to 
improve the lives of older people in our borough.

To do this we bring older people together with 
agencies responsible for providing services to 
them to ensure their voices are heard and heeded.

SPOC is not itself a separate organisation but a 
partnership of relevant agencies, which has now 
been in existence for over 10 years. We have seen 
major changes during this time, such as the 
development of the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority, as well as demographic 
changes resulting from migration and an ageing 
population.

SPOC aims to challenge negative stereotypes of 
older people. Older people are not dependent and 
needy but often independent and proactive.  
People aged 65+ contribute far more to society 
through employment, informal caring and 
volunteering than they take out.14 

Whilst it is true that the chance of long-term 
conditions or disabilities increases as we age, it is 
wrong to suppose that severe mental and physical 
decline is the norm. 

For example, most older people do not get 
dementia.  This affects 1 in 14 people aged 65+ 
and 1 in 6 people aged 80+.15

Most older people are not frail. The Royal College 
of Nursing estimates that 1 in 4 of people aged 
85+ experience frailty.16

Another key principle of SPOC is that older people 
deserve to be treated with dignity and respect.  
This is particularly important in care settings.

The standards of dignified care that older people 
can rightfully expect have been clearly stated and 
endorsed by the NHS and local government.17 Yet 
older people tell us repeatedly that these basic 
standards are not always met. One of the roles of 
SPOC, therefore, is to remind all partners of these 
fundamental commitments.18

n ACTION
SPOC is now recognised as one of the most 
effective partnership groups in Sefton. In the 
next five years we aim to meet five times per 
year to monitor and deliver this strategy to 
help make Age-Friendly Sefton a reality.

Page 95

Agenda Item 8



8  /  Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy

5. Older people setting the agenda 

In Age-Friendly communities, older people 
themselves are “agents of change” who are 
“setting the agenda.”19 

Underpinning SPOC are the six Older Persons’ 
Forums which are facilitated by Sefton Advocacy.  
Each Forum meets monthly in the following areas:

 n Ainsdale

 n Formby

 n Bootle

 n Crosby

 n Maghull

 n Southport

 “It was great to attend the Forum in June. The 
group was very welcoming and really interested 
in our work transforming community services in 
Southport & Formby. We are listening to the 
issues raised regarding access and difficulty 
getting through by telephone to our reception 
administrators. We aim to address this with our 
new call system.”

Judith Gent-Jones, Lancashire Care NHS Trust

“Thank you so much for inviting us to speak to 
the Forums about the new Hartley Hospital. The 
exchange of information was crucial.”

Noirin Smith, Merseycare NHS Trust

Between them these Forums regularly attract 
more than 150 older people with a mailing list of 
400. Each meeting of SPOC has two or three 
representatives from each of the Forums, one of 
whom chairs the meeting.

As a result of the work of the Forums Coordinator 
of Sefton Advocacy, Sefton achieved Age-Friendly 
status in 2018. SPOC now acts as the steering 
group for this initiative.20

n ACTION
The Older Persons’ Forums are vital to 
achieving the vision of SPOC and an Age-
Friendly Sefton. In the next five years each 
Forum will meet ten times per year to give 
older people an opportunity to contribute 
their views on issues of concern to them.

Page 96

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy  /  9

6. Tackling loneliness 

The biggest single issue for local older people who 
took part in our consultation was loneliness. 
According to Age UK, this can be as bad for your 
health as smoking.21 Often living alone in later life 
is not a lifestyle choice but the result of 
bereavement.22

Not everyone who is alone is lonely and not 
everyone who is lonely is alone. Many unpaid 
family carers, for example, report feelings of 
loneliness and isolation.23

Sefton Advocacy has created a booklet with 
contact details of schemes in the borough which 
exist to tackle loneliness and isolation. We aim to 
update this every year (when funding permits).24

Tackling loneliness need not cost money, only 
time.  We need to make time for older people. But 
time these days is often in short supply. Far too 
many older people are still isolated in their own 
homes. We need to change this.

CASE STUDY: Loneliness 
Mr W is 78. He lost his wife 4 years ago 
and became lonely and isolated. He felt his 
life had little purpose.
Through Age Concern Liverpool & Sefton 
he arranged a home visit from a 
Befriending and Re-enablement Officer 
(BRO) who helped him tackle some of the 
feelings arising from his isolation. 
Mr W was very concerned about safety, so 
the BRO arranged a check from the Fire 
Service and a personal security alarm.
Mr W then began volunteering at a local 
cafe and going to a Lunch Club. He 
gradually started to form friendships.
After 6 weeks of staff support, Mr W was 
due to be matched with a volunteer 
befriender. Instead he decided he would 
become a volunteer befriender for Age 
Concern himself. He has since felt happier, 
less lonely and more fulfilled.

We want to build better connections with care 
home residents and sheltered housing residents 
and encourage community involvement where 
possible. 

We know that many community lounges are 
underutilised, which could become a focus for 
community activity.

We have shown through our ‘join-up’ events in 
2019 that older people are often looking for 
opportunities for involvement. It’s never too late 
to get involved and meet new people.25

The NHS is commissioning a social prescribing 
service in Sefton with Link Workers who can help 
tackle issues of loneliness and isolation from a 
non-clinical perspective.26 We will be following this 
development closely.

n ACTION
All agencies in Sefton must work together to 
ensure joined-up outreach to include older 
people at risk of loneliness and to promote 
social participation.27 SPOC will continue to 
monitor this process over the next five years 
and work with partners to promote practical 
solutions.

Page 97

Agenda Item 8



10  /  Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy

7. Improving health and care

Older people told us that improving health 
services is one of the biggest things we can do to 
help them. They would like to stay active and 
maintain their independence. To do this they need 
access to good-quality health and well-being 
services.

It is sad to report that at the time of writing both 
main local hospitals serving older people in Sefton 
require improvement, according the CQC.28, 29

Sometimes the issue is not about medical care 
itself but things which should be simple and 
straightforward, such as accessing appointments 
with services such as podiatry, hospital clinics or 
local GPs. Yet older people tell us that getting 
appointments is often far from simple.

As the older population increases, we can expect 
that numbers using services will increase, so it is 
vital that procedures are simple and 
straightforward. Many older people are also 
unpaid carers themselves and it is important 
service providers understand their needs.

CASE STUDY: Dementia
Mrs A cares for a husband with advanced 
dementia whose behaviour had become 
very challenging.
When she spoke to the Carers Centre she 
was struggling to cope.  Mrs A felt that 
everyone was in favour of her husband 
remaining at home, but she felt she could 
no longer carry on looking after him alone. 
The Centre carried out a carer’s 
assessment and contacted Mrs A’s social 
worker to arrange emergency respite to 
defuse the situation.
Mrs A used the Centre’s Listening Ear 
project which gave her the chance to talk 
in confidence to a trained volunteer about 
her situation. 

There is no doubt that growing older has its 
challenges. For example, nearly two thirds of 
cancer diagnoses occur in the over 65s.30 

We know that many older people are not active 
enough to benefit their health.31 So we want to 
encourage older people to take up and maintain 
physical activities by promoting accessible and 
affordable opportunities to look after themselves, 
such as free NHS Health Checks.32

CASE STUDY: Active Ageing
Mr C is 81 years old. Nearly 20 years ago 
he was diagnosed with Type 2 diabetes 
linked to his weight and for many years 
was dependent on insulin injections and 
tablets to keep his blood sugar levels 
under control.
At the suggestion of his doctor, Mr C 
started to follow a low-carbohydrate diet. 
In the last 4 years he has lost nearly 20 kg 
in weight, losing 6 inches from his waist 
measurement. 
He no longer needs medication for 
diabetes and attends the gym every week.

n ACTION
We will encourage community health 
providers, GP Surgeries and hospitals to 
improve their appointments system for older 
people. We will maintain and develop our links 
with Living Well Sefton and Sefton Active 
Lifestyles Team. We will inform older people 
about opportunities to take part in relevant 
health and care research. We will continue to 
raise awareness around falls prevention and 
active ageing.

Page 98

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy  /  11

8. Transport that meets older 
people’s needs

Getting around is important for all aspects of 
active ageing. Without access to transport people 
can easily become isolated and their emotional 
and physical health can be affected.

Older people (60+) in Sefton already benefit from 
free travel on buses and trains in the Merseyside 
area during off-peak hours.33 This is a significant 
concession which we need to be careful to protect.

However free transport is no good if the railway 
platform is inaccessible or the bus doesn’t go 
where you need it to go. For example, Sefton has 
a beautiful coastline but many parts of it cannot 
be accessed by public transport.

CASE STUDY: Lift at Hillside Station
Forum members worked with Merseytravel 
to provide evidence of the need to make 
Hillside Railway Station more accessible.  
One local member said, “I live in this area 
and have not been able to use the station 
for many years.” 
Members from Southport, Ainsdale and 
Formby completed questionnaires and 
encouraged local stakeholders to respond.  
This work was crucial in enabling 
Merseytravel to make the case for funding 
a lift. As a result, Hillside Station will be 
completely accessible once this work is 
completed.

While we know that some aspects of our local 
transport system work well, we are also aware that 
there are some problems with specific bus routes 
to key destinations such as hospitals and health 
centres. In certain circumstances older people 
have a right to free patient transport.34

In a recent review of plans to transfer Orthopaedic 
Surgery from Aintree University Hospital to Broad 
Green Hospital for residents in the south of the 
borough, transport was highlighted as the biggest 
barrier for patients.

SPOC has built links with Merseytravel, which 
coordinates public transport in Sefton, and we will 
maintain this engagement through SPOC. We 
have also worked with bus companies to inform 
their training for staff when working with older 
people.

Meanwhile drivers in Sefton aged 60+ can access 
a free Drive Safely for Longer course subsidised 
by Merseyside Road Safety Partnership.35

n ACTION
We will ensure older people are heard and 
heeded when changes are being planned to 
local transport. We will encourage awareness 
of the criteria and quality standards for NHS 
Patient Transport. We will raise the issue of 
Age-Friendly transport with taxi firms via the 
Sefton Licensing Team and continue to 
promote schemes such as Merseyrail Travel 
Safe.

Page 99

Agenda Item 8



12  /  Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy

9. Improving housing for older people 

For the first time we are including housing as a 
separate objective in our strategy. This reflects 
the commitment to SPOC shown by One Vision 
(the main social housing provider), Riverside 
Housing and Sefton Council’s Affordable Warmth 
Team.

CASE STUDY: Community Lounges
Riverside Housing has 16 sheltered 
schemes in Sefton with over 400 flats. The 
aim is to reduce loneliness and isolation 
whilst allowing people to live 
independently. 
A staff team is on hand to manage the 
premises and provide support and 
information to residents. Flats are 
equipped with movement sensors which 
raise an alert if there is cause for concern, 
for example when no movement is 
detected for long periods.
Each scheme has a community lounge but 
these are underused. For the past two 
years Bootle Older Persons’ Forum has 
been meeting in the lounge at St Oswald’s 
Court, with an average attendance of 20 
older people per month.
Marion, who chairs the Forum, said, “We’ve 
had some really good discussions in this 
venue. It’s great when residents come 
along too and give us their perspective.”

We have always been aware of the need for access 
to good quality, affordable housing for older 
people.  For example, we have led consultations 
with older people on the Council’s Housing 
Strategy.

There are very dramatic differences in housing 
tenure across the borough:

3% of households aged 65+ live in social housing 
in Blundellsands compared to 54% in Litherland.36

In Duke’s Ward 14% of households aged 65+ are 
living in privately rented accommodation 
compared to just 2% in Ainsdale.

In Cambridge Ward, according to the last Census, 
25% of households were occupied by older people 
living alone. In neighbouring Norwood this figure 
was 11%.

Most older people live in the community. At any 
one time there are about 100 residential care 
homes and nursing homes in Sefton for adults 
65+ with a total capacity of roughly 3,000 beds.37

Older people told us during the consultation that 
they wished to remain independent in their own 
homes for as long as possible. This aspiration is 
reflected in other local research.38

We need to help older people to do this. A recent 
parliamentary report suggests a number of ways 
this can be achieved, including handyperson 
schemes to offer practical help (not currently 
available in Sefton).39 We raise awareness of local 
sources of support where they exist, such as 
Disabled Facilities Grants.40

The Age-Friendly recommendations are that a 
range of appropriate and affordable housing 
options for older people including frail and 
disabled older people are available in the local 
area.

n ACTION
We will continue to provide information 
through the Forums to older people about 
access to repair and adaptation services and 
affordable warmth schemes to enable them to 
remain independent in their own homes. SPOC 
will engage with Sefton Council and local 
housing providers to include accessibility 
considerations when planning housing 
developments. We will encourage the use of 
community lounges to support active ageing.

Page 100

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy  /  13

10. Improving communication 
and information

Improving information and communication was 
the second most important topic identified by 
older people in our consultations.

We have represented the views of older people to 
the Improving Information Group facilitated by 
Sefton Council. This looks at common barriers to 
communication as well as good practice. A Forum 
Member provided the voiceover for a short film 
aimed at employees which illustrated the 
importance of good communication, particularly 
with older or disabled people.

Many older people are reasonably happy using 
digital technology such as such as smartphones 
or tablets.  Many wish to develop their 
understanding further. Several groups in the 
borough offer support with this, such as Sefton 
Libraries and Sefton Opera.

But there is no doubt a significant number feel left 
behind by technological changes. Approximately 
30% of Forum Members surveyed said they did not 
use digital technology or were uninterested in it.

Digital technology, if used correctly, can be 
useful. We have many useful online sources of 
information locally such as Sefton Directory.41 
There is also plentiful online information about 
topics such as welfare rights.42

But for many older people digital technology 

appears instead to have become a significant 
barrier, with banks and shops moving online and 
becoming inaccessible. There are also legitimate 
concerns about cybersecurity.

In common with similar groups across the City 
Region, we believe older people should be 
encouraged to take up new technology but not 
forced to do so as a result of traditional 
alternatives being withdrawn.43

CASE STUDY: Reaching out to older people
Sefton Home Library Service is aimed at 
people unable to get to a local library, 
many of whom are housebound older 
people. Library volunteers take a selection 
of reading matter (including audio books) 
once per month to the person’s home. This 
free service is a partnership between 
Sefton Libraries and volunteers in the local 
community.
Lesley Davies of Sefton Library Service, 
who oversees the scheme, said, “Many 
older people are very isolated. Sometimes 
the volunteer is the only person they see 
from week to week. This is also a great 
opportunity to make sure people have 
information about important topics, such 
as keeping warm in winter.”

Page 101

Agenda Item 8



14  /  Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy

We need to bear in mind, too, that not all 
communication is or ought to be digital. Face to 
face communication and interaction is vital for 
combating isolation. Printed material - such as 
leaflets and flyers - is still a mainstay of effective 
local communication.

CASE STUDY: Benefits
Mrs D is 84 years old and has significant 
health problems.  Following a Welfare Rights 
talk by Sefton Council at a forum meeting 
she was referred by Sefton Advocacy to 
the DWP Visiting Service. After a home 
visit, she was awarded the high rate of 
Attendance Allowance to support her with 
her care needs. As a result, she has been 
able to continue to live independently.

n ACTION
We will continue to champion communication 
alternatives to online access. We will continue 
to represent older people on the Improving 
Information Group.  We will encourage access 
to training and mentoring sessions for those 
who wish to build up their digital skills. We will 
support older people through information and 
signposting to ensure they are well-informed 
on key topics, such as rights to benefits, social 
care and planning for later life.

11. Improving safety and security
One of older people’s main concerns is safety and 
security. This is understandable since many older 
people live alone or have a disability or long-term 
condition which may make them physically more 
vulnerable.

It has been argued that older people are less likely 
to be victims of violent crime than younger 
people. The main problem for older people is 
therefore an exaggerated fear of crime rather 
than crime itself. We do not think this is helpful.

Statistics do not tell the whole story. They may 
simply reflect the way older people adjust their 
lifestyles to avoid certain situations, such as town 
centres on Friday and Saturday nights.44

We believe fear of crime amongst older people has 
a rational basis. It is obvious that criminals and 
scammers are much more likely to target those 
they perceive to be vulnerable as this makes their 
jobs easier.

In 2018 our Forums received a grant from the 
Police Commissioners Community Fund to 
investigate these issues. We held information 
sessions in each of our six Forums and got 
feedback from members. 

Many reported being plagued by cold calls and 
scam calls on their landlines. Others had been 
victims of scams online. It is thought that more 
than half of people aged 65+ have been 
targeted.45 One member told us of an attempted 
burglary whilst she was in the property.

We were able to distribute No Cold Callers 
stickers, personal alarms and card defenders as 
well as steps to take to tackle doorstep crime and 
nuisance calls. We have also held sessions by 
NatWest Bank on cybercrime.

n ACTION
We will continue to ensure older people have 
access to regular up to date information about 
scams and crime prevention and regular 
opportunities to engage with Merseyside 
Police. Over the next 5 years we will aim to 
broaden our work under this domain to look at 
making outdoor spaces and building across 
the borough more Age-Friendly.

Page 102

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy  /  15

12.  Conclusion

SPOC continues to be vital to promoting dignity 
and challenging the stereotypes of older people, 
as well as overseeing this strategy and acting as 
the steering group for Age-Friendly Sefton.

With limited resources SPOC relies on members of 
the partnership taking action to benefit older 
people.  This strategy is only as valuable as the 
commitment of the agencies involved, so we are 
very grateful for the level of support we have 
received.

The Older Persons’ Forums have gone from 
strength to strength over the past five years and 
will continue to play a key role for the foreseeable 
future.  The Forums provide a direct link for older 
people to have their say and indeed set the 
agenda themselves.

“Working with the Older Persons’ Forums has 
been very rewarding. We now have older 
people getting involved in all stages of ageing 
research. This means we are focusing on the 
research outcomes that matter to older people 
themselves – which is key to conducting 
meaningful research.”

Dr Asan Akpan, Honorary Clinical Associate 
Professor & Consultant Geriatrician

Over the next five years we aim to:

 n Hold regular SPOC meetings

 n Hold regular meetings of six Older Person’s 
Forums

 n Work together to tackle loneliness and boost 
social participation.

 n Improve health and social care

 n Ensure local transport meets local older 
people’s needs

 n Improve housing

 n Improve communication and information

 n Improve safety and security

We have shown through quotes and case studies 
how our approach can make a positive difference 
to older people.

One of our key messages is that older people 
should not be seen as a problem to be solved.  
Like everyone else, they want to live their lives as 
they see fit, with control over decisions that affect 
them. 

We hope this strategy goes some way towards 
showing how this can be achieved, with older 
people’s views at the heart of the process.

Page 103

Agenda Item 8



16  /  Sefton Age-Friendly Strategy

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the members of Sefton Older Persons’ Forums who helped shape the themes of 
this strategy and provided detailed feedback on the draft objectives.

We would like to thank the following people who took part in interviews or provided helpful comments:

 - Dr Asan Akpan, Aintree University Hospital

 - Andrew Booth, Sefton Advocacy

 - Jan Campbell, Sefton CVS 

 - Brian Clark OBE, Sefton Partnership for Older 
Citizens

 - Councillor Paul Cummins, Sefton Council

 - Dil Daly, Age Concern Liverpool & Sefton

 - Judith Gent-Jones, Lancashire Care NHS Trust

 - Vicky Keeley, Sefton Carers Centre

 - Tony Killen, Merseytravel

 - Megan Langley, Southport Hospital 

 - Avril Martin, One Vision Housing

 - Lesley Davies, Sefton Library Service

 - Val Metcalf MBE, Alzheimer’s Society Sefton

 - Lindsay Russell, Sefton Council

 - Justine Shenton, Sefton Advocacy

 - Noirin Smith, Merseycare NHS Trust

 - Elaine Tabener, Riverside Housing

 - Kevin Thorne, NHS South Sefton CCG & NHS 
Southport and Formby CCG.

 - Dr Gary Kitchen carried out the research for 
this piece of work and wrote the strategy on 
behalf of Sefton Partnership for Older Citizens.

 - We would like to thank the National Lottery 
Awards for All for support with funding.

Notes

1. Centre for Ageing Beter, “The State of Ageing in 
2019”, p.12.

2. Age UK, “Delivering Dignity”, 2013, p.2.

3. Sefon Council, “Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
Overview”, 2018.

4. Sefon Council, “Core Purpose: Delivering the 2030 
Vision”, https://sefon.gov.uk/your-council/vision-
andcore-purpose.aspx

5. World Health Organisaton, “World report on Ageing 
and Health,” 2015.

6. https://liverpool.gov.uk/council/key-statstcs-and-
data/data/populaton/

7. https://www.ons.gov.uk/
peoplepopulatonandcommunity/
populatonandmigraton/populatonprojectons/
datasets/localauthoritesinenglandtable2

8. http://modgov.sefon.gov.uk/documents/s84838/
LocalitesTeamLocalityWorking14May2018.pptx.pdf

9. https://sefon.gov.uk/your-council/plans-policies/
business-intelligence,-insight,-performance/
boroughward-profles.aspx

10. Age UK, “Loneliness Evidence Review,” July 2015, p.2.

11. Carers Trust, “Caring About Older Carers,” 2015, p.2.

12. Sefon Carers Centre, “Annual Report 2018-19”.

13. Department of Work & Pensions, “Income-related 
benefts: estmates of take-up in 2016 to 2017,” 2018.

14. https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/
archive/61-billion-the-economic-contributon-of-
people-aged-65-plus/

15. https://www.dementastatstcs.org/statstcs/
prevalence-by-age-in-the-uk/

16. https://www.rcn.org.uk/clinical-topics/older-people/
frailty

17. Age UK, NHS Confederaton and Local Government 
Associaton, “Delivering Dignity,” 2012, p.9.

18. Sefton Partnership for Older Citzens, “Terms of 
Reference,” September 2016.

19. https://www.who.int/ageing/projects/age_friendly_
cites_network/en/

20. https://www.ageing-beter.org.uk/
age-friendly-communites

21. https://www.ageuk.org.uk/informaton-advice/
health-wellbeing/loneliness/

22. What Works Centre for Wellbeing, “A Brief Guide to 
Measuring Loneliness”, February 2019.

23. https://carers.org/artcle/tackling-loneliness

24. SPOC, “Looking for something new to do? This 
booklet can help you!” 2019

25. Southport Champion, “100-year-old tells why it’s 
important to have actve social life”, 15 May 2019.

26. https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/
social-prescribing/

27. https://www.ageing-beter.org.uk/social-partcipaton

28. https://www.cqc.org.uk/locaton/REM21

29. https://www.cqc.org.uk/locaton/RVY01

30. http://www.ncin.org.uk/publicatons/
older_people_and_cancer

31. https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/health-and-
inactvity/actve-ageing/

32. http://www.actvelifestyles-sefon.co.uk/
what-is-the-nhs-health-check/

33. https://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/Tickets/
concessions/Pages/60+.aspx

34. https://www.nwas.nhs.uk/services/patent-transport-
service-pts/eligibility/

35. https://www.thelivewelldirectory.com/Services/3922/
Merseyside-Road-Safe

36. https://sefon.gov.uk/your-council/plans-policies/
business-intelligence,-insight,-performance/
boroughward-profles.aspx

37. Sefon Council, “Community Care Guide”, 2018/19.

38. Healthwatch Sefon, “NHS long term plan report,” 
2019, p.10.

39. All-party parliamentary group on ageing and older 
people, “Inquiry into decent and accessible homes for 
older people,” Summer 2019.

40. https://sefon.gov.uk/housing/adaptng-your-home.
aspx

41. https://www.sefondirectory.com/kb5/sefon/
directory/home.page

42. https://www.citzensadvice.org.uk/

43. Report of the Liverpool City Region Older Persons’ 
Forums Meetng, March 2018, p.3-4.

44. Help the Aged, “Crime and fear of crime”, 2006.

45. https://www.friendsagainstscams.org.uk/

Page 104

Agenda Item 8



26/11/2019 

Dear Health and Wellbeing Board Member, 

Re: Early Help Strategy 2020 – 2025. 

Please see enclosed a copy of the Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young 
People and Families 2020 – 2025. This is the final approved version for your information and 
endorsement, following a full report and submission of the latest draft to you in September 
2019. 

Kind Regards, 

Eleanor Moulton. 

Integrated Social Care and Health Manager. 

Page 105

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy 
for Children, Young People and Families 

2020 - 2025 

P
age 107

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

Contents
Foreword and Introduction .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 1

Preface  .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 4

Scope of the strategy ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 4

Introduction  ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 5

What is it like for Children and Young People living in Sefton? ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 6
If Sefton had 100 children (0-18 years inc.)  .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 7
If Sefton’s constituencies had 100 children (0-18 years inclusive)  .................................................................................................................................................................................. 7

Vision ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 8

Early Help Outcomes across the Partnership ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 9
Our key priorities include:.......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 10

Guiding Principles for the Early Help Partnership ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 11

Our Early Help Approach  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 12

Assessment and planning for children and families in Sefton  ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 13

Sefton Council’s Locality Model ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 15

Delivery model for Early Help  ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 16

Conclusion  ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 19

P
age 108

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 1

Foreword and Introduction
We are delighted to introduce the revised Early Help strategy for Sefton. 

This integrated strategy is central to delivering our shared ambition that all 
children, young people and families in Sefton will be safe, healthy and happy, 
and will aspire to be the best they can be. It has been co-produced with partners, 
as we recognise that early help is a collaborative approach, not just an isolated 
service provision.

The strategy is just the beginning. We realise this strategy cannot be achieved 
by a single organisation. Working together is important in times of challenge, 
austerity has seen significant cuts in the money going to public services so there 
is a need to work differently and achieve better with less. In line with the newly 
refreshed Children and Young People’s Plan we will ensure children are heard, 
happy, healthy and achieve. We understand that it is our collective responsibility 
to ensure we can create the right conditions for children, young people and 
families to thrive in Sefton. We will need to continue to work with partners to 
embed the strategy, develop skills and knowledge across the workforce, to ensure 
practitioners are confident with the approach.   

We understand that for many children, young people and families problems 
may emerge. Early help is provided to prevent or reduce the need for statutory 
or specialist interventions wherever possible. Early help seeks to meet the need, 
resolve the problem and prevent it becoming entrenched. 

As we refresh the strategy, we celebrate the work that has already been done 
and look forward to the next stage of early help and how much we can achieve 
together to support children, young people and families across Sefton

Councillor John Joseph Kelly 
Cabinet Member 

Vicky Buchanan 
Interim Director of Children’s Social Care and Education

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 2

Sefton Early Help Strategy 2020-2025 3 

Our Behaviour Our Model Our Passion

Sefton Early 
Help Strategy

Families understand & access help & 
support when they are in need of it. 

(uptake of early help offer, increase in 
EH assessments, referrals, reduction 

in inappropriate referrals to CSC, 
decrease in stepping up)

The workforce recognise & work with 
families to address unmet needs at 

the earliest point (Timeliness of 
referrals, length of time on a plan, 

timeliness of referral to assessment 
‘drift’)

Ensure that the needs of vulnerable 
children & families are prioritised. 

(Allocation timeliness, categorising of 
need, SEND EHC plans, 2 Year old 

offer, Appropriateness of lead 
practitioners)

Support emotional health & 
wellbeing services to meet the 

needs of children, young people & 
families. (Health indicators, 

Commissioning, A&E attendances)

People are supported to make 
good choices and minimise risk 

taking behaviours. (Young 
Offenders, Exploitation, A&E 

attendances, Bullying)

Support Inspiration

Tailor support to the 
needs of the individual 
child, young person & 

family

Support children, 
young people & 

families

Constructively 
challenge when 

needed

Support each other

Ensure there is sufficient 
learning & development for 

the frontline workforce young 
person and family

Take responsibility

Create opportunities 
for success

ASPIRE

Address 
worklessness, 

financial & 
social 

exclusions Support 
Families & 

Individuals in 
Need by 

providing the 
right support

Promote 
Education, 
Training, 

Employment 
& 

VolunteeringIncrease attendance 
at schools, improve 

speech and language 
development & 

levels of progress 
that children and 

young people make

Reduce 
Domestic 

Abuse, risk of 
homelessness 

& isolation

Engage 
Children, 

Families & 
Individuals with 

a range of 
Health & 
Wellbeing 

Needs

How we’ll 
measure if 
we’ve had 
an impact

Families 
understand and 

access and 
support help 

when they are 
in need of it. The workforce 

recognise and 
work with 
families to 

address unmet 
needs at the 

earliest point.

Ensure that the 
needs of 

vulnerable 
children and 
families are 
prioritised. 

Support 
emotional health 

and wellbeing 
services to meet 

the needs of 
children, young 

people and 
families. 

People are 
supported to 
make good 
choices and 

minimise risk 
taking 

behaviours. 

Increase the 
number of children 
and young people 

who are 
participating and 

engaging in 
learning and 
education. 

Sefton Early Help Strategy 2020-2025 3 

Our Behaviour Our Model Our Passion

Sefton Early 
Help Strategy

Families understand & access help & 
support when they are in need of it. 

(uptake of early help offer, increase in 
EH assessments, referrals, reduction 

in inappropriate referrals to CSC, 
decrease in stepping up)

The workforce recognise & work with 
families to address unmet needs at 

the earliest point (Timeliness of 
referrals, length of time on a plan, 

timeliness of referral to assessment 
‘drift’)

Ensure that the needs of vulnerable 
children & families are prioritised. 

(Allocation timeliness, categorising of 
need, SEND EHC plans, 2 Year old 

offer, Appropriateness of lead 
practitioners)

Support emotional health & 
wellbeing services to meet the 

needs of children, young people & 
families. (Health indicators, 

Commissioning, A&E attendances)

People are supported to make 
good choices and minimise risk 

taking behaviours. (Young 
Offenders, Exploitation, A&E 

attendances, Bullying)

Support Inspiration

Tailor support to the 
needs of the individual 
child, young person & 

family

Support children, 
young people & 

families

Constructively 
challenge when 

needed

Support each other

Ensure there is sufficient 
learning & development for 

the frontline workforce young 
person and family

Take responsibility

Create opportunities 
for success

ASPIRE

Address 
worklessness, 

financial & 
social 

exclusions Support 
Families & 

Individuals in 
Need by 

providing the 
right support

Promote 
Education, 
Training, 

Employment 
& 

VolunteeringIncrease attendance 
at schools, improve 

speech and language 
development & 

levels of progress 
that children and 

young people make

Reduce 
Domestic 

Abuse, risk of 
homelessness 

& isolation

Engage 
Children, 

Families & 
Individuals with 

a range of 
Health & 
Wellbeing 

Needs

How we’ll 
measure if 
we’ve had 
an impact

Families 
understand and 

access and 
support help 

when they are 
in need of it. The workforce 

recognise and 
work with 
families to 

address unmet 
needs at the 

earliest point.

Ensure that the 
needs of 

vulnerable 
children and 
families are 
prioritised. 

Support 
emotional health 

and wellbeing 
services to meet 

the needs of 
children, young 

people and 
families. 

People are 
supported to 
make good 
choices and 

minimise risk 
taking 

behaviours. 

Increase the 
number of children 
and young people 

who are 
participating and 

engaging in 
learning and 
education. 

Sefton Early Help Strategy 2020-2025 3 

Our Behaviour Our Model Our Passion

Sefton Early 
Help Strategy

Families understand & access help & 
support when they are in need of it. 

(uptake of early help offer, increase in 
EH assessments, referrals, reduction 

in inappropriate referrals to CSC, 
decrease in stepping up)

The workforce recognise & work with 
families to address unmet needs at 

the earliest point (Timeliness of 
referrals, length of time on a plan, 

timeliness of referral to assessment 
‘drift’)

Ensure that the needs of vulnerable 
children & families are prioritised. 

(Allocation timeliness, categorising of 
need, SEND EHC plans, 2 Year old 

offer, Appropriateness of lead 
practitioners)

Support emotional health & 
wellbeing services to meet the 

needs of children, young people & 
families. (Health indicators, 

Commissioning, A&E attendances)

People are supported to make 
good choices and minimise risk 

taking behaviours. (Young 
Offenders, Exploitation, A&E 

attendances, Bullying)

Support Inspiration

Tailor support to the 
needs of the individual 
child, young person & 

family

Support children, 
young people & 

families

Constructively 
challenge when 

needed

Support each other

Ensure there is sufficient 
learning & development for 

the frontline workforce young 
person and family

Take responsibility

Create opportunities 
for success

ASPIRE

Address 
worklessness, 

financial & 
social 

exclusions Support 
Families & 

Individuals in 
Need by 

providing the 
right support

Promote 
Education, 
Training, 

Employment 
& 

VolunteeringIncrease attendance 
at schools, improve 

speech and language 
development & 

levels of progress 
that children and 

young people make

Reduce 
Domestic 

Abuse, risk of 
homelessness 

& isolation

Engage 
Children, 

Families & 
Individuals with 

a range of 
Health & 
Wellbeing 

Needs

How we’ll 
measure if 
we’ve had 
an impact

Families 
understand and 

access and 
support help 

when they are 
in need of it. The workforce 

recognise and 
work with 
families to 

address unmet 
needs at the 

earliest point.

Ensure that the 
needs of 

vulnerable 
children and 
families are 
prioritised. 

Support 
emotional health 

and wellbeing 
services to meet 

the needs of 
children, young 

people and 
families. 

People are 
supported to 
make good 
choices and 

minimise risk 
taking 

behaviours. 

Increase the 
number of children 
and young people 

who are 
participating and 

engaging in 
learning and 
education. 

P
age 110

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 3

Sefton Early Help Strategy 2020-2025    4 
 

 

Universal Needs

Children and young 

people at this level are 

achieving expected 

outcomes within 

universal provision 

without additional 

support

 - Routine Health and 

Education Assessment and 

review

 - Universal Services can meet 

all needs of the child and 

family

Additional Needs 

(Level 2 and 3)

Those families who require 

an additional service from a 

single worker or agency, or 

who are best supported 

under an Early Help Plan 

with a Lead Worker who will 

work intensively with the 

family and coordinate a 

multiagency response (TAF) 

to their needs 

Contacts to Early 

Help or across from 

MASH

 - Research info known 

by Early Help teams

 - Signs of Safety

 - Allocate to team

 - Check if existing plan

 - Initiate engagment 

and assessment

 - Single family plan in 

place to address needs 

identified that the 

family sign up to

- Lead worker for every 

family who will help to 

make positive changes 

and improve their lives

 - Formulate a 

multiagency action plan

Complex Needs 

(Level 3)

Families with children 

who are potentially 

Children in Need (Section 

17, Children’s Act 1989)

Undertake 

additional needs or 

risk assessment as 

required

The TAF will work with 

Social Care to complete 

specialist assessment and/

or deliver specific 

interventions

Specialist Needs 

(Level 4)

 - C&F assessments

 - Section 47 Enquiry

 - Child Protection 

Conference

 - Child Protection Plan

Children and Young People 

who require intensive help 

and support to meet their 

needs.  Children and young 

people will access specialist 

services following a statutory 

assessment.

Completed Early Help 

Assessment addressing all 

the needs of individuals 

and how they impact upon 

the family as a whole, or, 

stepped down Children’s 

Social Care/YOT Plans

Support needs 

increasing/

decreasing

Step Up/Down

  
  
  
  

In
v
o

lv
e

m
e

n
t 

in
 C

S
C

 P
la

n
 

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

A
c
c
e

s
s
 t

h
r
o

u
g

h
 E

a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

 
  
  
  
  

  
O

p
e

n
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 f

o
r 

e
li
g

ib
le

 f
a

m
il
ie

s

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 p

la
n

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

 t
o

 r
e

d
u

c
e

 r
is

k
 a

n
d

 e
n

a
b

le
 f

a
m

il
y

 t
o

 b
e

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 b
y

 u
n

iv
e

rs
a

l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 a

 c
o

n
s
is

te
n

t 
T

e
a

m
 A

ro
u

n
d

 t
h

e
 F

a
m

il
y

Support Needs Action Further ActionDescription
M

u
lt

ip
le

 a
n

d
 C

o
m

p
le

x
T

a
rg

e
te

d
U

n
iv

e
r
s
a

l
Priorities

Provide play, learning, 

leisure, culture & 

sporting opportunities

Improve social, 

emotional & mental 

health and wellbeing

Increase employment 

opportunities

Reduce families at risk 

of financial exclusion

Increase participation, 

volunteering, voice and 

influence

Reduce crime and anti-

social behaviour

Support children to have 

the best start in life and 

be ready for learning

Support schools and 

settings to improve 

attendance & develop 

positive behaviour

Increase the early 

identification & 

prevention of neglect

Increase the early 

identification & 

prevention of criminal 

and sexual exploitation

Encourage physical 

activity & healthy eating

Promote sexual health & 

positive relationships

Minimise the misuse of 

drugs, alcohol & tobacco

Promote positive inter-

parental relationships

Improve attainment & 

close attainment gaps

Sefton Early Help Strategy 2020-2025    4 
 

 

Universal Needs

Children and young 

people at this level are 

achieving expected 

outcomes within 

universal provision 

without additional 

support

 - Routine Health and 

Education Assessment and 

review

 - Universal Services can meet 

all needs of the child and 

family

Additional Needs 

(Level 2 and 3)

Those families who require 

an additional service from a 

single worker or agency, or 

who are best supported 

under an Early Help Plan 

with a Lead Worker who will 

work intensively with the 

family and coordinate a 

multiagency response (TAF) 

to their needs 

Contacts to Early 

Help or across from 

MASH

 - Research info known 

by Early Help teams

 - Signs of Safety

 - Allocate to team

 - Check if existing plan

 - Initiate engagment 

and assessment

 - Single family plan in 

place to address needs 

identified that the 

family sign up to

- Lead worker for every 

family who will help to 

make positive changes 

and improve their lives

 - Formulate a 

multiagency action plan

Complex Needs 

(Level 3)

Families with children 

who are potentially 

Children in Need (Section 

17, Children’s Act 1989)

Undertake 

additional needs or 

risk assessment as 

required

The TAF will work with 

Social Care to complete 

specialist assessment and/

or deliver specific 

interventions

Specialist Needs 

(Level 4)

 - C&F assessments

 - Section 47 Enquiry

 - Child Protection 

Conference

 - Child Protection Plan

Children and Young People 

who require intensive help 

and support to meet their 

needs.  Children and young 

people will access specialist 

services following a statutory 

assessment.

Completed Early Help 

Assessment addressing all 

the needs of individuals 

and how they impact upon 

the family as a whole, or, 

stepped down Children’s 

Social Care/YOT Plans

Support needs 

increasing/

decreasing

Step Up/Down

  
  
  
  

In
v
o

lv
e

m
e

n
t 

in
 C

S
C

 P
la

n
 

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

A
c
c
e

s
s
 t

h
r
o

u
g

h
 E

a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

 
  
  
  
  

  
O

p
e

n
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 f

o
r 

e
li
g

ib
le

 f
a

m
il
ie

s

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 p

la
n

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

 t
o

 r
e

d
u

c
e

 r
is

k
 a

n
d

 e
n

a
b

le
 f

a
m

il
y

 t
o

 b
e

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 b
y

 u
n

iv
e

rs
a

l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 a

 c
o

n
s
is

te
n

t 
T

e
a

m
 A

ro
u

n
d

 t
h

e
 F

a
m

il
y

Support Needs Action Further ActionDescription
M

u
lt

ip
le

 a
n

d
 C

o
m

p
le

x
T

a
rg

e
te

d
U

n
iv

e
r
s
a

l
Priorities

Provide play, learning, 

leisure, culture & 

sporting opportunities

Improve social, 

emotional & mental 

health and wellbeing

Increase employment 

opportunities

Reduce families at risk 

of financial exclusion

Increase participation, 

volunteering, voice and 

influence

Reduce crime and anti-

social behaviour

Support children to have 

the best start in life and 

be ready for learning

Support schools and 

settings to improve 

attendance & develop 

positive behaviour

Increase the early 

identification & 

prevention of neglect

Increase the early 

identification & 

prevention of criminal 

and sexual exploitation

Encourage physical 

activity & healthy eating

Promote sexual health & 

positive relationships

Minimise the misuse of 

drugs, alcohol & tobacco

Promote positive inter-

parental relationships

Improve attainment & 

close attainment gaps

Sefton Early Help Strategy 2020-2025    4 
 

 

Universal Needs

Children and young 

people at this level are 

achieving expected 

outcomes within 

universal provision 

without additional 

support

 - Routine Health and 

Education Assessment and 

review

 - Universal Services can meet 

all needs of the child and 

family

Additional Needs 

(Level 2 and 3)

Those families who require 

an additional service from a 

single worker or agency, or 

who are best supported 

under an Early Help Plan 

with a Lead Worker who will 

work intensively with the 

family and coordinate a 

multiagency response (TAF) 

to their needs 

Contacts to Early 

Help or across from 

MASH

 - Research info known 

by Early Help teams

 - Signs of Safety

 - Allocate to team

 - Check if existing plan

 - Initiate engagment 

and assessment

 - Single family plan in 

place to address needs 

identified that the 

family sign up to

- Lead worker for every 

family who will help to 

make positive changes 

and improve their lives

 - Formulate a 

multiagency action plan

Complex Needs 

(Level 3)

Families with children 

who are potentially 

Children in Need (Section 

17, Children’s Act 1989)

Undertake 

additional needs or 

risk assessment as 

required

The TAF will work with 

Social Care to complete 

specialist assessment and/

or deliver specific 

interventions

Specialist Needs 

(Level 4)

 - C&F assessments

 - Section 47 Enquiry

 - Child Protection 

Conference

 - Child Protection Plan

Children and Young People 

who require intensive help 

and support to meet their 

needs.  Children and young 

people will access specialist 

services following a statutory 

assessment.

Completed Early Help 

Assessment addressing all 

the needs of individuals 

and how they impact upon 

the family as a whole, or, 

stepped down Children’s 

Social Care/YOT Plans

Support needs 

increasing/

decreasing

Step Up/Down

  
  
  
  

In
v
o

lv
e

m
e

n
t 

in
 C

S
C

 P
la

n
 

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

A
c
c
e

s
s
 t

h
r
o

u
g

h
 E

a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

 
  
  
  
  

  
O

p
e

n
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 f

o
r 

e
li
g

ib
le

 f
a

m
il
ie

s

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 p

la
n

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

 t
o

 r
e

d
u

c
e

 r
is

k
 a

n
d

 e
n

a
b

le
 f

a
m

il
y

 t
o

 b
e

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 b
y

 u
n

iv
e

rs
a

l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 a

 c
o

n
s
is

te
n

t 
T

e
a

m
 A

ro
u

n
d

 t
h

e
 F

a
m

il
y

Support Needs Action Further ActionDescription

M
u

lt
ip

le
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
p

le
x

T
a

rg
e

te
d

U
n

iv
e

r
s
a

l

Priorities
Provide play, learning, 

leisure, culture & 

sporting opportunities

Improve social, 

emotional & mental 

health and wellbeing

Increase employment 

opportunities

Reduce families at risk 

of financial exclusion

Increase participation, 

volunteering, voice and 

influence

Reduce crime and anti-

social behaviour

Support children to have 

the best start in life and 

be ready for learning

Support schools and 

settings to improve 

attendance & develop 

positive behaviour

Increase the early 

identification & 

prevention of neglect

Increase the early 

identification & 

prevention of criminal 

and sexual exploitation

Encourage physical 

activity & healthy eating

Promote sexual health & 

positive relationships

Minimise the misuse of 

drugs, alcohol & tobacco

Promote positive inter-

parental relationships

Improve attainment & 

close attainment gaps

Sefton Early Help Strategy 2020-2025    4 
 

 

Universal Needs

Children and young 

people at this level are 

achieving expected 

outcomes within 

universal provision 

without additional 

support

 - Routine Health and 

Education Assessment and 

review

 - Universal Services can meet 

all needs of the child and 

family

Additional Needs 

(Level 2 and 3)

Those families who require 

an additional service from a 

single worker or agency, or 

who are best supported 

under an Early Help Plan 

with a Lead Worker who will 

work intensively with the 

family and coordinate a 

multiagency response (TAF) 

to their needs 

Contacts to Early 

Help or across from 

MASH

 - Research info known 

by Early Help teams

 - Signs of Safety

 - Allocate to team

 - Check if existing plan

 - Initiate engagment 

and assessment

 - Single family plan in 

place to address needs 

identified that the 

family sign up to

- Lead worker for every 

family who will help to 

make positive changes 

and improve their lives

 - Formulate a 

multiagency action plan

Complex Needs 

(Level 3)

Families with children 

who are potentially 

Children in Need (Section 

17, Children’s Act 1989)

Undertake 

additional needs or 

risk assessment as 

required

The TAF will work with 

Social Care to complete 

specialist assessment and/

or deliver specific 

interventions

Specialist Needs 

(Level 4)

 - C&F assessments

 - Section 47 Enquiry

 - Child Protection 

Conference

 - Child Protection Plan

Children and Young People 

who require intensive help 

and support to meet their 

needs.  Children and young 

people will access specialist 

services following a statutory 

assessment.

Completed Early Help 

Assessment addressing all 

the needs of individuals 

and how they impact upon 

the family as a whole, or, 

stepped down Children’s 

Social Care/YOT Plans

Support needs 

increasing/

decreasing

Step Up/Down

  
  
  
  

In
v
o

lv
e

m
e

n
t 

in
 C

S
C

 P
la

n
 

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

A
c
c
e

s
s
 t

h
r
o

u
g

h
 E

a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

 
  
  
  
  

  
O

p
e

n
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 f

o
r 

e
li
g

ib
le

 f
a

m
il
ie

s

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 p

la
n

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

 t
o

 r
e

d
u

c
e

 r
is

k
 a

n
d

 e
n

a
b

le
 f

a
m

il
y

 t
o

 b
e

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 b
y

 u
n

iv
e

rs
a

l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 a

 c
o

n
s
is

te
n

t 
T

e
a

m
 A

ro
u

n
d

 t
h

e
 F

a
m

il
y

Support Needs Action Further ActionDescription

M
u

lt
ip

le
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
p

le
x

T
a

rg
e

te
d

U
n

iv
e

r
s
a

l

Priorities
Provide play, learning, 

leisure, culture & 

sporting opportunities

Improve social, 

emotional & mental 

health and wellbeing

Increase employment 

opportunities

Reduce families at risk 

of financial exclusion

Increase participation, 

volunteering, voice and 

influence

Reduce crime and anti-

social behaviour

Support children to have 

the best start in life and 

be ready for learning

Support schools and 

settings to improve 

attendance & develop 

positive behaviour

Increase the early 

identification & 

prevention of neglect

Increase the early 

identification & 

prevention of criminal 

and sexual exploitation

Encourage physical 

activity & healthy eating

Promote sexual health & 

positive relationships

Minimise the misuse of 

drugs, alcohol & tobacco

Promote positive inter-

parental relationships

Improve attainment & 

close attainment gaps

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 4

Preface 
In July 2018, the Government published revised statutory guidance; ‘Working 
Together to Safeguard Children: guidance to inter-agency working’ to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children. This sets out the legal requirements that 
health professionals, social workers, police, education professionals and others 
working with children must follow. The guidance emphasises that effective 

support and safeguarding for children and young people is the responsibility of 
all professionals working with children and young people and provides advice in 
support to sections 10 and 11 of the Children Act 2014, where the primary duties 
for all agencies are set out.

Scope of the strategy

Working Together to Safeguard Children, 2018
‘Effective early help relies upon local organisations and 
agencies working together to: identify children and families 
who would benefit from early help; undertake an assessment 
of the need for early help; provide targeted early help services 
to address the assessed needs of a child and their family 
which focuses on activity to improve the outcomes for the 
child’ 

Effective early help requires a whole family approach and encompasses 
all stakeholders working with children and families.  This includes Health, 
Police, Education, Children’s Social Care, Local Authority Early Help, Voluntary 
Community and Faith organisations and the wider public.

The revised strategy acknowledges that agencies will be addressing their own 
distinct needs and meeting a range of key performance indicators against a 
variety of policy drivers and aims to provide an umbrella framework of key 
principles that can be applied across all agendas.

Engagement with the strategy 
by all sectors will require 
some cultural and operational 
changes but by doing so, and 
actively working together to 
deliver outcomes, we believe 
that we will positively change 
the relationship between the 
community and the public 
sector in ways which build 
and strengthen community 
resilience.

We are still at the beginning of 
this journey and the strategy 
is aspirational, but we are 
building on solid foundations 
established through the 
success of existing early 
intervention work.

P
age 112

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 5

Introduction 
Early help and early intervention mean taking action to support a child, young 
person or their family early on when a problem emerges. It can be required at 
any stage in a child’s life from pre-birth through to adulthood and applies to any 
problem or need that the family cannot deal with or meet on their own. 

We know from what children and their families tell us that it can be daunting 
asking for help.  Families have told us that they don’t want to have to tell their 
story more than once to lots of different people. This strategy will help us to make 
every contact count.

The Strategy supports ‘right help, from the right person at the right time’ 
principles being adopted across Sefton which will help ensure a cohesive early 
help offer. The strategy will be delivered by all partners collectively with a 
commitment to: 

 ■ Working better together in an open, honest partnership approach with 
consent of the child and their family 

 ■ Identifying strengths and needs and working together to find practical 
and achievable solutions 

 ■ Providing the right information and advice to enable children and their 
families to make positive changes themselves with support tailored to 
their needs 

 ■ Help children and their families to build protective factors and family 
resilience to prevent situations recurring. 

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 6

What is it like for Children and Young People living in Sefton?
 

   The number of children and young people living in Sefton (0-25 year olds) 
is 62,100 a fall of 14% (9,990) since 2001.

   Sefton is a good place for children and young people to live and grow up. 
Most receive their immunisations, with rates being close to - or above - the 
national average.

   On the whole our children and young people achieve in school. However, 
there are still some that do not reach their full potential which impacts on 
their ability to go into further education, training and to get a job.

   The health of children and young people is generally improving and they 
have access to a wide range of physical activity opportunities.

   Almost 20% of our children are obese when they leave primary school at 
11 years.

The number of hospital admissions related to alcohol use in under 18’s is also 
higher (though declining) than the England average and childhood smoking rates 
are average.

   There are fewer teenage mothers in the borough than in previous years.  
Whilst the total number of births in Sefton is not rising, there has been an 
increase in the number of babies born to non-British born women. These 
mothers may need additional support to access maternity and other 
health services.

   Sefton mothers are more likely to smoke during pregnancy and less likely 
to breastfeed their baby at 6 weeks.

   Some of our children and young people cannot live with their parents or 
families; they live with Foster Carers, in children’s homes or are adopted. 
These children and young people are more likely to experience poor life 
chances

   As of November 2019 there are 550 Looked After Children

P
age 114

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 7

If Sefton had 100 children (0-18 years inc.) 

As they grown up:

 ■ 19 will live in poverty

 ■ 6 will be low birth weight babies (below (2.5kg)

 ■ 66 will be achieving good development in Early Years Foundation Stage 
One

 ■ 76 will achieved year 1 phonics

 ■ 93 will make expected progress in primary school in Reading

 ■ 94 will make expected progress in primary school in Writing

 ■ 93 will make expected progress in primary school in Maths

 ■ 58 will achieve A*-C GCSEs including Maths and English

 ■ 25 will be overweight/obese in reception

 ■ 35 will be overweight/obese by year 6

 ■ 16 will be eligible for free school meals

 ■ 5 will be persistently absent from school

 ■ 13 will live with lone parent families

If Sefton’s constituencies had 100 children (0-18 years 
inclusive) 

As they grown up: 

Southport Central Bootle
Will live in poverty 15 9 29
Will be low birth weight babies (below (2.5kg) 7 6 8
Will make expected progress in primary 
school 93 96 92
Will achieve A*-C GCSEs including Maths and 
English 58 58 52
Will be overweight/obese in reception 22 23 28
Will be overweight/obese by year 6 36 31 39
Will be eligible for free school meals 13 13 28
Will be persistently absent from school 8 7 9
Will live with lone parent families 19 15 31

Detailed analysis of our families and their communities can be found in:

 ■ Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/plans-policies/business-
intelligence,-insight,-performance/joint-strategic-needs-
assessment-(jsna).aspx 

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 8

Vision
Our ambition is that all children, young people and families in Sefton will be 
safe, healthy and happy, and will aspire to be the best they can be. 

 In Sefton, we believe that every child should have the opportunity to reach their 
full potential. We believe that children should grow and achieve within their 
own families and communities, when it is in their best interests and it is safe for 
them to do so. By working together, we will develop flexible services which are 
responsive to children and families’ needs. 

Sefton is establishing a vision for the future that will provide: 

 ■ A system wide approach, with joint, pooled resources and integrated 
pathways operating across organisational boundaries 

 ■ An outcome focussed, system wide approach delivering long term 
sustainable solutions for individuals and families that enables (to 
secure) resilience and independence 

 ■ A shift from acute provision to an increase in prevention and early help 
activity 

 ■ Evidence based early help interventions that are built around customer 
need 

 ■ Locality based delivery with a trauma informed workforce

Early help is everyone’s responsibility; we want children, families, communities 
and agencies to work together so that families are assisted to help themselves 
and are supported as soon as a need arises, thereby improving their wellbeing 
and life chances. 

Early help means providing help for children and families as soon as problems 
start to emerge or when there is a strong likelihood that problems will emerge 
in the future. If early help is not offered, there is a very real risk that for some 
children, their social and emotional development will be irrevocably impaired, 
they will experience significant harm, or their family life will break down. 

Although research shows that the most impact can be made during a child’s early 
years, and in particular their first 1001 critical days, early help is not just for very 
young children, as problems may arise at any point throughout childhood and 
adolescence.  Early help in pregnancy and supporting parents to be good parents 
is also important.  Early help includes targeted services designed to reduce needs 
or prevent specific problems from becoming entrenched, and there is substantial 
evidence that early help can make a difference in improving outcomes. 

As a partnership, we will:

 ■ Understand those families where children may be at risk of not 
reaching their full potential and share concerns 

 ■ Build a relationship with the family as early as possible, and work with 
them to create a family environment that provides children with the 
best life chances and prevent problems from arising or escalating 

 ■ Reduce the number of children and their families requiring support 
from specialist services. 

Sefton’s Integrated Early Help Strategy has been developed across the partnership 
and will align with Sefton’s vision for the new operating model.  This will enable 
us to provide a joined up, effective early help offer for children aged 0 to 19 years 
(up to 25 for children with disabilities) and their families.  Support services will be 
provided at a locality level, will be evidence-based and delivered through a shared 
partnership approach to delivering universal and early help services. 

P
age 116

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 9

Early Help Outcomes across the Partnership
Sefton’s Turnaround Programme has been mainstreamed and there is a detailed 
multi-agency plan in place; the Service Transformation Maturity Plan.  This plan 
will be monitored through the Sefton Early Help Partnership Group and updated 
regularly. There is strong commitment across the partnership, at all levels, to 
delivering change which improves the outcomes and experience for children 
and their families.  This maturity model will be used to measure the impact and 
success of early help alongside ASPIRE - the Locality Outcomes Framework. 

ASPIRE includes:

Sefton are committed to delivering an effective all age partnership early help offer 
and a more effective whole family systemic locality-based approach to early help.

Through ASPIRE early help priorities have been identified to support the reduction 
in demand, and impact, upon statutory services by preventing escalation, where 
safe to do so, to statutory and specialist services.  We also focus on families 
coming to early help from statutory and specialist services, bringing them down 
the continuum of need and helping them to access, and remain accessing, 
universal services.

A S P I R E
Increasing Attendance 

at schools, improve 
speech and language 

development and levels 
of progress that children 
and young people make

Promoting Education, 
Training, Employment and 

Volunteering

Supporting Families 
and Individuals in Need 

by providing the right 
support

Addressing Worklessness, 
financial and social 

exclusions

Reducing Domestic 
Abuse, risk of 

homelessness and 
isolation

Engaging Children, 
Families and Individuals 
with a range of Health 
and Wellbeing Needs

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 10

Our key priorities include:

Sefton Early Help Strategy 2020-2025    13 
 

 

Our key priorities include: 

 
 

 
 

  

Improve attainment & 
close attainment gaps

Promote pos itive inter -
parental re lationships

Minimise the  misuse of 
drugs, alcohol & tobacco

Promote sexual health & 
positive  re lationships

Encourage phys ical 
activity & he althy eating

Increase  the early 
identification & 

prevention of criminal 
and sexual exploitation

Increase  the early 
identification & 

prevention of ne gle ct

Support schools and 
settings  to improve 

attendance  & de ve lop 
positive  behaviour

Support children to have 
the best start in  life and 

be  re ady for learning

Increase  participation, 
volunteering, voice and 

influence

Improve financial resilience of 
families and reduce  at risk of 

financial exclusion

Increase  e mployme nt 
opportunities

Improve social, 
emotional & mental 

he alth and wellbeing

Provide play, learning,  
leisure, culture & 

sporting opportunities

Ensure children and families  feel 
safe in their communities by 

tackling and reducing crime  a nd 
anti-social behaviour

P
age 118

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 11

Guiding Principles for the Early Help Partnership
Problems may emerge at any point through childhood and adolescence. Early help 
is provided to prevent or reduce the need for statutory or specialist interventions 
wherever possible. Early help seeks to meet the need, resolve the problem and prevent 
it becoming entrenched. 

Within this context our early help approach is based on a set of shared principles: 

1. Early help is everyone’s responsibility. All children and young people should have 
the opportunity to reach their full potential. Parents have the primary responsibility 
to meet the needs of their children and ensure the wellbeing and prosperity of their 
family. We recognise that parenting can be challenging and asking for help should 
be seen as a sign of responsibility rather than a parenting ‘failure’. It is essential 
that when support is required, we all act to provide the right help, from the right 
worker, at the right time, to improve children’s life chances. 

2. Wherever possible all children and families’ needs will be met by universal 
services. Universal services working with children and adults have a role to ensure 
families are achieving positive outcomes, to be aware of potential difficulties and 
act early to prevent needs escalating. Universal services must remain involved even 
if a child is receiving additional or specialist support to ensure there is a joined up, 
whole system response to meeting needs. 

3. Listen to children and families and treat them as partners. In most cases it 
should be the decision of the parents when to ask for help or advice, although 
there are occasions when practitioners may need to engage parents actively, 
and with their consent, help them to prevent problems becoming more serious. 
All services must keep the child at the centre of the solution, encourage families 
to harness their own resourcefulness and build supportive community networks, 
thereby enabling families to develop resilience. 

4. Focus on whole Family working.  Sefton is committed to a culture shift in the 
way that we engage and work with families. In particular, adopting a ‘whole 
family approach’ and strongly encouraging multi- agency working.  This requires a 
workforce development strategy that underpins all work with children and families 
across thresholds. The principles of ‘whole family working’, ‘sustained outcomes’ 
and building ‘progression’ into the way that we work with families will help to 
ensure that education, employment and training are a key feature in families’ 
action plans.

5. All services will work together with children and families to promote family 
strengths, build resilience and independence.  This includes effective information 
sharing and joint working between professionals in children’s and adult’s services 
to reduce the impact that adult’s problems have on children’s experiences. 

6. Understanding needs. We can best understand the needs of children and families 
within their communities and maximise our multi-agency resources using 
evidence-based approaches, learning from feedback and listening to the voice of 
the child and family. With robust performance management in place we will be 
able to evidence positive, sustainable impact and best value. 

7. Ensure clear pathways to support. We want all families to have easy access to 
support when it is needed. We will set out clearly what support is available and 
make it easy for families to contact services themselves.  

8. Everyone will encourage integrated working.  This includes anyone who works 
with children and families, part or all of the time; whether employed, self-
employed or in a voluntary capacity.  If you are a nurse, volunteer, teacher, early 
help worker, sports coach, social worker or any other member of the children’s 
workforce, integrated working and building strong working relationships concerns 
you.  We want the services supporting children and families to work much more 
closely together, forging lasting and meaningful relationships that improve the 

lives of the children of Sefton in 
the short, medium and long term.OfSTED, Early Help: Whose Responsibility? 2015

‘Local authorities and partner agencies delivering early help to children and families 
should improve the quality and consistency of assessment and plans by ensuring plans 
are regularly reviewed and that these reviews evaluate the child’s and family’s progress’ 

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 12

Our Early Help Approach 
Effective support through the ‘right help, from the right worker, at the right time’ 
principles will improve the relationship between the four levels of need; Universal, 
Additional, Multiple and Complex and Acute need.

Since 2014 we have successfully used a ‘threshold of need’ model to correctly 
identify the level of need and proportionate support needed.  The Level of Need 
document published in October 2017 is fully implemented across the partnership; 
this document is however currently under review. 

‘Where a child and family would benefit from co-ordinated support 
from more than one organisation or agency there should be an 
inter-agency assessment. These early help assessments should be 
evidence-based, be clear about the action to be taken and services 
to be provided and identify what help the child and family require 
to prevent needs escalating to a point where intervention would be 
needed through a statutory assessment…’

Single
agency

multi-
agency

Child
and family

assessment
section 17/47

enquiries

Family are meeting their
children’s needs with support

from universal services

Family who can meet
their children’s needs
with some additional

support, usually in the 
short term

Family need
multi-agency response

including specialist intervention
from children’s social care 

Family with multiple
complex needs

who can meet their
children’s needs

with targeted and
co-ordinated support

Universal
LEVEL 1
Children whose needs 
are fully met and thrive
•  aspire and acheive
•  safe and secure
•  happy and healthy
•  resilient and ready for adulthood

Additional
LEVEL 2
Children with 
additional needs

Multiple and 
complex
LEVEL 3
Children with 
multiple and 
complex needs

Acute
LEVEL 4
Children with acute 
needs including 
those in need of 
protection

Think Family

Share information Share information
Family and environmental

factors

Ch
ild

’s

de
ve

lo
pm

en
ta

l n
ee

ds
Parenting capacity 

and com
m

itm
ent to change

P
age 120

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 13

Assessment and planning for 
children and families in Sefton 
Identifying needs at an early stage using the Early Help Assessment gives 
agencies working with children, young people and their families a common tool 
to understand the needs of the child or young person and their family.  It is only 
once the full needs are identified that the appropriate support can then be put in 
place.  It is an expectation that where the needs of a family have been identified 
for additional support, an Early Help Assessment for the whole family will be 
completed, in partnership with the family.

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 makes it clear that safeguarding 
children and families and promoting their welfare is the responsibility of all 
practitioners working with children and young people, and that practitioners 
should understand the criteria for taking action across a continuum of need, 
including Early Help. 

Effective early help relies upon local organisations and agencies working together to: 

 ■ identify children and families who would benefit from early help 

 ■ undertake an assessment of the need for early help 

 ■ provide targeted early help services to address the assessed needs 
of a child and their family which focuses on activity to improve the 
outcomes for the child 

Early help assessments should be evidence-based and co-produced with families, 
be clear about the action to be taken, and services to be provided, and focuses on 
improving outcomes. 

Within the assessment it is important to highlight the strengths and resources 
within the family. This is a useful focus when agreeing the action plan and helping 
other agencies to understand the protective factors within the family and identify 

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 14

how they can facilitate change. The more strengths present, the lower the risk will be 
and as support progresses it would be expected that risk factors decrease, and strengths 
increase. 

It is not expected that practitioners will be experts in all areas of the assessment.  During 
the assessment stage the Team Around the Family (TAF) can begin to be established.  The 
practitioner completing the assessment will act as the lead until their role in supporting 
the family comes to an end.  The Lead Worker can call upon their colleagues supporting 
the family to assist in the assessment process.  This ensures that the intervention is 
proportionate, appropriate, timely and effective. 

The Early Help Family Assessment is designed to help families to develop self-help and 
self-management skills in order to better meet their long term needs and to reduce their 
reliance on public services. 

If the outcome of this assessment is single agency, the work will be completed by a lead 
worker. If however, the outcome identifies multifaceted problems and need for more 
than one agency, then a multi-agency action plan should be put in place through the 
assess-plan-review process. 

An ongoing programme of training will be available for all practitioners regarding 
the assess-plan-review process and associated tools.  Partners will be encouraged to 
complete assessments, which will be quality assured to maintain a high standard. 

Other assessment tools are available to complement Early Help Family Assessment. The 
Outcome Star tools are a suite of assessment tools that can be helpful in evaluating, 
areas of, need and strength and supporting families. 

For instances where neglect has been identified as the primary factor, the Graded Care 
Profile 2 should be completed with the contribution of practitioners involved and used as 
the ongoing assessment tool to measure outcomes. 

Sefton’s Assess-Plan-Review guidance for practitioners; provides them with a guide of 
how to deliver effective early help support and explains the criteria for providing help to 
children, young people and their families. 

P
age 122

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 15

Sefton Council’s Locality Model
Sefton’s locality model is a joined-up and collaborative way of working to help our 
residents achieve improved health, wellbeing and independence. 

The locality early help model takes a whole family approach which helps to 
identify what needs to be done and what action needs to be taken, with a focus 
on strengths. Together we will look at what is going well, what could be better and 
what needs to happen to achieve improvement.  

The localities delivery networks will help to facilitate much stronger collaboration 
and integration across universal and targeted services.  This will include schools, 
GPs and other health services, the police, voluntary, faith and community sector 
agencies and a wide range of Council services such as Housing Options and 
Children’s Social Care.

 Working Together to Safeguard Children, 2018
‘Where a child and family would benefit from co-ordinated 
support from more than one organisation or agency there should 
be an inter-agency assessment. These early help assessments 
should be evidence-based, be clear about the action to be taken 
and services to be provided and identify what help the child 
and family require to prevent needs escalating to a point where 
intervention would be needed through a statutory assessment…’

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 16

Delivery model for Early Help 
To ensure we have a mature early help system we need to transform the way 
professionals work with each other and with families, and to develop the right 
culture, systems and behaviours that support the delivery of the model across 
the partnership. We have, through the work of the Sefton Safeguarding Children 
Board, a strong commitment by partners to undertake this transformation and to 
develop the right culture, systems and behaviours needed to have a mature early 
help system in place in Sefton.

The key areas for development during 2020-2025 are:

1. Establish Effective Leadership, Partnership Working and Governance  
 
There are many positive examples of multi-agency working across Sefton to 
deliver good outcomes for children and their families and we will continue to 
expand on this to focus on developing more effective streamlined and joined 
processes.   Delivery and accountability for this Early Help Strategy and the 
Early Help Performance framework will move from Sefton Safeguarding Board 
to the Early Help Partnership Group, a sub group of the Health and Well-being 
Board. The Board will also have oversight of: 

 ■ Each partner agency’s response to implementation of this Strategy.

 ■ Developing an effective outcome-based performance management 
and quality assurance framework to measure impact. 

2. Establish easy to use Early Help online information and advice  
 
In order to help children and their families and practitioners across the 
partnership to understand the wide range of information and services 
available we will build on the Sefton local offer website as a central portal 
to bring information together. This local offer website already provides 

information, advice and guidance to the public on a range of family issues, 
including support from partner agencies. Other online websites, advice 
centres, telephone helplines or supports and services not linked, will be 
connected to this so that families and practitioners can access these. 

3. Develop a suite of tools for early help practitioners to use – ensuring a 
whole family strength based consistent approach to working with children 
and families  
 
To accompany the revised early help assessment and plan we will develop 
a suite of early help tools to assist practitioners to understand the child and 
family journey, consistently monitor and review children’s progress, evaluate 
the impact of support and interventions offered to improve outcomes and 
how to measure a family’s engagement and their satisfaction level. 

4. Develop effective and timely processes for sharing information between 
agencies  
 
To enable early help to be more effective and ensuring the right help, at the 
right time, we will work with partners to remove barriers to effective working 
and ensure that families don’t need to have a series of assessments before 
receiving the support they need to.  We will:

 ■ Ensure we have in place clear information sharing arrangements 

 ■ Ensure we are making the best use of IT systems and portals across 
agencies and departments

P
age 124

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 17

5. Refresh structures and pathways that support the access to early help  
 
The Early Help approach is embedded in the Assess-Plan-Review guidance for 
practitioners and is available to all practitioners through the Sefton Early Help 
website.

The Council’s existing early help services have been realigned to localities and 
renamed to ‘Family Wellbeing’ creating a locality based, systemic, family key 
worker (casework) service to work with children and families deemed as intensive 
need under the continuum of need, including children deemed on the edge of 
escalation to statutory services and those stepped down from statutory services. 

Parenting programmes will continue to be provided for practitioners working with 
children and families open to both statutory and early help services. 

Locality based Early Help will continue to develop greater integration and 
alignment with communities and partner agencies, exploring co-location and/
or coordination of processes with early years provisions, health, schools, children 
and adult substance misuse services and emotional and mental health services 
(those provided by voluntary, community and faith sectors. 

This revised strategy also has key links with the approach for children with Special 
Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Sefton Children with SEND should be 
supported at the most appropriate level for their needs at the earliest point 
when these become apparent. Early help supports this approach and enables 
coordinated early support for children with SEND and their families.

We will work with commissioners and providers to ensure that early help informs 
the interventions required in each locality and across the borough and that these 
are developed in accordance with need and ensuring impact. 

The multi-agency Task and Finish Group will develop and agree clear pathways to 
support access to early help and ensure children, families and practitioners have 
clear information on how to access early help. 

6. Develop a skilled and competent workforce across the partnership  
 
Delivery of early help requires effective working between professionals 
and between services including an understanding of each other’s role, 
responsibility, organisational culture and values. A lead worker forum will 
be launched to strengthen and enhance the Early Help offer, to build on the 
delivery of evidence-based practice. This includes: 

 ■ Awareness raising to ensure that the ‘levels of need relating to risk’ 
are clearly understood and communicated between professionals 
so that families can move between early help and specialist 
statutory services at the right time and when required. 

 ■ Information sharing and conversations between professionals to 
identify families who would benefit from early help.

 ■ Implementing whole family approaches whilst keeping the child at 
the centre and undertaking strength-based assessments of families 
including effective engagement and conversations with children 
and their families.

 ■ Holding and managing risk.

 ■ Working with difficult to engage families.

 ■ Embedding evidence-based approaches and interventions across 
the partnership – including sharing good practice and developing 
online resources for practitioners. 

 ■ Building relationships with and getting to know families.

 ■ Reducing the number of ‘hand-offs’ and ensuring consistency of 
lead workers.

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 18

 ■ Identifying and engage family support networks. 

 ■ Reflecting on their work with families and get different perspectives 
from managers and peers.

 ■ Access training and learning opportunities to develop skills across 
the partnership.

The practice models include:

 ■ Restorative based work across the children’s workforce building 
relationships with children, young people and their families.

 ■ Family Group Conferencing in Early Help and Children’s Social Care.

 ■ Motivational interviewing, focussing on strengths in the individual, 
and help them explore their own solutions to their behavioural 
issues. 

 ■ Understanding attachment and trauma informed practice across 
the workforce. 

 ■ Adverse Childhood Experiences training.

7. Develop a joint commissioning framework for early help  
 
More joined up commissioning will achieve economies of scales savings and 
reduce duplication of services.  The resources saved can be applied to any 
gaps in service delivery.  This will include:

 ■ Enabling, through established governance mechanisms, pooled 
resources to develop a broader joint commissioning framework 
across partner agencies to direct the commissioning intentions for 
early help whole family approaches and maximise best value. 

 ■ Develop an intelligence led approach to commissioning that draws 
together key public funding streams to develop a broader joint 
commissioning framework across partner agencies to direct the 
commissioning intentions for prevention and early help 

 ■ Ensure all stakeholders, including children and families, have a voice 
at every stage of the commissioning cycle and provide feedback to 
measure and review impact and enable redesigned services that 
better meet the needs of our children and families. 

P
age 126

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Integrated Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2020 - 2025

PAGE 19

Conclusion 
Our integrated strategy for early help builds on our previous achievements and 
takes us on a journey with families in Sefton to maximise their opportunities for 
the future. An implementation plan that supports it will help us to deliver success. 
Our early help journey will continue in partnership with statutory and voluntary 
partners, communities, and partnership with children, young people and their 
families.

  Working Together to Safeguard Children, 2018
‘A lead practitioner should undertake the assessment, 
provide help to the child and family, act as an advocate on 
their behalf and co-ordinate the delivery of support services. 
A GP, family support worker, school nurse, teacher, health 
visitor and/or special educational needs co-ordinator could 
undertake the lead practitioner role.’

P
age 127

A
genda Item

 9



P
age 128

A
genda Item

 9



P
age 129

A
genda Item

 9



P
age 130

A
genda Item

 9



Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 4 
December 2019

Subject: Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Report of: Director of Public 
Health

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Health and Wellbeing 

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

The paper seeks to present to the Board the draft Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020 – 
2025. The paper will detail the process and next steps toward adoption on the 1st April 
2020. 

Recommendation(s):

(1) The board receive and approve this draft strategy (which may be subject to minor 
tweaks) 

(2) The board delegate authority to the Chair and Director of Public Health to agree a 
final version prior to submission to Cabinet and Full Council in January. 

(3) The Board agree to monitor progress against the strategy at each meeting from 
September 2020 onwards. 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Final analysis of the feedback collated at event held in November is ongoing. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None considered 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

None identified at this time. 

(B) Capital Costs

Page 131

Agenda Item 10



None identified at this time. 

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

 
Protect the most vulnerable:
The strategy will seek to focus improvement on outcomes for the most vulnerable 
residents.
Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
The Strategy will seek to improve the Health and Wellbeing of all our communities.
Commission, broker and provide core services: The Strategy will set strategic direction
and vision for how we commission, broker and provide core services.
Place – leadership and influencer: The Strategy will set strategic direction and vision to
improve Health and Wellbeing.
Drivers of change and reform: The Strategy will set strategic direction and vision to
improve Health and Wellbeing.
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: The Strategy will set strategic direction and
vision to improve Health and Wellbeing.
Greater income for social investment: Not applicable.
Cleaner Greener The Strategy will set strategic direction and vision to
improve Health and Wellbeing.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5864/19) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD4098/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

The development of the strategy has been subject to a public consultation which ran
from August to September as an online 1st phase consultation and a second phase focus 
group based consultation in November. 

Page 132

Agenda Item 10



Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Board Meeting 

Contact Officer: Eleanor Moulton
Telephone Number: 07779162882
Email Address: eleanor.moulton@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020 – 2025 

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The previous Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Sefton ran from 2014 – 2020. A 
new Sefton Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 2020-2025 has been developed. 

1.2 Development of a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is a legal duty under the
Health and Social Care Act (2012), which is shared by the Local Authority and
Clinical Commissioning groups and is overseen by the Health and Wellbeing
Board.

1.3 The Health and Wellbeing Strategy is the overarching strategic plan to improve
population health and wellbeing and to reduce health inequalities. It is based on
needs and assets identified in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and through
public and stakeholder engagement, and takes account of the latest policy,
guidance and evidence.

1.4 The high-level aims of the Strategy are to:

 To set out a framework of needs and priorities in which all local health, social care 
and related services are commissioned 

 To provide the strategic vehicle to address local needs and inequalities in health 
and wellbeing

 To improve outcomes for local communities, especially for the most vulnerable 
and excluded citizens

The aims must then seek to

- Align commissioning intentions for health, care and wellbeing services,

Page 133

Agenda Item 10



- Promote more collaborative, person and place-centred ways of working,

- Connect and strengthen activity taking place elsewhere in the Community, Voluntary 
and Faith sector, within health and care providers, and in organisations and partners 
whose work focuses on the wider determinants of health. This asset base is where a 
large share of Sefton’s potential to improve health and wellbeing and reduce 
inequalities resides

2. Process of development 

2.1 The Health and Wellbeing Strategy Group was established in early 2019 to lead 
on the development of the new strategy. 

2.2 This group has distilled key messages from the health and population statistics 
and priorities in the Sefton Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), worked to 
understanding the relevant local and wider policy landscape, applied best practice 
and guidance and recognising strengths and areas for improvement in the current 
strategy and how it has performed and captured strategic priorities and an 
approach to achieving change in a meaningful and accessible format

2.3 A key part of the development has been the public consultation and engagement. 
This was conducted in two phases; 

• Phase one engagement ran in July through August and focused on testing out 
the relevance of JSNA identified needs through a online questionnaire which 
was designed to be maximally accessible, easy read format

• In September members will recall that the Health and Wellbeing Board 
received initial consultation findings and an outline of the draft strategy. 

• Following this we entered Phase two of the engagement process, which 
involved further short period of public engagement on the outlined draft 
strategy itself. This took place through focus groups across the borough with 
members of the public and key stakeholders. 

2.4 This report seeks to present to the Board a final draft which may be subject to 
minor modifications as final analysis takes place. This will go on to be submitted to 
Cabinet and Full council in January with view to adoption from the 1st April 2020. 

2.5 To support the delivery of the strategy regular performance reports will be made to 
the Board. The strategy proposes as a minim 12 month reviews on impact over 
the last period and sets priorities for the next 12 month.

2.6 The delivery of the strategy will be made real through key plans including the NHS 
5 year plan, Children and Young Peoples Plan and the work of the Integrated 
Commissioning Group. 

3. Conclusion 

The Strategy is presented to the Board for their approval. The Board is asked to delegate 
authority to approve the final version before submission to Cabinet and Full Council to 
the Chair and Director of Public Health. 

Page 134

Agenda Item 10



Page 135

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Business Intelligence & Performance             Icons made by Flaticon and available here: www.flaticon.com  

 

1 in 5 Sefton residents live in the most 

deprived 10% of England  (approximately 88,000 

residents).   

1 in 25 Sefton residents live in the least deprived 10% of England 

(10,000 residents) 

Life expectancy is 9 years lower for men and 8 years lower for 

women in the most deprived areas of Sefton than in the least 

deprived areas.  

Sefton’s most deprived populations also spend, on 

average, 18 years less in good health than those in 

the most affluent areas.  

 

The Wider Determinants of Health 

The increasing 

complexity of people’s 

health calls for a more 

joined up, person-centred 

health care system. 

An estimated  27% of 

Sefton residents have two or more 

chronic conditions and 17% have 3 

or more chronic conditions.  

Multimorbidity is projected to be 

highest in areas with an above 

average older person population 

and areas of high deprivation.   

Population Health 

An Integrated Health and Care System  

Our Health Behaviours and Lifestyles  The Places and Communities We Live In, and With  

Current Population:  275,396  

   53,833  157,531  64,032 

 Under 18s   18 - 64   65+  

Sefton has 27 
Municipal Parks , 

135 Other Parks and 
Greenspaces and 38 

Outdoor Gyms. 

There are approximately  272 fast food outlets in Sefton, 

1 for every  1,000 residents. Outlets tend to be 

concentrated amongst  Sefton’s most deprived 

communities.  

                                 

The Four Pillars of  

 11.1% of Sefton 

residents smoke, the 

lowest rate in the 

Liverpool City Region 

Two thirds of Sefton residents 

meet the Chief 

Medical Officer’s 

recommendations  

for physical activity  

Sefton is amongst the 10% of English authorities 

with the highest rates of alcohol specific hospital 

admissions  Air pollution is 

thought to be 

responsible for 

3.8% of Sefton’s 

deaths 

Almost three quarters of adults in 

Sefton are overweight or obese P
age 137

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Infant 

mortality 

Good level of 

development at 

end of reception 

Teenage 

mothers 

Obese children 

(age 10-11) 

Suicide 

Smoking at time 

of  delivery 

People with low 

happiness  

NEETs 

(age 16-18) 

Low  
birth weight 

(term babies) 

Breastfeeding 

prevalence 

(6-8 weeks) 

MMR 

vaccination 

(age  2) 

 

Serious road  

traffic accidents 

First time 

entrants YJS 

(age 10-17) 

Adults  

smoking 

 

 

Self-harm 
hospital  

admissions 
(age 10-24) 

Tooth decay 

(age 5) 

 

Start well 

 

    

Alcohol-specific 
hospital  

admissions  
(under 18) 

A comparison to England 

Live well 

  

Overweight or 

obese adults 

 

People aged 

16-64 in 

employment  

Households in 

temporary 

accommodation 
 

Long term  health 

problem/disability  

 

Under 75 deaths  

from respiratory 

diseases 

Hospital 

admissions due to 

liver disease 

     

Physically Active  

adults  

 

Violent Crime 

(hospital 

admissions) 

Under 75 deaths  

from cancer  

Under 75 deaths  

from  cardiovascular 

disease 

Age well 

 

Injuries due to 

falls  (65+) 

     

Dementia  

diagnosis 

 

Hip fracture (65+) Sight loss  

certifications 

Flu vaccination 

(65+) 

Older people still at 

home 91 days after 

hospital discharge 

Older people 

living alone 

  

Excess Winter 

Deaths 

Deaths in usual 

place of 

residence 

KEY 

Statistical significance to England: 

Better 

No different 

Worse 

 

 

 

Direction of travel: 

Improved since last period      No comparator 

Similar to last period 

Worse than last period  

 

 

 

Based on a template from Halton Public Health Intelligence Team and 

work produced by Centre for Public Health, Liverpool John Moores 

University. Icons made by Flaticon and available here: 

www.flaticon.com  

P
age 139

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

HWB Strategy 2020-2025

Contents – 1 page

Foreword – Cllr Moncur – 1 page

Plan on a page – 1 page

Introduction - 2 pages

Health in Sefton – 2 pages, infographics

Ambitions intro – half page

Start well - 2 pages

Live well - 2 pages

Age well - 2 pages

All age ambitions - 1 pages

Making it happen – 1 page

References – 1 page

Total – 18 pages?  Designed up?

Page 141

Agenda Item 10



2

Foreword

“How are you? Are you well? Are you doing OK?”   

We all talk about our health and how life is treating us.  And no wonder, because when our physical 
or mental health takes a turn for the worse it can make it harder to do the things that we care about. 
And how about your family and friends, what about your colleagues, your neighbours, the people in 
the place where you live?  

‘Living Well in Sefton 2020-2025' is our new Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and the vision we are 
working towards is that Sefton will be:

 ‘A confident and connected borough that offers the good things we all need to start, live and age 
well, where everyone has a fair stake in a positive, healthier future’

 ‘Living Well in Sefton 2020-2025' is more than words on a page.  The messages in this new strategy 
are directed towards large scale, meaningful changes on the big issues which matter to people who 
live and work here.  Our ambitions for better and more equal health and wellbeing span all the way 
from pregnancy and the start of life, to the close of our lives, and speak to everyone; not just health 
and care services. This is because we know that the most powerful changes come from creating 
more of the right conditions and opportunities for people’s health to thrive. 

Sefton has a wealth of health potential wrapped up in our strong community identity, a very active 
voluntary and faith sector, fantastic natural assets, and committed health and care services. Our 
challenge is to nurture each of these and to look for connections, so opportunities for better health 
and wellbeing are more than the sum of their parts, and accessible to everyone.

Our actions and expectations need to be confident, determined and realistic. We will not be able to 
remove Sefton’s health and social inequalities altogether – some of the economic forces that shape 
our health and wellbeing are simply too big and are driven by national policies.  By signing up to 
‘Living Well in Sefton 2020-25' and its ambitions for health and wellbeing, we can create better 
opportunities for health. If we work together, to deliver on this strategy, we will see improved 
outcomes for people in Sefton in the short and medium term, which may include more children who 
are ready to start school, and a reduction in the number of children who live in poverty.  Other 
outcomes, such as a reducing the number of people who have strokes, will take longer.

Having the right strategy, however, is only the first step; what matters as much, if not more, is how 
we deliver it and how we embed our commitment to eliminating health inequalities in everything we 
do. If we are to achieve our aim of improving health and wellbeing for everyone, and eventually 
eliminating health inequalities, every single sector, organisation and community has a role to play to 
really make a difference to health and wellbeing in Sefton.  

 

Cllr Ian Moncur,

Chair of Sefton Health and Wellbeing Board

Page 142

Agenda Item 10



3

Plan on a page

Living Well in Sefton 2020-2025

Vision (1)

A confident and connected borough that offers the things we all need to start, live and age well, 
where everyone has a fair chance of a positive and healthier future.

Principles and ways of working (7)

 Priorities are based on the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, and shaped by our 
consultation and engagement activity

 Health and life chances are significantly shaped by the four main determinants of health. 
(the wider determinants of health, health and social care system, lifestyles and behaviour, 
the places we live and our communities)

 Public, private, and voluntary, community, and faith sectors all need to work together to 
address these priorities

 Priorities are high level, and informed by evidence and guidance where possible
 Adopting a proportionate universalism approach (delivering services for everybody that 

step-up and down depending on need)
 Embedding prevention in everything we do
 Safeguarding the most vulnerable.

Ambitions (10)

Start Well

 Every child achieves the best start in their first 1001 days
 Education and training enables every young person to unlock the door to future choice and 

opportunity
 Every child and young person has a successful transition to adulthood

Live Well

 Health, care and wellbeing services across the Sefton system need to work together
 Everyone has a fulfilling occupation which can support their needs
 Ensure the Sefton system strengthens its role in prevention

Age Well

 Older people stay active, connected and involved
 As people grow older they are provided with support tailored to their needs
 Ensure environments meet the needs of people as they get older

All Age

 The places where we live make it easy to be healthy and happy, with opportunities for 
better health and wellbeing on our doorstep

Making it happen

 The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) will hold the system to account

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



4

 There will be a performance monitoring framework which will allow the HWB board to be 
assured of impact and progress

 The activity of the HWB will be reviewed regularly, priorities reviewed, and progress will be 
shared with key stakeholders and residents of Sefton

Page 144

Agenda Item 10



5

Introduction

What is it

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy (HWBS) is the overarching strategic plan to improve population 
health and wellbeing and to reduce health inequalities, i.e. differences in health between different 
communities or groups of people.  We know that too many people in Sefton struggle with poor 
health and wellbeing, and good health and wellbeing is not experienced equally across the borough.

The strategy is based on Sefton’s needs and assets identified in the Sefton Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) (REF1) and through public and stakeholder engagement. It takes account of the 
latest policy, guidance and evidence.  A key function of the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
is to hold the Sefton system of health and care services and wider partners to account, by enabling 
collaboration and challenging progress on the key ambitions.

It is increasingly important that the health, care and wider system work together to meet the needs 
of our entire population, focusing on the areas of greatest need, and ensuring we are doing the best 
we can with the resources available.  We also need to increase our efforts on prevention, prioritise 
wellbeing and create connections across the public, private and voluntary, community, and faith 
(VCF) sectors to make lives better for people in Sefton.

How the strategy has been developed 

During the summer months of 2019 we spoke to members of our local communities and other key 
stakeholders and asked what they thought the JSNA told us (REF2).  This led to the development of a 
number of key themes, aims and ambitions, and we then carried out a series of focus groups to 
ensure we correctly captured everyone’s views. We then looked at the existing evidence, guidance 
and best practice from elsewhere, and merged this with our findings locally to inform the final 
structure and content of the strategy.

Key principles and ways of working 

Our key principles and ways of working are outlined below: -

 Our strategy priorities are based on current and future needs as outlined in the Sefton 2018 
JSNA, and shaped by our consultation and engagement events, and focuses on issues that 
affect large numbers of people, not just the health problems that people die from.

 We are taking a holistic approach to improving health and wellbeing, and recognise that 
health and life chances are significantly shaped by the influence of a widespread range of 
factors, from where we live, how we socialise, what opportunities we have as well as what 
services are in place to support us. (REF3)

 In order to address these needs, the public, private, and voluntary sectors all need to work 
together, with the interests of our communities at the heart of what they do.

 The priorities we outline in the strategy are high level, informed by evidence and guidance 
where possible, alongside an understanding of needs and assets that balance statistical 
information with real-world experiences. Lessons from landmark reports such as Due North 
(REF4) and Fair Society Healthy Lives (REF5) are included.

 We will take a proportionate universalism approach, to address inequalities and improve 
health and wellbeing for everyone, with the biggest improvements taking place in groups 
that have the most ground to make up.

Page 145

Agenda Item 10



6

 We need to embed early intervention and prevention in everything we do.  Prevention and 
early intervention is about enabling people to maintain the best health possible all the way 
through life. 

 We will safeguard the most vulnerable individuals, families and communities, and integrate 
local services and support around their needs.  

 Policy Context

The Health and Social Care Act (2012) (REF6) established the requirement for local authorities to set 
up HWBs as a council committee, with some mandatory membership.  Details of the Sefton HWB 
board can be found here (REF7).  The HWB can use its powers and duties to facilitate integrated 
commissioning and decision-making, which align with patterns of local health and health-related 
needs. 

A recent review of HWBs by the Local Government Association clearly affirms the continuing 
relevance and status of HWBs, JSNA and ‘Living Well in Sefton 2020-2025' as essential and powerful 
drivers of population health improvement. (REF8)

This is supported by the NHS Long Term Plan which gives much more emphasis to population health 
perspectives, including a focus on prevention, a requirement to increasingly demonstrate and 
measure action on health inequalities, a commitment to NHS organisations as ‘anchor institutions’, 
and a new NHS model that emphasises greater collaboration and integration at a borough level 
(REF9).  This is also referenced for Sefton in the recently published Sefton2gether Plan.  (REF10)

We recognise the importance of economic growth to Sefton in contributing to improvement of 
people’s health and wellbeing. The National Industrial Strategy (REF11) includes a grand challenge to 
ensure that people can enjoy at least 5 extra healthy, independent years of life by 2035, while 
narrowing the gap between the experience of the richest and poorest. Technological innovation is 
presented as a key means of achieving this mission, for example improving digital accessibility and 
skills.

The two-way relationship between good work and good health is also a central theme in the 
Liverpool City Region Local Industrial Strategy, which is currently in development (REF12)

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy will be delivered through a number of local plans, strategies and 
boards including;

 Sefton2gether – Sefton's NHS 5 Year Plan
 Children and Young Peoples Plan
 The anticipated Integrated Commissioning Group work programme
 Early Help Strategy
 Local Safeguarding Boards
 Children and Young Peoples Partnership Board.
 All Age Carer Strategy
 Emotional Health and Wellbeing Strategy
 Sefton Older Peoples Strategy

Further details on these plans and strategies can be found here (REF13)

 

Page 146

Agenda Item 10



7

 

Page 147

Agenda Item 10



8

Health in Sefton – Data  2 pages

Data infographics – see attached documents. Also link to JSNA / Business Intelligence website

Page 148

Agenda Item 10



9

Our ambitions across all ages

We need to focus on the factors, structures and conditions that influence and shape our 
opportunities for good health throughout life.  The way we do this is to take a life course approach, 
where the emphasis is on healthy ageing from before birth to the end of life, and on the range of 
interventions that support this.  Our approach to a healthy life is as follows;

Start well – where we lay the foundations for a healthy life, usually up to age 18, but includes 
children up to age 25 years for some children with additional needs.

Live well – where we ensure people have every opportunity to live a healthy life

Age well – where we consider the factors that help keep us healthy as we get older

All age – where our ambitions for Sefton apply to all age groups

Page 149

Agenda Item 10



10

Start Well - 

Children’s life chances and health risks are different, even from before birth. Levelling the playing 
field from birth to starting school and beyond is probably the single best way of improving 
population health and narrowing the gap in health experienced between our most and least 
vulnerable. There are many ‘forks in the road’ where the right support and opportunities can make 
big differences to life chances. 

 In Sefton we are committed to having children and young people who are heard, happy, 
healthy, and achieving.

 The first 1001 days are a unique window of opportunity to support each child to develop 
their language, thinking, emotional and social abilities as fully possible. These are the basic 
tools children need so they can get the most out of school and other areas of life. 

 In the last year there were more than 300 babies born to women who smoke. In some 
Sefton communities, around one in six women smoke in pregnancy and many more babies 
and children do not grow up in smoke-free homes. 

 Health and wellbeing in pregnancy can also be harmed by substance use, obesity, poor 
nutrition, poor mental health and indoor and outdoor air pollution. 

 We need to improve health and wellbeing through things like the promotion of 
breastfeeding, increasing vaccination, preventing accidents, reducing exposure to air 
pollution and passive smoking, and improving access to healthy housing and healthy eating, 
including addressing the impact of food poverty. 

 Good emotional wellbeing for children, parents and carers starts with feeling safe, secure 
and confident.  When these core elements of wellbeing are shaky or missing altogether, 
making progress towards being ready for school at age 4 or 5 becomes an even bigger 
challenge. This might be due to the impact of mental health problems during pregnancy or in 
the first year following the birth of a child, current or historic abuse or adverse childhood 
experiences, or threats to safety and security because of problems with money or housing.

 Universal advice and support for all is essential and helps parents, carers and children alike 
to grow in confidence during the crucial, pre-school years when their brains are developing 
very rapidly. Early years services that can readily flex between universal assessment and 
support and early intervention with intensive support, are best placed to ensure that any 
additional needs or vulnerabilities are spotted early.

 For older children, transitions into primary, secondary school and into further education and 
training are key stepping stones.  Confident transitions advance young people closer towards 
reaching their full potential. In Sefton, the gap in educational attainment between children 
from disadvantaged backgrounds gets wider. Amongst older children in Sefton, poor mental 
wellbeing, bullying, loneliness, self-harm, time out of education, exposure to crime and 
access to mental health services are concerns. Differences in physical health, including 
obesity exist along lines of income and social deprivation. 

 Within this general pattern, some groups are also at greater risk of having worse health and 
wellbeing outcomes as children and young adults, for example individuals with learning or 
other disabilities, children from groups that may be at higher risk of exclusion, and children 
who identify as LGBT, or children who need to be cared for by others. 

Page 150

Agenda Item 10



11

Our Ambitions for Start Well are: -

 Every child achieves the best start in their first 1001 days
 Education and training enable every young person to unlock the door to future 

choice and opportunity
 Every child and young person has a successful transition to adulthood, including 

children with special educational needs, and disabilities for whom transition 
extends to 25 years.

Page 151

Agenda Item 10



12

Live Well 

In our middle years, health related behaviours can become a more prominent concern for our 
long-term health. People living within the constraints of a low income, and other socio-economic 
disadvantage are more likely to develop chronic conditions such as obesity, diabetes, high blood 
pressure, or high cholesterol. 

This group is more likely to develop serious long-term, conditions like, serious mental health 
problems, cancer, heart disease, stroke or lung disease earlier in life (pre-retirement age) and 
develop more than one condition. In addition, the amount of ill-health and reduced quality of 
life due to issues like back pain problems, and chronic stress are all part of this picture.  With 
regard to middle-aged men, Sefton has one of the highest suicide rates in England, which also a 
growing cause of concern. 
 

 Additional challenges from poor quality or uncertain employment, debt, caring for children 
and/or older relatives and physical health problems add up to increasing risk of poor mental 
wellbeing and mental health conditions. 

 People with mental illness are more likely to have higher rates of poverty, homelessness, 
prison, social isolation and unemployment and their needs often tend to be more complex 
and urgent. 
  

 There are ‘knock-on’ effects for family and friends which can arise from how our health and 
wellbeing interact with our behaviours such as alcohol and drug use, smoking and gambling. 
The consequences can be more serious for people living in poverty and with limited 
networks of support.  

 People with few barriers to making healthy choices and changes can benefit from high 
quality self-care information and services, whereas people facing many more barriers and 
challenges need more hands-on support 

 To make a difference, we need to work together across the public, private, and voluntary 
community and faith sector to embed prevention into wider strategies such as housing, the 
economy, the NHS, transport and the local environment, and placing communities at the 
heart of decision-making.

 Housing, inclusive economic growth, employment, adult learning and training opportunities, 
healthy high streets and workplaces and person-centred support for carers are key 
considerations for all, and this can sometimes be summarised as “somewhere to live, 
someone to love, and something to do’. 

 Our ambitions for Live Well are: -

 Health, Care and Wellbeing services across the wider system work together to support 
individuals, families, those with caring responsibilities, and communities 

 Everyone has a fulfilling occupation which can support their needs, with opportunities to 
contribute, learn and progress

Page 152

Agenda Item 10



13

 That the wider system strengthens its role in prevention, health equity, equity of access, 
and integrated care so that cross–system access and support is fully available, where 
required locally, to improve the health and well-being of all Sefton residents. 

 

Page 153

Agenda Item 10



14

Age Well

We know that the proportion of the population that are aged over 65 is increasing in Sefton. We 
therefore need to consider what active and productive ageing would mean locally.  

Older people play an important role in our communities, often supporting others through caring 
roles, and actively engaging with groups and events.  However, for some people, growing older 
brings about increasing dependency and social isolation, reflecting the broader picture of health 
inequalities experienced in Sefton.

 Getting older is associated with an increased risk of long term health conditions.  Many 
people will develop multiple health problems such as; stroke, dementia and mental health 
problems. They are also at increased risk from infections including influenza and pneumonia 
and problems with sight and hearing. These factors can contribute to a high rate of frailty 
and falls and the loss of independence that can result.

 There can be wider factors to consider as people get older, these include; care 
arrangements, time in hospital, health risks in the home environment, access to suitable 
transport options, low income, and possibly a caring role are demanding and pose a major 
risk to health and wellbeing. Loss and loneliness can have a dramatic effect on health, 
wellbeing and independence.

 Considerations for this age group include how the health, care and wellbeing services work 
together, and recognising the ongoing value of preventative care for example to minimise 
the risk of a serious fall, infection or complication from a long-term condition. 

 The social, and built environment are also a key consideration.  Affordable housing, that is 
easy to keep warm, age and disability friendly, and in a good state of repair, can improve 
health and well-being, and enable people to maintain their independence for as long as 
possible. These spaces should be co-designed to create disability and age friendly places that 
are safe and easy to navigate for all ages.

 Indoor and outdoor spaces should also be co-designed, with the needs of older people in 
mind, which work for all ages, provide safe spaces which are easier to navigate and move 
around.  These spaces provide opportunities for people to be physically active and to 
socialise together. 

 Getting around is important for all aspects of active ageing.  Transport in Sefton needs to 
reflect the needs of older people and people with disabilities.

 Within Sefton we have a range of natural assets, including the coastline and forests, as well 
as parks and greenspaces. Supporting older people, as well as other age groups, to make use 
of these spaces, not only maximises opportunities to be physically active, but can also help 
to strengthen our communities by fostering intergenerational social interaction.

Page 154

Agenda Item 10



15

Our ambitions for age well are: -

 That older people stay active, connected and involved by helping to create stronger 
communities in which they feel they belong, by promoting better health and greater 
independence.

 As people grow older, they are provided with support, tailored to their needs which 
respects their dignity and individual preferences. 

 That environments meet the needs of people as they get older, through age and disability 
friendly towns, communities, services, housing and transport.

Page 155

Agenda Item 10



16

All Age Ambitions

Some of our actions in Sefton will cross all age groups, because there are many factors that influence 
our heath across the life course, such as our mental wellbeing. We know, for example, that many 
adult mental health problems can start in childhood and continue throughout life. This section sets-
out actions that should be taken by the Sefton system to address the priorities identified within this 
report. 

We understand that places and communities have assets that are valued, and the wider system has 
a role in supporting this through enhancing the lived environment, such as promoting active and 
sustainable travel. We can also work together to co-create healthy, resilient sustainable places and 
communities, building on asset-based approaches and responding to challenges. There are the 
immediate actions that we can work on together to improve health and wellbeing for all, and are as 
follows;

 Enable everyone to maximise their capabilities and control over their lives.
 Ensure a healthy standard of living, including healthy homes, streets, schools, workplaces 

and leisure time, therefore helping to make the healthy choices the easy choices. 

Our All Age Ambitions are: -

 The places where we live make it easy to be healthy and happy, supporting our physical 
and mental health, with opportunities for better health and wellbeing on our doorstep, 
where social connections are encouraged across all generations.

Page 156

Agenda Item 10



17

Making it happen 

So how do these words on a page lead to big changes for the better in the real world?   The HWB 
and its partners are responsible for delivering this strategy.  It will do this by: -

 Meeting regularly as a board and holding the system to account
 Having forward plan to ensure all elements of the strategy are progressed and reported on
 Reporting on progress in delivering against the key ambitions as outlined in the strategy
 Providing robust challenge and support to partners in relation to these key ambitions to 

ensure that all opportunities to improve health and wellbeing further and faster are 
maximised.

 Having a performance monitoring framework in place, drawn from the key national 
outcomes frameworks (NHS, Adult Social Care, Childrens, Public Health, Marmot) (REF14) 
which the HWB will scrutinise to ensure the strategy is delivering against the vision and 
ambitions.

 Reviewing progress on an annual basis, and priorities updated as required
 Reporting to key stakeholders and residents of Sefton on a regular basis

Key actions the HWB will take: -

 It will hold the system to account.
 There will be a performance monitoring framework which will allow the HWB to be assured 

of impact and progress.
 The activity of the HWB will be reviewed regularly, priorities updated, and progress will be 

shared with key stakeholders and residents of Sefton

Page 157

Agenda Item 10



18

References

REF1 Sefton 2018 JSNA

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/plans-policies/business-intelligence,-insight,-
performance/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-(jsna).aspx 

REF2 HWBS Engagement and consultation

https://yourseftonyoursay.sefton.gov.uk/public-health/sefton-heath-and-wellbeing-
strategy/consult_view/ 

REF3 Kings Fund Vision for population health

REF4 Due North

REF5 Fair Society Healthy Lives

REF6 Health and social care act 2013

REF7 Sefton HWB website link

REF8 review of HWBs

https://www.local.gov.uk/what-difference-place-makes-growing-impact-health-and-wellbeing-
boards

REF9 NHS Long Term Plan

REF10 Sefton2Gether NHS 5 year local plan 

REF 11 Industrial Strategy

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/664563/industrial-strategy-white-paper-web-ready-version.pdf

REF12 Liverpool City Region Local Industrial Strategy
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s38475/LIS%20Evidence%20Base%20Summary
%20Deck.pdf

REF13 link to council website policies strategies plans page

REF 14

Public Health Outcome Framework

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-outcomes-framework-2016-to-2019 

 NHS Outcomes Framework 

 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/nhs-outcomes-
framework/current

 Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework 

Page 158

Agenda Item 10

https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s38475/LIS%20Evidence%20Base%20Summary%20Deck.pdf
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s38475/LIS%20Evidence%20Base%20Summary%20Deck.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-outcomes-framework-2016-to-2019
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/nhs-outcomes-framework/current
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/nhs-outcomes-framework/current


19

 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/adult-social-care-
outcomes-framework-ascof/current

GLOSSARY / KEY TERMS

Include separate or as part of document.  (FINAL EDIT)

Page 159

Agenda Item 10

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/adult-social-care-outcomes-framework-ascof/current
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/adult-social-care-outcomes-framework-ascof/current


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 4 
December 2019

Subject: Children and Young Peoples Plan 2020 - 2025

Report of: Head of Children's 
Social Care

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Children’s, Schools and Safeguarding 
Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

The report is to present to the Committee the most recent draft of the proposed
Children and Young Peoples Plan 2020 – 2025.

The report details the steps taken to produce this draft, the ongoing work and the final 
process to agree a final version before approval of Cabinet is sought and the plan 
becomes operational on April 1st 2020.

The report is presented to the Committee to gain their feedback before the final version 
is produced.

Recommendation(s):

(1) The Committee review the draft.

(2) The Committee provide feedback to inform the final version.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To strengthen and improve the plan and offer due Governance to a crucial strategic
document for Children’s Services

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not applicable 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

None identified at this time

Page 161

Agenda Item 11



(B) Capital Costs

None identified at this time

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. The Strategy is applicable to all Children and Young 
People in Sefton equally and analysis of protected characteristic of our existing cohort 
have been reviewed as part of the process. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: The plan aims to ensure every child and young person in 
Sefton is Happy, Healthy and able to reach their full potential.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: The plan aims to ensure every child and 
young person in Sefton is Happy, Healthy and able to reach their full potential.

Commission, broker and provide core services: The Plan will inform an integrated 
Children’s Commissioning Vision and influence all future Commissioning activity for 
Children and Young People.

Place – leadership and influencer: The plan states 12 priorities that will shape all activity 
in relation to Children and Young People in Sefton from 2020 – 2025.

Drivers of change and reform: The plan states 12 priorities that will shape all activity in 
relation to Children and Young People in Sefton from 2020 – 2025.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable 

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable 

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5862/19) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD4096/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report.

Page 162

Agenda Item 11



A report and the draft plan has been reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny, Children’s 
Services and Safeguarding at their November meeting.  

(B) External Consultations 

The development of the plan has been reviewed and informed by the Public Engagement
and Consultation Panel. The plan has been developed in partnership with established
Youth Forums in the borough, the Primary and Secondary Schools Head Teacher
forums, and Every Child Matters Forum, and informed by the results of the public
consultation on the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Start Well section.
 
Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Eleanor Moulton
Telephone Number: 07779162882
Email Address: eleanor.moulton@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: The draft Children’s and Young 
Peoples Plan for 2020 – 2025

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Background

1.1 The Children and Young People's Plan defines the vision and ambitions for
children and young people in Sefton. The document which sets out clearly what,
collectively as a Children's Trust partnership area, needs to be achieved and how
that will be done. It includes an outcome measure metric chapter that the plans
progress will be measured against and identifies twelve local priority areas for
improvement for 2020 - 2025.

1.2 Sefton’s Children and Young People’s Plan currently runs to 2020, regular reports 
and updates on the progress of the current plan have been provided to both 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the health and Well Being Board. The plan 
has been reviewed and updated to cover the period 2020//2025 and consultation 
has taken place with stakeholders to ensure that the plan reflects what matters 
most to them and takes into account what we already know.

1.3 The timescales for completing the plan run concurrently with the Health and
Wellbeing Strategy and is the opportunity to ensure that, wherever possible, the
Strategy and Plan align and make best use of information received from the wider
strategy public consultation.

2. Introduction

Page 163

Agenda Item 11



2.1 The current plan has four key priorities which are:

1. Ensure all children and young people have a positive educational
    Experience

2. Ensure all children have a healthy start in life and a healthy adulthood

3. Improving the quality of lives of young people with additional needs
    and vulnerabilities, to ensure they are safe and fulfil their individual
    potential

4. Ensure positive emotional health and wellbeing of children and young
    people is achieved

While progress against these has been made it’s recognised that these
priorities remain for Sefton’s children and young people and the plan
chooses to refocus them under the following headings:

Heard – children and young people will always be central to decisions we
make about them and their journeys will be shaped by their voice and
experience.
Happy – A family life, strong families and vibrant communities where children
feel safe
Healthy – a healthy start to life, safe and healthy lifestyles
Achieving – high aspiration, opportunities and achievements

2.2 The plan uses information that already exists, like statistics and numbers
from things we already do, for instance youth clubs, educational attainment,
and how many people are getting mental health support (JNSA).

2.3 The plan’s consultation and engagement approach has been reviewed and
steered by the Consultation and Engagement Panel. It was recognised that
the high number of public consultations during the period meant a pragmatic
approach to existing intelligence and data sources was preferable.

2.4 Pre-consultation took place with the SYMBOL group on 13th June 2019 to
test out the headlines in section l.4 and responses were incorporated into the
planning of the consultation. SYMBOL suggested approaching a number of
youth groups/ providers who have already collected data that may be useful
to feed into the plan. This was obtained and included in the plan.

2.5 A small steering group lead on the rewrite of the plan which includes the
Interim Director of Children Services and Education, the Integrated Social
Care and Health Manager, the Sefton Young Advisor Team Leader and a
Strategic Support Officer.

3. The Consultation

3.1 Following the initial collection of existing data sets, the steering group
incorporated and produced a second draft of the plan. This version was then
sent by the Interim Director of Children’s Services and Education to the
identified Youth Groups, Every Child Matters Forum, the Chairs of the

Page 164

Agenda Item 11



Primary and Secondary Heads Forums for cascading to all members, and
key stakeholders across Social Care, Public Health, Commissioning and
Sefton CCGs. The plans priorities have also been presented to the Chief
Executives of Health Providers in Sefton.

3.2 Invitations to attend meetings and groups to discuss in detail were also
extended until the 22nd November 2019. Two dedicated events with Youth
Groups have been held (YKids and a collective facilitated by the
CVS Youth Lead), along side attendance at the Sefton Head Teachers forum. 

3.3 A final version of the plan will be submitted to Cabinet on 9th January 2019, with 
an accompanying Commissioning Vision. 

3.4 The plan will then be shared throughout January to March 2020 with a view
to it being adopted for April 2020.

4. Conclusion

We are nearing the conclusion of the process of establishing a Children and
Young Persons plan 2020 – 2025. The plan is intended to be a clear vision of how
all involved with the delivery of services to Children and Young People in Sefton
must contribute to the 12 priorities. We will ask the Health and Wellbeing Board to
hold the system to account around its delivery against these priorities. The
Boards feedback is welcomed. Approval is sought from the Board to progress and to 
seek Cabinet approval in January. 

Page 165

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



My Sefton
Heard, happy, healthy, achieving, 

The plan for all children, young people and their families living in Sefton
Plan 2020/25

P
age 167

A
genda Item

 11



Contents

P
age 168

A
genda Item

 11



Foreword and Introduction

This plan has been written for all children, young people and their families in Sefton.  Any references to “child” or “children” should 
be taken to mean any young person aged 0-19, care leavers up to the age of 25 and young people who have special educational 
needs and disabilities up to the age of 25 for whom the local authority continues to provide support. 

Sefton Council has led on a new and exciting vision for the Borough of Sefton called Imagine Sefton 2030.  We worked closely 
with our community, including children and young people, to understand what was important to them.  We have used information 
from our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment to inform the plan and will seek to ensure that children and young peoples needs are 
understood and met.   This information together with what we already know about our area from previous work and conversations 
has informed the priorities in this document.  This plan, therefore, has been written around the four themes of happy, healthy, 
achieving and heard.  We have also set out clear actions for how we will address the priorities under each theme and how we will 
measure the progress of these actions.  While it is important to measure progress we acknowledge there has to be a balance with 
how children and young people experience life and what is important to them.  These priorities incorporate the seven principles for 
corporate parenting:

▪ To act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and well-being, of those children and young people.

▪ To encourage children and young people to express their views, wishes and feelings.

▪ To consider the views, wishes and feelings of children and young people.

▪ To help children and young people gain access to and make the best use, of services provided by the local authority.

▪ To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for children and young people.

▪ For children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home lives, relationships and education or work, and

▪ To prepare children and young people for adulthood and independent living

P
age 169

A
genda Item

 11



We realise this plan cannot be achieved by a single organisation.  Working together is important in times of challenge, austerity has 
seen significant cuts in the money going to public services so there is a need to work differently and achieve better with less.  
Organisations from the public sector, schools, voluntary, community and private sector have been working together to provide 
support to children and young people and their families as we understand that it is our collective responsibility to ensure we can 
create the right conditions for children and young people to thrive in Sefton. We recognise that each organisation is just one part of 
a whole system and that by working together we can make the best use of the resources available to provide support where it is 
most needed.  These organisations are committed to maintaining, strengthening and maximising partnership working to best 
support the children and young people of Sefton. This plan will build upon the strength we have in Sefton around our partnership 
working and what we already do well.

Cabinet Member 
Director of Children’s ServicesP

age 170

A
genda Item

 11



What’s the story in Sefton?

Insert graphics showing info from JSNA as in page11 of young and Yorkshire

The Sefton Children’s JSNA, complete in August 2018 highlights the following key points for us: 

In 2017 95% benefited from funded 
early education (24% more than the 
English average). 98% of 3 and 4 year 
olds also benefited. Pupils in these 
early year phase development 
attainment was in line with national 
averages.  

In Key Stage 2 pupils attainment in 
Reading, writing and Maths were all 
above national averages. 

In Key Stage 4 the % of Pupils attaining 
Grade 9 to 5 or 9 to 4 in English and Maths 
was below the national average at 37% 
and 60% (English averages were 43% and 
64% in 2016/17). 94% went on to 
education or training after this stage. 

Our LA's Overall Absence has decreased 
by 0.16% from 4.94% in 2017/18 to 4.78% 
in 2018/19, which is 0.24% higher than the 
National average of 4.54% and equivalent 
to 21,128 more missed sessions in your 
LA than the National cohort, with pupils at 
our LA missing an average of 12.3 
sessions (this is 1.7 more than the 
National cohort).

Our  LA's average for the last 3 academic 
years is 4.88% and we have been 
consistently higher than the National 
average in the last 3 academic years for 
Overall Absence.

P
age 171

A
genda Item

 11



In Sefton in 2017 2.4% of Pupils had a 
Statement of Special Educational Needs or 
EHC Plan, compared to a national average 
of 2.8% 

In 2016/17 the rate of Family 
Homelessness was at 0.3 per 1000, 
nationally this was 1.9. This equates to a 
count of 31 households. For Young people 
aged 16 -24 this rate was 0.16 per 100,000 
in 2016/17 (19 individuals) below national 
average. 

In 2017 3.6% of our pupils had a Learning 
Disability (this figure has consistently been 
around 4% since 2013). 

In 2017 15.5 children in every 1000 pupils 
enrolled in one of Sefton’s state funded 
schools were recognised as having autistic 
spectrum disorders, this has risen from 
14.4 in 2015. Rates are continually higher 
than England and the North West  

Hospital Admissions for Mental Health 
Conditions are higher than national 
averages at 97.5 per 100,000 in 2016/17 
down from 146.6 in the previous year. 1 in 
10 Children are affected by Mental Health 
Problems. Self-Harm has increased and is 
higher than national averages 

The rate of NEET for 16 -24 years olds 
was at 4.5 % in 2017. This figure has 
improved between 2013 and 2017 but still 
remains higher than national averages. 

Children in Need per 10,000 in 2017 was 
348.8 (national rate 330.4) we continue 
see a rise in this figure. 

Children looked after rate per 10,00 was 
85 in 2017, compared to 61.7 nationally 
again this continues to rise. 

P
age 172

A
genda Item

 11



Child Protection Plan Rate per 10,000 in 
2017 was 44.0, nationally this was 43.3 

Child Sexual Exploitation referrals fluctuate 
with the highest count being 97 in Quarter 
4 of 2015/16 and the lowest 43 in Q3 of 
2016/17. 

First time entrants to the Youth Justice 
System aged 10 – 17 was at 220.2 in 2016 
this had fallen since 2012 when it was at 
578.7. The rates are below national 
averages 

The of Children living in poverty in 2017/18 
in Bootle was 28% before housing costs 
and 31% after housing costs, for Sefton 
Central this is recorded as 15 % and 19% 
and for Southport 21 % and 30%. 

P
age 173

A
genda Item

 11



About the plan
We have looked at the last plan and what is still important to our children, young people and their families.  This plan has been 
shaped by the analysis of our performance and progress to date, alongside the trends identified in the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) which allows us to establish trends across a wide range of data. This document builds on the previous plan 
which ran from 2015 to 2020, which was reviewed in 2018 to reflect the updated Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, it’s been 
regularly reported to the Health and Well Being Board in each one of the thematic areas and performance issues raised.

More importantly we have also listened and what children, young people and families tell us has led us to identify a number of 
priorities for action over the course of this Plan.
Through Consultation with a wide range of Youth Groups, Schools and Key Stakeholders and Professionals.   

We want every child and young person in Sefton to be healthier, happy and able to take advantage of opportunities that will help 
them reach their full potential and have, therefore, themed our priorities around the following headings: 

 Heard
 Happy 
 Healthy
 Achieving

Child health and wellbeing are dependent on supportive and safe homes; studies repeatedly show the importance of having at least 
one supportive caring adult to establishing childhood resilience. And this is critical so that children are able to bounce back when 
difficulty threatens that happiness. Through access to play, leisure, sport, cultural activities and positive interaction in families that 
spend time together, there are opportunities for happy memories to be made and resilient capacities to be built, all of which greatly 
enhance the foundation for happiness and lifelong wellbeing.  Our ambition is to improve outcomes for all children as we want to 
break the link between a person’s background and where they get to in life.  We will be child focussed, children and young people 
are our primary concern, we will listen and respond to children and young people and we will focus on strengths and building 
resilience.  We will support our children, young people and their families to lead healthy lifestyles and have good emotional 
wellbeing and mental health. We will do this through the actions in 12 priority areas under each of the headings happy, healthy, 
achieving and heard.  These are based on what the evidence in the JSNA and our consultation tells us we need to get better at. 

We have identified a short set of indicators where we want to see real positive change. There is a detailed action plan being 
developed in draft which describes the actions in terms of steps of delivery and impact.  Some of these we are able to deliver 

P
age 174

A
genda Item

 11



through the services we directly provide, and others require us to a combined effort to influence wider changes.  Importantly, we will 
always look at the story behind the data through the eyes and voice of children, young people and families.

P
age 175

A
genda Item

 11



Insert updated plan on a page (this is the last one and will be updated but gives a bit of an idea of what the visual look will be)

P
age 176

A
genda Item

 11



Heard
This is what heard is:

Every child has the right to express their views, feelings and wishes in all matters affecting them, and to have their views 
considered and taken seriously.
United Nations Convention on the rights of a child.  Article 12

These are our priorities:

Priority 1.  Ensure children’s voices 
are heard.  

Priority 2.  Engage with a wide range 
of youth networks and groups that 
support young people 

Priority 3.  Place children and young 
people at the core of decisions we 
make about them. 
 

We will give children and young people 
opportunities to be engaged in decision 
making processes and give them as 
much influence as possible.
Children and young people will be 
treated respectfully as we recognise 
that children, young people, parents 
and carers are experts by experience
We will take time to listen, it is a two-
way conversation.
We will do what we say we are going to 
do and recognise that involvement is a 
continuous process and not just a one 
off exercise..

We will work with children and young 
people to understand what works for 
them in terms of involvement and will 
we also accept. that children and young 
people are not always going to tell us 
what we want to hear – in the way we 
want to hear it
We will be respectful of difference and 
celebrate diversity.
Based on our localities model and 
primary care networks we will continue 
to provide universal services that are 
accessible to everyone in the borough.

We will ensure that children and young 
people will always be central to 
decisions we make about them and 
their journeys will be shaped by their 
voice and experience.  Children will be 
supported by professionals they trust 
who listen to them, made to feel their 
opinion is valued and take actions to 
meet their needs and tackle concerns 
they raise. 

Young people say: Everyone wants to feel safe (Imagine Sefton 2030).  Sefton value, we listen value and respect each others 
views.  Look at info from youth groups e.g. Symbol, Chameleons.

P
age 177

A
genda Item

 11



12

The actions we will take:

 We will ensure that children’s voices are represented on all Boards
 The support families receive helps to reduce concerns escalating
 We will help build tolerant communities that value all children and young people as members and ensure positive 

opportunities for them to contribute
 Listen to Children and Young People - Give children and young people opportunities to be engaged in decision making 

processes and give them as much influence as possible. 
 Ensure that barriers to participation and progress are addressed
 Look at multiple techniques and methods to ensure we can hear the voice of the child
 We will challenge poor practice and accept challenge constructively
 We will be joined up and inclusive and encourage equality of access to universal services. 
 Coproduce the SEND Joint Commissioning to ensure Parent Carers are a key part of quality assurance of progress against 

improvement plans. 
 Recommissioning of the advocacy service 
 Improve communication of ‘you said we did’ for example the establishment of a SEND Newsletter
 Work closely with the Young Peoples advisors at Sefton CVS and Key Youth Groups in the Borough to ask questions, clarify 

understanding and shape the landscape going forward. 

P
age 178

A
genda Item

 11



13

The measures that will tell us if we are making a difference

Children and young people express satisfaction with services (health, social care and offending)

Sampling of Board papers show the voice of the child had been considered 

Complaints reduce for the right reasons

Audits to clearly show the voice of the child 

Track Inspection views on co production improvements 

Annual reviews on your said we did as part of the Children Services Annual report and the Annual reviews of the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. 

P
age 179

A
genda Item

 11



14

Happy
This is what happy is:

Every child has the right to relax, play and take part in a wide range of cultural and artistic activities.  
United Nations Convention on the rights of a child, Article 31

These are our priorities.

Priority 4.  Ensure positive emotional 
health and wellbeing of children and 
young people by empowering families 
to be resilient.

Priority 5.  Protect those at risk of 
harm

Priority 6.  Encourage fun, happiness 
and enjoyment of life

We will create and promote children and 
young people’s emotional health and 
wellbeing by supporting them and their 
families to make positive choices.  We 
will have strength informed approaches 
to ensure engagement and strengthening 
of families including promoting healthy 
relationships.
We will improve access to the right 
support from the right service at the right 
time and build on the strength of families 
and their inclusive networks.

We want all children and young people to 
be safe and to feel safe.  We will help 
children live in safe and supportive 
families and ensure the most vulnerable 
are protected by tackling those factors 
which risk harming their life chances.  We 
will reduce the impact on children living in 
households which experience neglect, 
domestic abuse or parental substance 
use by the provision of a range of support 
and services.  We will prevent and 
safeguard all children from exploitation 
and safeguard individual children who are 
identified as at risk.
We will work to address the concerns 
expressed to us through the consultation 
on Gangs and Knife Crime in our 
communities.  

We want children and young people to 
live in a good environment that they can 
enjoy.  Sefton is a great place to live and 
grow up.  We have a wealth of resources 
and assets in the community such as the 
coast and green spaces that can be used 
for pleasure, sport and other leisure 
opportunities.

We will encourage and provide or 
commission a diverse range of culture, 
exercise and socially connective activities 
in our borough ensuring a One Council 
approach with Green Sefton and 
Localities. 

P
age 180

A
genda Item

 11



15

Young people say: Being near the river and coast makes me feel happy and well. Young People told us feeling safe has a direct 
link to feeling happy. “If you are happy all other things will fall into place” 

P
age 181

A
genda Item

 11



16

The actions we will take:

 Promote partnership working, joint commissioning and investing in children and young people’s futures –Joint commissioning 
and service delivery will enable partners to provide services which deliver improved Children and Young outcome.

 We will establish and deliver a Joint Children’s commissioning plan as part of the Integrated Commissioning group being clear 
on collective spend, collective demand, collective unmet need, and the services we want to jointly invest in. With an ambition 
to meet the needs of our Children and Young People in the most effective way.  

 Have a Family Approach – Utilising Early Intervention and Prevention services to help build resilience and strengthen 
protective factors in the lives of children and young people and their families

 Focus on prevention and timely support for children and young people`s mental health
 Work with the voluntary and community sector to develop vibrant communities that take responsibility for the aspirations, 

opportunities and achievements of their children and young people.
 Improve information and advice on access to play, leisure, sport and cultural opportunities for children and young people
 Reduce the impact on children and young people of living in households experiencing neglect by the provision of a range of 

support and services
 Improve access to emotional health and wellbeing support through the development of the THRIVE model, including self-

referral and implementation and impact management of the Emotional Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 Develop a confident and competent workforce – ensure all professionals working with children and young people have 

appropriate awareness and training and ongoing support to provide a graduated response to emotional health and wellbeing
 Use the Health and Wellbeing Board to monitor the impact of the area to ensure we are supporting an environment that 

encourages positive social connections, relationships and encourage resilience and confidence. 
 Continue the roll out of the ACEs working, reducing the impact of adverse Childhood experiences on future life chances. 

Working with families to increase the proportion of children experiencing a positive home life. 

P
age 182

A
genda Item

 11



17

The measures that will tell us if we are making a difference

The number of Child in Need 

The number of looked after children

The number of children subject to a child protection plan

Number of staff trained around Emotional Health and Wellbeing.

Rate of Open Early Help Assessments per 10k pop

CLA Pledge Survey - feel safe and cared for aged 5-9 (%)

CLA Pledge Survey - feel safe and cared for aged 10+ (%)P
age 183

A
genda Item

 11



18

Healthy
This is what healthy is:

Every child has the right to the best possible health, (United Nations Convention on the rights of a child, Article 24)

These are our priorities: 

Priority 7.  To enable positive mental 
health and Wellbeing through 
prevention where ever possible and to 
provide timely support and access to 
services when needed. 

Priority 8.  To Enable children’s health 
and development.

Priority 9.  Reduce health inequalities 
so children and young people can 
achieve good health.  

We will do all we can to identify problems 
early as we know the vast majority of 
mental health problems experienced in 
adult life emerge before young people 
reach adulthood.   We will ensure high 
quality specialist services for those who 
need them.
We will strengthen the protective factors 
of mental health and wellbeing by 
enabling children and young people to 
develop skills around building friendship, 
self-esteem, resilience and mindset.

We will promote positive health choices 
by parents, especially during pregnancy. 
We will encourage care that keeps 
children healthy and safe and promote 
children’s health and development.  
Where problems are identified in health 
and development they can get support as 
early as possible.  Focusing efforts on 
the 1st 1000 days and school readiness. 
We will encourage children and young 
people to achieve and maintain a healthy 
weight through education, support and 
commissioned services. 

We will endeavour to offer the right 
infrastructure to promote good health 
behaviours and reduce lifestyle factors 
that lead to early illness such as smoking 
and poor diet that will affect young 
people into adulthood.  
We will reduce a range of risk taking 
behaviours including, alcohol and other 
drug use and unhealthy Sexual Activity.
We will take a preventative approach to 
manage rising demand across education, 
health, social care and SEND from the 
earliest point in a child’s life through 
focused operational improvement in this 
area and ensuring the system works 
together, for example linking economic 
growth Agenda, Living Well Sefton and 
Active Sefton to contribute to the 
environment we need to achieve this 
priority. 

P
age 184

A
genda Item

 11



19

Young  people say: “I play rugby”; e.g. being fit and healthy (Sefton Imagine 2030), more youth friendly things for people to do
These are our priorities. The 2019 Health and Wellbeing Strategy Consultation identified the top issue under “Start Well, Grow 
Well” to be help Children and Young People with Mental Health Problems including problems with drink drugs and self harm. The 
CYPP consultation told us “if children are protected and preventions have been put in place children will have better mental health”

P
age 185

A
genda Item

 11



20

The actions we will take:

 Clearly measure and demonstrate Improved relevant Child Health Profile Indicators from the baseline PHE Child Health 
Profile for Sefton

 0-19 Public Health Nursing Service with contracted visits, namely, antenatal, birth, 6-8 weeks and developmental checks, to 
seek to demonstrate continuous improvement and a joined up service.

 Review and monitor relevant Child Profile Indicators to show we are impacting on these through focusing on our priorities 
 Quarterly 0-19 HCP monitoring will provide case studies
 Reflect impact of continuous improvement of delivery of the Integrated Young People and Families Substance Use Service 
 Reflect impact of continuous improvement of delivery of Sexual Health Services. 
 Use campaigns to increase awareness of the issues around alcohol such as Challenge 25 and Responsible Drinking 

campaigns
 Reduce hospital admissions for children and young people around alcohol by continuing to integrate and commission a model 

of drug and alcohol services that works across the system including early intervention and prevention.
 Undertake Licensing Reviews
 BFI Accreditation  and Implementation 
 Monitor the Active Sefton 0-19 delivery programme
 Deliver the North Mersey Prevention Programme
 NCMP – Screening and Identification of child who are outside range for healthy weight
 Develop locality profiles to understand what the current risks to young people are in terms of location, activity and people to 

ensure young people know about healthy relationships and issues relating to consent.
 Use the outcomes of the Sefton Emotional Health and Wellbeing Survey to deliver outcomes and improve the results. 
 Provide quality provision targeted to local needs and inequalities.
 Delivery of a Clean Air Strategy for Sefton. 
 Mental Health Service review and widescale integrated recommissioning plan that looks at the whole emotional Health and 

Wellbeing Offer. 
 Ensure the transitions work stream includes transitions from Primary to Secondary school and improve outcomes for this, as 

well as considering other transitions such as starting school, Further education and worklife.

P
age 186

A
genda Item

 11

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-overview/area-search-results/E08000014?place_name=Sefton&search_type=parent-area
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-overview/area-search-results/E08000014?place_name=Sefton&search_type=parent-area


21

 Review and co-ordinate healthy eating initiatives to ensure we have a borough wide offer that’s supports education about 
healthy eating and accessing to. 

 Ensure inclusivity of universal services by reviewing cooperate approach to equality and diversity for all services. 

P
age 187

A
genda Item

 11



22

The measures that will tell us if we are making a difference

Increase in the number of Looked After Children who have had all their immunisations from the starting point

Decrease in the number of children admitted to hospital with dental caries from the starting point

Increase in the number of babies breastfed from the starting point

Decrease in the number of women smoking during pregnancy from the starting point

Children and young people achieve and maintain a healthy weight

Reduce the alcohol related admissions for children and young people

% with good level of development in Early Years

% of Children and Young people diagnosed with a Mental Health condition, accessing NHS Funded Support

Decrease in access times for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)

P
age 188

A
genda Item

 11



23

Achieving
This is what achieving is:

Every child has the right to an education. Education must develop every child’s personality, talents and abilities to the full.  
United Nations Convention on the rights of a child, Articles 28 and 29

These are our priorities:

Priority 10.  Children are ready for 
school 

Priority 11.  Raise achievement and 
ensure young people have the life 
skills so they are well prepared for 
adulthood.  

Priority 12.  Children and young 
people with Special Educational Needs 
and/or disabilities achieve their full 
potential   

A great start will shape children’s lifelong 
health and wellbeing.  We will ensure that 
all children are ready for school with good 
social and emotional development.  We 
will secure and sustain better all-round 
outcomes for babies and children which 
narrows the gap between vulnerable 
children and others.  
We will take a preventative approach 
from the earliest point in a child’s life in 
order that we can identify problems in 
children’s health and development so 
they can get help with their problems as 
early as possible.  

We will have a clear understanding of the 
aspirations of our young people and what 
they have told us is important to them.  
We will respect and encourage the hopes 
and dreams of the children and young 
people we work with.
We know high quality education is the 
greatest liberator so want all pupils to 
make at least “good” progress in every 
year of their education.  We will ensure 
that all children attend good or better 
educational settings in Sefton and 
barriers to participation and progress are 
addressed.  There will be a broad and 
balanced curriculum equipping them with 
the life skills they need to be independent 
and successful as an adult.   These skills 
and opportunities to achieve will also 
value the contribution of sport, cultural, 

We want children with complex individual 
needs to have the best life chances.  We 
will enhance joint commissioning of 
support between education, health and 
care services for children with special 
educational needs and disabilities. To 
ensure services work together. We will 
ensure that all parts of the Sefton Send 
Local offer work together to meet the 
needs of children and young people with 
SEND and that they achieve their full 
potential and that people know the range 
of services available to them.  We will 
ensure all children have access to an 
educational setting that is appropriate to 
their needs, including those with SEND 
and social, emotional and behavioural 
difficulties.  We will from the earliest point 
in a child’s life encourage independence, 

P
age 189

A
genda Item

 11



24

social and health education in preparing 
young people for their future.  When 
preparing for adulthood we will have 
pathways to employment that ensure they 
are moving towards good quality 
sustainable work.  We will focus on 
ensuring our children leave school with 
the right skills such as financial 
management, how to deal with bullying 
and citizenship. 

where appropriate, and ensure families 
have timely access to support so their 
experience improves and the needs of 
their children are identified early and met.
We will encourage equalities of access to 
universal services so all Children and 
Young People with SEND and/or Autism 
can gain maximum benefit from what 
Sefton has to offer. 

Through our consultation of this plan Young people told us we need to instil the right life skills and not judge young people by 
numbers and grades only. 

P
age 190

A
genda Item

 11



25

The actions we will take:  

 Children exceed the expected level against each of the early learning goals. 
 Disadvantaged children attain in line with all other children
 EYFS data is utilised to influence outcomes for social and emotional development
 Pupils develop strong phonics, reading and writing skills in early primary years.
 Pupils make good levels of progress by the end of school.
 All pupils attend a school which is good or outstanding (as defined by Ofsted).
 Young people leave school with the skills and qualifications to access training, apprenticeships and employment. 
 Young people achieve the highest grades in further education to access additional learning opportunities.
 Young people have flexible skills to access jobs in future growth areas.
 Work will take place with local colleges to improve access to learning opportunities
 Leadership and governance inspection judgements are good or outstanding (as defined by Ofsted
 The Local Offer will be kept up to date and refreshed regularly to ensure we are providing good information, advice and 

guidance to young people and their families. We will promote its use. 
 Continue to provide universal services with a focus on specific groups and communities and equality of access for all 
 We will work to a SEND Improvement Plan and a SEND Joint Commissioning Plan and ensure deliver against our ambitions for 

an improved service in this area. 
 Work with Skills and Employment resources to offer meaningful opportunities for training, apprenticeships and employment.  

P
age 191

A
genda Item

 11



26

The measures that will tell us if we are making a difference

% with good achievement at the end of primary school

% gaining 5 good GCSEs including English and Maths

Level 3 qualifications at 19

Achievement gaps at 5, 11,16 and 19 years

Primary and secondary school attendance

% of Young People NEET/not known

% of new school places in “Good” and “Outstanding” schools

Destinations of CYP and SEND

Number of exclusions from school

Reduction in waiting times for Speech and Language Therapy 

Reduction in the length of time to move along the Autism Pathway. 

P
age 192

A
genda Item

 11



27

P
age 193

A
genda Item

 11



28

Delivering our Visions 

We have an overarching aim of ensuring as many of our children as possible are happy health, achieving and heard, the Children 
and Young Peoples plan is delivered thorough the work of the Children’s Improvement Board and operational service improvement 
plans and through the development of a robust Integrated Commissioning plan. The Commissioning plan will be clear of our 
demand, supply and unmet need and our intentions to work with the market, and how we manage the complex range of services 
across the Council, Health and wider partners to meet the needs of our Children within the challenging budget envelope, working 
on a regional basis where the benefits are clear and ensure seamless delivery of services whether the need is health or Social 
Care in the most effective way.  

Commissioning when undertaken at a strategic level and in conjunction with partners, rather than being limited to procuring or 
purchasing or just solely Council services can make real changes to the service we can offer our Children and Young People. 
Commissioning should be concerned with configuring services to meet the overall needs of a given population. It is a cycle rather 
than a “one-off” activity, including a sequence of specifying, securing, and monitoring services. We are committed to work in 
partnership with health and wider partners to deliver effective commissioning, co-ordination, integration and delivery of services to 
Children and Young People, in order to support them to achieve the best possible outcomes in life. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board (incorporating our Children’s Trust) gives overarching vision through the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and oversees the delivery of the Children and Young Peoples Plan. Its gives overarching Governance and Accountability 
with membership from across Health, Social Care, the third sector and plans to include Police and Housing.  The Integrated 
Commissioning Group is a sub group of the board and is responsible for holding the system of Health and Care to account and 
driving forward the delivery of the Health and Well Being Strategy and the system wide delivery of Health and Care services for 
Sefton. It is responsible for the delivery of a current integrated budget of £48 million and has identified integrated Commissioning of 
Children’s services as a key area of its work, this will include continuing Care process. Mental Health and SEND Service, as well as 
work to reduce demand, the need over time to reprofile services to better support prevention and Early help and to deliver our 
services in as part of an aligned whole pathway across Health and Children’s Services.

The Children’s Commissioning workstream of the Integrated Commissioning Group made up of key Commissioners across, Health 
and Education will need to deliver a clear programme managed response to the delivery of a Commissioning plan for Sefton. 

P
age 194

A
genda Item

 11



29

We have a wealth of information on what our needs are now is the time to be clear on how we review and redesign our offer to 
maximise our combined ability to meet them 

Outcome Measures:

we propose that we deliver a robust set of performance matrix to ensure the vision affects and is felt by our residents especially the 
most vulnerable. This will be based on the following:

P
age 195

A
genda Item

 11



30

1.1 EYFS (ALL): % Ach 

P
age 196

A
genda Item

 11



31

Sefton Council - Children's Strategy Score Card (Page 1)

2.5 Immunisations - Hib/MenC booster at 2 years old 
(%)

1.10 Proportion of Pupils NEET - 3 month average 
(Academic age 16-17)

1.5 KS4 (ALL): Progress 8

2.3 Obesity - BMI - Year 6
1.8 Proportion ALL Secondary Pupils Absent more than 

10%
1.3 KS2 (ALL): % Achieving Expected Standard (Test 

RWM)

1.4 KS2 (SEN = S&E): % Achieving Expected Standard 
(Test RWM)

1.9 Proportion ALL Special Schools Pupils Absent more 
than 10%

2.4 Immunisations - DTAP/IPV/HIB at 1 year old (%)

1.2 EYFS (SEN = S&E): % Achieving a Good Level of 
Development

1.6 KS4 (SEN = S&E): Progress 8

1.7 Proportion ALL Primary Pupils Absent more than 
10%

2.2 Obesity - BMI - Reception

2.6 Proportion of Mothers Smoking at Time of Delivery 
(SATOD) - %

2.7 Hospital admissions - injuries in children aged 0-14 
(rate per 10,000 pop)

1.1 EYFS (ALL): % Achieving a Good Level of 
Development

2.8 Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions - 
Under 18s

2.9 Teenage Conception Rate per 1000

2.10 Immunisation - MMR for 2 doses at 5 years old (%)

2.1 Breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks 

55

60

65

70

75

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

England NW LCR Sefton

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

0

20

40

60

80

100

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

0

5

10

15

20

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

-0.4

-0.3

-0.2

-0.1

0
15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

-1.4

-1.2

-1

-0.8

-0.6

-0.4

-0.2

0
15/16 16/17 17/18

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14

Dec-13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

0

5

10

15

20

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

0

2

4

6

8

10

Jun-Aug 15 Jun-Aug 16 Jun-Aug 17 Jun-Aug 18

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

0.0%
2.0%
4.0%
6.0%
8.0%

10.0%
12.0%
14.0%

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

13/14 14/15 15/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

86

88

90

92

94

96

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

0

50

100

150

200

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

11/12 - 13/14 12/13 - 14/15 13/14 - 15/16 14/15 - 16/17 15/16 - 17/18

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

75

80

85

90

95

100

13/14 14/15 15/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

P
age 197

A
genda Item

 11



32

ieving a Good Level of Development

P
age 198

A
genda Item

 11



33

Sefton Council - Children's Strategy Score Card (Page 2)

3.5 Proportion of CLA with Dental Checks
3.10 CLA Pledge Survey - Get enough support at School 

Aged 10+ (%)
4.5 Self-harm hospital admission (10-24 yr olds) - rate 

per 100,000 pop

4.8 CLA Pledge Survey - feel safe and cared for aged 5-9 
(%)

3.4 % of LAC pupils with at least one fixed term 
exclusion

3.9 CLA Pledge Survey - Get enough support at School 
aged 5-9 (%)

4.4 Proportion of pupils with social/emotional/mental 
health needs

4.9 CLA Pledge Survey - feel safe and cared for aged 10+ 
(%)

3.3 Rate of Open Early Help Episodes per 10k pop 3.8 % Care Leavers (19-21) NEET 4.3 % CYP with a diagnosable mental health condition receiving 
treatment from NHS funded community services

4.6 Percentage of 10-17 Year Olds Offending

3.2 Rate of CPP per 10k pop
3.7 % of CLA Achieving a Expected Standard in English 

and Maths at KS4
4.2 Percentage of 2 year old children benefitting from 

funded early education
4.7 Youth Qualifier Antisocial Behaviour per 1k pop

3.1 Rate of Children Looked After (CLA) per 10k pop
3.6 % of CLA Achieving a Expected Standard in Reading, 

Writing & Maths at KS2
4.1 Percentage of children in Low Income Families

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

0

100

200

300

400

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

0

5

10

15

2014 2015 2016 2017

0

20

40

60

80

100

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

15/16 16/17 17/18

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

16/17 17/18

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

75

80

85

90

95

100

2016 2017 2018 2019

0

20

40

60

80

100

2016 2017 2018 2019

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

2013 2014 2015 2016

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2016 2017 2018 2019

0

1

2

3

4

5

Q4 16/17 Q1 17/18 Q2 17/18

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

2015 2016 2017 2018

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

0

20

40

60

80

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

90

92

94

96

98

100

102

2016 2017 2018 2019

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

2016 2017 2018 2019

England NW LCR Sefton

P
age 199

A
genda Item

 11



34

P
age 200

A
genda Item

 11



Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 4 
December 2019

Subject: Continuing Care Protocol

Report of: Head of Children's 
Social Care

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Children, Schools and Safeguarding

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

This paper presents to the Board the final version of the Children and Young People’s 
Joint Continuing Care Protocol for South Sefton CCG, Southport and Formby CCG, 
Sefton Council and the Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit

The paper presents a summary of Continuing Care and the process of development of 
this protocol and the next steps for the continued development of the process in Sefton 

Recommendation(s):

(1) The board note the content of the paper 

(2) The board approve the adoption of the protocol for Sefton. 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The protocol supports the delivery of Social Care, Education and Health to Children with 
complex needs in Sefton. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not applicable 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Page 201

Agenda Item 12



The correct application of the protocol will ensure the most appropriate funding body 
meets the needs of Children and Young People in Sefton, this will result in a legal 
process to adopt joint funding responsibilities between the Council and the CCG. 

(B) Capital Costs

Not applicable. 

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: The protocol will support appropriate service delivery to our 
most vulnerable Children and Young People 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: The protocol will support appropriate 
service delivery to our most vulnerable Children and Young People

Commission, broker and provide core services: The protocol will support the correct 
Commissioning, brokerage and provision of service based on need. 

Place – leadership and influencer: The protocol sets out the roles and responsibilities 
for Social Care and Health for this group of Children and Young People. 

Drivers of change and reform: The protocol will ensure improved service delivery. 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable 

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable

Cleaner Greener Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

Page 202

Agenda Item 12



The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5863/19) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD4097/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

The protocol has been developed by a multi-disciplinary working group of 
representatives from all organisations listed in the body of the report. 
  
Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Board meeting and concurrent CCG Governing body approval. 

Contact Officer: Eleanor Moulton
Telephone Number: 07779162882 
Email Address: eleanor.moulton@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

 Continuing Care Protocol.
 Looked after child Standard Operating Procedure. 

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Background

1.1 Definition of children and young people’s continuing care: 
A continuing care package will be required when a child or young person has 
needs arising from disability, accident or illness that cannot be met by existing 
universal or specialist services alone.

1.2 Some children and young people (up to their 18th birthday), may have very 
complex health needs. These may be the result of congenital conditions, long-
term or life-limiting or life-threatening conditions, disability, or the after-effects of 
serious illness or injury 

1.3 These needs may be so complex, that they cannot be met by the services which 
are routinely available from GP practices, hospitals or in the community 
commissioned by clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) or NHS England. A 
package of additional health support may be needed. This additional package of 
care has come to be known as continuing care.

Page 203

Agenda Item 12



1.4 Continuing care is not needed by children or young people whose needs can be 
met appropriately through existing universal or specialist services through a case 
management approach.

2. Introduction

2.1This report presents a Children and Young People’s Joint Continuing Care   
Protocol for South Sefton CCG, Southport and Formby CCG, Sefton Council and 
Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit. 

2.2 The protocol sets out the arrangements for joint operational management of 
Children’s Continuing Care between the relevant Health and Social Care 
organisations in Sefton. 

2.3 The protocol sets out the principles for the operational management of Children 
and Young People who have complex health needs for who the CCGs of Sefton, 
Southport and Formby are responsible for. Midlands and Lancashire 
Commissioning Support Unit (MLCSU) will act on behalf of the CCGs and carry 
out all necessary processes, and will work jointly with the Local Authority (LA) who 
are Sefton Council, (inclusive of social care and education) to understand and 
manage those children and young people who have a continuing care need; and 
require a package of support.

2.4 Continuing Care is a general term that describes a package of care that is 
individually tailored to meet a child or young person’s complex health needs, 
defined through a robust assessment process:

‘arising as a result of a disability, accident or illness that cannot be met by existing 
universal or specialist services alone’ 

This applies to children and young people aged between 0-17 years who may 
have one or a combination of the following:

• physical disability
• mental health needs
• learning disability
• end of life needs

2.5 Whilst a child or young person may be identified as having Continuing Care health 
needs, it is important to understand that predominantly (and for the majority) they 
may have a combination of health, education and social care needs, that require 
the relevant agencies to work together providing joint arrangement and 
management of the support needed. 

3. The Protocol:

3.1 The protocol will demonstrate how the CCG’s and LA will work together to support 
children and young people through to adulthood with complex health needs, 
utilising the National Framework for Children and Young People’ Continuing Care 
(2016) as guidance. 

Page 204

Agenda Item 12



3.2 This protocol is not driven by financial gain, it requires multi-agency involvement 
and joint working approach to understand the needs of children and young people; 
first and foremost. The protocol does however set out the process for establishing 
joint funding arrangements and the governance for this. 

3.3 The joint protocol shows how the CCG’s and Local Authority are integrating the 
Education Health Care Plan (EHCP) and Continuing Care processes, and where a 
child or young person has a special educational need or disability the CCG’s and 
LA will jointly endeavour to coordinate the assessment and agreement of the 
package of Continuing Care, as part of the process to develop the child’s 
Education, Health and Care Plan’. We will need to ensure this is built into the 
SEND Continuous Improvement work as part of the roll out of this protocol.  

3.4 The protocol has been developed through multi-agency agreement and 
demonstrates how children and young people with complex needs, requiring a 
Continuing Care package of support, can expect local agencies to work together 
to provide support through a structured equitable and transparent process. Each 
partner organisation must support a child or young person with complex needs 
according to individual assessment, and in line with their statutory functions; 
thereafter providing a local offer of support. 

3.5 Children and young people with complex health needs who live at home with their 
parents will have their care mainly provided by them. However, it is recognised 
that some parents may require help and support via a package of care within the 
home (or other suitable environment), or their child may need support outside of 
their home. The protocol will show how multi-agencies work together to enable 
parents to continue looking after and caring for their child.

3.6 Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (MLCSU) acting on behalf 
of South Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), and Southport and Formby 
CCG, and will take direction from the CCG’s in relation to local 
agreements/arrangements made between Sefton Council and the CCG’s. 
However, MLSCU will also act in accordance within national and local guidance, 
legislation and assurances of clinical governance to provide assurances of safe 
healthcare delivery via commissioned packages of care, (if this is not feasible, for 
valid reasons MLCSU will escalate to the CCG’s).

3.7 The protocol must be read in conjunction with national policy and guidance, and 
the mutually agreed joint local arrangements within appendices developed jointly 
between the CCG’s, LA and MLCSU.

4.The development process: 

4.1 In 2018 a working group made up of the following key professionals was 
established with a view to achieving clarity on the correct process and appropriate 
application for continuing Health Care Services in Sefton to ensure Children and 
Young People are receiving the right service at the right time to meet their needs 
and achieve the best possible outcomes for them. 

The working group membership included: 

CCG Commissioning Manager Council Commissioning Officers
Page 205

Agenda Item 12



Children’s Complex Care Specialist Nurse Strategic Lead for Children and Young 
People’s Continuing Care (MLCSU)

Service Manager Corporate Parenting Children’s Complex Care Specialist Nurse
Integrated Social Care and Health 
Manager

Deputy Chief Nurse

Registered Manager Springbrook Service Manager Locality
Locality Manager for Children with 
Disabilities

Assistant Manager Springbrook

Lead SEN Officer. Interim Head of Adult Social Care

4.2 Alongside the protocol a Standard Operating Procedure for considerations and 
steps prior to the application of continuing care has been established. 

5.Next steps 

5.1 Training;  

Key individuals within Children Social Care teams, namely the Looked After 
Children lead, and Children’s Disability locality managers have attended the 
Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit training sessions on 
Continuing Care. Once this has been completed an evaluation of the ability to 
adequately equip our staff on the required legislative knowledge will be made and 
an options appraisal of any further requirements in line with recent Adult Social 
Care legal training on Continuing Health Care will be carried out. 

5.2 Further development
The protocol identifies a number of supporting standard operating procedures that 
will be developed in line with national best practice will be continued. These are 
identified in the appendices of the protocol. This work will continue with the 
established group 

5.3 The process has identified a number of areas to be taken forward by the 
Children’s Commissioning workstream of the Integrated Commissioning Group, 
this includes foe ample a review of existing mental health services, these will be 
detailed and approved as part of the establishment of the Children and Young 
Peoples plan 2020 – 2025. 

5.4 Joint Funding Panel operation; 
A joint panel made up of the key individuals involved in the delivery of services to 
children identified as eligible for Continuing Care has been established which is 
chaired by an Early Intervention and Prevention Locality manager for Central 
Sefton. This will continue and includes the tracking of Children’s and the service 
outcomes achieved. 

6. Conclusion 

It is hoped that this protocol will be instrumental in ensuring our Children and Young 
People in Sefton receive the right service, at the right time to meet there needs and 
achieve the best possible outcomes for them. It is a significant step in achieving a more 
integrated streamlined Health and Social Care service for Children and Young People in 
Sefton. 

Page 206

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 1

Children and Young People’s

Joint Continuing Care Protocol

South Sefton CCG

Southport and Formby CCG

Sefton Council

Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support 
Unit

Page 207

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 2

Author: Sefton Council, South Sefton CCG and Southport and Formby CCG, 
Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit

Responsibility: Sefton Council, South Sefton CCG and Southport and Formby CCG, 
Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit

Effective date:

Review date due:

Approved by:

Date Ratified:

Version Number: Draft v.13

Page 208

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 3

PROTOCOL DEVELOPMENT PROCESS
Names of those involved in protocol development:

Name Designation Email
Sarah Austin 
(contributed up 
to version 5)

Commissioning Officer Sarah.Austin@sefton.gov.uk 

Peter Wong 
(contributed up 
to version 5)

Commissioning Manager Peter.Wong@southseftonccg.nhs.uk 

Michele Brooks Strategic Lead for Children 
and Young People’s 
Continuing Care (MLCSU)

michele.brooks@nhs.net 

Louise Gettings Children’s Complex Care 
Specialist Nurse

louisegettings@nhs.net 

Ingrid Bell Children’s Complex Care 
Specialist Nurse

ingrid.bell1@nhs.net 

Claire Hampson Children’s Complex Care 
Specialist Nurse

Peter Yates Service Manager Corporate 
Parenting 

Peter.Yates@sefton.gov.uk 

Brendan 
Prescott

Deputy Chief Nurse Brendan.Prescott@southseftonccg.nhs.uk 

Eleanor Moulton Integrated Social Care and 
Health Manager

Eleanor.Moulton@sefton.gov.uk 

Rosanna Stanley Service Manager Locality Rosanna.Stanley@sefton.gov.uk 
Louise Bellamy Locality Manager for Children 

with Disabilities

Diane Williams Registered Manager 
Springbrook

Diane.Williams@sefton.gov.uk 

Richard Potts Assistant Manager 
Springbrook

Richard.Potts@sefton.gov.uk 

Cathy Lampard Locality Manager for Children 
with Disabilities

Cathy.Lampard@sefton.gov.uk 

Rhian Kilpatrick Commissioning Officer Rhian.Kilpatrick@sefton.gov.uk 
Ailsa Nile Interim Head of Adult Social 

Care
Alisa.Nile@sefton.gov.uk 

Page 209

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Sarah.Austin@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.Wong@southseftonccg.nhs.uk
mailto:michele.brooks@nhs.net
mailto:louisegettings@nhs.net
mailto:ingrid.bell1@nhs.net
mailto:Peter.Yates@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:Brendan.Prescott@southseftonccg.nhs.uk
mailto:Eleanor.Moulton@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:Rosanna.Stanley@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:Diane.Williams@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:Richard.Potts@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:Cathy.Lampard@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:Rhian.Kilpatrick@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:Alisa.Nile@sefton.gov.uk


V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 4

Names of those consulted regarding protocol approval:
Name Designation Email
Jacqui Kerr Team Manager Assessment, Resource 

and Provision Planning, Sefton SEN & 
Inclusion Service

Jacqueline.Kerr@sefton.gov.uk

Debra Vis Educational Psychologist Debra.Vis@sefton.gov.uk 

Equality Impact Assessment

The National Framework for Children and Young People’s Continuing Care (2016) identifies 
that:

‘The continuing care process should be (and be seen to be) fair, consistent, transparent, 
culturally sensitive, and non-discriminatory’

The Equality Act came into force from October 2010 providing a modern, single legal 
framework with clear law to better tackle disadvantage and discrimination.

This protocol is observant of the relevant legislation which guides us to apply fairness, equity 
and act in a non-discriminatory manner always, and recognises each child and young 
person’s individual identity throughout the various stages of the Continuing Care process.

The PSED (Public Sector Equality Duty 2011) applies in respect of all the protected 
characteristics (including children), except that the duties to advance equality and foster 
good relations do not apply to marriage or civil partnership.

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-
guidance#h2

Through the adoption of: Equality Impact and Risk Assessment (EIRA) scrutiny process for 
due regard consideration; the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS v2); and through 
developing an Annual Equality and Inclusion Publication we aim to transparently 
demonstrate to our communities how we are meeting the three aims of the General Equality 
Duty:

Aim 1: Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 

Aim 2: Advance equality of opportunity between different groups

Aim 3: Foster good relations between different groups.

Due regard will be made to any child or young person who is identified within the protected 
characteristics, and steps will be taken to support where and when required throughout the 
applicable aspects of the process of Continuing Care. Liaison with universal, specialist 
services, independent or additionally commissioned services, will be required to enable the 
effective support and management of children and young people who are identified, or 

Page 210

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Jacqueline.Kerr@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:Debra.Vis@sefton.gov.uk
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance#h2
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance#h2


V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 5

identify under the protected characteristics. Where necessary CCG/LA policies or local 
arrangements will be used to additionally provide support, maintain safety i.e. safeguarding 
policy.

The Equality Impact assessment can be found in appendix 1, and when reading the protocol, 
the reader must be cognisant of the impact assessment and its relation to the Continuing Care 
process and Framework principles and guidance.

Protocol to be read in conjunction with all relevant policy and guidance, including the 
following (list not exhaustive): 

 National Framework for Children and Young People’s Continuing Care (March 2016) 
 The Children’s Act (2014)  
 Haringey Judgement (2005) 
 Every Child Matters (2005) 
 Every Disabled Child Matters 
 Together from the Start (2003) 
 NHS Record Keeping Standards 
 NMC Code of Practice (2015) 
 Early Support Programme 
 Gillick v West Norfolk and Wisbech Area Health Authority (1985) 
 The National Health Service Act (2006) 
 The National Health Service (Nursing Care in Residential Accommodation) 

(Amendment) (England) Directions (2009) 

 National framework for NHS continuing healthcare and NHS-funded nursing care 
(2018)

 Coughlan Judgment (1999) 
 NHS Constitution 
 SEND Code of Practice 
 Children and Families Act (2014) 
 Personal Health Budget Policy (MLCSU, CCG)
 Health and Social Care Act (2012)
 Direct Payments Act and Regulations (2010)
 Short Breaks Regulations (2011)

Page 211

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 6

Abbreviations

CC Continuing Care
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group
LA Local Authority
MLCSU Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit
EOL End of Life
CLA Child Looked After
SEND Special Educational Needs and Disability
EHCP Education Health Care Plan
CHC Continuing Health Care
CCCSN Children’s Continuing Care Specialist Nurse
PHB Personal Health Budget

For those reading the document the following will need to be taken into consideration:

 Parents and Carers will be known as ‘Parents’ for the purpose of this protocol
 The transition phase/period from 14 years old to adulthood will be identified as 

transition, however it is recognised that this is a time whereby the young person 
moving through a period of time and is preparing for adulthood

 The term ‘residential placement’ should be read to include residential and educational 
placement, and noted that there is a difference between residential and therapeutic 
placements, which is further described in the protocol

 Any reference to the Local Authority will be inclusive of social care and education, 
unless stated otherwise

 Any future revisions and issue of the Children and Young People’s National Framework 
will be reviewed by the Joint Panel (Multi-agency), and relevant amendments made to 
local protocol as deemed necessary

Page 212

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 7

Executive Summary: 

This protocol sets out the principles for the operational management of Children and Young 
People who have complex health needs for who the CCGs’ of Sefton, Southport and Formby 
are responsible for. Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (MLCSU) will act 
on behalf of the CCG’s and carry out all necessary processes, and will work jointly with the 
Local Authority (LA) who are Sefton Council, (inclusive of social care and education) to 
understand and manage those children and young people who have a continuing care need; 
and require a package of support.

Continuing Care is a general term that describes a package of care that is individually 
tailored to meet a child or young person’s complex health needs, defined through a robust 
assessment process:

‘arising as a result of a disability, accident or illness that cannot be met by existing universal 
or specialist services alone’1

This applies to children and young people aged between 0-17 years who may have one or a 
combination of the following:

 physical disability
 mental health needs
 learning disability
 end of life needs

Whilst a child or young person may be identified as having Continuing Care health needs, it is 
important to understand that predominantly (and for the majority) they may have a 
combination of health, education and social care needs, that require the relevant agencies to 
work together providing joint arrangement and management of the support needed. 

The protocol will demonstrate how the CCG’s and LA will work together to support children 
and young people through to adulthood with complex health needs, utilising the National 
Framework for Children and Young People’ Continuing Care (2016) as guidance. 

This protocol is not driven by financial gain, it requires multi-agency involvement and joint 
working approach to understand the needs of children and young people; first and foremost. 

1 DHSC (2016) National Framework for Children and Young People’s Continuing Care

Page 213

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 8

A care package should not be reduced on the grounds of cost without a full equality analysis 
of impact.

The joint protocol shows how the CCG’s and Local Authority are integrating the Education 
Health Care Plan (EHCP) and Continuing Care processes, and where a child or young person 
has a special educational need or disability (SEND) the CCG’s and LA will jointly endeavour to 
coordinate the assessment and agreement of the package of Continuing Care, as part of the 
process to develop the child’s Education, Health and Care Plan’. 

The protocol has been developed through multi-agency agreement and demonstrates how 
children and young people with complex needs, requiring a Continuing Care package of 
support, can expect local agencies to work together to provide support through a structured 
equitable and transparent process. Each partner organisation must support a child or young 
person with complex needs according to individual assessment, and in line with their 
statutory functions; thereafter providing a local offer of support. 

Children and young people with complex health needs who live at home with their parents 
will have their care mainly provided by them. However, it is recognised that some parents 
may require help and support via a package of care within the home, or other suitable 
environment. The protocol will show how multi-agencies will work with parents and families 
enabling them to continue looking after and caring for their child.

Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (MLCSU) acting on behalf of South 
Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), and Southport and Formby CCG, and will take 
direction from the CCG’s in relation to local agreements/arrangements made between Sefton 
Council and the CCG’s. However, MLSCU will also act in accordance within national and local 
guidance, legislation and assurances of clinical governance to provide assurances of safe 
healthcare delivery through care package procurement and commissioning process. If this is 
not feasible for valid reasons, MLCSU will escalate to the CCG’s.

This protocol must be read in conjunction with national policy and guidance, and the mutually 
agreed joint local arrangements within appendices developed jointly between the CCG’s, LA 
and MLCSU.

Page 214

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 9

Contents

Definition ..................................................................................................................................10

Protocol Background .................................................................................................................10

Purpose of the Protocol .............................................................................................................12

Parental Responsibility ..............................................................................................................12

Leadership and Accountability for the Continuing Care Process .....................................................13

Specialist Clinician/Nurse Involvement..........................................................................................14

PROCESS OUTLINE AND PATHWAY ................................................................................................15

Identification and Pre-Assessment (Checklist)............................................................................15

Full Assessment .........................................................................................................................16

Decision Making ........................................................................................................................18

Arrangement of Provision..........................................................................................................18

Funding .....................................................................................................................................20

Reviews .....................................................................................................................................21

Changes to Care Package provision............................................................................................22

Contribution Via Continuing Care Eligibility for CYP in Residential/Therapeutic Environments ......22

Therapeutic definition ...............................................................................................................23

Crisis Management (behavioural/mental health needs).............................................................24

Crisis Management (home care packages) .................................................................................25

Special Educational Needs and Continuing Care.............................................................................25

Panel Member Disputes ................................................................................................................26

Hospital Discharge Requiring Assessment......................................................................................26

Children and Young People Requiring Hospital Admission (Current Continuing Care Cases)...........27

Fast-Track (End of Life Care) ..........................................................................................................28

Short Breaks and Respite...............................................................................................................29

Transition......................................................................................................................................29

Personal Health Budgets (PHBs) ....................................................................................................31

Training and Competency Oversight ..............................................................................................32

Appendices ...................................................................................................................................33

Page 215

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 10

INTRODUCTION
Definition

Children and Young People’s Continuing Care is defined within the framework as:

Some children and young people may have very complex health needs. These may be the 
result of congenital conditions, long-term or life-limiting or life-threatening conditions, 

disability, or the after-effects of serious illness or injury1

A Continuing Care package and specialist equipment will be required when a child or 
young person has needs arising from disability, accident or illness that cannot be met by 

existing universal or specialist services alone1

The framework recognises the complexity of needs of some children and young people that 
cannot be met by the services, which are routinely available in the community, in hospitals or 
from GP practices, commissioned by Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) or NHS England 
(e.g. specialist services). Continuing Care describes the development of a package of care to 
support those complex health needs and further describes that:

Children with complex needs may not only need support from health services. They may 
also have special educational needs and need support from social care. Unless there is a 
good reason for this not to happen, continuing care should be part of a wider package of 
care, agreed and delivered by collaboration between health, education and social care1

Following agreement on the package of care the CCG and (where relevant), the local 
authority make necessary arrangements to deliver the care package1

The National Framework shows how CCGs and Local Authorities should “work together”, 
“collaborate” and “develop a multi-agency understanding of a child’s needs”. This protocol 
will show how South Sefton CCG, Southport and Formby CCG and Sefton Council, and other 
agencies will work jointly together to meet the needs of children and young people with ‘very 
complex’ health needs. 

Protocol Background

The National Framework for Continuing Care Needs of Children and Young People was first 
published by the Department of Health in March 2010. This was superseded by The National 
Framework for Children and Young People’s Continuing Care in January 2016. The revised 
framework addressed changes to the NHS commissioning arrangements that resulted from 

Page 216

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 11

the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the integrated approach to commissioning services 
for children and young people with SEND, arising from the Children and Families Act 2014. 

Where a child or young person has a SEND, the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) and Local 
Authorities (LA) will endeavour to coordinate the assessment and agreement of the package 
of Continuing Care, as part of the process to develop the child’s Education, Health and Care 
Plan. Whilst a child or young person may be identified as having Continuing Care needs, it is 
important to understand that predominantly the child or young person may have joint health 
and social care packages; within the SEN Code of Practice joint commissioning arrangements. 
In addition, there may be a requirement to form a tri-partite arrangement for a package of 
care and support, between health, social care and education.

The National Framework supports CCGs to determine if a package of Continuing Care is 
needed and promotes a consistent approach to making equitable decisions regarding the 
commissioning of care packages for children and young people that have complex health 
needs, that cannot be met through provision of universal and specialist services alone. The 
revisions to the framework in January 2016 provide greater clarity regarding roles and 
responsibilities of the Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT), Transition to Adult Services, Personal 
Health Budgets (PHB’s) and the interface between Continuing Care and the Education, Health 
and Care Plan (EHCP) process.

Continuing Care for Children and Young People applies from birth to 17 years old, with the 
National Framework for NHS Continuing Healthcare and NHS Funded Nursing Care (2018) 
applying from their 18th birthday. The frameworks are different with the children's 
framework reflecting the specific contexts and needs of children, young people through 
transition and then into adulthood using different criterion to gauge eligibility of a Continuing 
Care need prior to the age of 18.

The children’s framework requires decisions based on the assessed complex health needs of 
the child or young person, using four key areas of evidence included in the Decision Support 
Tool (DST). It does not give guidance on the amount of provision or funding of the actual 
package of care. The national framework is not financially led.

Since April 2014 every child and young person in receipt of Continuing Care, or EHCP, has a 
right to ask for a Personal Health Budget, including a Direct Payment with adequate brokerage 
and clinical governance (assurances of safe support provision). This protocol aims to address 
this along with other aspects of local custom and practice that have developed in response to 
need, by formalising locally agreed ways of joint working to implement the Continuing Care 

Page 217

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 12

Framework, thereby ensuring that Local Authority, Health and Care practitioners understand 
how and when to request additional support.

Support will be provided by each agency involved, derived from either local offers, standalone 
assessments or combined assessments (where possible). This support will be described to 
parents, the child or young person after assessment/s have been performed, and wherever 
possible provision will be combined. 

The whole Continuing Care process is underpinned by good communication and 
commitment of professionals involved with the child or young person.

Purpose of the Protocol 

This protocol aims to:

I. Describe the local Continuing Care process for Sefton Social Care, Health and 
Education and interpretation of the framework

II. Ensure a fair and equitable approach is applied to all children and young 
people with complex health needs who are eligible for Continuing Care

III. Ensure a joint, transparent and consistent approach to assessing and 
responding to needs within EHCP’s

IV. Clarify the role and responsibilities within the Continuing Care process
V. Equip local practitioners with the knowledge and tools to follow the process

VI. Clarify the remit and responsibilities of the panel involved in the Continuing 
Care process including processes for appeals by children, young people 
families and inter-agency disputes

VII. Clarify local funding arrangements
VIII. Clarify the local approach to commissioning

IX. Clarify local arrangements and processes for transitioning children and young 
people with continuing care needs to adult services 

X. Describe the local approach to Personal Health Budgets (PHBs)

Parental Responsibility

The NHS takes the view that parents will take an active part in caring for their child unless the 
parents can specifically demonstrate (through the production of relevant evidence) that there 
are exceptional circumstances that preclude them from providing a reasonable level of care. 
This will be balanced with the social care assessed need, especially where the Local Authority 
may have shared or corporate parenting responsibilities.

Page 218

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 13

The first edition of the National Framework for Children and Young People’s Continuing Care, 
published in 2010, addressed this point specifically, determining that:

Generally, parents, as experts in their child or young person’s care and as primary carers, 
provide the majority of care to the child or young person1

Adding that:

Most care for children and young people is provided by families at home, and maintaining 
relationships between the child or young person, their family and other carers, is a 

particularly important aspect1

Children and Young People’s Continuing Care aims to provide support for parents/carers in 
order that they may continue caring for their child with complex health needs.

Leadership and Accountability for the Continuing Care Process 

Whilst the CCG is responsible for agreeing and managing appropriate governance 
arrangements (see appendix XX for clinical governance requirements; referencing clinical 
governance in community and residential placement), the Sefton Health and Wellbeing Board 
(multi-agency) will agree the protocol and process for Continuing Care for Sefton’s children 
and young people.

South Sefton CCG and Southport and Formby CCG, in this instance delegates responsibility of 
carrying out Continuing Care (described in this protocol) to the Midlands and Lancashire 
Commissioning Support Unit (MLCSU). The MLCSU is held to account for its delivery of this 
function though contractual arrangements between it and the CCGs. The Chief Nurse and 
Quality Lead is accountable for Children’s Continuing Care within the CCG and reports to the 
CCG Executive and to the Health & Wellbeing Board. 

The Children’s Complex Care Specialist Nurse performs the co-ordination aspects of the 
health assessor role and will be the named point of contact for Continuing Care. The work will 
include:

a) co-ordinating the full assessment and recommendation process; 
b) liaison with the child and family to ensure that their views of what is needed, and 

their preferences are taken into consideration.

Page 219

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 14

c) liaison with Sefton Council about the package of care that is to be arranged and 
procured by Sefton Council reporting back to the Joint Panel in the event that there 
is a delay or difficulty in putting the care into place (see appendix XX for overview of 
commissioning and procurement arrangements)

d) completing the three-month review and managing subsequent reviews by lead 
health professionals, held annually or when a change in need has been identified. 

e) presenting recommendations for a care package provision made by the Children’s 
Continuing Care Specialist Nurse (CCCSN) formulated from the Multi-Disciplinary 
Team meeting to the Joint Panel 

Specialist Clinician/Nurse Involvement

Health assessments and reviews of continuing care packages will be completed by the CCCSN, 
or other health professional with experience of caring for those children with complex needs, 
and of assessing health need. If there is a local specialist physical health, behavioural or mental 
health nurse involvement with a child or young person it is expected that they will be integral 
to the completion of the Continuing Care assessment. 

If a child or young person is in an out of area residential placement steps should be taken by 
that placement for them to engage with the locally commissioned health services, if their 
physical health, mental health or behavioural needs require assessment and management. 

Refer to appendix XX for locally agreed arrangements for children and young people placed 
out of area in residential placements, with behavioural and mental health needs who require 
Continuing Care assessment. 

Page 220

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 15

PROCESS OUTLINE AND PATHWAY

Phase Stop Summary of key actions Timescale

Assessment Identify  A child or young person with a possible continuing 
care need is referred to the CCG via:

Pre-assessment/Checklist

 A child or young person’s health assessor is nominated 
and the process of assessment begins.

Clock 
starts

Assess  The health assessor undertakes the assessment, 
comprising:
- Preferences of child or young person and their 

family;
- Holistic assessment of need;
- Reports from multi-disciplinary team;
- Decision Support Tool for children and young people.

Recom-
mend

 The health assessor completes the process of 
assessment, and makes a recommendation.

Decision 
making

Decide  The multi-agency forum considers the 
recommendation and decides if the child or young 
person has a continuing care need.

Arrangement 
of provision

Inform  The child or young person and their family are 
informed of the decision.

 Development of costed package of care.  Any relevant 
organisations, such as the local authority, and key 
health professionals involved in the child or young 
person’s care (e.g. GP, paediatrician) should also be 
notified.

6 weeks

Deliver  Commissioning of the package of care and its provision 
to the child or young person.

 Ongoing monitoring/contract management for the 
commissioned service.

Ongoing Review  Reassessment of the child or young person’s 
continuing care needs.

Identification and Pre-Assessment (Checklist)

Locally it is understood that the aim is to complete the process within six weeks from the date 
of completion of the Health Needs Assessment (HNA), up to arrangement of provision of care 
package. However, it is recognised that this may not always be possible due to the complexity 
of needs and sometimes is not in the best interests of the child. An assessment should not be 

Page 221

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 16

delayed fitting within the timescale of an EHCP. A decision can be made outside of the EHCP 
process and shared thereafter with the plan co-ordinator, ensuring the EHCP is updated to 
reflect care provision changes.

The Continuing Care process begins when there is recognition that a child or young person 
may have needs that require additional health services that cannot be met by existing 
universal and specialist services. Referrals can be made by a variety of professionals, and this 
should include professionals working in primary, secondary and tertiary care, Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services, Community Nursing Teams, Local Authority-
Commissioned, Public Health, School Nursing and Education and Social Care.  

Professionals from these settings must holistically discuss a child or young person’s needs and 
understand what needs a child has i.e. if a referral to other services can be made, or changes 
to the existing provision can be made in order to reduce or meet needs. Once the MDT has 
explored all options available which leaves the child or young person with some needs unmet, 
the MDT will need to consider referring to the Continuing Care service. The MDT will need to 
provide evidence of what the needs are, and what is unmet within the Continuing Care pre-
assessment. This information will include a completed checklist and signed consent form. The 
checklist must be completed within an MDT, and importantly with a health professional 
involved. The process of pre-assessment should only take a day or two.

The checklist should be sent as soon as possible to the Continuing Care service. The nurse 
assessors within the service will quality assure the checklist and a decision to proceed to HNA 
will be made within 5 working days of receipt of the checklist by MLCSU. The referrer will be 
informed of the outcome and also rationale if the decision is not to proceed to full HNA. A 
letter will be sent to the referrer including detail regarding the next steps i.e. confirmation of 
a meeting or appeal/complaints process as relevant. Nurse assessors from Continuing Care 
will help support local resolution of queries or disagreements i.e. if there is a disagreement 
within the checklist stage between agencies, or if the parents and agencies involved need 
further clarity on why the full HNA will not be performed. The nurses will provide advice and 
support, and where required provide training to those professionals involved. The HNA 
meeting following checklist receipt would normally be led by MLCSU nurse assessor.

Full Assessment

In order to complete the full HNA, the CCCSN convenes a Multi-Agency meeting (referred to 
locally as Multi-Disciplinary Team meeting). The child/young person’s appropriate Health 
Professional is identified to be part of the assessment, alongside the social worker, education 
representative, parent/carer and other appropriate person required to support the 

Page 222

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 17

assessment. Ideally these will be the same professionals that met to complete the checklist. 
The meeting will be chaired by the CCCSN, who will undertake the initial full assessment, with 
support from the health professional, to understand the unmet complex health needs. The 
discussion and subsequent information gained from the MDT will be used to complete the 
Decision Support Tool. 

The assessment requires consideration from four key areas: 

 Preferences of child or young person and their family; 
 Holistic assessment of need; 
 Reports from multi-disciplinary team or evidence collated during EHCP 

assessment; 
 Decision Support Tool for children and young people 

The Decision Support Tool (DST), as set out in the National Framework for Children and Young 
People’s Continuing Care (2016), will be used as the basis to assess health need across the ten 
care domains identified within the DST. The Continuing Care assessment will also take account 
of other health, social and education assessments, and include input from the parent/s to 
ensure a holistic picture of the child/young person’s and parent and family needs. The analysis 
of these assessments and discussions will identify the care needs and inform the 
recommendations as to how these might be addressed, and by which agency involved; further 
formal referral request to other agencies/support networks may be required at this point. The 
recommendations completed by CCCSN will be presented to the Joint Panel, by the CCCSN. 

The guidance of 3 highs, 1 severe or 1 priority within the level of needs suggests it is likely that 
a child or young person may have Continuing Care needs, based upon their complex health 
needs that cannot be met by universal and specialist services. 
Documents will be shared where relevant with the CCCSN to complete the assessment i.e.

 Child / young person care plan, escalation and contingency plans
 Risk assessments, care diaries and incident forms
 EHCP

The outcome of the meeting is a recommendation formulated by the CCN from information 
gained within the MDT, culminating from discussions had within the MDT meeting and 
supporting information gained as to whether a child or young person has Continuing Care 
needs (meets eligibility). There should be no differentiation based on whether the health need 
is physical, neurological or psychological. 

Page 223

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 18

It is understood that a child or young person with continuing care needs may or may not 
require a Continuing Care package of support, which is based upon the HNA. In some cases, a 
child or young person’s continuing care needs can be met by the existing universal and 
specialist services.

Decision Making

The Joint Panel will be held monthly, unless in periods of high demand. Management and co-
ordination of the joint panel will be the responsibility of Health (primarily CCG - who devolves 
the responsibility to MLCSU). This is attended by relevant Clinicians and Commissioners across 
Health, Social Care and Education, as well as senior community health managers, where 
necessary, who can commit resources. The members of the joint panel will be independent 
from those involved in assessment and its terms of reference and membership will be seen 
within the meeting agenda/minutes. 

The joint panel will not make decisions (or ratify the recommendations) on how care is to be 
provided until Continuing Care need and eligibility is confirmed. Joint panel members will have 
delegated authority to commit funding of agreed packages of care within each organisation’s 
financial governance arrangements, or as needed will seek further agreement (agreement in 
principle can be made in panel if the latter applies). No financial decisions should be made 
until the care needs have been addressed.

The child/young person and their family, key health and social care professionals will be 
informed of the decision within 5 working days of the joint panel meeting. Where a child or 
young person is found not to have met the agreed criteria for Continuing Care, verbal 
notification will be provided within 5 working days followed by clear written explanation of 
the rationale for the decision provided within 10 working days of the joint panel. 

The child/young person and or parents will be informed of their rights to appeal through the 
complaint’s procedure, within panel outcome letter. 

For any existing cases where care package arrangement is to be altered, and subsequent 
appeal made the provision and funding arrangement will remain in place whilst any 
investigation is ongoing. 

Arrangement of Provision 

Following agreement, Sefton Council in partnership with the MLCSU (on behalf of the CCG’s) 
will arrange provision of the package as soon as possible. Commissioners will consider what 

Page 224

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 19

additional care is required in order to fulfil their statutory duties to meet the reasonable needs 
of an individual and ensure that Continuing Care is part of a wider package of care, delivered 
in collaboration across Health, Education and Social Care, unless there is a good reason for 
this not to happen. Where the child/ young person has other packages of support in place, 
these will be considered alongside the Continuing Care package to ensure that care fits 
seamlessly together i.e. hospice support.  

A fast track process will be in place for end of life cases which will ensure decisions regarding 
packages of support can be agreed, if appropriate and without delay, this should normally 
occur within 48 hours of receipt on office working days. A checklist and HNA document will 
not be required for children or young people requiring end of life care via the Continuing Care 
process, separate documentation is utilised (see appendix XX). Procurement for an of end of 
life care package provision will occur as quickly and safely as possible following agreement to 
procure a bespoke package of care. Fast track process can be found further in the document 
under Fast Track (for End of Life Care).

Planning for any type of care package provision should begin early and will need assurances 
of safe and appropriate care delivery by those commissioned to provide the care. These 
assurances should meet clinical governance requirements and will consist of:

 Relevant and appropriate training and subsequent competency sign off for those 
undertaking healthcare interventions for a child or young person, including parents, 
residential staff, foster carers, family members, others employed as Personal 
Assistants. 

 Plans of care and risk assessment provided by qualified nurses from the commissioned 
provider and/or in conjunction with the local community/acute NHS services 

Agreement in principle will be given for care package provision within panel, however care 
packages will not commence until assurance of the relevant governance are in place 
APPENDIX XX assurances of clinical governance and other governance required 

Arrangement and provision of the care package should also consider:

 The local multi-agency joint working arrangements and local offers of provision (these 
will need to be considered at the point of care package recommendation made by 
the nurse assessor) 

 That offers of support are based upon a need’s assessment, and must be recent 
assessments depicting a child or young person’s current needs

Page 225

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 20

 The skill mix of parents and staff required to deliver the package i.e. parents will need 
to be made aware that the arrangements for any care package should enable and 
support parents and carers to continue looking after their child. Fundamentally, the 
intent of a care package is not to remove the parenting role (and integral caring role), 
additionally the care package must not take over the crucial parenting role

 Consideration of shared or corporate parenting (social care involvement)
 How Continuing Care integrates with SEND provision, universal and specialist health 

provision. SEN assessors or relevant EHCP workers will need to be advised of the 
outcomes of the Continuing Care panel – depicting what health needs are being met 
by the provision of an integrated package of care. see appendices XX for document

 Sustainability of the care package (contingency planning), and short/long-term 
outcomes

 A multi-professional approach, as opposed to venues of care (provision not being 
driven by services)

 The child/young person’s home or other suitable ‘home/caring environment’ as the 
focus of care

 Out of hours support; must be managed jointly via risk assessment and contingency 
planning

 Specialist equipment 

Health services (specialist i.e. CAMHS/LD) will support the Local Authority (where possible), 
to identify how Residential Care and Social Care support meets the health and behavioural 
needs of the child/young person. Wherever possible, interventions will be planned to enable 
home care to continue, for example, for a child with behaviour that challenges. Residential 
Care will only be used when other interventions have failed, and/or it is judged in the best 
interest of the child. The Local Authority will remain responsible in placing a CYP in a 
residential setting, in accordance with their statutory responsibilities. See appendix XX for 
support/involvement from local CAMHS/LD service.

Funding

South Sefton CCG and Southport and Formby CCG and Sefton Council have agreed that 
packages will be funded in the following ways:

1. For health only packages i.e. no required social care input or requirement for support 
within education, the CCG will fund all the health care package requirements

2. 50/50 percentage split for joint packages between CCG and social care

Page 226

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 21

3. Joint funded packages of care between CCG and education to be discussed on an 
individual case by case basis, regarding actual funding percentage split

4. Tri-partite arrangement between CCG, education and social care will be decided on a 
case by case basis, regarding actual funding percentage split. 

This would be subject to development of future funding models.

Sefton Council will normally lead on the procurement process on behalf of the CCG’s via the 
Local Authorities’ Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System with funding responsibilities shared 
equally between the two. Sefton Council will pursue best value to meet the needs of the child. 
For health only packages (as per above), MLCSU will spot purchase health providers on behalf 
of the CCG’s; using the relevant procurement/commissioning process. 

Care package support will be provided by either:

 Social care procured provider/direct payments
 Residential placement
 NHS provider
 Independent provider
 Hospice 

Reviews 

Reviews are the final step in the Continuing Care process, providing the opportunity for an 
assessment of needs and how these are being addressed by the care package. The CCCSN as 
Lead Assessor will complete the reviews at, three months after commencement of the 
package, annually and as required (determined by any changes in a child or young person’s 
health needs. 

The Reviewer/s will ensure that the child/young person and their family understand that 
reviews are designed to ensure that Continuing Care needs are being met on an ongoing basis. 
In the case of a child or young person having SEND, the review will ideally be synchronised 
with the regular annual review of the EHCP; and information utilised within the assessment 
and review of EHCP used towards the Continuing Care review. 

A child or young person or their family can request a review of support at any time. This 
request should be made to, or referred to, the most appropriate health professional with 
rationale and for action as needed. 

Page 227

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 22

Changes to Care Package provision

If a review has highlighted that health needs can be met by universal or specialist provision, 
the CCCSN will convene an MDT meeting to confirm the services to be provided and agree 
how the package is to be stepped down to minimise the impact on the child/young person 
and parents. 

Where step down is indicated the existing care team (universal and specialist services) will 
support the transition of a child or young person into the sole management of their services, 
along with other multi-agencies involved at that time; early engagement with relevant 
services is key.  This planned care approach must consider the transition into the universal 
offer from all agencies (which includes locally commissioned universal and specialist NHS 
services). A planned withdrawal of the continuing care package will be individually agreed by 
the MDT and ratified by panel, after full discussion and agreement between MDT, child/young 
person and their parents. The appropriate community or acute health professional/s will be 
responsible for monitoring and evaluating the care plan once after continuing care 
withdrawal. Any concerns around a lack of specific health support from the locally 
commissioned NHS services, will be escalated to the CCG for their consideration and potential 
management.

The Local Authority (social care) will review the assessed needs of the child and family via their 
assessment process, in a timely manner to inform and advise parents of the support they will 
be offered from the Local Authority through withdrawal of the continuing care package. This 
assessment will be taken into consideration in line with any changes to the health component 
of the integrated care package. 

Parents will be advised that care package provision is based upon their child’s needs from a 
health, education and social care perspective, with consideration of the parent as a carer (in 
their own right). Therefore, if a child or parent’s needs alter, the package of care may also 
alter. The social care assessment and Continuing Care assessment and subsequent outcomes 
should seamlessly fit with any planned increase, reduction or cessation of either support from 
health or social care. Parents will be advised of this within the early stages of the Continuing 
Care process.

Contribution Via Continuing Care Eligibility for CYP in Residential/Therapeutic 
Environments

Reference has been made to the behavioural and mental health needs of CYP who have been 
placed in appropriate residential/therapeutic environments for the necessary support and 

Page 228

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 23

care provision. The Continuing Care assessment process as outlined in this protocol should be 
followed for any child or young person who has physical health, behavioural and/or mental 
health need in a residential setting. See appendix XX for local agreement in relation to 
contribution towards residential based primarily upon unmet needs; in the residential setting.

The principles of assessment and review will remain as per the National Framework, and 
assurances of clinical governance will be gained from the residential/therapeutic placement. 
See appendix xx for clinical governance requirements. These assurances will provide an 
overview of the provision of support whilst in the setting. Agencies will perform joint 
assessments/reviews where possible, and at the very least exchange information to ensure 
all agencies involved are aware of any issues or concerns, or the extent of progress being 
made within setting. The emphasis of joint protocol arrangement is about ‘working together 
to support the child or young person’. All agencies are responsibility to raise any safeguarding 
concerns and must be communicated between all relevant agencies involved with that child 
or young person.

Therapeutic definition

A child or young person may be placed in a therapeutic environment:

The literature indicates the lack of a consistent and clear definition of what constitutes a 
therapeutic intervention; the lack of clarity around the definition applies equally to that of a 
therapeutic placement. In the absence of a definitive definition this protocol and its local 
arrangements/agreements anticipates that the professionals sourcing a residential 
therapeutic placement will consider the NICE Guidance Children’s attachment: attachment in 
children and young people who are adopted from care, in care or at high risk of going into 
care (Nice Guidance G26) November 2015, specifically:

 Residential therapeutic placements provide a residential setting that deliver a safe 
environment which provides access to therapeutic interventions focussed on 
developing more secure attachment and supporting children in working through 
trauma.

 Child/young person or 1:1 therapy and staff therapeutic support is provided by a 
qualified professional registered with a recognised professional body

 All staff have an evidenced knowledge of attachment and trauma and a therapeutic 
care model that informs how care and parenting needs to be adapted for children who 
have insecure attachments and have experienced trauma – care focusses on initially 
building relationship rather than changing behaviours.

Page 229

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 24

 Care staff have regular access to clinical supervision/consultation that has the aim of 
supporting the carer in providing the above in line with the Children’s Home 
Regulations 2015  

 Supervision records are kept
 Staff training requirements are met and attendance is recorded in line with the 

Children’s Home Regulations 2015  
 There are individualised patient assessment and review reports, health plans based on 

assessment of need with measurable outcomes. 
 Daily logs of behavioural/mental health behaviours where escalation plans have been 

used, and their effectiveness
 Ofsted rating of Outstanding or Good
 CQC registration as appropriate 
 Stability of staff team and residents

This criterion serves as a basic set of requirements in order to achieve appropriate clinical 
governance required from a health perspective, and additionally general governance from a 
social care requirement. Each patient will be considered as an individual with the specific 
therapeutic approach having been indicated by the Professional/Clinician treating the patient 
at time of referral, or at a time of crisis, or otherwise.

Crisis Management (behavioural/mental health needs)

Crisis management may be necessary due to the child/young person’s behaviours and social 
care or educational placements made outside of usual processes. Where this happens MLCSU 
will be informed within 24 hours of the new placement /support package, by the professional 
leading on this. 

The Local Authority Commissioning Support Team will work closely with the MLCSU to ensure 
information is transferred within 5 working days of the placement. This information would 
include:

 Registration of the placement and inspection reports
 Staff ratios
 DBS checks 
 Staff training and supervision
 Care and support plans
 Risk assessments
 Incident reports

Page 230

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 25

 EHCP
 Placement cost will be required (but is not a pre-determining factor for decision-

making)

The updated information will be taken to the subsequent joint panel for discussion and 
ratification.

Crisis Management (home care packages)

All home care packages must have contingency plans in place, in the event of:

 Provider failure
 Sickness or incapacity that effects the person to exercise the Parental Responsibility

In both cases contingency plans need to be established within plans of care, risk assessment 
and agreed between families, child/young person, multi-agencies.

In exceptional circumstances other options would be explored to provide care to the child or 
young person, this may include wider family members and friends/informal family support 
network/commissioned providers. The hospital setting is not seen as a contingency for the 
above, unless the child or young person’s health needs warrant hospital review/admission.

Special Educational Needs and Continuing Care 

Ordinarily local authorities and CCGs must make joint commissioning arrangements for 
education, health and care provision for children and young people with SEN or disabilities 
(Section 26 of the Children and Families Act 2014). 

Wherever possible, the EHCP assessment for those going through the continuing care 
assessment process will be brought together to articulate a single set of needs and outcomes. 
The health needs of children and young people should be reflected in the EHCP. The same 
information and professionals will be involved in either or both processes.  

Where a child’s needs can only be met through a specially commissioned service, it is the 
responsibility of all key partners to review the package and where possible have any 
agreement for CCG funding prior to the provision/placement. This should also be ratified at 
the Joint Panel in order to provide information relating to potential future provision 
requirements; and a record of decision making for future purposes.

Page 231

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 26

If a child does not have an EHCP an Individual Care plan (ICP) ideally should be in place within 
the school setting and should be used within the Continuing care process; informing of the 
child’s health needs within the education setting.

Panel Member Disputes

Disagreement between health and the local authority representatives on the Joint Panel 
regarding continuing care needs and/or the responsibility for the funding of the package of 
continuing care will be escalated via the Disputes Resolution Protocol (appendix XX), with the 
aim being to resolve the dispute in a timely manner, within agreed process.

The existing funding arrangement and support will continue until dispute is resolved between 
the local authority/CCG. If both parties become aware of a change in circumstance that may 
affect funding arrangement a date will be agreed between agencies from when the funding 
may be affected on a case by case basis, and any re-charge be discussed and agreed between 
parties. Escalation to CCG’s may be required with regards to re-charge.

Hospital Discharge Requiring Assessment 

The commissioning of a package of support may begin when a child or young person is 
hospitalised and is part of the discharge planning arrangements, once optimum health is 
reached. (The process for Checklist completion will need to be followed). The acute services 
will convene a discharge planning meeting with relevant parties and invite the CCCSN.  The 
need for Continuing Care provision should be considered at the earliest opportunity, and 
checklist completed if indicated, and as per process. If the checklist highlights the need for a 
full assessment the designated representatives from Community and Specialist Nursing Teams 
should attend at the earliest opportunity and at least within a maximum of two weeks of the 
decision to hold a meeting being made.  

The process to arrange care package provision for children and young people with the most 
complex health needs can be expected to take eight to twelve weeks at least and therefore 
assessment must begin at the earliest opportunity. The success of the discharge plan will be 
dependent on maintaining momentum with a phased discharge plan, stepping up time at 
home as more carers become trained on the package, or accessing school with trained and 
competent carers. It is essential that momentum is maintained to prevent delayed discharge 
and the breakdown of a commissioned package when carers are not providing home support.

If momentum is not being achieved and the child or young person is not spending time at 
home as expected within the discharge plan, an MDT meeting will be convened by the lead 
consultant or appropriate professional to review the feasibility of the current plan. The MDT 

Page 232

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 27

will decide whether there is a change in health need which is preventing a safe discharge. If 
so, a Continuing Care review will be completed by the CCCSN findings discussed to agree next 
steps. The care provider will receive formal notification that the care package is no longer 
required until such time when the health needs are understood. If a change in need is not 
identified the discharge plan will be reviewed to ensure the family have adequate and 
appropriate support from the MDT, including community nurses, ensuring a seamless 
transition into the community. It is not the responsibility of care providers to transition 
children or young people with complex health needs from acute care to community care; this 
is the role of health professionals based within those settings.  

The CCG’s and Sefton Council may need to secure support through an independent Nursing 
Agency in exceptional circumstances i.e. qualified/fully trained and experienced workforce of 
registered nurses, as an interim whilst the procurement process is completed and ‘set up’ 
arrangements with the successful provider are completed e.g. staff recruitment and training. 
The safety of the child or young person is paramount, and concerns regarding the additional 
cost of a nursing agency should not prevent access to assessed needs of complex support. It 
is important however that this arrangement of support from qualified nurses does not build 
expectations within the family and that the inappropriateness of this as a longer-term solution 
is stressed that it is not a fair and equitable route of health care support. Parents will need to 
be advised of the importance of having long term carers who are trained and competent in 
meeting health provision, and who meet the child’s holistic needs; and not merely their 
clinical needs.

The Sefton Council/Hospital/Provider must inform the CSU within 24 hours of a child ‘s 
discharge from hospital or as soon as they have been made aware.

Children and Young People Requiring Hospital Admission (Current Continuing 
Care Cases)

Admission to hospital for a child or young person with complex health needs can present an 
enormous challenge for the child and young person, their parents and the ward 
environment/staff. For this reason and also to maintain the important relationship between 
the carer, child/young person and their family, consideration will be given on a case by case 
basis for the care package of support to follow the CYP into hospital and will be individually 
assessed to determine whether it is feasible to assist and support in the hospital setting, in 
relation to: aiding effective communication between child and staff, provide a familiar face 
and assist with personal cares. If agreed, the support in the hospital would be of an assistive 
and supportive nature, and care staff would not carry out clinical health tasks. The homecare 

Page 233

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 28

package workers would maintain records whilst in the hospital environment and follow 
individualised plans of care for their own purpose to deliver what is agreed whilst in the 
hospital setting. However, the overall responsibility for the care of the child/young person 
within acute services/hospital will remain the responsibility of hospital staff; at all times. 

Honorary contracts or other contractual arrangement would be required for homecare 
package staff in the hospital setting for the following exceptional circumstances:

 If the child or young person requires a new package of care at home, and requires care 
workers to be trained and deemed competent to meet their 
health/behavioural/mental health needs

 If the child or young person is admitted to hospital and requires the existing homecare 
package care workers to be trained for newly identified health tasks

Under these circumstances there will be agreement between MLCSU/the care provider and 
the acute/hospital services in relation to the amount of care hours, which will be transferred 
into the hospital setting; some families may not require the full amount of care support that 
they would normally receive at home. refer to appendix XX for process of hospital admission, 
and support from the homecare package.

Fast-Track (End of Life Care)

Children or young people who meet the criteria for children’s palliative care nursing should 
receive that service and do not need to go through the Continuing Care process; which is 
provided by the Alder Hey Children’s Palliative Care Team or via outreach from Claire House, 
Hospice to Home Team, or other charitable support. In any circumstance Continuing Care 
should not replace existing NHS services that can meet a child or young person’s palliative 
care needs.

If the child or young person has needs that cannot be met by the available service, then a Fast 
Track Continuing Care process should be followed, and the relevant document completed. 
See appendix XX.

A referral should be made following the usual process by any health professional working with 
a child or young person who they believe may have continuing care needs.  The Fast track 
document will need completion, alongside pertinent information being sent to support the 
case, describing what healthcare needs to be specially commissioned. The CCCSN will gather 
essential assessment information and seek an out of panel agreement for an end of life care 
package, (agreement between South Sefton CCG and Southport and Formby CCG and Sefton 
Council), and thereafter place the case on the next joint panel agenda for update/review as 

Page 234

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 29

required. MLCSU (acting on behalf of the CCG) will discuss jointly with Local Authority with 
regards to decision-making. This will include the indicators/reasoning for fast track process to 
be initiated, detailed within fast track documentation. MLCSU and where required the local 
authority should authorise the support to commence without delay, unless there is good 
reasoning not to do so. A high cost form will be completed by the CCCSN and submitted for 
authorisation to the Chief Nurse or deputy. Where possible a full HNA, (inclusive of DST) will 
require completion at 3 months after commencement of a fast track package of support, to 
determine the ongoing care provision. This will be handled in a sensitive manner in 
consideration of the circumstances.

Short Breaks and Respite

As per the local offer the LA will provide short breaks to children and young people, this will 
be tailored to the existing care package in place and based on need. Children and young 
people may have access to health commissioned respite services.

Transition 

A young person moving through to adulthood will need to be prepared through a multi-agency 
approach and will be irrespective of need which includes physical disabilities, behavioural and 
mental health needs.

The child/young person’s designated Health Lead i.e. Children’s Community Nurse/Child 
Looked After Children’s Nurse is responsible for the co-ordination of transition from children 
to adult health services and for inviting relevant stakeholders to appropriate meetings. This 
includes ensuring that the CCCSN is invited to participate in transitions processes and reviews 
post the child’s 14th birthday. The CCCSN will factor in transition planning within the annual 
Continuing Care assessment, which will include joint assessments with adult Continuing 
Health Care (CHC) at or around their 17th birthday. 

Provision of Continuing Care in childhood does not mean that as an adult they will be eligible 
for adult Continuing Health Care. Future entitlement to adult NHS CHC should be clarified as 
early as possible in the transition planning process, especially if the young person’s needs are 
likely to remain at a similar level into adulthood, and this should be accomplished by 
undertaking an initial screening for NHS continuing healthcare at a suitable point or no later 
than 17th Birthday. 

In summary: 

Page 235

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 30

 At 14 years of age, the young person should be brought to the attention of the CCG as 
likely to need an assessment for NHS Continuing Healthcare. 

 At 16 -17 years of age, screening for NHS Continuing Healthcare should be undertaken 
using the adult screening tool, and an agreement in principle that the young person 
has a primary health need and is therefore likely to need NHS Continuing Healthcare. 

 From 17 years all risk assessments, incident forms and behaviour plans to be 
maintained to information social care and subsequent CHC funding applications.

 At 18 years of age, full transition to adult NHS Continuing Healthcare or to universal 
and specialist health services should have been made, except in instances where this 
is not appropriate. 

It is recognised that many children and young people with continuing care needs will be 
dependent on others for all their care throughout their lives. There are those however with 
the capacity to develop independence and continuing care should support this transition, 
enabling the young person to manage their condition, with a full understanding of its 
implications for their overall well-being.

A key aim of the management of the transition period is to ensure that that there is 
appropriate early planning and intervention. The young person will require a consistent 
package of support during the years before and after transition to adulthood is provided. The 
care package arrangement may change as a result of the change in circumstances for the 
young person however, this change shouldn’t occur purely because of a move from children 
to adult services. Where change is necessary, it should be carried out in a phased manner in 
full consultation with the child/young person and family. 

Every child or young person with a package of continuing care who is approaching adulthood 
should have a Transition Plan. The Transition Process will be initiated by the CCCSN, when the 
child reaches the age of 14 years, with the social worker to ensure that Continuing Care needs 
can be considered from Year 11 onwards as part of the EHCP assessment. The CCCSN will also 
bring the young person to the attention of NHS Continuing Health Care (CHC) Services using 
the NHS Continuing Health Care Notification of Child Aged 14 form, as being a young person 
who may require Continuing Health Care (CHC – Adults). Every effort will be made by all 
agencies to identify young people potentially in need of ongoing services in adulthood as early 
as possible. This includes those who may be placed in out of area placements, funded through 
other streams e.g. NHS England specialist commissioning (including in patient mental health).

The CCCSN will formally refer the young person to the relevant CCG CHC Team for screening 
to enable the CCG CHC team to complete the NHS Continuing Healthcare Checklist, when they 
reach the age of 17.

Page 236

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 31

Where a young person is not in receipt of a Continuing Care package, usually because their 
needs are being met from within Children and Young People’s Services, and it is believed that 
they may be eligible for CHC, the young person’s lead health professional or social worker will 
be signposted to the adult CHC Team.  All new referrals will go directly to the CCG CHC Team 
from 17 years.

To ensure that the legal responsibilities for child and adult services are discharged 
appropriately, transition plans will set out clearly who is responsible and why. The CCG will be 
responsible for ensuring that any gap in service provision from 16 – 18 years, when some 
children’s services may cease, is addressed.

Personal Health Budgets (PHBs)

The NHS Mandate, which CCGs must follow, contains a specific objective on supporting 
children and young people with SEN or disabilities, including the offer of personal budgets. 
The families of children and young people with continuing care needs have a ‘right to have’ a 
personal health budget, which may contain elements of education, social care and health 
funding, (NHS Commissioning Board and Clinical Commissioning Groups (Responsibilities and 
Standing Rules) (Amendment) Regulations 2013) and Special Educational Needs and Disability 
Code of Practice (2015).

Where a child or young person eligible for continuing care, or their family, requests a PHB the 
CCG will arrange for the provision of care through this means. As required MLCSU will provide 
and manage PHB’s on behalf of the CCG’s. See appendix XX for MLCSU/Sefton CCG PHB 
process

A PHB will be arranged in one of the following ways:

 a direct payment made to the young person or their family
 a notional budget to be spent by the CCG on care following discussions with the child 

or young person, and their family, on how best to meet their needs through 
provision of care

 The transfer of a real budget agreed as above, to a person or organisation which 
provides the money in a way agreed between the CCG/MLCSU and the child or young 
person and their family (or other representative)

The CCG will publicise and promote the availability of PHBs within the Local Offer and through 
the distribution of leaflets aimed at young people and their families, which have been 
developed by third sector partners in collaboration with families.

Page 237

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 32

PHBs will also be offered to children and young people who have not been identified as having 
continuing care needs on a discretionary basis and as approved by the Chief Nurse or deputy.

Training and Competency Oversight

The Continuing Care Service has a duty to ensure that clinical governance is maintained in all 
bespoke care package arrangements, with assurances gained from various sources to 
safeguard children and young people receiving health and behavioural support from NHS and 
independent agencies, third sector and where required from health and social care providers.

Community nursing teams/hospital-based staff will ensure that parents and informal carers 
are trained and competent to provide the care assigned. The community nursing teams will 
also ensure that carers and staff based in schools have the appropriate training and 
competencies.

The CCCSN will need to understand all training and competency of carers and personal 
assistants to ensure clinical governance is in place, this will include documented evidence i.e. 
from residential educational placements and from home care providers.

For practical purposes, ward-based staff handover care of children with complex health needs 
to community nurses, ensuring that they understand their needs, are trained in the use of any 
medical equipment and competent to meet the clinical need.

CCG in partnership with its health providers has developed a Carer’s Skills Passport which will 
provide the structure for competency training and provide assurance to families and agencies 
of the level of competency of local carers who may supply services within various settings and 
families.

Where a package of support is purchased from an independent agency, it is the responsibility 
of the agency to procure appropriate training and to ensure training and competency amongst 
its workers in accordance with local contractual arrangements.

Page 238

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 33

Appendices

1. Equality Impact Risk Assessment

EIRA SEFTON 2019 
CYP CC Protocol.docx

2. National Framework for Children and Young 
People’s Continuing Care

3. Local Multi-Agency Training
4. Checklist (with process) 
5. Decision Support Tool (with process) 
6. 3-month Proforma
7. Consent and Mental Capacity document
8. Fast track document (with process) 
9. Continuing Care Leaflet (DHSC) 
10. Local Offer Information 
11. Updated information document for EHCP/SEND
12. New DST referral from external services - quality 

assurance form
13. SEND and Continuing Care Integration flowchart
14. CAMHS and CYP CC joint working arrangements
15. Joint agency approach to CLA who are Continuing 

Care eligible: interpretation of levels of need and 
support required

16. Dispute process
17. Appeal process
18. Retrospective appeal process
19. Procurement/spot purchasing
20. Individual Service Level Agreement – spot 

purchasing
21. Provider Assessment Quality Review Document
22. PHB process
23. PHB Policy (CCG)
24. Clinical governance (assurances required)
25. SEND/Continuing Care integrated process
26. Hospital admission process
27. Appropriate management and escalation of cases
28. Process for determining the support required for 

a CYP (trained carer or registered nurse)
29. CYP with a tracheostomy – consideration of 

support requirements

Page 239

Agenda Item 12



V.13 Continuing Care Protocol and Processes Page 34

30. Process for withdrawal, reduction or change in 
needs regarding care package provision

31. Assurances of Clinical Governance (residential 
setting)

32. Support in education for a CYP with complex 
health and behavioural needs

33. CAMHS and CYP CC Integration
34. Care package provision - abroad
35. Home to School Travel and Transport: Statutory 

Guide for Local Authorities 2014
36. Safeguarding Children and Young People: Roles 

and Competencies for Healthcare Staff
Fourth edition 2019

37. Transition pathway
38. PHB clinical governance requirements
39. Supporting Pupils at School with medical 

Conditions (2015)
40. Meeting Health Needs in Educational and other

Community Settings: A guide for nurses caring for 
Children and Young People

41. Managing Bowel and Bladder Problems in School
42. Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018
41. Transport Guidance
42. LTV Quality Standards
43. Sefton Dispute Policy (Adults) 
44. Local Guidance for Commissioners on the use of 

the DPS for the Services for Children and Young 
People

45. Multi-Agency Transition Assessment Tool 
(MATAT)

46. Transition Pathway
47. Terms of Reference for the Equipment Panel 
48. Who Pays? Determining Responsibility for 

Payments to Providers 2013
49. Assurances of Clinical and Direct Payment 

Governance

50. Overview of commissioning and procurement 
arrangements PDPS/spot purchase

51. TOR protocol development group
52. TOR CYP CC multi-agency panel

Page 240

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

Continuing Care Process for Looked After Child in Residential Placement with 
Behavioural/Mental Health/Health needs

South Sefton CCG and Southport and Formby CCG, and Sefton Council

Process prior to, and making a referral to CCG/Continuing Care/Complex Cases Panel

The process is a health needs led approach and is not based on placement cost. 

The Continuing Care service in Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit 
(MLCSU) (acting on behalf of the CCGs), require all the necessary clinical governance 
(identified within process below) before a contribution is made towards a child or young 
person’s needs in a residential setting; this ensures that the CCGs have the assurances of 
clinical governance i.e. safe and appropriate management and care of the CYP.  

Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit must ascertain if the needs of the 
C&YP are being met in accordance within planned care approach, utilising previous or 
current clinical specialist input. 

**117 is excluded from the Continuing Care process – any provision required under 117 
aftercare follows a separate process.

Process for referral to Continuing Care:

1. Upon placement in residential setting the support required for the CYP will need to 
be identified in accordance with their health, behavioural and mental health needs. 
The placing Local Authority or relevant professional will need to liaise with the 
existing (or make a new referral) to specialist health practitioners (i.e. CAMHS/LD 
service) in that area about the most appropriate type of treatment/therapy/support 
or placement type; to meet the individual CYP assessed needs.
** advice from NHS specialist practitioners about suggestive placement type is not a 
determinant that CCG/Continuing Care will financially contribute; treatments and 
therapies will need to be accessed where possible, via existing NHS core offer services 
and any treatments etc. that cannot, but should be provided will be dealt with by the 
responsible CCG.

If the CYP has needs that require assessment from specialist clinicians, but those 
clinicians are not involved with the CYP at the time of placement, the LA will need to 
either:

 liaise with South Sefton CCG and Southport and Formby CCG to arrange an 
assessment via service level agreement with the out of area CAMHS/LD team 
or if placed within local area

Page 241

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

 a referral will need to be made to the local CAMHS/LD team (within South 
Sefton CCG and Southport and Formby CCG NHS commissioned area)

This is to ensure that the CYP health/behavioural needs are being assessed and 
managed in the first instance, by specialist clinicians.

**during the time of clinical assessment, or during referral process to specialist 
clinicians a referral/checklist for CC must not be completed; universal and specialist 
NHS services must have been explored and exhausted before a checklist can be 
completed. 

Please see appendix one for a list of available commissioned Mental Ill Health 
services in Sefton. 

2. If the CYP is receiving support/treatment from local CAMHS service prior to 
placement the LA would need to advise the local CAMHS currently supporting to 
handover the care to the out of area CAMHS.  If this cannot be done the LA must 
liaise with the CCG – in line with contractual management. 

3. The current support/strategies in place for CYP should be passed to either out of 
area CAMHS/LD service and/or to the placement for use. If the CYP is placed locally – 
the local CAMHS/LD service should continue to provide input as per the assessed 
need and liaise with placement for accuracy of planned care and support. 

**If CAMHS/LD service in the out of area location identify they are unable to provide 
therapy/intervention required, due to service specification, or that in the best interest 
of the CYP they should access directly from specialists within therapeutic placement 
due to timeliness of provision, the CCG (or MLCSU acting on their behalf) would need 
to consider contributing directly to therapeutic placement for this provision to meet 
assessed support. The CCG would consider on a case by case basis with advice from 
the MLCSU. 

Contribution towards placement prior to checklist completion
4. The LA will need to liaise with CCG (children’s commissioner) if they require a 

contribution prior to CC referral (which falls outside of CC process) or follow 
guidance for Retrospective Contribution.

Retrospective Contribution
5. LA place CYP and advise provider that from the day of admission they require:

a. Assessment by in house staff and plans put in place accordingly to manage 
identified needs, (if CAMHS involved they should provide strategies based 
upon assessment, or use existing strategies used within community setting – 
where possible and relevant)

Page 242

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

b. Plans of care in relation to health and behaviours, alongside daily reports
c. Records kept of escalated behaviours, and how these are dealt with and by 

who (including the amount of staff needed to support); throughout the 24-
hour period. Ratios of staff should be identified within plans of care, and 
describe what each staff member is providing

d. Outcomes/goals for CYP set by MDT, where possible inclusive of OT, or as an 
interim by internal placement staff

e. The residential placement must communicate with the relevant education 
setting (and vice versa) to ensure that plans of health and behavioural care 
are shared where appropriate and that consistent care support is maintained 
between establishment, to help minimise escalation of behaviours due to 
inconsistent approaches to behavioural support

f. The EHCP must be utilised to understand needs and where required to 
request a review of EHCP to update and amend in accordance with renewed 
identified needs
The information required for any retrospective contribution (in relation to 
needs) will form an understanding of clinical governance that is in place 
within placement

6. The residential placement will need to ensure all assessed needs are recorded to 
provide reporting and inclusion in the Education Health Care Plan (EHCP), and how 
these needs are being met etc. SEN assessors will need to be contacted if a review of 
EHCP is required based upon revised or new support for the CYP.

7. The CYP will need to adjust in placement and settle for a period of time - 
approximate/guidance of no more than 12 weeks, thereafter the MDT should 
convene (inclusive of health professionals) and determine what support, provision 
and intervention the CYP requires in relation to health or behaviours; which is above 
the placement offer of support (i.e. 1:1 staff ratio), and additionally what the NHS 
commissioned services can provide. 
**if there are no specialist health professionals involved at that time, (but have been 
involved and have previously completed their review/assessment) the reports and 
assessments showing what is required to meet needs/ratio of staff needed will be 
needed to form part of the referral into Continuing Care. 

8. The CCG will consider retrospective funding backdated to when the CYP was 
admitted to placement if:

 The placement records of assessment, care planning, risk assessment, 
behavioural strategies show safe care provision has been, and is in place for 
the CYP

 Specialist practitioners have been involved and have completed assessment/s 
to determine strategies

 The Continuing Care panel determine eligibility

Page 243

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

The Local Authority (as usual) provide the necessary assurances of safe 
placement via contractual arrangement, that was clear on registration 
compliance of the placement to meet appropriate need

*This local process will need to be followed in relation to a LAC who are placed and 
subsequently become eligible for Continuing Care, after a period of placement 
adjustment/specialist intervention or assessment.

CAMHS Input 

In addition to the commissioned remit of CAMHS/LD the CCGs could (as required) 
commission CAMHS/LD service for bespoke assessments, enabling assessments providing 
strategies and support directives for use by care staff in placement. Assessments in this 
manner by CAMHS/LD could additionally provide the ratio of staff required to manage the 
CYP, particularly if the ratio of staff determined by placement is not expected or unusual, in 
relation to the behaviours displayed. The CCG may consider funding or contributing towards 
an independent specialist provider to perform assessments if CAMHS/LD local service are 
unable to provide what is required at that time, (particularly in relation to out of area 
placements).

CAMHS are not generally commissioned to remain involved with CYP, they will perform 
assessments and provide support strategies and advice but the CYP individual case will not 
necessarily remain ‘open’ to them, within the active caseload. However, there may be a 
‘point of referral’ or ‘open access’ for previously known cases, if this is not the case a new 
referral will need to be carried out for any CYP where their behaviours alter/change and 
require further assessment as core services may be able to meet need in the future.

Process for Referral Leading into Continuing Care

1. Checklist completed by MDT/parents/CYP – who all recognise the 
health/behavioural needs of a CYP is above the universal and specialist services. 
Checklist sent to Continuing Care Service. An assessment must take place to 
understand all the needs of the CYP and what support is being provided (or should 
be provided) by locally commissioned services. The MDT will need to understand 
what needs are not being met and if the local services can alter or amend the 
support or advice they are providing, to help manage the CYP’s needs. This may 
include a referral to another local service (if a new referral is carried out the checklist 
should not be completed until the newly referred service has completed their 
assessment and provided what support they can). Once the MDT and parents/CYP 
have explored all other possible support mechanisms from locally commissioned 
services the checklist can be completed.

2. Checklist screened and quality assured – if satisfactory and checklist indicates that a 
Continuing Care Assessment (CCA) is required, this will be done using a Decision 

Page 244

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

Support Tool (DST) and other relevant information. A date, time and venue will be 
arranged to carry out the CCA with all members of the MDT; inclusive of parents, and 
CYP (where appropriate); this can take 3/4 hours depending upon the assessment 
and amount of information which needs to be reviewed/recorded.

3. The level of health needs discussed – the guide for eligibility is 3 highs, 1 severe or 1 
priority, BUT this is not a stand-alone method to determine eligibility. The 
MDT/parents and nurse assessor will review the information to understand what 
needs are not being met and what support is required to ensure the CYP needs are 
met safely. The provision of support enables the parents to continue caring for their 
child. The potential care support package will show what is needed and who 
provides the support, and how the support is provided, which can be agreed by all at 
the CCA meeting.

4. Recommendations are completed by nurse assessor, although the MDT and parents 
/CYP can provide their views about this. The recommendations may be detailed 
within the meeting, or if needed will be completed after the nurse assessor has 
reviewed all the information together away from the meeting. The DST and all 
supporting information is again checked and quality assured and placed onto next 
panel agenda for discussion and eligibility consideration.

Panel Process

The DST and supporting information are discussed at panel which should show and 
evidence:

 All members of the panel are engaged in discussions and have reviewed and 
discussed the DST including parental and CYP views, all needs considered, necessary 
multi-agency involvement, EHCP provision, recommendation/s, based upon unmet 
health needs

 The referenced evidence supports the levels of health needs
 Eligibility criteria is met (guidance as per the Children and Young Person’s Continuing 

Care National Framework 2016)
 Support package identifies the health needs of the CYP, and support required, which 

is over and above the provision given by the placement staff i.e.1:1 provision, and 
dependant upon the level of needs and interventions required

 If panel is unable to ratify the recommendations for a contribution towards 
behavioural/health needs in placement further information will need to be sourced 
and presented to next panel

 Full rationale for decision-making within panel notes must be made
 Safe commissioning is evident through supporting information, (additionally 

defining clinical governance i.e. evidence-based care)

Page 245

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

o Strategies completed by specialist health services, after review/assessment is 
carried out, for implementation by residential staff or delivered by CAMHS 
(as required)

o Plans of programmed care from provider showing how the support is being 
carried out in placement – in accordance with strategies given by universal 
services/specialist health

o Logs of behaviours, including showing any escalation of behaviours and how 
care staff have managed escalation through planned approach/reporting 
system

o Outcomes of support provision (OT involvement?)
 The panel comply with statutory process (i.e. Education Health Care Plan), legal 

responsibilities and guidance within CYP Continuing Care National Framework
 Responsibilities of provision are adhered to by each discipline (health, education and 

social care), in accordance with their statutory responsibilities. The relevant 
representative from each discipline would need to be aware of responsibilities 
(panel attendance) 

 Financial discussions must occur latterly and must not be discussed in the first 
instance to define care package arrangement. The health and behavioural needs 
must be understood primarily. Costings for second- or third-person provision (or 
therapies/treatments if CCG/Complex Cases are involved), must be provided by the 
placement for LA re-charge

 NHS CC should not provide a replication of service provision, which could be sourced 
and managed via local universal and specialist services, (unless there is exceptional 
reason and in best interests of the CYP)

 Service level agreements (SLA) will be required and arranged by relevant CCG to 
source CAMHS provision OOA, or if OOA CAMHS determine that they cannot meet 
what CYP requires but placement can the CCG may on a case by case basis agree to 
contribute towards elements of placement i.e. therapeutic input, treatment 
(relevant to Complex Cases and direct CCG involvement)

In accordance with ‘Who Pays’ Responsible commissioner guidance (2013), and amended 
(2016) the CYP in an OOA placement should have access to NHS services i.e. GP, community 
children’s service, acute hospital provision etc.

Specialist health professionals providing care within placement (not acting as an NHS 
employee, but having the relevant registration of a specialist health professional) will be 
accepted as specialist health involvement. Where necessary a bespoke commissioned 
CAMHS assessment may be sourced. 

Required evidence/information for clinical governance and retrospective contribution 

Page 246

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

 Assessments performed by specialists including: CAMHS, LD, OT, SALT etc
 Strategies of support/de-escalation plans
 Health care plans
 Behavioural plans showing ratio of staff
 Daily logs/instances of behaviour
 Health specialist reviews
 LAC review
 Social care assessment
 EHCP
 Educational placement review

If eligible for Continuing Care the CSU (on behalf of CCGs) will provide contributions towards 
residential placements:

 50% of placement cost

Other considerations of contribution prior to Continuing Care involvement will need to be 
discussed with CCG (outside of CC remit).

Page 247

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

Appendix One – Mental Ill Health Commissioned Services: 

Mental Ill Health Provision in Sefton

Commissioner of 
services Name of provider Name of service Brief description of 

service.
North West Boroughs 
Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust 

0-19’s  Healthy Child 
Programme (includes 
school nursing)

School Nurses aim to 
provide health and 
wellbeing services to 5-
19-year-old children 
and young people who 
live in Sefton or attend 
a school or college in 
Sefton. 

There is also an 
Enhanced Service 
targeted at vulnerable 
young people and 
families. It involves 
more intensive 
support, delivered by 
specially trained staff 
including an emotional 
well-being practitioner. 
The Enhanced Service 
plays an important role 
in safeguarding 
children alongside 
Council services, Family 
Doctors and other 
partners to ensure 
children are protected.

Services 
commissioned by 
public health, eg. 
School nursing 
Programmes, young 
person’s substance 
misuse services   

*jointly commissioned 
with Sefton CCGs

Southport and 
Ormskirk Hospital NHS 
Trust

Sexual Health Service Integrated Sexual 
Health Service offering 
Open Access 
Contraceptive and 
Sexual Health (CASH) 
and Genitourinary 
Medicine (GUM) 
services. The service 
operates an all ages 
Hub and Spoke model 
ensuring equitable 
geographical coverage 

Page 248

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

and include under 19-
year-old sessions in all 
service locations. 
Emergency hormonal 
contraception (EHC) is 
available from local 
pharmacies along with 
Long Act Reversible 
Contraception 
available from General 
Practitioners. These 
are both provided by 
the service via sub-
contracts with 
pharmacies and GP 
Practices.  The service 
includes provision of 
Psychosexual 
Counselling and Sexual 
Health Promotions 
raising sexual health 
awareness in schools 
and local colleges.

Mersey Care NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Ambition Sefton Adult Integrated 
Substance Use: 
Assessment, Treatment 
and Recovery Service 
provides a range of 
structured 
pharmacological and 
psychosocial treatment 
options. The service 
provides intervention 
to reduce alcohol and 
other drug related 
harm including 
prevention of blood 
borne viruses and drug 
related deaths.

Full assessment 
informs comprehensive 
care planning including 
access to both 
community and 
residential 
detoxification facilities 
and a range of 
recovery focused 

Page 249

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

support groups.

Addaction 
Organisation 

Addaction Stars Young Person and 
Family Substance Use 
Service providing 
education and 
awareness on a range 
of substances and 
substance related 
harm to under 18 yr. 
olds. The service 
provides structured 
psychosocial 
interventions including 
motivational 
interviewing and other 
cognitive behavioural 
counselling. The 
service works with 
Sefton Council Early 
Help ‘Front Door’ as 
part of the early help 
assessment and works 
with families of drug 
using parents to break 
intergenerational 
patterns of drug use.

XENZONE* KOOTH Free online counselling 
and emotional 
wellbeing platform for 
young people aged 11 
to 18.

Sefton Local Authority Active Schools Active Sefton provides 
a range of 
interventions, including 
supporting emotional 
health and wellbeing.

Sefton Local Authority Sefton Well Young 
Person

The Team provides 
bespoke packages of 
support to equip 
children and young 
people with the skills 

Page 250

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

to become mentally 
and emotionally 
healthy. The service 
works in partnership 
with Sefton schools to 
provide a range of 
programmes to 
support their pupils.

Over the last 2 years – 
using one-off funding– 
we have been piloting 
various approaches in 
schools to build 
resilience and improve 
wellbeing in young 
people **

Projects piloted 
include

 Big sista
 Nurture and 

thrive
 Rainbow 

leaders
 Academic 

Resilience
 Emotional 

Literacy
 Growth 

Mindsets

The individual project 
and activities are 
intended to help equip 
children and young 
people to deal better 
with difficult 
circumstances in their 
lives, to prevent them 
from experiencing 
common mental health 
problems.  The various 
approaches - proposed 
and agreed by schools, 
partners and children 
and young people – 
have been evaluated 
by Liverpool John 
Moore’s University.

The overall evaluation 
engages with schools 
and partners to 
measure and assess 
the impact of 
individual projects on 
the mental resilience of 
pupils, include 
feedback from young 
people, teachers and 
partners, using both 
quantitative and 
qualitative measures.  
This programme is 
intended to influence 
policy and future 
commissioning activity, 
and to provide 
evidence of 
approaches that can 
work in Sefton schools.

Page 251

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

Services 
commissioned by 
NHSE, eg. Specialist 
mental health in 
patient provision

Cheshire & Wirral 
Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Ancora House Tier 4 General 
adolescent inpatient 
service for 13-18 year 
old (GAU). Provide 
gatekeeping service for 
all Sefton young people 
who are referred for 
Tier 4 assessment. 
Provides admission, 
assessment and 
treatment for those 
deemed to require 
admission. 

Page 252

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

Alder Hey Children’s  
NHS Foundation Trust

Dewi Jones Unit Tier 4 children’s 
inpatient service for up 
to 13 years old. 
Provide gatekeeping 
service for all Sefton 
young people who are 
referred for Tier 4 
assessment. Provides 
admission, assessment 
and treatment for 
those deemed to 
require admission. Also 
has some capacity for 
outreach, step up 
/down and possible 
day bed.

If no capacity at 
Ancora /the Dewi 
Jones Unit or more 
specialist services are 
required additional 
services 
commissioned by 
NHSE are:

Lancashire Care NHS 
Foundation Trust 

The Cove GAU (13-18yrs)

Pennine Care NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Hope and Horizon 
wards

GAU (13-18yrs)

Greater Manchester 
Mental Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Junction 17 GAU (13-18yrs)

Greater Manchester 
Mental Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Gardener Unit Medium Secure Unit 
Male only 
(13-18) 

Greater Manchester 
Mental Health  NHS 
Foundation Trust

FCAMHS Forensic community 
CAMHS service 
providing assessment, 
consultation and 
specialist interventions

Page 253

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

  

Cygnet Hospital Bury - 
Cygnet Health Care 

Wizard ward 

Buttercup ward 

Mulberry ward

Primrose ward

GAU (13-18yrs)

LSU(13-18yrs)

LSU (13-18yrs)

Psychiatric Intensive 
Care (PICU)

The Priory Altrincham 
- The Priory Group 

Rivendell ward  Specialist ED admission 
and treatment 

The Priory Hospital 
Cheadle - The Priory 
Group 

Orchard ward

Meadow ward

Woodland ward 

GAU (13-18yrs)

PICU 

Low Secure Unit

Manchester University 
NHS Foundation Trust 
(formally Central 
Manchester NHS 
Foundation Trust) 
children’s services 

 

Galaxy House Up to 13 

Services 
commissioned by CCG, 
eg. Local children’s 
community mental 
health services.

Alder Hey Children’s 
NHS Foundation Trust 

CAMHS Offers specialist 
services to support 
children and young 
people in Liverpool and 
Sefton, up to the age of 
18, who are 
experiencing mental 
health difficulties. 
CAMHS provide 
support to their 
families or carers. 
The service provides 

Page 254

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

consultation, advice 
and training to other 
agencies and accept 
referrals from a wide 
range of professionals. 
The team is multi-
disciplinary.

Alder Hey Children’s 
NHS Foundation Trust 

Eating Disorder 
Service 

This service provides 
treatment to children 
and young people with 
Anorexia Nervosa, 
Bulimia Nervosa and 
Eating Disorders Not 
Otherwise Specified in 
Liverpool and Sefton. 
The service provides 
access to multi-
disciplinary assessment 
and intervention to 
children and young-
people from across 
Liverpool and Sefton 
up to the age of 18. 
The EDYs team is a 
multi-disciplinary, 
providing care such as; 
Cognitive Behavioural 
Therapy (CBT) in 
individual assessment, 
dietetic advice and 
meal planning, physical 
reviews, family therapy 
and home visits if 
necessary.

Alder Hey Children’s 
NHS Foundation Trust 

Children’s Emergency 
Department 

The service offers a 
range of emergency 
treatments to young 
people under the age 
of 16 years.  The 
department is open 24 
hours a day, seven 
days a week. 

Page 255

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

Southport and 
Ormskirk Hospital NHS 
Trust 

Emergency 
Department 

The service offers a 
range of emergency 
treatments to young 
people under the age 
of 16 years. The 
department is open 24 
hours a day, seven 
days a week.  It is 
located in Ormskirk 
hospital

Mersey Care  NHS 
Foundation Trust

Early Intervention 
Psychosis (EIP)

The Early Intervention 
Psychosis (EIP) service 
is commissioned for 
people aged 14 – 65.
The EIP service is a 
multidisciplinary 
community mental 
health service that 
provides treatment 
and support to people 
experiencing or at high 
risk of developing 
psychosis. This support 
typically continues for 
three years. The 
defining characteristic 
of an EIP service is its 
strong ethos of hope 
and whole-team 
commitment to 
enabling recovery 
through the provision 
of individually tailored, 
evidence based 
interventions and 
support to service 
users and their families 
/ carers.

Page 256

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

Mersey Care  NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(subcontract 
arrangement to North 
West Boroughs 
Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust) 

Enhanced Young 
Person’s Team 
including the Looked 
After Children Team 

The LAC team delivers 
on-going health 
services to school age 
LAC and children under 
the YOS and includes 
completion of Review 
Health Assessments. 
The team have 
oversight/responsibility 
for Sefton LAC placed 
out of the Sefton 
borough. Health 
services delivered to 
pre-school LAC remains 
with the 0-19’s service.

Sefton CVS Transition to High 
School workshops

Pilot programme of 
four one-hour 
workshops are 
delivered in the 
primary schools (Y6) 
looking at developing 
resilience, coping 
techniques, recognising 
anxiety and creating a 
sense of self-
assurance. Also 
delivered a session to 
parents prior to the 
start of the programme 
to explain what it was 
about and answer any 
queries they had.
 
The secondary 
programme is over 
three 1-hour sessions 
run on consecutive 
days and focussed on 
peer pressure, 
relationships and 
fitting in. 

Page 257

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

Sefton CVS Wellbeing Champions Pilot programme 
aimed at equipping 
young people with the 
awareness and 
understanding of 
stigma, mental 
wellbeing and the ways 
in which they can 
support and promote 
their own wellbeing. 
During the training, the 
champions developed 
their understanding of 
ways to maintain their 
mental health, 
knowledge about 
routes to help, and 
confidence in 
supporting their peers. 
 
 
Young people are 
invited to apply for the 
training which 
consisted of 2 full days. 
A member of 
school/centre staff is 
required to be 
available for some of 
the training to ensure 
the young people were 
provided with ongoing 
support and 
opportunities to 
discuss concerns. The 
staff member will be 
asked to continue to 
coordinate the 
Wellbeing Champions 
to ensure they are 
provided with the 
opportunities to 
develop their roles 
within the school/ local 
community. 
 
The teams are asked to 
identify a project 
within their school to 
help raise awareness 
and reduce stigma, and 

Page 258

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

they are supported to 
deliver the project e.g. 
Deputy Head teacher 
agreeing for more 
pupils to be trained as 
champions and run 
further school events.

General Practitioner 
Services 

Individual GP services 
across the South 
Sefton and Southport 
& Formby areas. 

This includes the 
management of 
patients who are ill or 
who believe 
themselves to be ill 
with acute, chronic or 
terminal conditions (as 
per the General 
Medical Contract). This 
includes 
emotional/mental 
health illness for 
children 10-15 years. 

Venus (third sector) Venus Venus offers support to 
women and families 
who are facing crisis 
such as poverty and/or 
debt, poor mental 
health, parenting 
concerns, 
homelessness and 
domestic abuse. The 
service works with 
families to overcome 
these difficulties by 
offering counselling, 
family therapy, debt 
and housing advice, 
information on jobs 
and training, peer 
support groups, family 
activities and advocacy 
at meetings and 
appointments. Venue 
work in partnership 
with other voluntary, 

Page 259

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

statutory and health 
services as part of a 
multi-agency team 
around the family. 

Parenting 2000 (third 
sector) ** grant 
funded 

Parenting 2000 Parenting 2000 
Therapeutic Services 
provides a range of 
specialist counselling 
programmes 
throughout Sefton. It 
includes a peripatetic 
service to local schools 
and health care centres 
to facilitate greater 
access for its service 
users. The facility 
provides emotional 
support service to local 
children (from the age 
of 6+), young people, 
adults and family 
groups. 
It offers a Tier 2 service 
to health care 
providers, individuals 
and other services. 
Parenting 2000’s 
Therapeutic Services 
delivers an early 
intervention facility 
preventing later long 
term mental health 
issues from developing 
for the individual.  
When working with 
family groups, the 
facility helps to 
solidify/strengthen the 
family unit and 
promote positive 
parenting and 
structure within the 
family group. It helps 
to restore a healthier 
home environment in 
which young people 
can develop 
emotionally, mentally 
and behaviourally.

Page 260

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

Services 
commissioned by 
children’s social care. 
Eg. Specific therapy or 
psychological support 
for children looked 
after or those children 
on plan. 

Children’s Social Care Therapeutic  Support 
Team

This team particularly 
focus on the emotional 
well-being of those 
children who access 
Children’s Social Care 
including Looked After 
Children

**Please see section 
above that relates to 
Public health one off 
funding in schools 

Services 
commissioned by 
other agencies, such 
as schools. 

Further examples of 
additional services 
commissioned by 
Sefton Council and/or 
individual schools. 

A) Bully Busters Sefton Council 
commission the service 
bully busters. Schools 
can utilise the service. 
It is an anti-bullying 
initiative providing 
training and awareness 
sessions for young 
people, children, 
professionals, 
governors and parents 
or carer's.
The website contains 
information and 
practical advice on 
bullying, as well as 
contact details for the 
free helpline or you 
can email via the 
contact  form.  
A team of specially 
trained staff operate 
the confidential 
telephone helpline and 
take calls from victims, 
parents or from people 
with information about 
the bullying of 

Page 261

Agenda Item 12



LAC in Residential Placements – Continuing Care Process Nov. 2019

 

children. As well as 
acting as a listening ear 
service, the team 
provides practical 
advice and can act as a 
mediator between the 
organisation where the 
bullying is taking place 
and the parent/carer of 
the child involved.

Young Carers in 
schools (part of Sefton 
Council service level 
agreement)

B) Young Carers Therapeutic support 
and mentoring are 
offered. Sessions will 
be evidenced based 
and designed to build 
carer knowledge, 
confidence, self-
esteem, resilience, and 
emotional well-being

c) Venus Provide peer support 
at Children’s Centres - 
please see narrative on 
page 11/12.

Page 262

Agenda Item 12



Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 4 
December 2019

Subject: Tackling Cheap Alcohol and Alcohol Harm in our Communities 

Report of: Director of Public 
Health

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Health and Wellbeing

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the work to tackle the harm caused 
by alcohol in our communities and to seek Board support to participate with other 
similarly minded authorities across the North to build support amongst the public and 
politicians for the introduction of Minimum Unit Pricing (MUP).

Recommendation(s):

1) That the report be noted; and

2) That the Board supports the decision for Sefton to participate with other similarly 
minded authorities across the North of England to build support amongst the 
public and politicians for the introduction of Minimum Unit Pricing (MUP).

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The work will help formulate the future strategic response to this issue. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not applicable. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Not applicable

Page 263

Agenda Item 13



(B) Capital Costs

Not applicable 

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Positive impact 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Positive impact

Commission, broker and provide core services: Positive impact

Place – leadership and influencer: Positive impact

Drivers of change and reform: Positive impact

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Positive impact 

Greater income for social investment: Possible positive impact 

Cleaner Greener: Neutral impact 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5860/19) has been consulted and notes that there 
are no direct financial implications associated with this report.

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4094/19) has been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

Cabinet Member – Health and Wellbeing has been consulted

(B) External Consultations 

None to date. 

Page 264

Agenda Item 13



Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Board meeting.

Contact Officer: Alan McGee
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3178
Email Address: alan.mcgee@sefton.gov.uk  

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

University of Sheffield MUP Data for Sefton

University of Sheffield MUP Question and Answer Sheet 

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction

1.1 Alcohol is a significant public health challenges facing Sefton, with rising levels of 
harm linked to increases in consumption over the past few decades. Nationally, 
one person is killed every single hour by alcohol, 1.2 million people are admitted 
to hospital due to alcohol related causes every year and countless others see their 
health damaged. It is not just dependent drinkers who experience alcohol harm 
and there is a sizeable cohort of people who drink at risky levels but who do not 
necessarily understand the potential health, personal and social consequences of 
their behaviour.

1.2 Alcohol does not just harm the individual drinker; it plays a significant role in child 
abuse and neglect, domestic violence, family breakdown and crime and disorder - 
it is a factor in around half of all violent crime. Problematic alcohol use disrupts 
families and damages entire communities with the negative impacts associated 
with alcohol use impacting on most areas within the UK. The Government has 
estimated that alcohol costs the country more than £21bn each year due to its 
impact on health, crime and society. Sefton suffers disproportionate harm when 
compared to the rest of the country, with estimated costs to the NHS alone of over 
£20 million each year. 27% of the adult population in Sefton are estimated to be 
drinking at increasing and higher risk levels with 86% of alcohol sold for less than 
50 pence per unit being consumed by drinkers in these categories. There are 
4,472 hospital admissions caused by alcohol each year, with 79 adults dying as a 
result of alcohol consumption every year. 10,762 crimes including 2,342 thefts and 
robberies, 6,345 incidents of criminal damage and 2,074 violence incidents are 
caused by alcohol each year in Sefton.

Page 265

Agenda Item 13



1.3 Commentators including the World Health Organization (WHO), the Organisation 
for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), the National Institute for 
Health and Clinical Excellent (NICE) and Public Health England have all stated 
that the most effective way to reduce alcohol harm is to reduce the affordability of 
alcohol. Currently, alcohol is 64% more affordable than it was in 1987. Beer sold 
in supermarkets has become 188% more affordable over the same period. 

1.4 To address similar issues to those faced in Sefton, Scotland introduced a 
minimum unit price for alcohol (MUP) in May 2018, after a long legal battle against 
sections of the alcohol industry. The Welsh Government has also legislated for 
MUP, which is expected to be introduced in 2020. MUP is linked to the strength of 
the product and works by setting a floor price below which a product cannot be 
sold. In that way, it increases the price of the cheapest drinks which are most 
typically consumed by increasing and higher risk drinkers.

1.5 Research from Sheffield University indicates that an MUP of 50 pence would save 
lives, prevent crime, protect the most vulnerable and save the NHS money. Sefton 
would see significant benefits from the introduction of a 50 pence MUP including:
• £388,974 savings to the NHS locally per year,
• Alcohol related hospital admissions would fall by 210 per year
• 122 deaths would be prevented in the next 20 years
• 244 fewer alcohol associated crimes would be committed per year

1.6     That same research clearly shows that MUP impacts on those people drinking at 
high risk levels, while leaving the average moderate drinker virtually untouched. It 
is also worth noting that most of the harm prevented would be found in more 
deprived groups. Despite not drinking more than high income groups, they suffer 
the greatest harm. It is also worth noting that previous research has shown that 
less than 1% of products sold in pubs would be affected by a 50 pence MUP. 

2. Policy Implications

2.1 Given the disproportionate levels of harm experienced across the North of 
England, the view expressed at Stakeholder meetings showcasing this
research, held in Warrington and Durham in late 2018, was that the North West 
and North East should work together to influence national MUP discussions. As a 
working group, the aim is to facilitate and encourage willing participant local 
authorities to work together to influence the national debate on MUP.

           
2.2      In light of the harms caused in Sefton by the widespread availability of cheap 

alcohol and the improvements in alcohol related health and crime promised by the 
above research, work is now underway to start the process of building public and 
political support for MUP and to seek to engage with politicians and Parliament. 
The Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to support the call to urge any new 
Government in Westminster to introduce MUP in England without delay.

2.3      The original research project into MUP was founded in legal advice which 
identified the Sustainable Communities Act (SCA) as a possible locally driven 
route for implementation of a national MUP should there be no appetite from 
Central Government at this point. The Board is asked to support, should the 
Government be unwilling to introduce MUP, joining a group of North West and 
North East Councils to take local action on this issue. Such an approach would 

Page 266

Agenda Item 13



enable consultation with local people on making a bid to introduce MUP at a 
regional/sub-regional/local level by making a bid using the Sustainable 
Communities Act.

Page 267

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Minimum Unit Pricing  
(MUP) in Sefton

What is MUP? 

MUP sets a floor price for a unit of alcohol. It targets 

the cheapest alcohol most commonly consumed by the 

heaviest drinkers.

MUP was introduced in Scotland at 50p per unit in 2018, 

meaning 3 litres of strong cider (ABV 7.5%) now costs 

no less than £11.25. Currently in England, this same bottle 

of cider can cost as little as £3.50.

Alcohol harm is a driver of health inequalities, with  

more deprived communities suffering higher levels  

of harm despite consuming less alcohol; so when it 

comes to alcohol harm in England, there is a also a 

North/South divide. 

For this reason, evidence about the impact of MUP is 

now available at a local authority level for most parts of 

the north of England following a University of Sheffield 

research study. Key findings for our local area can be 

found below.

MUP

SEFTON

Page 269

Agenda Item 13



HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS EACH
YEAR CAUSED BY ALCOHOL

614,243

Alcohol Harm in Sefton
Current estimates of harm caused by alcohol in  
our area.

In our area, 86% of the alcohol sold for less than  
50p per unit is consumed by increasing and higher risk 
drinkers who make up 27% of the local population. 

Wirral

5,842
4,47210,762

2,342
THEFTS OR 
ROBBERIES

6,345
INCIDENTS OF 
CRIMINAL DAMAGE

2,074
VIOLENT 
INCIDENTS

HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS CAUSED BY 
ALCOHOL EACH YEAR

CRIMES CAUSED BY  
ALCOHOL EACH YEAR

SAVE THE NHS
£123.9million 
A YEAR

ENGLAND

MUP IMPACT

£20m
ALCOHOL COSTS THE NHS A YEAR

79
ADULTS DIE EVERY YEAR DUE TO 
ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION

#50PMUP

#50PMUP

#50PMUP

#50PMUP

Page 270

Agenda Item 13



Impact of Minimum Unit Pricing on 
Alcohol Harm in Sefton
Estimated impact of a 50p MUP on harms caused by 
alcohol in our area.

A minimum unit price would save lives, prevent crime, 
protect the most vulnerable and save NHS money.

£5M

Wirral

5,842
210244

50
FEWER THEFTS OR 
ROBBERIES

145
FEWER INCIDENTS 
OF CRIMINAL 
DAMAGE

49
FEWER VIOLENT 
INCIDENTS

FEWER CRIMES CAUSED BY 
ALCOHOL EACH YEAR

#50PMUP

#50PMUP

#50PMUP

#50PMUP

FEWER HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS  
EACH YEAR

SAVE THE NHS
£123.9million 
A YEAR

ENGLAND

MUP IMPACT

£388,974
SAVE THE NHS

A YEAR

122
DEATHS PREVENTED IN THE 
NEXT 20 YEARS WITH A 50P MUP

Page 271

Agenda Item 13



Who Would Be Most Affected? 
MUP is targeted at the heaviest drinkers who  
consume the cheapest, strongest alcohol, especially  
in the most deprived areas, and would help to reduce 
health inequalities. It achieves this with little impact on 
moderate drinkers, including those on low incomes.

For the full research, including methodology and references visit,  

http://sheffield.ac.uk/scharr

Current annual spending by drinking group

Impact of a 50p MUP on ANNUAL ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION in units

Impact of a 50p MUP on Annual ALCOHOL Attributable DEATHS 

Moderate Increasing Risk Higher Risk

Least Deprived Most Deprived Least Deprived Most Deprived Least Deprived Most Deprived

Moderate Increasing Risk Higher Risk

Least Deprived Most Deprived Least Deprived Most Deprived Least Deprived Most Deprived

Moderate Increasing Risk Higher Risk

Least Deprived Most Deprived Least Deprived Most Deprived Least Deprived Most Deprived

Page 272

Agenda Item 13



MUP Local Q&A

‘MUP will unfairly hit moderate drinkers’

 Moderate drinkers will barely notice the difference under MUP. The average 
moderate drinker will consume the equivalent of half a bottle of wine less a year.

 Moderate drinkers, including those on low incomes, buy fewer than 2 units per 
week under the 50p unit mark.1

 Under a 50p MUP, the average moderate drinker would spend just £2.55 extra per 
year on alcohol. Of course, some would spend more, but many more would spend 
nothing extra at all because they buy all of their alcohol at more than 50p per unit.2

‘MUP will unfairly hit the poor’

 Those from the poorest groups stand to gain the most from MUP. They are more 
likely to be abstainers and, if they do drink at risky levels, they are more likely to 
suffer harm than more affluent groups

 Previous studies have shown that 8 out of 10 lives saved under MUP would  come 
from the poorest groups.3 This research shows a similar pattern.

 Previous studies have shown that, under a 50p MUP, moderate drinkers from the 
lowest socioeconomic group are estimated to spend just £1.32 more per year on 
alcohol.4

 This research shows that anyone drinking moderately will hardly be affected by MUP 
at 50p because the vast majority of cheap alcohol is consumed by risky drinkers

‘We should ‘wait and see’ what happens in Scotland’

 We don’t need to wait. The evidence is clear and recent figures show sales in 
Scotland in 2018 – when MUP was introduced - have fallen to a 24 year low. At the 
same time sales are  increasing in England and Wales5 

 There are some things we already know from Scotland. The implementation appears 
to have been relatively smooth and there are reports that sales of strong white cider 
typically consumed by heavy drinkers has fallen dramatically.

1 University of Sheffield. FAQ – minimum unit pricing. Available 
at https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/scharr/sections/ph/research/alpol/faq 
2 Ibid.
3 Holmes, J. et. al. (2014). Effects of minimum unit pricing for alcohol on different income and socioeconomic 
groups: a modelling study. The Lancet. Available at http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-
6736(13)62417-4/abstract
4 University of Sheffield. FAQ – minimum unit pricing.
5 Giles L, Robinson M. Monitoring and Evaluating Scotland’s Alcohol Strategy: Monitoring Report 2019. 
Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland; 2019.

Page 273

Agenda Item 13

https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/scharr/sections/ph/research/alpol/faq
http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(13)62417-4/abstract
http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(13)62417-4/abstract


 The implications of delay are clear – lives would be lost and people would be 
hospitalised or the victims of crime when that could easily have been avoided

 The evidence is already clear and compelling. MUP would save lives, reduce illness 
and cut crime with this study showing that the North has the most to gain. The 
Westminster government should implement now and, like Scotland, review its 
impact after 5 years.

‘The government could raise tax instead of introducing MUP’

 MUP is much better targeted at the cheapest, strongest drinks consumed by those 
who experience the worst harms.

 To replicate the benefits of MUP, tax levels would have to rise between 30% and 
700%. Such increases are politically unlikely and would hit moderate drinkers harder 
than MUP.

 MUP and tax increases are complementary measures – we need both. Tax rises 
would address the fall in the real price of alcohol across all products, whilst MUP 
deals with the specific problem of the cheapest alcohol.

‘The modelling work done by Sheffield University is unreliable and untested’

 Sheffield’s model is internationally renowned: MUP has been endorsed by the WHO, 
OECD, NICE and the World Bank, and Sheffield has been commissioned by 
governments across the UK and in Canada to model the impacts of MUP.

 The Sheffield research has been published in well-respected journals such as The 
Lancet and The BMJ. These journals are peer-reviewed, meaning that work 
appearing in them has been examined by other academics. The same cannot be said 
for the criticisms levelled at the research.

 The Sheffield research is based on over 1,300 estimates from around 150-200 
studies of the relationship between alcohol price changes, consumption and harm.

 It is of course impossible to predict the future with complete accuracy. 
Nevertheless, modelling is used extensively by the Treasury, and is a legitimate way 
to evaluate the potential benefits of policies.

‘MUP will damage the pub trade’

 Pub prices would be left virtually untouched by MUP – only about 1% of prices in the 
on-trade would be affected.6 

 If pubs are affected at all, they are likely to see tiny reductions in income, the 
equivalent of something like the price of one pint per week

6 University of Sheffield (2013). Modelled income group-specific impacts of alcohol minimum unit pricing in 
England 2014/15

Page 274

Agenda Item 13

https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/polopoly_fs/1.291621%21/file/julyreport.pdf
https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/polopoly_fs/1.291621%21/file/julyreport.pdf


 This is perhaps why a survey of pub managers done by the Institute of Alcohol 
Studies found that they support MUP by a margin of 2 to 1.7

 MUP is aimed at the cheapest, strongest alcohol sold in supermarkets and corner 
shops, like super-strength cider and own-brand vodka.

 The pub trade could actually receive a boost under MUP. Pubs have been in decline 
partly due to falling alcohol prices in the off-trade, with two-thirds of alcohol 
currently being bought in shops and supermarkets.8 Reversing this fall in off-trade 
prices could bring people back into pubs.

‘MUP won’t work, because heavy drinkers won’t respond to price changes’

 This is a myth. Most heavy drinkers are not dependent drinkers, and they do 
respond to price changes on the whole.

 Under a 50p MUP, high risk drinkers in the North are expected to reduce their 
consumption by an average of 370 units per year, the equivalent of 37 bottles of 
wine or 14 bottles of vodka. 

 Of course MUP isn’t a magic bullet. We still need access to treatment for those 
dependent on alcohol who need it and we need restrictions on the availability and 
marketing of alcohol products.

‘Under MUP, people dependent on alcohol might turn to drugs, illicit alcohol and crime’

 Research suggests there are a range of things dependent drinkers may do, both 
good and bad. They may reduce their consumption or seek help from a treatment 
service, for example.9

 This group of people is complex and so generalisations can’t be made. In addition, 
much of the harm caused by alcohol is not done by dependent drinkers, and MUP 
will be a key measure in preventing future lives being ruined by addiction to alcohol. 

 This should be compared with the problems alcohol is already causing. 4 in 10 
violent crimes are alcohol-related.10

 If people turned to drugs and crime in Canada where a version of minimum pricing 
has been implemented, it must have been on a small scale, otherwise the health 
gains that occurred there would not have been possible.

7 Institute of Alcohol Studies (2017). Pubs Quizzed: what publicans think about policy, public health and the 
changing trade. Available at http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/pdf/IAS%20reports/rp26092017.pdf 
8 British Beer and Pub Association (2012). Statistical Handbook 2012. London: Brewing Publications Limited
9 For an overview of potential consequences see: Stockwell, T. and Thomas, G. (2013). Is alcohol too cheap in the 
UK? The case for setting a Minimum Unit Price for alcohol. Institute of Alcohol Studies. Available at 
http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/pdf/News%20stories/iasreport-thomas-stockwell-april2013.pdf 
10 Office for National Statistics (2017). Overview of violent crime and sexual offences. Available at 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/compendium/focusonviolentcrimean
dsexualoffences/yearendingmarch2016/overviewofviolentcrimeandsexualoffences/pdf 

Page 275

Agenda Item 13

http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/pdf/IAS%20reports/rp26092017.pdf
http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/pdf/News%20stories/iasreport-thomas-stockwell-april2013.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/compendium/focusonviolentcrimeandsexualoffences/yearendingmarch2016/overviewofviolentcrimeandsexualoffences/pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/compendium/focusonviolentcrimeandsexualoffences/yearendingmarch2016/overviewofviolentcrimeandsexualoffences/pdf


‘The government has already taken action on cheap alcohol, with the ban on below-cost 
sales, and the increase in duty on high-strength cider’

 Neither of these measures will make a real difference.

 The ban on below cost sales is estimated to reduce alcohol sales by just 0.04% 
overall, and 0.08% among harmful drinkers. This is equal to about 3 units per drinker 
per year (and harmful drinkers each consume an average of 3,700 units per year).11 

 On cider duty, whereas a 3-litre bottle of 7.5% cider contains 22.5 units of alcohol, 
under the new regime a 3-litre bottle of 6.8% cider would avoid the higher rate of 
duty, yet still contain more than 20 units (the low-risk weekly guideline is 14 units).

‘Alcohol consumption in the UK is falling’

 Actually, it looks as though consumption levels in England have stopped falling and 
are on the rise again. While the latest figures show sales per adult in Scotland fell by 
3 per cent in 2018 – the year MUP was introduced North of the border -  they 
increased by 2 per cent in England and Wales over the same period12

 And consumption levels remain at historically high levels. We are drinking twice as 
much alcohol as we did in the 1950s.13

 Whilst there have been welcome falls in drinking levels amongst some groups, those 
who do drink are doing so more dangerously and health inequalities linked to 
alcohol are rising, with harm more concentrated amongst poor and vulnerable 
groups.

‘MUP will lead to a windfall for retailers’

 Potentially, but the intent of MUP is not anti-business, and retailer profits increasing 
is not a concern.

 News from Scotland seems to suggest that small retailers are seeing some benefit 
because they are now more able to compete with prices found in supermarkets

 In any case, as MUP is designed to reduce consumption of cheap alcohol, retailers 
may not stand to make much additional profit.

 Importantly, MUP will save the taxpayer money, as the costs linked with alcohol 
harm go down. 

‘Countries like France have cheaper prices yet don’t have a problem with alcohol’

 The UK’s culture and drinking patterns are not the same as in France.

11 Sheffield Alcohol Research Group (2013). New research on impacts of minimum unit pricing and banning below 
cost selling. Available at https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/scharr/sections/ph/research/alpol/research/newresearch 
12 NHS Health Scotland (2019). Monitoring and Evaluating Scotland’s Alcohol Strategy (MESAS): Monitoring 
Report 2019. Available at http://www.healthscotland.scot/media/2587/mesas-monitoring-report-2019.pdf
13 British Beer and Pub Association (2007). Statistical Handbook 2007.

Page 276

Agenda Item 13

https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/scharr/sections/ph/research/alpol/research/newresearch
http://www.healthscotland.scot/media/2587/mesas-monitoring-report-2019.pdf


 Alcohol has always been cheap in France. In the UK we have seen alcohol become 
very affordable over a relatively short time period, but our drinking culture has not 
responded by slowing down consumption.

 We tried to encourage a more continental style of drinking in the UK with the 
relaxation of licensing rules in the 2000s. This relaxation has not reduced harm.

 Almost 7 in 10 adults believe that the UK’s relationship with alcohol is ‘unhealthy’.14 
We need to address our high levels of alcohol harm, and MUP is one of the best 
ways of doing this.

‘We already have some of the highest alcohol duty rates in Europe’

 Over successive budgets, the government has given the alcohol industry tax breaks 
worth £9.1 billion up to the year 2024.15

 Alcohol is 64% more affordable than it was in 1987.16 The affordability of 
supermarket beer has increased 188% since 1987; the figure for wine and spirits is 
131%.17 In England alone there are over 23,000 alcohol deaths and over a million 
alcohol-related hospital admissions each year18 (PHE stats on alcohol). We need to 
do something and reducing the affordability is the most effective and cost-effective 
thing we can do.

‘MUP will reduce the tax take for government’

 The impact on revenue to the Treasury is estimated to be broadly neutral as falls in 
alcohol duty due to lower sales are estimated to be largely matched by increased 
VAT receipts due to the higher value of the remaining sales.19

 MUP will also save the government and the taxpayer money, due to the healthcare 
and policing savings which will follow from MUP.

 In addition, MUP is very cheap to implement and therefore will be very cheap for 
the taxpayer.

‘MUP will affect jobs in the alcohol industry’

 If people spend less money on alcohol, they will spend it elsewhere. Any loss to the 
alcohol sector will be compensated for with a boost to other sectors.

14 Alcohol Health Alliance public opinion polling 2018.
15 Institute of Alcohol Studies (2017). Budget 2018 analysis. Available at 
http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/pdf/IAS%20reports/sb24112018.pdf
16 NHS Digital. Statistics on Alcohol (2019). Available https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-alcohol/2019/part-7
17 Institute of Alcohol Studies (2018). Briefing: The rising affordability of alcohol. Available at 
http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/pdf/IAS%20reports/sb20022018.pdf
18 Public Health England. Local Alcohol Profiles for England. Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-alcohol-profiles-for-england-february-2018-update
19 University of Sheffield (2013). Modelled income group-specific impacts of alcohol minimum unit pricing in 
England 2014/15. Available at https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/polopoly_fs/1.291621%21/file/julyreport.pdf 

Page 277

Agenda Item 13

http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/pdf/IAS%20reports/sb20022018.pdf


 The overall impact of MUP on the economy is likely to be positive. This is because 
reducing alcohol harm will reduce the number of days off work due to alcohol.

‘MUP will place pressure on enforcement agencies’

 The implementation of MUP in Scotland has proceeded smoothly with no signs of 
significantly increased costs to enforcement agencies

 The police and local authorities are already seeing significant costs picking up the 
pieces from alcohol harm.

 Frontline police officers are already paying the price of cheap alcohol. In a recent 
survey of frontline officers, they reported spending more than half of their time 
dealing with alcohol-related incidents and more than 75% said they had been 
assaulted by someone who was drunk.20

‘Products at the bottom of the market will be lost’

 Cheap, pocket money-priced products which are only consumed by dependent 
drinkers and children will be lost, and this is a good thing.

 Wide-ranging evidence suggests that MUP will save lives, reduce hospital 
admissions, cut crime and benefit the economy. These issues should be of primary 
concern.

‘Implementing MUP will be challenging for retailers’

 With the right support from government, retailers will not struggle to implement 
minimum pricing in their stores. The implementation seems to have proceeded 
smoothly in Scotland with few reported issues of non-compliance.

 Any pricing policy, including annual tax changes, imposes similar burdens. MUP 
should not be considered especially unusual.

 The Home Office estimated in 2012 that the cost of implementation for a 45p MUP 
would be minimal, and that retailers with Head Office support would have almost no 
costs.21

‘Other countries could put up retaliatory trade barriers if we introduce MUP’

 We are entitled to protect the health of our most vulnerable people through 
preventing the sale of high-strength alcohol at pocket-money prices.

 Alcohol is no ordinary commodity. It kills, and it wrecks lives, sometimes the lives of 
those who don’t consume the alcohol themselves. It is therefore right to seek to 
intervene to protect people from the negative impacts of alcohol.

20 Institute of Alcohol Studies (2015). Alcohol’s impact on the emergency services. Available at 
http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/Alcohols_impact_on_emergency_services_full_report.pdf 
21 Home Office (2012). A minimum unit price for alcohol: impact assessment. Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/157763/ia-minimum-unit-
pricing.pdf 

Page 278

Agenda Item 13

http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/Alcohols_impact_on_emergency_services_full_report.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/157763/ia-minimum-unit-pricing.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/157763/ia-minimum-unit-pricing.pdf


‘Minimum pricing in Canada cannot be compared to MUP as proposed in the UK’

 For all practical purposes they are comparable.

 The way minimum prices in Canada are calculated is slightly different, but in both 
countries we’re talking about raising the price of the cheapest alcohol products 
through the setting of floor prices for alcohol.

 After the minimum price of products was increased in parts of Canada, alcohol-
related deaths and crimes went down. The evidence suggests the same would 
happen in the UK. 

‘There is no clear relationship between the price of alcohol and consumption’

 Every time we walk into a supermarket we recognise that a product’s price 
influences whether and how much we buy – and the same applies to alcohol.

 The relationship between the affordability of alcohol and levels of consumption is 
absolutely clear and has been accepted by the government. The alcohol industry 
recognises this – otherwise they would not discount their products.  

 What is also clear is that the more we drink, the greater the risk of medical 
conditions such as liver disease and a number of cancers, including breast cancer.

Page 279

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

Date of Meeting: 4th December 2019 

Subject: SEND Continuous Improvement 
Report of: Chief Executive Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Children, Schools and Safeguarding

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

The report updates the Board on actions taken and progress made with regard to the 
improvements required following the Ofsted and Care Quality Commission joint local 
area special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND) revisit.  The report details the 
key actions and responses being taken.

Recommendation(s):

The Board is asked to 

1. note the DfE approval of the Improvement Plan 
2. consider the information provided and progress made, being aware that the impact 

of some of the changes made is not yet visible 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The revisit highlighted that partner agencies need to significantly improve outcomes for 
children and young people and support parents and carers through improvements to joint 
working, transparency and health system. The Department of Education, responded by 
issuing the Council with an Improvement Notice on the 14th June 2019 (published on 25th 
July) which will remain in place for 18 months. 

Given the feedback received governance and leadership across the local area for SEND 
has never been more important.  The Health & Wellbeing Board will provide system 
leadership, keep the Council’s Cabinet informed of progress and if necessary will 
escalate concerns. The role of the Health & Wellbeing Board is to offer robust challenge 
and oversight to the continuous improvement of the localoffer to Children, Young People 
and their families.  

The Improvement Plan has been approved by the Department for Education.   

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Page 281

Agenda Item 14



None.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
 
For the Council in 2019/2020 there is a forecast budget pressure of £0.223m due to the 
new posts.  
In 2020/2021, the additional net costs of the new posts would be £0.400m. 

The CCGs have invested a non-recurring £35k in SENDIASS and a recurring £100K+ in 
Speech and Language Therapy.

(B) Capital Costs

Not Applicable 

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
There are financial implications as stated above.

On 16th October 2019 the House of Commons Education Committee (Special 
educational needs and disabilities) issued its First Report of Session 2019–20.  In their 
summary they state 

“The reforms were the right ones. But their implementation has been badly hampered 
by poor administration and a challenging funding environment in which local authorities 
and schools have lacked the ability to make transformative change. The Government 
has recently taken initial steps to rectify the latter of these two challenges, but there is 
much left to be done.

There is too much of a tension between the child’s needs and the provision available. 
The significant funding shortfall is a serious contributory factor to the failure on the part 
of all involved to deliver on the SEND reforms and meet children’s needs. Ultimately, 
however, unless we see a culture change, within schools and local authorities and the 
Government, any additional money will be wasted and make little difference to their 
lives. ……

…..3. The Department for Education set local authorities up to fail by making serious 
errors both in how it administered money intended for change, and also, until recently, 
failing to provide extra money when it was needed. (Paragraph 20)

4. The significant shortfall in funding is a serious contributory factor to the failure on the 
part of schools and local authorities to meet the needs of children and young people 
with SEND. However, unless there is a systemic cultural shift on the part of all parties 
involved, additional funding will make little difference to the outcomes and experiences 
of children and young people with SEND. (Paragraph 21)

Page 282

Agenda Item 14



5. While we acknowledge the extra money provided in the spending review, both for 
schools and social care, we deeply regret that this spending review process was 
insufficient in tackling the fundamental challenges facing both children and adult social 
care. We acknowledge the Government’s recent Budget announcement and hope that 
this will be tackled at that point. (Paragraph 24)”

The Local Government Association (LGA) states “There is simply not enough money 
to keep up with demand, leaving many councils unable to meet their statutory 
duties and meaning children with high needs or disabilities could miss out on a 
mainstream education.”

The High Needs Budget in 2018/19 overspent by £2.3m.  This is after taking into 
account the additional £562k awarded in December 2018 as part of Sefton’s share of 
the £350m two-year additional funding. There is an ongoing forecast overspend on High 
Needs in 2019/20, of between £3.5m and £4m, though efforts are being made to try to 
reduce this. 

Additional High Needs funding has recently been announced for 2020/21, and is 
expected to be around £3.8m for Sefton, and whilst this will help stabilise budget 
spending next year, it will not address a forecast accumulated deficit balance on the 
DSG of over £2m, anticipated by the end of 2019/20.

Annual expenditure has risen by £4.5m between 2014/15 and 2018/19 an increase of 
17.7%, whereas annual High Needs funding has only increased by £2.392m (9.4%) 
across the same period, this includes taking inter-DSG block funding transfers into 
account.

Legal Implications: 

The Children and Families Act (2014) places a statutory duty on local authorities,
education providers, CCGs and other NHS organisations to provide support for children 
and young people with SEN or disabilities aged 0-25. In doing these local authorities, 
NHS England and their partner CCGs must make arrangements for agreeing the 
education, health and social care provision reasonably required by local children and 
young people with SEN or disabilities.

Equality Implications:

 The equality implications will be assessed as the Improvement Plan progresses 
SENDCIB will be kept informed of all equality implications, risks and mitigations.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: 
The delivery of the Improvement Plan will ensure a focused response on providing 
improved outcomes for the children and young people with SEND and their families. 
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 

Page 283

Agenda Item 14



The delivery of the Improvement Plan responding to the revisit and the subsequent 
activity will need to build the trust and confidence of the community that the Council and 
its Health partners are delivering on their commitments. 
Commission, broker and provide core services: 
A key pillar of the Improvement Plan will be the development of a Joint Commissioning 
Strategy.  Through this strategy our ambition is to ensure adequate services that can 
respond when people need it most.

Place – leadership and influencer:  
The Council will work with partners, in particular commissioners and providers of Health 
Services, to work towards common goals in relation to the delivery of the 
Improvement Plan.  The Council has a key role in holding the whole system to 
account on this matter and will ensure an evidence-based plan is delivered against.

Drivers of change and reform: 
The Council will work with partners, in particular Health, to make change happen so as 
to improve outcomes for children and young people with SEND.
  
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not Applicable 

Greater income for social investment: Not Applicable 

Cleaner Greener Not Applicable 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5871/19) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD4055/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

The Council has and will continue to engage with the CCG, other Health partners and 
Sefton Parent Carer Forum on this matter.  

Given the timings of the Health & Wellbeing Board and the SEND Continuous 
Improvement Board (SENDCIB) the updates at Annex A & B will be shared with key 
stakeholders, considered and updated at 17th December SENDCIB.  The DfE and NHS 
England and NHS Improvement Advisors have and will continue to provide support, 
challenge and assurance to the tracking of progress.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Page 284

Agenda Item 14



Contact Officer: Vicky Buchanan
Telephone Number: 01519343128
Email Address: vicky.buchanan@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

A. The Improvement Plan and progress to date 
B. SEND Improvement Plan Dashboard

Background Papers:

House of Commons Education Committee (Special educational needs and disabilities) 
issued its First Report of Session 2019–20 is available at 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201920/cmselect/cmeduc/20/20.pdf 
 

Published version of the SEND Improvement Plan 
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/sefton/fsd/files/sefton_send_improveme
nt_plan.pdf   

Page 285

Agenda Item 14

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201920/cmselect/cmeduc/20/20.pdf
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/sefton/fsd/files/sefton_send_improvement_plan.pdf
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/sefton/fsd/files/sefton_send_improvement_plan.pdf


1. Introduction

1.1 This report informs the Health & Welling Board of the progress made and 
improvements planned in response to the Ofsted and Care Quality 
Commission in the joint local area special educational needs and/or 
disabilities (SEND) revisit that took place between 15th to 17th April 2019. 
 

1.2 In response the partnership has developed an Improvement Plan which has 
been agreed by the Department for Education (DfE) has been published on 
the Local Offer and this is available as a background paper with a summarised 
version at Annex A, Board members are asked to note the DfE approval of the 
Improvement Plan.  The SEND Continuous Improvement Board (SENDCIB) 
continue to receive support and challenge from the NHS England and DfE 
advisors.

1.3 Progress against the Improvement Plan is included at Annex A and Annex B 
of this report.  Over the coming weeks these documents will be updated to 
accurately reflect progress made as evidence is gathered and understanding 
of impact develops.  The updated documents will be shared with SENDCIB on 
17th December 2019.  It is important to note that the delivery of the 
Improvement Plan will take place over an 18-month period this will help 
ensure that the changes delivered are fit for purpose and sustainable.   

1.4 Demonstrating the impact of the changes being made will take time and the 
SENDCIB recognise that being able to demonstrate impact will be crucial.  
Over the coming months the Local Area will work together and use a number 
of tools such as surveys to ensure that the changes being made are resulting 
in the desired improvement. The Council’s Chief Executive has put in place 
additional measures that ensure corporate oversight of the Improvement Plan 
progress from a Council perspective and this provides the Council’s Executive 
Leadership to support prioritisation of activity, offer an additional source of 
challenge and Governance. 

1.5 Members of the Board are asked to consider this information, be aware that 
the impact of some of the changes made is not yet visible but be assured that 
operational performance is beginning to improve. 

2. Delivering the Improvement Plan 

2.1 The detail of the progress to date is provided at Annex A and Annex B. 

To improve the poor progress made from starting points by pupils with a 
statement of special educational needs or an EHCP at key stage 2

2.2 The secondment of the experienced Headteacher has been extended and this 
has created the required capacity to drive this area of work forward.  This 
additional capacity will scrutinise and have oversight of schools’ performance.  
Board members should be aware that activity in this area of work includes

2.2..1 A sub group has been established to consider Writing and Maths

Page 286

Agenda Item 14



2.2..2 Working with the Inclusion Consultants to develop geographic cluster 
groups and these have been in place since September 2019.  These 
groups have oversight of schools’ data and are beginning to build capacity 
through sharing good practice and training SENCOs in the use of various 
assessment tools.

2.2..3 A Pupil Performance Group which is considering how we can improve our 
understanding of data on a real time basis.

2.3 Operational performance is beginning to improve but the impact of the 
changes being made is not as widespread as the Local Area would like.  The 
Council and the CCGs have invested significant additional resources to 
increase staffing, as well as additional investment in SENDIASS.  The 
recruitment to these additional posts is nearing completion and so the Local 
Area is confident that the impact of this will be more widely felt in 2020.

To address the poor operational oversight of the Designated Clinical Officer 
(DCO) across health services in supporting children and young people who 
have special educational needs and/or disabilities and their families

2.4 The Designated Clinical Officer has been in post for almost a year. The 
Operational oversight has improved since the inspection, whilst the 
overarching Health SEND oversight framework has been developed and is 
expected to be approved at the Health SEND Strategy Group in November. 

To Improve the lack of awareness and understanding of Health 
Professional in terms of their responsibilities and contribution to EHCPs

2.5 Front-line Health Service staff have undertaken NASEN (National Association 
for Special Educational Needs) Accredited Training which was well received. 
The final evaluation is still outstanding and feedback is expected to be 
positive.
 

To address the weakness of co-production with parents, and more 
generally in communications with parents

2.6 Improving the trust and confidence of families in the Local Area is critical to 
the success of this whole programme of work.  The Local Area recognises 
that there is a lot of work to be done in this area and has taken steps to 
improve the level of engagement with Sefton Parent Carer Forum but 
recognise that building trust and confidence from a low starting point takes 
time.  
The detail of the progress to date is provided at Annex A, notably the team 
has co-produced a survey for all parents and carers that will enable the Local 
Area to set a baseline and track performance improvement going forward.  
The survey went live online on 14th November 2019 and people will have the 
opportunity to respond up until 18th December 2019.  Once the feedback has 
been analysed this will be shared with the SENDCIB along with any proposed 
actions.

Given the importance of this area of the Improvement Plan Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (Children’s and Safeguarding) will give particular 

Page 287

Agenda Item 14



consideration to the improvements needed and progress being made in the 
area of Co-production, Communication and Engagement.

To address the weakness of joint commissioning in ensuring that there are 
adequate services to meet local demand

2.7 Following the revisit colleagues from across the system have worked together 
to undertake a more through assessment of SEND need and to produce a 
draft Strategic Needs Assessment for SEND and draft Joint Commissioning 
Approach (which will develop into a Strategy and action plan).  In developing 
these documents the Joint Commissioning Sub Group has taken account of 
the SEND Code of Practice and the Department for Education Advisor has 
provided examples of best practice for consideration.

Both of these documents were considered by the October SENDCIB and are 
now being progressed via the Co-production, Communication and 
Engagement Sub Group and Commissioning teams.  The aim is to present a 
draft Joint Commissioning Strategy prepared for consideration in January 
2020.  

3. Risk

3.1 Whilst every effort will be made to ensure that the required change will put solid 
foundations in place, the Local Area remains vulnerable to a range of issues that 
can impact upon its financial sustainability and which impact upon the decisions 
that each member of the system must make. These include pressures across the 
system nationally such as the impact of demand pressures and most significantly 
central government policy.

3.2 The SENDCIB will continue to monitor risks on a regular basis, putting in place 
mitigation where possible and escalating risks as required.

4. Conclusion

4.1   There has been a positive start to delivery of the Improvement Plan with the local 
area partners responding to the challenges.  The Local Area recognises the 
significant challenges that continue to be faced by Sefton families of children with 
special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). It also recognises that it has 
not delivered services to the standards that are expectedand that our children 
and young people deserve but is confident that the actions being taken will begin 
to have a demonstrable positive impact in 2020.

4.2 The Improvement Plan focuses on an 18-month period, but it is important for the 
Local Area to look beyond that horizon.  The sustainability of the change requires 
the whole system to change and clarity in terms of central government’s 
approach.  

4.3 All parties remain committed to delivering the required actions that will improve 
the lives of Sefton’s children and young people with SEND, to enable them to 
reach their potential.

Page 288

Agenda Item 14



SEND Improvement Plan Tracker
November 2019

The outcome we 
are aiming for.

Action 
Ref.

The actions we are taking Impact we will have
Action Completion 
date and progress 

rating
Progress & Impact - November 2019

1.1 Children and 
young people will 
an Education, 
Health and Care 
Plan achieve from 
their starting 
point at KS2 in 
Writing and 
Maths at least as 
well as their 
peers nationally

1.1.1 The Council will continue to work 
collaboratively with schools to regularly 
monitor pupil performance to see if the 
agreed goals, expectations and outcomes 
for pupils are being met.

To strengthen our collaboration the Council 
has seconded an experienced Head of an 
outstanding Special School on a full time 
basis to ensure oversight of the EHCP 
process from an education perspective. 

New EHCPs include key stage expectations 
from September 2019

* The percentage of Sefton 
children educated on an EHCP 
achieve the expected standard in 
KS2 Writing and Maths and is 
consistent with national 
averages.  

* Outcomes for children with 
Education and Health Care Plans 
are expressed as quantifiable 
end of key stage expectations

Monitoring of KS2 
forms part of the 
Councils wider 
monitoring of pupil 
performance.   

       * Nationally, 65% of pupils reached the expected standard in all of reading, writing and maths (combined) in 2019, up from 64% in 2018. 11% 
of pupils reached the higher standard in   2019, up from 10% in 2018.   In Sefton 62% of pupils reached the expected standard in all of reading, 
writing and maths (combined) in 2019, down from 64% in 2018. 9% of pupils reached the higher standard in 2019, up from 8% in 2018.  When we 
consider the performance for the children and young people with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) from their starting point at KS2 in 
writing and maths (to be at least as well as their peers nationally), the percentage of pupils who reached the expected standard in all of reading, 
writing and maths (combined) in 2019 was 3%, below the national average of 9%, but up from 1% in 2018.

     * The Council increased capacity to drive this action forward and a number of working groups are in place that will take forward change in this 
area.  Being able to demonstrate the impact of the changes being developed will take time.   

1.2 The 
Timeliness of new 
EHCPs will 
improve to within 
the statutory 
timescale of 20 
weeks

1.2.1 Develop and monitor a resourced recovery 
plan to ensure that EHCPs are completed 
within the statutory timescale of 20 weeks.  
This will include the use of a tracker that 
has been developed

*  EHC Plans are completed 
within the statutory timescale of 
20 weeks. 

NB using local performance 
monitoring data and comparison 
with 2018 LAIT

 18 months In line 
with national 
averages for new 
assessments 
completed within 20 
weeks by October 
2020

* The resourced recovery plan is in place and using a  tracker for new EHCPs progress is being actively monitored by the SEND team.  The 
operational management oversight of performance on a weekly basis and if required appropriate remedial action is put in place.  To assure 
progress the tracker is also monitored the Council's Performance and Business Intelligence team with the Council's Executive Leadership team 
receiving regular updates.  

*  Compliance is improving month on month, at the end of October 2019, the number of plans finalised in the calendar year is 270, with 17% of 
them finalised within 20 weeks. There has been a upward trend in performance for the number of plans completed within 20 weeks, increasing 
from 4.7% in July 2019. 

* Noticeably 51% of plans were completed within 20 weeks in October, but the overall performance is averaged to 17%.   

*  The impact of the improvements in this area is yet to be widely felt by families, the parent carer survey will establish a baseline that will enable 
us to track this going forward.

1.3 EHC Plans are 
reviewed within 
the statutory 
timescales

1.3.1 Revise guidance and processes to ensure 
appropriate prioritisation and resourcing of 
annual reviews. This will include the use of 
a tracker that has been developed. 
Prioritisation of key education transition 
points (Yr 6 & Yr 11) for children and young 
people

*  Reviews are completed within 
statutory timescales. 

*  Transitional arrangements at 
key points improve.

12 months.. 
Reviews completed 
within timescales 
from July 2020

*  Additional resources have been commissioned to drive the required improvement in performance in relation to reviews. A system has been put 
in place to improve the timeliness of reviews and a tracker is in development. 

*  The SEND team has prioritised identifying and planning for the review of children and young people with EHC plans
 (1) preparing for adulthood reviews 
 (2) attending a Sefton mainstream school or other institution and moving between key phases of education, and 
 (3) those not attend a Sefton mainstream school or other institution, by the 15th February 2020 (Yr.6 cohort), 31st March 2020 (Yr.11 cohort) and 
the end of the academic year (Yr.9 cohort).

* 96 children and young people have been identified who are currently in NCY6 and will be moving between key phases of education in 2020. 

* Review meetings for 77 of these children and young people have been held.

*  The impact of the improvements in this area is yet to be widely felt by families, the parent carer survey will establish a baseline that will enable 
us to track this going forward.

3 months 
September 2019.  
Initial workshop 
delivered

* To support the required improvement in quality of EHCPs initial NASEN training was delivered on 9th and 24th September 2019. This training 
covered both EHCPs and Personal Budgets and was attended by both members of Council and Health workforces.  There was a further session 
on 10th October 2019 for Health staff.  Overall the feedback from attendees was positive with comments including "Refocused my thinking, really 
enjoyed the course", and "Great to have time to reflect".  Many of the attendees also commented on having an improved understanding of 
developing outcome based plans.  Going forward it will be essential that the impact of the training delivered is assessed through the quality 
assurance framework, this will be monitored using the Framework identified at 1.4.2.    It is anticipated that the training will begin to have a visible 
impact on the quality of plans over the next quarter.

 6 months..  NASEN 
workshop to quality 
assure EHCPS 9 
months April 2020  
Follow up workshop

*  Further sessions are planned in house to look at peer review of current plans. A further session is planned to look at the Preparation for 
Adulthood element. A session is planned to Legal to deep dive some of the detail provision parts of the plan. managers are to take part in a peer 
review task with other LAs.

*  The impact of training, peer review and consideration of best practice will be evidenced through EHCP audits and feedback from young people 
and families.  At this stage the baseline is not in place but actions are in train to ensure active progression.

1.4.1 Train the SEND system workforce to 
develop and write co-produced, outcome-
based plans. NASEN will deliver training for 
staff completed by end of September 2019.  
A follow up NASEN workshop for staff will 
take place early in 2020 to ensure training 
has been embedded

*  EHC Plans will be 
       * of at least good quality as 
evidenced in audit  
       *  current and specific
       * compliant with statutory 
requirements
       * produced stating clear 
outcomes
       * clear on the timelines for 
achieving outcomes

1.4 The quality of 
outcome writing 
in Education, 
Health and Care 
plans is at least 
consistently good

P
age 289

A
genda Item

 14



SEND Improvement Plan Tracker
November 2019

The outcome we 
are aiming for.

Action 
Ref.

The actions we are taking Impact we will have
Action Completion 
date and progress 

rating
Progress & Impact - November 2019

1.4.2 Embed the robust multiagency quality 
assurance framework to enable overview, 
challenge and scrutiny of EHC plans. From 
October 2019 the Quality Assurance Panel 
will evaluate the quality of EHCP outcomes 
against best practice [following on from the 
NASEN Training] 

*  The Quality Assurance 
Framework will be embedded 
and used by all staff working on 
EHC plans.  

*  Parents and carers 
demonstrate confidence in the 
assurance framework

6 months  
Commence 
evaluation of the 
quality of EHCP 
outcomes against 
best practice from 
October 2019

*  The Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) Quality Assurance Framework was co-produced with SPCF representatives as part of a task and 
finish group.  The QA Framework was developed using best practice research complied through the Council for Disabled Children.  This was 
reviewed at the Co-production sub group meeting on 11th October 2019.  In addition to this the sub group are considering a tiered approach to the 
audit of plans that will include internal audits and extend to North West peer to peer support.

*  The EHCP Quality Assurance Group has been re-established and will meet monthly to randomly sample 10 % of plans.  Findings will directly 
feed into practice to ensure the quality of outcomes are addressed and improved and where necessary remedial action taken.  As the framework 
embeds it is anticipated that feedback from young people and families will improve and one of the tools that we will use to assess this will be the 
parent/carer survey.

* The impact of the improvements in this area is yet to be widely felt by families, the parent carer survey will be one of the ways that we monitor 
impact as this will enable us to track this going forward.

1.5 Parents are 
clear about the 
assessment 
process, quality 
assurance 
practices and 
involved in the 
production of 
EHCPS

1.5.1 Review As Is processes (referral, 
assessment, plan, review, appeal and 
tribunal) across the system and develop To 
Be processes.  Identify and secure the 
resources required to implement the 
redesigned process including system 
development and staffing.  Publish our 
processes and undertake a regular survey 
to provide assurance that parents and 
carers understand and are actively involved 
in our processes.

*  Our processes are joined up 
and understood by all 
stakeholders. 

*  Results of surveys are 
analysed and demonstrate 
understanding of process and 
participation in the development 
of EHCPs

See Action 4 *  The Council and Health teams continue to review internal processes and have introduced a number of immediate changes including 
(1) Ensuring contact with all parents within the first 6 weeks of request for assessment
(2) Complaints and Freedom of Information are now managed at a corporate level within the Strategic Support Unit and this has meant that the 
backlog of complaints is now clear
(3) Increasing the number of joint outcome  meetings to co-produce plans
(4) Co - production meetings are embedded at early years and expanding into the wider cohort
To improve understanding of processes parents are involved in co - production tasks including; decision making processes, review of paperwork 
and quality assurance and the production of a flowchart that clearly articulates the assessment process in a clear and coherent way.

* Analysed feedback from the parent carer survey currently being undertaken will be used to establish a baseline and through future surveys the 
Local area will be able to demonstrate improvements in understanding of process and participation in the development of EHCPs.  The Local Area 
recognised that significant improvement is still required in this area and Council officers are scheduled to meet with members of SPCF on 2nd 
December 2019 to consider future processes.

1.6 To increase 
the use of 
Personal Health 
Budgets (PHB) as 
part of ECHPs

1.6.1 To develop a campaign to promote the use 
of PHBs as part of delivery of EHCPs

* Increased satisfaction from 
parents, carers and young people 
as a personal health budget will 
increase their control and choice. 

* Improve outcomes for young 
people 

Initial discussions underway to identify stakeholders for further discussions.  

Early discussions have now taken place - it is evident that there is a relatively small cohort of individuals for which a PHB package would be 
suitable
Progress is now being made to identify children and young people that would potentially benefit from having a PHB

2.1.1

The job description for the DCO role will be 
revised in accordance with national 
guidelines and aligned to the SEND Code of 
Practice.  The job description will be 
approved by the Health SEND Steering 
Group and shared across the system

*A Designated Clinical Officer job 
description in place for which 
there will be ongoing review to 
ensure it remains aligned to 
relevant national guidance. 

*  Practitioners and managers at 
the frontline of services will 
understand the DCO role and will 
understand lines of 
accountability.

1 month  
01/08/2019  Job 
description agreed

Job description agreed - shared with wider Health SEND group on 22 November 2019

0 months 07/07/19 
Clinical Supervision 
in place. Complete

Jane Lunt, Chief nurse (LCCG), Interim CN (SS&SFCCG) is clinical supervisor

3 months.  October 
2019 1st quarterly 
assessment of 
workplan

Workplan agreed - shared with wider Health SEND group on 22 November 2019

*  There will be evidence of 
accountability and clinical 
supervision will be available 
for scrutiny.  

*  Practitioners and managers 
at the frontline of services will 
understand priorities of the 
DCO.

Establish line management comprising 
clinical supervision.  Develop 
accountability framework, comprising 
clinical supervision.

2.1.2

2.1  A 
documented 
and approved 
management 
and 
accountability 
framework to be 
in place for the 
DCO

P
age 290

A
genda Item

 14



SEND Improvement Plan Tracker
November 2019

The outcome we 
are aiming for.

Action 
Ref.

The actions we are taking Impact we will have
Action Completion 
date and progress 

rating
Progress & Impact - November 2019

2.1.3 Develop a realistic work plan with 
manageable objectives will be developed 
and agreed by all relevant stakeholders.

*  The Designated Clinical Officer 
will have an agreed and 
monitored workplan in place.  

*  The CCGs will be able to 
demonstrate progress is being 
made on the implementation of 
the DCO work plan.  

*  There will be evidence of 
SEND leadership within health 
services across Sefton.

6 months December 
2019 Evidence of 
progress against 
workplan

Ongoing - quarterly reviews of workplan

2.2  A 
documented and 
approved SEND 
services 
oversight 
framework to be 
in place across 
the system **

2.2.1 Develop and agree a SEND oversight 
framework with health providers to be 
agreed by all relevant stakeholders.   
Engaging a management consultant expert 
to undertake a benchmarking exercise of 
arrangements in other areas and to make 
recommendations on actions to take to 
address areas requiring further 
improvement

*  The CCGs will have an 
approved management and 
accountability framework in place 
and agreed by relevant parties 
and be able to hold providers to 
account.  

*   An approved SEND services 
oversight framework will be in 
place and agreed by relevant 
partners.  
.
*  Improvements in SEND 
arrangements will lead to 
improved outcomes for young 
people

3 months   
01/10/2019

Management consultant engagement now concluded and outputs shared with the CCG

Health SEND oversight framework has been drafted and will was shared with wider Health SEND group on 22 November 2019 with a view to 
securing collective agreement on the framework, the feedback from relevant leads has now been captured and the document will be updated and 
recirculated.  

NHSE/I provided feedback on 15th November and that feedback has been incorporated into the draft document.

3.1.1 Review and change the health information 
submission pathway for EHCPs.   Improve 
the quality of health information submitted 
to EHCPs which will routinely be subject to 
a QA process prior to completion. 

*  Increased awareness and 
understanding of health 
professionals regarding their 
responsibilities and contribution 
to EHC plans.    

*  Production of good EHC plans, 
produced within statutory time 
lines leading to improved 
outcomes for children & young 
people.   

*  There will be evidence of 
effective quality assurance or 
monitoring of the timeliness of 
health submissions.  

* There will be evidence of co-
production, communication and 
engagement in EHCP process.

6 months.  
December 2019

*  Pathway under review and was discussed at wider Health SEND group on 22 November 2019.  The process has now been reviewed and an 
updated and improved process will be implemented in April 2020 - appropriate training will be provided.  This will lead to significant improvements 
in the % of EHCPs being assessed as "good".

*  There will be a single point of access for the co-ordination of health advice that will be overseen by the Mersey Care Team.  That advice will be 
subject to validation and QA before being submitted to the local authority.  This will ensure that the quality of the inputs are accurate enabling the 
production of high quality EHCPs.

*  There have been evidenced improvements in performance during the previous months

3.1.2 Increase staff skills and knowledge of 
EHCPs via CPD/PDR/ 
workshops/NASEN training and refresher 
training processes and monitoring levels of 
understanding 

*  Training will be evaluated and 
action if required.   

*  Actions implemented from 
survey findings where levels of 
understanding are found to be 
low.    

*  Improved quality in all 
produced EHCPs.

6 months.   
December 2019 

NASEN training undertaken by front-line staff. Awaiting initial evaluation to review feedback and extent of coverage across relevant workforce

3.1 All relevant 
health 
professionals are 
aware of their 
responsibilities 
and contribution 
of EHCPs. 

P
age 291

A
genda Item

 14



SEND Improvement Plan Tracker
November 2019

The outcome we 
are aiming for.

Action 
Ref.

The actions we are taking Impact we will have
Action Completion 
date and progress 

rating
Progress & Impact - November 2019

6 months December 
2019 Survey 
developed - 
achieved co-
production of 
survey.

Note the survey is 
now live and will 
close 18th 
December 2019, 
once the survey has 
been analysed it will 
be reported to 
SENDCIB in 
January 2020.

*  The Council's Head of Communities and the DCO now attend the Sefton Parent Carer Forum (SPCF) on a regular basis. It has been agreed by 
SPCF that the DCO will attend one month and the Head of Communities will attend the following month, this is to help manage SPCF agenda.   
Engagement with Council services has been funnelled through the Head of Communities and at the request of the SPCF colleagues from 
Business Intelligence and Specialist Transport have attended meetings to  share the approach to the Improvement Plan performance 
management, update on service delivery and to receive feedback from parents and carers. In between formal meetings, SPCF reps have attended 
the sub group meetings and are integral to the task and finish groups and the Head of Communities has established Keep In Touch meetings with 
SENDIASS, SEND Team and SPCF and the initial meeting will take place in 12th December 2019.  SPCF recognised  the development of the 
parent carer survey as an example of good co-production.  SPCF is represented on the SENDCIB and this is one of the ways that they will feel 
more engaged with local leaders and have the opportunity to drive improvement and change.  The Keep In Touch meetings will provide an 
opportunity to prioritise activity, identify quick wins and develop shared understanding, as the first of these meetings is yet to take place we are 
unable to identify the impact that they will have at this time.

*  The Council's Consultation and Engagement Lead and SEND Policy and Development Officer have worked with two members of SPCF to co-
produce a parent career survey.  The draft survey was shared with key stakeholders from across the partnership for comment.  It has been agreed 
with SPCF that the survey will open on 21st of November and run to 18th December 2019.  Representatives of SPCF have fed back to SENDCIB 
that this has been a positive experience in terms of co-production.  The Local Area recognises that progress is being made in this area but 
building trust and confidence takes time, the Local Area remains committed to ensuring that SPCF feels truly engaged.  
Alongside the work with SPCF it is essential that the Local Area recognises that it must also gain the trust and confidence of children and young 
people with SEND.  In March 2019 Youth Participation Conferences were held over 2 days and 117 pupils attended representing 22 schools and 2 
colleges in Sefton. feedback from participants and staff on the days were very positive with a promise to support any similar conferences in the 
future. The Local Area recognises that it needs to undertake a greater level of engagement activity and more events are being planned the 
approach will include the co-production of the conference agenda with children and young people.  Again trust and confidence takes time to build 
and the impact of the actions being taken will take time to demonstrate.

*  To encourage good participation levels in the initial parent carer survey the survey has been posted to the home address of all families with an 
EHCP with a freepost envelope available for return as well as the survey being on line.  The survey opened on xx November 2019 and already 
over 70 people have completed the survey.  The school representatives of SENDCIB have confirmed that they will take an active role in promoting 
and sharing the survey.  Following the closing date for the survey the feedback gathered will be analysed and shared with the SENDCIB in 
January 2020.  This initial survey will establish a baseline that will enable local leaders to understand whether or not the changes being made are 
having the required impact in respect of trust and confidence.  Through future surveys the Local Area will be able to demonstrate the impact of the 
changes being made and if this is not evident the analysed feedback will enable the Local Area to put required action in place.

Need the 
date the 
survey 
opened

*  The initial parent carer survey currently being undertaken and process change discussions will assist with being able to make improved 
judgements about its effectiveness and understand how effectively we identify children and young people with SEND, how effectively we assess 
and meet the needs of children and young people with SEND, how effectively we co-ordinate between agencies, how effectively we improve 
outcomes for children and young people with SEND, how we ensure that the outcomes match the diversity of need amongst children with SEND. 
This approach coupled with the Needs Assessment will enable the Local Area to demonstrate impact.

18 months.  
December 2020 
Second survey 
undertaken

4.1.2 See 1.5.1 – process reviews *Parents will tell us that contacts 
are responded to in a timely 
manner.  
*Complaints will be responded to 
in line with policy timescales.  
* Complaint resolution will be 
understood by complainants.

18 months.   
01/12/2020

See 1.5.1 – process reviews

*  as mentioned above Complaints and Freedom of Information are now managed at a corporate level within the Strategic Support Unit and this 
has meant that the backlog of complaints is now clear.  In addition to this and working in conjunction with a representative of SPCF the information 
relating to the complaints process has been updated on the Council website.

4.2     EHCP plans 
are co-produced 
with parents and 
young people. 

4.2.1 See 1.4.1, 1.5.1 *  Children and young people and 
their families will feel involved in 
the development of their EHCPS. 

18 months.   
01/10/2020

See 1.4.1, 1.5.1 

* the parent carer survey will be one of the tools that we will use to assess this.  As mentioned above the survey has been co-produced and 
currently open.

4.1  Strong and 
effective 
engagement, 
coproduction and 
communication is 
in place with 
parents/ carers, 
children and 
young people. 

4.1.1 Schedule and ensure strategic 
representatives attend regular engagement 
sessions with Parent Carer Forum.  At 
these sessions we will update on progress, 
encourage the involvement of more parents 
and carers and identify joint activity with 
parents and carers.   We will develop and 
coproduce a survey for all parents and 
carers that establishes a baseline and 
tracks performance.

* Parent and Carer Forum will 
feel engaged with local leaders 
and have the opportunity to drive 
improvement and change. 

* Children, young people, parents 
and carers will feel listened to 
and have confidence and trust in 
the local area. 

* Participation levels in the 
survey will be good and will 
increase year on year as trust 
and confidence in the system 
improves. 

*  The Local Area will be able to 
make improved judgements 
about its effectiveness and 
understand how effectively we 
identify children and young 
people with SEND, how 
effectively we assess and meet 
the needs of children and young 
people with SEND, how 
effectively we co-ordinate 
between agencies, how 
effectively we improve outcomes 
for children and young people 
with SEND, how we ensure that 
the outcomes match the diversity 
of need amongst children with 
SEND

P
age 292

A
genda Item

 14



SEND Improvement Plan Tracker
November 2019

The outcome we 
are aiming for.

Action 
Ref.

The actions we are taking Impact we will have
Action Completion 
date and progress 

rating
Progress & Impact - November 2019

4.3  Strengthen 
offer from 
SENDIASS

4.3.1 Review the capacity and operational hours 
of the SENDIASS offer.    Agree funding 
contribution from Health to support 
SENDIASS offer.  Agree with Sefton CVS to 
host SENDIASS.

*  Parents report improved 
access to and response from 
SENDIASS.

3 months.  31/10/19.  
Complete - impact 
of actions taken will 
be monitored

*  Strategic discussions have taken place with the CCG and Local Authority to ensure that the SENDIAS service was sufficiently resourced and 
was jointly funded. This resulted in additional funding that has enabled the service to increase capacity and extend delivery to all year round. The 
existing part time workers have extended their hours to full time until the end of May 2020 with a further two Independent Support Worker posts 
being recruited to.  The recruitment to the team is complete and it is anticipated that this additional resource will be in place imminently.  Again the 
impact of these changes is yet to be felt by families but there are mechanisms in place to monitor the impact and this will include consideration of 
feedback from the parent carer survey.

*  The line management of the SENDIASS team was also reviewed and new line manager allocated who is independent of the SEND team. The 
identified manager has a wealth of experience in early years and team development. This change has resulted in an action plan being drafted, 
monitored and the staff having regular supervision.  It is anticipated that the impact of these changes will begin to be felt in quarter 1 of 2020.

*  As the additional resources are not yet in place and the staff email signature information now includes the contact information for both national 
helplines (Contact and IPSEA) and this information is now also on the answer machine message.

*  The team has been working with parents from SPCF via the SENDIASS steering group and have together researched what a good website 
looks like in terms of design and information. The Council has identified resources to develop a website.  A series of Frequently Asked Questions 
(FAQ) has been coproduced and it’s anticipated that these FAQs will be uploaded to the new website content which will go live by the end of 
November 2019.

3 months.   October 
2019 Draft strategy 
for coproduction  - 
complete Needs 
Assessment and 
Draft 
Approach/Strategy 
document shared 
with SENDCIB.

*  The Council and the CCGs have worked together to  undertake a deeper dive into SEND need and to produce a draft Strategic Needs 
Assessment for SEND and draft Joint Commissioning Approach.  These documents were considered by the 22nd Ocotober 2019 SENDCIB for 
approval to progress.  

*  Following SENDCIB approval these documents are now being further developed through co-production with  a view to the approach document 
becoming the strategy.  The documents are now being progressed via the Co-production sub group and conversations with providers.

6 months.   January 
2020 Draft strategy 
for decision to 
SENDCIB

* Two consultation events with Parent Carers are scheduled for 2nd December 2019 to consider the draft Joint Commissioning Strategy.

18 months October 
2020.   Strategy 
implemented

*  The seconded Headteacher is leading a group considering how we can increase inclusion in Sefton.  This group includes schools and SPCF 
representatives and their work will include consideration of the curriculum and working with NASEN to undertake SEND reviews in schools.

*  The seconded Headteacher is also leading a group considering Autism and SENH.  The group includes Health, Social Care, Public Health and 
representatives of SPCF.  Part of this work will include exploring Autism Friendly schools, what works well and market gaps.

*  As this area of work develops the Local Area will make active use of the Strategic Needs Assessment for SEND.

5.2 Commission 
neurodevelopmen
tal diagnostic 
pathway

5.2.1 Implement neurodevelopmental diagnostic 
pathway across Sefton which includes NICE 
compliant diagnostic pathway for ASD

*  Improved outcomes for 
children & young people. 

* Case studies and audits will 
evidence practitioners following 
the pathway

Monitoring forms 
part of the wider 
monitoring of 
outcomes and 
provider 
performance 
management

The CCG has prioritised review of Neuro Development diagnostic pathway and will be working alongside its main provider to understand gaps / 
capacity and demand in current services. A  case for change is expected to be received by the end of December 2019.

5.3.1 Recovery Plan to reduce the waiting times 
to access health services such as speech 
and language therapy, occupational 
therapy, physiotherapy, autistic spectrum 
disorder (ASD) diagnostic assessment and 
community paediatrics.                    
Implementation of  Transforming Care 
Partnership (TCP) funding to support ASD 
diagnosis for a defined cohort of 50 children 
and young people.

*  Plan by October.  

*Waiting times will be reduced 
leading to improved outcomes for 
children & young people.   

* Reduced waiting list meaning 
others on the waiting list can be 
seen sooner

3 months October 
2019    

*  The CCG has committed additional investment to reduce waiting times in relation to Speech and Language Therapy SALT services which has 
had a significant impact upon reducing the average waiting times. 

*  The waiting times for SALT, OT and Physiotherapy are all within the planned trajectory. Waiting times for dietetics in one part of the area have 
increased and are currently not in line with trajectory. 

*  The CCG is working with the provider to develop a greater understanding of the capacity / demand issues in relation to the service. The CCG is 
working alongside other commissioners across a wider footprint in relation to delivery of ASD services and a Tack and Finish group has been set 
up to monitor the effectiveness of the additional services commissioned through TCP funding.

*  The Care Aims Framework is now adopted by Alder Hey for • Community Physiotherapy • Community Occupational Therapy • Community 
Speech & Language Therapy

5.3 Reduction in 
waiting times for 
commissioned 
paediatric 
services

*Joint Commissioning Strategy 
agreed and understood by 
providers and families.   

* Commissioned services 
respond positively to the Strategy 
and will operate more effectively.   

*  Improved outcomes for 
children & young people across 
all SEND services.

Develop a revised joint commissioning 
strategy, informed by the SEND elements of 
the joint strategic needs assessment 
(JSNA) and deeper analysis to ensure the 
commissioning arrangements are 
strengthened to deliver improved outcomes 
across the local area.

5.1 A revised joint 
commissioning 
strategy

5.1.1

P
age 293

A
genda Item

 14



SEND Improvement Plan Tracker
November 2019

The outcome we 
are aiming for.

Action 
Ref.

The actions we are taking Impact we will have
Action Completion 
date and progress 

rating
Progress & Impact - November 2019

5.3.2

Review the current appointment system for 
Community Paediatric Services.  Implement 
improvements required

*Reduction in number of provider 
cancelled appointments leading 
to improved outcomes for 
children and young people.

* No repeated cancellations for 
the same person

6 months.   
01/04/2020 

*  A new Standard Operating Procedure has now been developed to improve the appointment booking system

5.3.3

Explore opportunities for early help/ brief 
interventions from universal practitioners 
and voluntary, community and faith sector 
to reduce the need/ pressure on specialist 
services e.g. Health visitor training in 
Speech, Language and Communication 
Needs (SCLN)

*Case studies and audits to 
evidence impact of early/brief 
interventions.  

* Reduction in numbers of 
children referred inappropriately 
for specialist interventions.  

* Increased number of contacts 
identified as a reduction in 
referral numbers.

6 months.  
01/12/2019

Below is an update regarding  training sessions held, with 0-19 service in respect of "making every contact count" to promote early language and 
communication:

•  50 staff attended one day update and the evaluations were positive
•  two further follow up sessions will take place during January and February 2020
•  plans following this are to develop pathways/brief intervention packages that will be delivered by nursery nurses and group sessions in children 
centre for those children identified as at risk of speech language delay following health assessments conducted through delivery of the healthy 
child programme.

5.3.4

Developing a comprehensive performance 
dashboard for children & young people’s 
services comprising health, local authority 
and public health data, qualitative metrics 
and expected outcomes.

Demonstrable improvements in 
identified and agreed priority 
focus areas supported by 
quantitative information.   
Minutes of contract meetings to 
evidence appropriate challenge 
and recovery actions taken as 
required

Monitoring forms
part of the wider
monitoring of
outcomes and
provider 
performance 
management 

The CCG is continuing to monitor performance data through a variety of means including contract meetings, performance reporting and 
governing body integrated performance reporting.  Monitoring in this way and agreeing any recovery actions is part of the usual business 
processes.  

RAG RATING KEY
Action completed

Action not yet completed, but on track
and scheduled for completion within
projected timeframe

Action not on track, risk to implementation

Longer-term action not yet started. No risk 
to implementation currently anticipated

Part of Business as usual

P
age 294

A
genda Item

 14



SEND Performance Management Scorecard (2019/20). 1st November 2019.

Action KPI Performance Measure Frequency 
Baseline            

1st July 2019

Current 
Performance 

November 2019
DOT

Performance 
Target   

October   2019

Performance 
Target      

January       
2020

Performance 
Target           

April          2020

Performance 
Target                  
July                 
2020

Performance 
Target       

October   2020

Performance 
Target              
June                       
2021 

Notes

3 Months 6 Months 9 Months 12 Months 18 Months 24 Months

Children and young people will an Education, Health and Care Plan achieve 
from their starting point at KS2 in Writing and Maths at least as well as their 

peers nationally
KPI 1/1

The percentage of Sefton children educated 
on an EHCP achieve the expected standard 
in KS2 Writing and Maths and is consistent 

with national averages.  
Annually

National 
Average of 9%

3%.                              
Despite the 

performance lagging 
the national average, 
there has been a 2% 
improvement on the 
previous academic 

year 

Performance has improved 
on the previous period, but 
remains below baseline & 

target. 

National 
Average

NA                   
Academic 
attainment 

validated by 
October 

NA                   
Academic 
attainment 

validated by 
October 

NA                   
Academic 
attainment 

validated by 
October 

National 
Average

NA                   
Academic 
attainment 

validated by 
October 

Nationally, 65% of pupils reached the expected standard in all of reading, writing and maths 
(combined) in 2019, up from 64% in 2018. 11% of pupils reached the higher standard in  2019, 
up from 10% in 2018.   In Sefton 62% of pupils reached the expected standard in all of reading, 
writing and maths (combined) in 2019, down from 64% in 2018. 9% of pupils reached the higher 
standard in 2019, up from 8% in 2018.  When we consider the performance for the children and 
young people with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) from their starting point at KS2 in 
writing and maths (to be at least as well as their peers nationally), the percentage of pupils who 
reached the expected standard in all of reading, writing and maths (combined) in 2019 was 3%, 
below the national average of 9%, but up from 1% in 2018.

KPI 1/2
From 01.06.19 % of EHCPs commenced 

will be completed within statutory 
timescales

Quarterly

Previous 
Performance 

14% (2018)  3% 
(Q1 2019)

17%.                             
The current 

performance has 
recovered from the 
3% Baseline in April 
2019 and remains on 

target for 
improvement.

Performance has improved 
on the previous period, and 
is above baseline & target.

14%

10% of new 
EHCPs from 
01.06.2019. 

New statutory 
reporting period 

commences 
during this 

month

NA                     
new statutory 

reporting period

NA                     
new statutory 

reporting period

NA                     
new statutory 

reporting period

NA                     
new statutory 

reporting period

The accumulative performance for EHC plans issued within 20 weeks has increased to 8.7% at 
the end of August 2019 to 17% at the end of October 2019. 
Noticeably,  45 plans were finalised in October and the percentage rate for completed plans 
within 20 weeks in the October period increased significantly to 51%, however, the overall  
performance continues to be impacted by the existing backlog. The backlog of requests identified 
in June 2019 has reduced significantly from 147 to 19, which it is anticipate will be completed 
before the end of the 2019 calendar year. This should result in an increase in the percentage of 
completed plans within 20 weeks from January 2020.
There are currently 1,588 children and young people in Sefton with an EHCP.

KPI 1/2a
% of New EHCPs commenced 01.01.20 

completed within statutory timescales
Quarterly TBC - -

NA                     
(relates to 2020 

performance 
only)

1st month of 
monitoring 2020 
local baseline 
established

15% 25%

50% or national 
average 

whichever is the 
higher

75% or national 
average 

whichever is the 
higher

Performance for 2020 calendar year will be monitored, analysed and reported at the end of each 
calendar month 2020.

KPI 1/3
% of EHCP Reviews completed Yr6, Yr.9 

and Yr. 11
Quarterly

National 
Expectation is 

100%
0.0%

Performance  remains 
below baseline & target, but 

plans in place to action 
progress

16% 50% complete 95% 95% 95% 95%

The Service is currently focussed on identifying and planning for the review of children and young 
people with EHC plans (1) preparing for adulthood reviews, (2) attending a Sefton mainstream 
school or other institution and moving between key phases of education, and (3) those not attend 
a Sefton mainstream school or other institution, by the 15th February 2020 (Yr.6 cohort), 31st 
March 2020 (Yr.11 cohort) and the end of the academic year (Yr.9 cohort). 
96 children and young people have been identified who are currently in NCY6 and will be moving 
between key phases of education in 2020. Review meetings for 77 of these children and young 
people have been held.

KPI 1/3a All other EHCP reviews Quarterly
National 

Expectation is 
100%

0.0%

Performance  remains 
below baseline & target, but 

plans in place to action 
progress

16% 32% 48% 60%
16% (New 

academic year)
100%

The Service has begun the process of  identifying all those children and young people aged 0 to 
5, plus all those child or young people attends a school or other institution not moving between 
key phases who will be subject to a review within the next 12-month period. The LA will work with 
the schools and independent settings to ensure that reviews are scheduled and undertaken. A 
Baseline is to be established in December 2019.

The quality of  Education, Health and Care plans is at least consistently good KPI 1/4
% of EHCP audits assessed as at least 

Good (local measure)
Quarterly NA 0.0%

Performance is not 
measured as the baseline 

is still to be established

NA Training in 
September

50%
Baseline plus 

10%
Baseline plus 

10%
Baseline plus 

20%
Baseline plus 

20%
Multiagency raining was delivered in September 2019, however the auditing and the outcome of 
the audits is still to be assessed.

Completion rate of Health contribution to EHCPs within 6 weeks KPI 1/5

% of EHCPs being completed in maximum 
of six weeks by Health from the date of 

request from the Local Authority *see code 
of practice for exemptions

Quarterly
6 weeks 

completion rate 
from 01.07.2019

90.0%
Performance has improved 
on the previous period, and 

is above target.
60% 70% 85% 90% 95% 95%

Where the local authority has sent the request to the Health co-ordinators and the information 
has been returned, 90% of request were returned within the six week time frame.

Quality of Health Information KPI 1/6
% improvement in the quality of health 

information contained in EHCPs 
Quarterly NA 0.0%

Performance is not 
measured as the baseline 

is still to be established

Establish 
baseline by 31st 

October 2019
80% 90% 95% 95% 95% Bassline establishment in progress

The Timeliness of new EHCPs will improve to within the statutory timescale 
of 20 weeks

EHC Plans are reviewed within the statutory timescales

P
age 295

A
genda Item

 14



SEND Performance Management Scorecard (2019/20). 1st November 2019.

Action KPI Performance Measure Frequency 
Baseline            

June 2019

Current 
Performance 

November 2019
DOT

Performance 
Target  

December   
2019

Performance 
Target      June              

2020

Performance 
Target           

October          
2020

Performance 
Target                  
June                 
2021

Notes

6 months 12 months 18 months 24 months

KPI 2/1 Submission of quarterly DCO report Quarterly 0 1 3 7 11

KPI 2/2 Annual DCO report Annually 0 0 1st NA 2nd

KPI 2/3
Provider survey of understanding of DCO role 
and responsibilities (% of staff able to confirm 

and articulate what the DCO role is)
Bi- Annually 0 50% 75% 95% 95%

  A documented and approved management and accountability framework to 
be in place for the DCO

P
age 296

A
genda Item

 14



SEND Performance Management Scorecard (2019/20). 1st November 2019.

Action KPI Performance Measure Frequency 
Baseline            

1st July 2019

Current 
Performance 

November 2019
DOT

Performance 
Target      

December        
2019

Performance 
Target                  
June                 
2020

Performance 
Target       

December   
2020

Performance 
Target              
June                       
2021 

Notes

6 Months 12 Months 18 Months 24 Months

KPI 3/1
Health practitioners routinely write health 

submissions for EHC plans for the children and 
young people (via Audit)

Quarterly
Baseline to be 

established

Establish 
Baseline by 
21.12.2019

Audit will 
sample 10% of 

EHCPs

Audit will 
sample 10% of 

EHCPs

Audit will 
sample 10% of 

EHCPs

KPI 3/2
% of positive “parental satisfaction survey” 

results received following completion of EHCP 
process

Quarterly
Baseline to be 

established

KPI 3/3 % of staff having completed training NA 50% 75% 95% 95%

KPI 3/4 % of staff having completed refresher training NA 0% 50% 75% 75%

KPI 3/5
% of staff confirming their increased level of 
confidence in the process following training

Quarterly
Baseline to be 

established
25% 95% 95% 95%

All relevant health professionals are aware of their responsibilities and 
contribution of EHCPs. 

will be considered in lien with action.1 - satisfaction review at 
completion of plan

P
age 297

A
genda Item

 14



SEND Performance Management Scorecard (2019/20). 1st November 2019.

Action KPI Performance Measure Frequency 
Baseline                                  

April                                                           
2019

Current 
Performance 

November 2019
DOT

Baseline 
December 2019

Feedback 
December 2020

Performance 
Target              
June                       
2021 

Notes

6 months 18 months 24 Months

KPI 4/1
Increased level of trust and confidence of parents 
and carers - in the local area to provide support                                                                

(Collected Via Survey)
Annual

Survey will be used to establish 
a baseline

Baseline 
established by 

31.12.2019

Baseline plus 
10%

Baseline plus 
15%

EHCP plans are co-produced with parents and young people. KPI 4/2

Parents, carers and young people rate the level of 
help and support children and young people with 

SEND receive to meet their needs                                                    
(Collected Via Survey)

Annual
Survey will be used to establish 

a baseline

Baseline 
established by 

31.12.2019

Baseline plus 
10%

Baseline plus 
15%

Strengthen offer from SENDIAS. KPI 4/3

Parents, carers and young people rate the level of 
information and advice available about the 

assessment process to support children and young 
people with SEND                                                            

(Collected Via Survey)

Annual
Survey will be used to establish 

a baseline

Baseline 
established by 

31.12.2019

Baseline plus 
10%

Baseline plus 
15%

KPI 4/4
Parents and carers feel that they can influence 

change to service delivery                                                             
Collected Via Survey)

Annual
Survey will be used to establish 

a baseline

Baseline 
established by 

31.12.2019

Baseline plus 
10%

Baseline plus 
15%

KPI 4/5
Parents and carers feel that they are listened to in 
the development and review of EHCPs (Collected 

Via Survey)
Annual

Survey will be used to establish 
a baseline

Baseline 
established by 

31.12.2019

Baseline plus 
10%

Baseline plus 
15%

KPI 4/ 6
Parents, carers and young people believe that 

communication has improved (Collected Via Survey)
Annual

The revisit identified that only 
17% of the 150 parents who 

contributed to the revisit believe 
that communication has 

improved since 2016

Initial survey will 
be baseline 
31.12.2019

Baseline plus 
10%

Baseline plus 
15%

P
age 298

A
genda Item

 14



SEND Performance Management Scorecard (2019/20). 1st November 2019.

Action KPI Performance Measure Frequency 
Baseline         

June 2019

Current 
Performance 

November 2019
DOT

Performance 
Target   

October   2019

Performance 
Target      

December       
2019

Performance 
Target                  
June                 
2020

Performance 
Target       

December   
2020

Performance 
Target              
June                       
2021 

Notes

3 Months 6 Months 12 Months 18 Months 24 Months

KPI 5/1
Average waiting time for Paediatric Dietetics 

(PD)
Monthly 9 weeks 9 weeks

                                                                                                                  
Performance has been 

maintained, consistent with 
previous period, but 

remains below  target

8 weeks 8 weeks 8 weeks 7 weeks 7 weeks

KPI 5/2
Average waiting time for Occupational 

Therapy (OT)
Monthly 15 weeks 11 weeks

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
Performance has improved 
on the previous period (@ 
15 weeks), and is now in 

line with  baseline & target

15 weeks 14 weeks 13 weeks 10 weeks 10 weeks

KPI 5/3
Average waiting times for Paediatric 

Physiotherapy (PT)
Monthly 6 weeks 6 weeks

                                                                                                                   
Performance has been 

maintained, consistent with 
the previous period and 
remains at baseline & 

target

6 weeks 6 weeks 6 weeks 6 weeks 6 weeks

KPI 5/4
Average waiting times for Speech and 

Language Therapy (SALT)
Monthly 30 weeks 25 weeks

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
Performance has improved 
on the previous period (@ 
30 weeks), and is now in 

line with  baseline & target

25 weeks 20 weeks 18 weeks 18 weeks 18 weeks

These are average waiting times and based upon position at end of October 2019.
Commission neurodevelopmental diagnostic pathway and resulting 

reduction in waiting times for commissioned paediatric services

P
age 299

A
genda Item

 14



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Health and Wellbeing Board Governance
	Enc. 1 for Health and Wellbeing Board Governance
	Enc. 2 for Health and Wellbeing Board Governance

	5 Sub Group Updates
	Enc. 1 for Sub Group Updates
	Enc. 4 for Sub Group Updates
	Enc. 5 for Sub Group Updates
	Enc. 6 for Sub Group Updates

	7 Sefton Local Safeguarding - Children Board Annual Report
	2-Sefton LSCB Annual Report 2018-19 EASY READ
	2-Sefton LSCB Annual Report 2018-19 FINAL

	8 Sefton's Older Persons Strategy
	3-Sefton Older People's Strategy

	9 Early Help Strategy 2020 - 2025
	1-Sefton Early Help Strategy 2019-2025 Final

	10 Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	Enc. 1 for Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	Enc. 2 for Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	Enc. 3 for Health and Wellbeing Strategy

	11 Children and Young People's Plan 2020 - 2025
	Enc. 1 for Children and Young Peoples Plan 2020 - 2025

	12 Continuing Care Protocol
	Enc. 1 for Continuing Care Protocol
	Enc. 2 for Continuing Care Protocol

	13 Minimum Alcohol Unit Price
	Enc. 1 for Minimum Alcohol Unit Price
	Enc. 2 for Minimum Alcohol Unit Price

	14 SEND Continuous Improvement Update
	Enc. 1 for SEND Continuous Improvement Update
	Enc. 2 for SEND Continuous Improvement Update


